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Thaurs 06 Jun 2002

08:30 - 10:00 am
10:00 - 11:00 am
11:00 - 13:00 pm
13:00 - 14:00 pm

14:00 - 14:30 pm
14:30 - 15:30 pm
15:30 - 15:45 pm
15:45-17:30 pm
17:30 -

Fri 07 Jun 2002

08:00 — 08:30 am
08:30 - 12:30 pm
12:30 - 13:30 pm
14:00 — 15:45 pm

15:45 - 16:00 pm
16:00 ~ 17:30 pm
17:30 -

Sat 08 Jun 2002

08:00 — 09:00 am
09:00 - 12:30 pm
12:30 - 13:30 pm
13:30 - 15:30 pm
15:30 - 15:45 pm
15:45 -17:30 pm
19:30 -

Sun 09 Jun 2002

08:30 - 09:00 am
09:00-11:00 am

11:00 — 12:00 noon

12:00 — 13:30 pm

14:30-15:30 pm
15:30-15:45 pm
15:45—17:00 pm

BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETINGS

6-9 June 2002 Revised

Programme Committee (open session) Venue

Sasakawa Auditonum

Tea & tour of facilities (BoT)
Director’s Report

Division Reports

Lunch (scientists, staff and donors)

Director’s Conf Rm

DIR, CSD, PHSD

Conf Rms
SWA presentation Seminar Rm 2
Division Reports (continued)
Tea
Discussion of Strategic Plan (closed) (BoT & SC) CSD Conf Rm

Evening open

am: Small groups (see attached schedule)*
pm: LSD Review Report and SP discussions (closed)

Tea (BoT & SC) Director’s Conf Rm
Small groups
Lunch (BoT) Director’s Conf Rm

Presentation of the Preliminary Report of

the LSD External Review (BoT & AC) CSD ConfRm
Tea
Strategic Plan discussions (BoT & SC) CSD ConfRm

Evening open

am; Small groups (see attached schedule)*
pm: HR and Finance Committees (closed)

Tea (BoT & SC) Director’s Conf Rm
Smail groups and visits to urban field areas

Lunch (BoT) Director’s Conf Rm
HR Committee (BoT/Assoc Dirs/CFO/HR) CSD ConfRm

Tea :

Finance Committee CSD Conf Rm

Supper with SC members and spouses
at Rooftop Pavilion

Full Board (closed)
Tea (BoT) Director’s Conf Rm
Discussion of Reports from Programme, Finance
and HR Committees and passing of Resolutions
(BoT/Assoc Dirs/fCFO/HR)
Any Other Business
Lunch (BoT) (Comidor Café)

Donors’ Support Group (DSG)

CSD ConfRm

Presentation from Director and Board Chair (open) Seminar Rms 1&2
Tea for DSG

DSG members meeting (closed) BoT/DSG/SC CSD Conf Rm




e - =GQroup.1- ~Friday am

Mon 10 Jun 2002 This is an optional day for BoT members who wish to take a field trip to

Matlab

Groups Days

Saturday am

Friday am

Saturday am

Friday am

Saturday am
Group 4 Fnday am

Saturday am

*Schedule for Small Groups

Child Health Programme and Nutrition ~ CSD. Conf Rm

Programme

Kamalapur field visit

Infectious Disease and Vaccine Sciencés Director’s Conf Rm

Programme and Population Programme

Mirpur Field Visit (include projects on
amoeba, rotavirus vaccine, ETEC vaccine
and nutrition rehabilitation at daycare)

Reproductive Health Programme and FHRP PHSD Conf Rm
programme

Safe water and HIV projects (arsenic and  PHSD Conf Rm &
environmental health projects) with visits CARE site
to sites where work is ongoing

Interviews and Promotions review’ Director’s Conf
(Prof Sack, ProfJ acobs Dr Dagach, Room
Dr Lanata, Dr Nair', Ms Hill)

Finance and Administration and Master Seminar Room 1
Plan of the Centre

Review of the Review from Price
Waterhouse

Update of new HR & Finance MIS system

Resource mobilisation

Dr Ishikawa, Dr Azad Khan, Prof Kusin, Mr Chowdhury

Dr Hamid,-'Dr Hull, Dr Pang, Dr Wachsmuth

Prof Ganguly, Mr Rahman, Prof Tanner, Prof Vlassoff

Prof Jacobs, Dr Dagach, Dr Lanata, Prof Sack
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1/BT/JUNE 2002

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA




2/BT/JUNE 2002

APPROVAL OF THE DRAFT MINUTES
OF THE MEETING

HELD ON 9-11 NOVEMBER 2001




MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES. ICDDR.B

DHAKA, BANGLADESH
9-11 November 2001

The Board of Trustees heid its meeting from 9 to 11 November 2001. The meeting
comprised the Executive Committee of the Board: Prof Marian Jacobs (Chair), Mr Rolf
Carmere (Personnel and Selection Committee), Prof AK Azad Kban (Finance Committee),
Prof David Sack (Centre Director). Dr Ricardo Uauy Dagach (Programme Committee) was
unable to attend due to prior commitments.

It had been earlier decided, after polling BoT members, that due to current world events, a
Full Board meeting should be postponed and an Executive meeting held in its place. Minutes
and resolutions will be submitted to BoT members following the meeting for their
recommendations, amendments, comments and approval.

Friday 9 November 2001
Executive Committee meeting (informal)
EC members — Prof Jacobs and Prof Azad Khan—held informal meetings with Assoc

Directors and Programme Heads to get updates and insights into work in progress. Mr
Carriere was absent as he was enroute to Dhaka.

Saturday 10 November 2001
Executive Committee meeting
CSD Conference Room

Present:

Prof Marian Jacobs  Chair

Prof Azad Khan Chair, Finance Committee

Mr Rolf Carmnere Chair, Personnel & Selection Committee
Prof David A Sack  Director, [CDDR,B

Absent:

Dr Ricardo Uauy Dagach (Chair, Programme Committee)(earlier sent his regrets due to prior
commitments)

Invited:

Associate Directors: Prof Lars Ake Persson (PHSD); Dr M A Salam (Acting CSD); Dr G
Balaknsh Nair (Acting LSD); Mr Peter Thorpe (ISD); Dr Robert Breiman (HSRD), Prof
Barkat e Khuda (Policy and Planning); Mr Stephen Sage, Chief Finance Office; Mr
Wahabuzzaman Ahmed, Acting Head, Human Resources; Ms Vanessa Brooks, ER&ID; Dr
Ishtiaque Zaman, ER&ID; Programme Heads; NOC staff and above

Minute Secretary:
Mrs Judith Bennett Henry

Prof Jacobs welcomed everyone to the meeting and noted the presence of the staff of NOC
rank and above. She stated that she looked forward to a good discussion and interaction
throughout the ensuing meetings., She thanked all for accommodating her schedule. She
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stated further that due to world events, the Full Board was unable to meet so there will not be
a quorum but all documentation emanating from the meetings will be submitted to all Board
members for Full Board review and decision. She said that the current crisis pointed to the
need to move forward to peace and noted that each of us is at the heart of the peace process.

Prof Jacobs reminded the assembly of the Centre’s success which was celebrated in
Washington and expressed the hope that future successes will be cetebrated in Dhaka. She
extended very hearty congratulations to the entire staff.

She noted that there is a six-month hiatus between one Board meeting and the next.
However, she maintained communication with the Centre Director each month and kept
abreast of Centre activity through the Weekly Bulletin distributed by Mr Shah Alam and the
reports on donor funding from Dr Ishtiaque Zaman.

Prof Jacobs welcomed, on behalf of the BoT: Mr Peter Thorpe, Head of the newly
established Information Sciences Division (ISD); Mr Stephen Sage, Chief Finance Officer,
who the BoT met mn Washington; and Dr Robert Breiman, Head of the Health Systems
Research Division (HSRD). She congratulated Dr M A Salam for a sterling job as Acting
Head of Clinical Sciences Division (CSD) after the departure of Prof George Fuchs; Dr G
Balakrish Nair as Acting Head of Laboratory Sciences Division (LSD) following the
departure of Prof V [ Mathan; Ms Shamima Moin for her confident and self-assured
performance while looking after Finance Office pending the arrival of Mr Sage; Prof Barkat
e Khuda for his work compiling the Strategic Plan; and Prof Sack for “keeping the ship

afloat”. She praised the ongoing plans for upgrading the Centre’s facilities, including the
Guest House.

She noted that the Strategic Plan was truly a participatory exercise with input from all the
Divisions, Programmes , HR, Finance, ER&ID. Staff co-operation on the Plan meant that it
was a genuine ownership process.

Prof Jacobs declared the meeting open. She then introduced Prof Sack to begin the report of
the Director’s Division for the Programme Committee.

Page 2 of 39




Minutes of the Programme Committee
10 November 2001

Present:
Executive Committee of the BoT

Absent (with regrets):
“= ~=DrRi¢ardo'Uauy Dagach === = "~ oizif Tasm e p e

R et =iy A el

Invited:

Division Heads, CFO, Acting Head HR, ER&ID, Programme Heads, staff NOC level and
above

Minute Secretary:
Mrs Judith Bennett Henry

The Programme Committee met at 8:30am to hear the Director’s Report from Prof David
Sack and highlights of Division activities from the Division Heads.

The meeting convened in the Conference Room of the Clinical Sciences Division (CSD) of
ICDDR,B.

Prof Sack opened the meeting with an introduction of Division Heads and changes in senior
staff.

Dr M Abdus Salam is now acting head of CSD

Dr Rob Breiman is acting head of HSRD, formerly HPED. The Executive Committee
will be requested to confirm his appointment as head of the Division

Mr Peter Thorpe took up duties as Head ISD in August

Mr Stephen Sage took up duties as CFO in August

Prof Marian Jacobs will chair her last BoT meeting in June 2002 and the Board will
need to 1dentify her replacement.

He further stated that one member of staff who is not well-known to the BoT is Mr Bejoy
Saha who heads the Staff Development Unit and who plays a central role of supporting the
secretariat of the Research Review Committee (RRC) and Ethical Review Commnittee
(ERC).

He reported that a tremendous number of changes is currently in progress at the Centre
which has been undergoing a time of transition over the last six (6) months.

In addition to changes in senior management, several key grants are ending and the
transition to the new grants is proving difficult at times The Scientific Council which
comprises senior management staff and Programme Heads is playing a more interactive role
in addressing issues of scientific priorities. The Strategic Plan is nearing finalisation with
input from the Divisions, Programmes, Human Resources, Finance and ER&ID.

Bangladesh is also making a transition with a new govermnment. The events of 11
September and the ensuing crisis has had an effect on the Centre as evidenced by the fact of
Board members not being able to attend the meeting. (Note: The expatriate staff was
unsettied by these events and the Centre management developed an evacuation plan for -
expatnates following 11 September).

The Director’s report will highlight issues for consideration by the Executive Committee, as
well as presentations from the respective Divisions.
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Financial situation

Dr Sack reported that the Centre hopes to end the year with a positive balance of
USS150,000, the final amount pending the audit report. The cumulative deficit will be
decreased by about US$350,000 after transferring a portion of the interest in the reserve
fund, bringing the deficit to under USS3 million. Aggressive cost management as well as
some recent key donations served to improve the Centre’s financial situation. Further, the
Centre scientists have been developing new projects which have attracted funding,

The award of US31 million from the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation plus the matching
fund from the Government of Bangladesh were not counted in the operating fund. The
Gates funds were deposited to the Centre’s account following the ceremony in June and the
GoB funds were received a week ago with the assistance of Dr Zaman (ER&ID). Prionties
for the use of these funds will be discussed during the meeting.

Major donors

Dr Sack reported on current donor funding. The Government of Bangladesh provides
US3200,000 annually for core support - this was increased by the one-off matching fund to
the Gates Award. The Netherlands government granted US$1 million annually for 3 years
starting this year. The Swiss government through its Dhaka Embassy, traditionally gives a
substantial annual award to various projects. This year, the mechanism has been changed to
a grant of about USS500,000 from its HQ. The Japanese govermument awarded a grant of
USE980,000 to be allocated to various projects — USS$200,000 was designated to the
Hospital Endowment Fund (HEF).  USAID Washington has been providing funding
through a cooperative agreement (CA) for Child Health Research. The agreement provides
core and project funding and also helps the Centre as an administrative mechanism by
which other US agencies can add funds to the Centre’s programme. The CA was signed in
June 2001 for another three years and is expected to be in the amount of about US$500,000
a year. This will depend on funds availability and the nature of the work undertaken by
projects. USAID Dhaka had been providing funding through a CA for the Operations
Research Project (ORP). A major change in the project was agreed upon and the CA was
amended to extend the Project for another five (5) years at a total budget of US815 million.
The Project’s name was also changed to Family Health Research Project (FHRP). The
funds will primarily be used for targeted research protocols developed by scientists from
across the Divisions. The transition from ORP to FHRP required difficult adjustments both
financially and in personnel, but the Centre anticipates that the FHRP will be more
productive and effective in carrying out research in support of the Essential Services
Package (ESP) in Bangladesh.

The British government through its DfID representatives, received an application from the
Centre for funding for a 5-year project on Poverty and Health in the amount of 1 mullion
pounds sierling. The award has not yet been officially confirmed but unofficially, the
Centre hopes to begin the project within a month. (This has now been confirmed). A three-
vear agreement with SIDA-SAREC (Sweden) for collaborative work with Swedish
scientists 1s nearing compietion. The Swedish government, through its Dhaka embassy, has
been providing additional funds for a project on health effects of arsenic.

The Australian government has been a consistent donor to the Centre. However there was a
recent concern that it would discontinue funding. The Director made a trip to Canberra in
August and with the efforts of Board members, AusAID decided to continue funding at a

similar level of AUSS 500,000 annually, a portion (AUS$200,000) of which is designated
for HIV-AIDS research.
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Dr Sack also noted that the Centre receives many grants and awards which can be read in
detail in the Finance Report.

There has been an increase in grants based on competition from agencies like NIH,

Thrasher Foundation, NVPO, private companies and other funding sources. Formerly the
_Finance report combined both NIH and USAID grants under one umbrella of US

r -z ==government:funding -- they.are however. different in their implications and are now being
listed separately. T T e

Dr Sack stated that the grant news is not all good — two major grants are ending without
hope of a replacement. The World Bank’s grant to the Nutrition Centre of Excellence
(NCOE) in the amount of US$900,000 annually over three years cannot not be extended
further, and the Centre is reviewing other sources to continue the nutrition research which
had been stimulated by the grant. A major shortfall of over US$600,000 in a grant from the
EU has severely affected projects on reproductive health and studies on contraceptive use
dynamics — these projects have had to reprogramme their activities. This shortfall was due
to currency devaluation coupled with delays by the EU administration.

There are a number of prospective grants. Two crucially important grants, both in
cooperation with the Government of Bangladesh and the World Bank are due to be finalized
soon. In one project, the Centre will assist the national HTV-AIDS Programme by
continuing to conduct the national sero-surveillance which has been lauded as a model
project within Asia and for which Bangladesh received high praise. The Centre can play an
increasingly crucial role in providing assistance in this area of HIV-AIDS research and
control where a lot still needs to be done.

The second project with the National Nutrition Programme (NNP) is a multi-million multi-
year World Bank project which is expected to begin in a few months. The Centre hopes to
take a leadership role in the Operations Research component of this project. Both of these
World Bank-related projects have involved lengthy admirustrative delays, making Centre
planning difficult. '

The Centre is awaiting a response from the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation o a proposal
on vaccine development and evaluation.

Strategic planning

The Strategic Plan exercise has moved forward and is presented for Board consideration.
The process is led by Prof Barket e Khuda and Programme Heads have submitted their
inputs. There are many overlapping interests between the programmes, but it is important
to recall that priorities are Centre-wide and not “owned” by a specific programme.

Dr Sack listed some crucial points.relevant to the Strategic Plan for Board consideration:

Name change of the Centre. Suggestions: Intermational Centre for Health and
Population (ICHAP); International Health and Population Institute (IHAPT).
Mission/values/vision statement. Dr Sack pointed to the statement as it appears in
the Plan and asked the Executive Committee to review and comment.
Reorganisation. At the last BoT meeting, members requested a copy of the
Mummert Report of 1998 recommending a reorganization of the Centre. The Report
was included in the pre-meeting documents folder and distributed to all Board
members. The Strategic Plan attempted to address some of the lessons from the
Report where recommendations were proposed on emphasizing cross-divisional
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thematic programmes. The recommended administrative changes from the Report
were deemed impractical for the Centre. In contrast to the virtual divisions
recommended by the Report, the Centre has maintained the basic administraiive
divisions and added an Information Sciences Division which combines Dissemination
and Information Services Centre (DISC), Computer Information Services (CIS),
Training Extension Unit (TEU).

- Divisions and Programmes. [t has been agreed that Programmes are cross-divisional
and lay under the junsdiction of the Division Head whose responsibility it is to ensure
that Programmes are ultimately centre-wide. There are currently six programmes but
there is a need for two more — HIV-AIDS and Safe Water. The latter 1s more realistic
as a separate programme (rather than environmental health) as it covers chemical and
microbial safety, an area in which the Centre has considerable expertise.

The cross-divisional activities are addressed in the Scientific Council (SC) which
meets twice monthly. Additionally, the Centre Scientific Forum (CSF) is held on
Mondays. The SC discusses priornties and new projects — the CSF presents cross-
divisional topics for discussion on the research themes of the Centre.

Prionty setting

During the preparation of the Plan, Programmes placed emphasis on methods for setting
priorities and producing tables depicting higher and lower priority issues. It was noted that
there were many instances of overlapping but it was agreed that while Programmes heid
similar views on priorities, it served ultimately to underline their importance.

Hospital plans

Dr Sack reminded the assembly of a line in the speech by Melinda Gates at the award
ceremony that “no child should die from an easily prevented or easily treated disease”.
The question 1s whether the Centre should build a treatment centse around this concept by
evolving into an Urgent Care Facility for patients with diseases that fit the critena of
“common, potentially fatal and easy and cheap to treat”. Such a facility would need to be
sound in its development and economically sustainable.

(Geographic interests for the Centre

In Bangladesh, the Centre’s work is concentrated in Dhaka and several field areas. With
new protocols, the tendency has been to establish additional field areas but it is becoming
clear that the Centre should focus on those field areas currently in existence and in which it
has heavily invested and not expand further within Bangladesh.

The Centre is looking into the potential of expansion beyond Bangladesh. There is currently
a collaborative project with Nepal. He felt that as the Centre becomes more financially
stable, 1t was worth developing establishing projects outside Bangladesh, especially to
countries in the region but this would require long-term funding for such a project.

There 1s some demand for consultants from the Centre to assist with work outside
Bangladesh. The Ceatre has provided consultants to UNICEF, [VI, UNAIDS and has been

in contact with WHO on collaboration for outbreak investigations of emerging diseases in
the region.

Page 6 of 39




Management changes

In a bid to improve efficiency, the Centre is making changes in its management systems. It
was decided to decentralize the financial responsibilities to encourage units to become self-
supporting and run like small businesses. If a subsidy is required, an evaluation will be
made to determine if the amount is warranted or whether it would be more economical to

C= == outsource.—-Previously,:management -decisions.were .made .centrally_by. staff who had no
direct knowledge of the unit; decentralization would place responsibility of the Unit on
those more knowledgeable of the unit.

Ethical reviews

The Ethical Review Committee (ERC) is functioning well. There are new requirements for
Assurances — the Centre has a Multiple Project Assurance with USAID but will have to
obtain a Federal Wide Assurance with the US government. This new Assurance will

require training for scientists, ERC members and ERC staff. (The FWA has now been
awarded to the Centre).

Major scientific activities

Many of these activities were presented to the Board last June and Division Heads will
update the Executive Committee on new initiatives, major findings from recent studies and
future directions. The activities include studies on neonatal health, severe malnutrition,
zinc deficiency, low birth weight, pneumonia, tuberculosis, dengue, enteric and respiratory
vaccine testing and HIV-AIDS, each of which depend on project funding. Endorsement by

the Board is sought on whether these are appropnate and in keeping with the Centre’s
mission. - '

Planned changes in medical practice

Following results from studies at the Centre and at other centres, the consensus was to
change the standard ORS to one containing 70 meq of sodium. The national authonties will
be advised of this anticipated change.

The Centre plans to start the treatment of diarrhoea with zinc. Research studies confirm
that zinc decreases the severity and duration of diarrhoea and that children treated with zinc
over 14 days have a lower mortality tate. It is now necessary to implement these findings
in the Centre Hospital, in clinics and in the wider community.

Physical changes and capital investment

An architect had been engaged to work on the Master Plan which will extend the main
building to eight (8) floors to allow for expansion of the library, laboratories and training
space.

A rooftop pavilion has been constructed on the Library building. This will compliment
the training facilities to provide space for receptions for sessions heid in the Sasakawa
auditorium. )

A corridor café was created in the main building to provide a different menu from the
canteen as well as a congenial atmosphere for discussions.

The microwave link to Matlab will be fully functional soon. It will facilitate voice and

data transfer between Dhaka and Matlab and supply internet connection to Matlab staff,
via the V-Sat.
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- The new clinic close to the entrance of the campus is nearing completion. It will house the
PSKP clinic on the first two floors and Centre projects on the remaining two floors.

- The office of human resources is being constructed in the Director’s wing of the main
building. CSD offices will be relocated in the ex-HR space. The vacant CSD space will
be allocated to additional lab space.

- Space on the ground floor of the main building is being renova‘ed to create a diagnostic
centre, a “‘one-stop-shop” that will offer improved facilities for processing clinical
specimens. The location of the facility which also has a separate entrance will limit
patients to the ground floor, thus providing improved security in the building.

Publications

The Journal of Health Population and Nutrition continues to be published on schedule. [t was
noted that there was increased interest in the publication of summaries of meetings. The
Journal’s March issue reported on the findings of a meeting on community based MCI and
the December issue will publish the consensus of a WHO meeting on zinc.

The Centre’s website will become more user-friendly and will provide a wider range of

information to users. It is hoped that it will become more effective as additional staff are
brought on board.

Prof Sack ended his report. Prof Jacobs thanked him for his presentation.

Discussion:

Mr Carriere stated that he was impressed with the changes being implemented at the Centre.
Staffing changes reinforced the need for fundamental changes. He congratulated the Director
and staff for making such progress in the transformation. The funding situation has improved
considerably but is not vet at the desired level and the Strategic Plan needs to address in
greater detail the question of resource mobilization.  The Strategic Plan was clearly a
participatory exercise and he complimented all involved for their commitment to the Plan.
Prof Jacobs stated that the Centre 1s in a very exclusive position but there is a gap in
understanding 1n the international arena as to the exact workings of an international research
institution. [t has an obligation to become a more prominent actor in the international arena
not only in research but also in the process of research management. The Centre can make a
valuable contribution to the dialogue on current issues in health care, particularly in
genomics. She pointed to a recently-released report by WHO, a copy of which she will send
to the Centre and on which she hopes the Centre will have substantial comments.

Prof Jacobs further stated that it was important to balance priorities on international debate
and institutional funding. She felt that the issues of poverty and equity should be prominent

in the Centre’s prionities which would attract funders who have greater social consciousness
on the issues.

Mr Camere noted that on 17 September, the UN was scheduled to host a special session on
children. This was a culmination of a year and a half of planning and would focus on the
rights of children over a decade. The meeting is likely to happen in june 2002 and he felt that
the Centre should find a place at the table as it had a crucial role to play in this issue.

Prof Jacobs reported on her expenience dealing with children in South Africa who have been
infected with the AIDS virus. She strongly urged that the Centre get HIV-AIDS on its
agenda, not only on biomedical research but on all aspects of dealing with the disease.

It was discussed that the mission/values/vision statement should be reviewed and restructured
to reflect the Centre as more on the cutting edge of intemational research. The statement
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needs to underline the Centre’s uniqueness from other such institutions. It was advised that a
PR agency be engaged to look over the statement and create one which defines the Centre’s
goals. The agency should also review the Centre’s name and advise accordingly on one
which would attract donors, partners and national and international groups.

Prof Jacobs invited Dr M A Salam to make his presentation for Clinical Sciences Division
(CSD).

':--_ ———— - -w‘v-"'- wm‘“rm——u—-——w
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Dr Salam presented the Division organogram which showed the Head CSD ovg:?:;égmg 3
units of research, service and training. Main activities of the units: research — diarrhoeal
diseases, malnutrition and related areas such as ALRI; patient care — diarrhoeal diseases and
associated health problems; training — case management of diarthoeal diseases, malnutrition
and clinical research. He felt that the structure should be changed tc be more effective.

The staffing status showed a total of 423 staff members which compnsed 1 ihternational, 31
national officers, 167 general service, 3 local consultants, 2 international consultants, 179
contract service agreement, 26 daily wagers, 14 security guards and cleaners (contracted out).

Research themes: case management research; pathphysiology research; maternal and child
health; preventive strategies. Research achievements from April to September 2001 showed
9 published work, 6 in press and 25 protocols in progress.

Dr Salam outlined highlights on completed protocols:

Low birthweight babies born to Bangladeshi women receiving zinc from 4 months of
gestation to childbirth had reduced disease morbidity. A follow up study revealed
significantly lower mental and psychometer indexes as well as altered behaviour in infants
born to women receiving zinc. The effects were more pronounced in LBW infants.  The
findings have important policy implications on zinc supplementation to pregnant women and
more research and evaluation of the role of micronutrient mix is needed.

A random group of women in the last trimester of pregnancy received individual counseling,
individual and group counseling or no counseling for exclusive breast feeding. At the end of
six months, 89% of the individual, 81% of the mixed and 11% of the control. group were
practicing exclusive breast feeding. This finding coupled with two early studies demonstrate
the efficacy and feasibility of breast feeding counseling in existing health delivery systems.

Adding Benefibre to comminuted chicken-based diet for children with PD revealed a
resolution of diarrhoea in a higher proportion of children, a shortening in mean diarrhoeal
duration and less stool volume. Monitoring the efficacy and adverse effects of this fortified
diet would be the next step in the management of children with PD.

Rececardotril, an anti-secretory agent was evaluated in the treatment of severe cholera in
adults. The drug was found safe but it failed to produce any positive effects in the reduction
of stool output, need for [V fluid, ORS or diarrhoea duration. In future, a more cautious
approach in advised in evaluation of newer anti-secretory agents.

Prof Salam reported on patient visits at the Dhaka hospital Apr-Sep 2000 and Apr-Sep 2001
respectively:

Total: 57,004 -- 49,406
Inpatient: 38,106 -- 33,814
Short stay ward: 33,583 -- 30,164
General ward 3,231 -- 2,506
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Special Care Unit 1,292 - 1,157
Nutrition Rehab Unit 258 -- 196

Ongoing staff development activities showed 3 doctoral programmes in nutrition,
gastroenterology, other at UC Davis (2), Edinburgh (1), Karolinska (1) and University of
Dhaka (1) respectively. Post doctoral programme in nutrition at UC Dawvis (1), MPH at New
South Wales (1) and MSc (Epidemiology) at Harvard School of Public Health (1).

Completed staff development training: Infectious Diseases Modelling and its application —
LSH&TM (1); Masters in Maternal and Child Health — ICH, UK (1); Introductory Course on
Epidemiology and Biostatistics — TEU, [CDDR,B (1); Cardio-pulmonary Resuscitation —
BIRDEM Dhaka (12).

Seven staff members received training under staff development and left the Centre since
1977. Training activities at the CRSC included the Clinical Fellowship Programme for
SAARC Fellows, clinical Fellows and nurse Fellows; Training of Trainers on international
case management and national case management; National Training Courses for general
practitioners and short orientation training; Elective training in CSD.

The Division participated in various international fora:
Congress/workshop/meeting/conference — 28; consultative meeting - 1.

Dr Salam highlighted the Division’s notable accomplishments:

- Strategic planning including the future of the Dhaka Hospital and Action Plan

- Development of Case Management manual

- Improvement of physical facilities of the Hospital including SCU and creation of ARI
ward :

- Strengthening the Diagnostic Unit

- Formation of research interest groups

- Strengthening the Child Development Unit

- Developing an effictent organogram for CSD

Dr Salam reported on the Nutrition Programme. Dr S K Roy is the Acting Programme Head.
Programme accomplishments included:

- Organisation of 6 theme groups:

Maternal Nutritior/LBW: Dr Shams El Artfeen (PHSD)

Severe and moderate child malnutrition: Dr T Ahmed (CSD)
Infections-Nutrition interactions: Dr D S Alam (PHSD)

Infant and child feeding: Dr Igbal Kabir (CSD)

Child development: Dr Jena Hamadani (CSD)

Micronutrients research and interventions: (Mr M A Wahed (LSD)

- A strategic plan has been developed.

Regarding the Nutrition Centre of Excellence (NCOE), a three-year World Bank grant of
USS$2.7 million will end this year. The Centre is currently strengthening its infrastructure. [t
supported 19 research protocols of which 3 have been completed.

The Bangladesh Integrated Nutrition Project (BINP) is conducting and coordinatingl8
Operations Research projects supported by the World Bank of which 14 have been completed
and 4 ongoing. The Project strengthened its research capacity of 10 national institutions. A

Page 10 of 39




seminar at the national policy level will be held to disseminate and integrate findings into
BINP operations.

The National Nutrition Programme (NNP) is being funded by the World Bank and will be
launched in early 2002. ICDDR,B has been identified as the sole source for conducting and
coordinating research.

©~"=>The ‘Division published:papers:in- 4 :international:peer-reviewed .journals, -1 . regional journal, .
and 1 letter.

Dr Salam concluded his report. Prof Jacobs thanked him for his presentation.

Discussion: Mr Carriere stated that the Centre’s involvement in micro-nutrients can be
linked with the need for additional funding. GAIN has established a plan to look into ways to
get food vehicles that are fortifiable. The Centre needs to focus on the right issues and work
its position effectively to capture some of the funding.

Dr Salam noted that at present, the Division was operating without international staff and
there were some positions that needed to be urgently filled. Further, he suggested that staff

be trained in clinical disciplines. He also stated that the Division needed to look beyond its
primary objectives.

Prof Jacobs invited Dr Balakrish Nair to present the report of the Laboratory Sciences
Division (LSD).

Dr Nair stated that LSD conducts laboratory-based research to adopt, develop and use the best
scientific technology to address infectious diseases and related health problems of
disadvantaged populations in partnership with other Divisions of the Centre and with
national, regional and international institutions that share the Division’s commitment to
maintain healthy populations.

The mandate of the Division is to apply science to alleviate diseases.

LSD has state-of-the-art laboratories in which to conduct research: Enteric and respiratory
microbiology;- environmental microbiology, immunology; molecular genetics, nutritional
biochemistry, parasitology; reproductive tract microbiology; tuberculosis; virology and
clinical diagnostics. The Division is also involved in HIV surveillance activities.

The Division recently inaugurated the new TB laboratory which was funded by UNOCAL.
The nutritional biochemistry lab was upgraded to dust-free status with funding from the
NCOE grant of the World Bank. The lab has been participating in the external quality control
programme administered by the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) and
has been accredited by NIST. The opening ceremony was attended by Mr Fred Temple,
Head, World Bank Dhaka Mission, Prof Sack and Centre staff.

The Division is research- and service-oriented. It has 20 scientists, 64 technologists and 166
support staff.

Findings:

Strains (attRS) carrying the RF of CTX) were either negative or produced mild
diarrhoea in adult rabbits compared to lysogens

Non-01 non-0139 strains of clinical or environmental origin carrying the RF caused
mild diarrhoea in rabbits
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¢ [n the intestinal tract of rabbits, un-integrated CTX genome was rapidly lost and the
excreted strains were mostly non-toxigenic.

« 105 isolates of Shigella dysenteriae type 1 strains isolated between Jan 199 and June
2001 were examined by PFGE. The pattern of the 3 strains differed from that
currently seen indicating the emergence of a new clone of S. dysenteriae type |

o 21 strains of Sh. Flexneri agglutinated with type antigen factor IV-2 but not with

group factor Y-5 of 6. Molecular typing showed these to belong to a new clone and
possibly a new serotype.

Shigella. Dr Nair reported on a burden of disease study in an urban area of Dhaka. The
study 1s funded by TVI under the DOMI programme. A pilot study was conducted to
standardize sample and data collection procedures. The main study was initiated from July
2001. A total population of 20,000 of all ages were randomly selected from over 5000
households and consent was obtained for participation in the study. Training of field and
clinic workers in distribution of households cards were completed.

Dengue. He reported that Dengue 3 caused outbreaks in 2000 and 2001. DEN 3 detected by
serum RT-PCR — 17 cases in 2000, 5 in 2001. DEN 2 in 4 cases — 3 in 2000, 1 in 2001.
Secondary infection was frequent with low case fatality of ~1.15%.

Hospital-based dengue surveillance in Dhaka City, Collaboration with DMCH and
HFRCH has continued since October 2000. 1093 patients were enrolled and 1033 serum
samples were tested for Dengue antibody and 719 (70%) were positive by ELISA. Of 1033,
166 (23%) were positive for 1gM (primary dengue) and 553 (77%) for 1gG (secondary
dengue). Reagents were obtained from AFRIMS Thailand as part of the collaboration.

Invasive bacterial infection. Dr Nair reported that multidrug resistant H.influenzae type b
(HiB) was a frequent cause of meningitis in children < 5 years. HiB was found in 37.4% (40
of 107) bacterial meningitis and resistant to ampicillin, chloramphenicol and cotrimoxazole in
44% (16 of 36 strains). None were tesistant to ceftriaxone. Pneumococcus and n.
meningitdis was detected in 30% and 6.5% cases. -

HIV/AIDS. The Division completed Round III of its surveillance for HIV in Bangladesh,
July 2000-June 2001. The results are submitted through the GoB system, but HIV infections
are now 1in high nisk groups including injecting drug users and sex workers. A dissemination

seminar is scheduled for 22 November 2001 when the results of the national surveillance will
be released.

Staff development 2001:

Ongoing:
Doctoral programme (H.pyvlori) — 1, Univ of Otago, New Zealand; doctoral programme
(nutnition) — 1, UC Davis; diploma (molecular parasitology) — 1, LSHTM UK; diploma

(microbiology) — 2 Univ of Leuven, Belgium, short training on immunology — 1, Harvard
Univ, USA.

Completed:

Doctoral (pathology) — 1, Univ of Niigata, Japan; short training on . pylori — 1, Washington
Umv, USA.

Participants at international fora: 22.
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Publications

The Journal of Infectious Diseases published cover photos credited to Dr Sack in their June
and August issues relating to articles on £. histolytica.

The Division published in 1 intemationally-reviewed journal, papers in press — 4;
~~-abstracts/papers presented‘at conference ='1; book chapter.published = I v — o 22 -

Prof Jacobs thanked Dr Nair for his presentation.
Discussion:

Dr Nair noted that the Division was in the process of transition both in the executive as well
as in the infrastructure. Staff members gave considerable input into the Strategic Plan with -
assistance from Prof Barkat. '

He affirmed that confidentiality arrangements are in place for HIV/AIDS testing; however,
counselling is not yet in operation but a project is establishing this.

Prof Jacobs invited Mr Peter Thorpe to present his report for the Information Sciemces
Division (ISD).

Mr Thorpe reported that the Division comprised DISC, CIS and TEL:

DISC, the Dissemination and Information Service Centre serves as an effective centre for
information management and dissemination using modem methods of storage, retrieval,
preparation, publication and dissemination of the Centre’s Jounal of Health, Population and
Nutrition (JHPN), newsletters — Glimpse, Shasthya Sanglap, published articles, etc. It also
develops. and maintains databases on publications and contacts with universities, research
institutions, Centre alumni, subscribers, UN and other international agencies. DISC
encourages the free flow of information to avoid duplication of research effort. It houses the
Audio-Visnal Unit (AVU) which provides audio-visual and photographic services.

Its mission is to diffuse the results of global health, nutrition and population research to solve
common problems, especially in the context of the developing world. '

DISC’s objectives are to produce and make available digitized archives of Centre materials
and to provide easy access to these materials in electronic format on CD and the Internet. It
develops additional specialized databases; provides resource areas in the library for Centre
programme areas and; upgrades computer facilities for library users.

CIS, the Computer Information Services i$ responsible for the provision of modern IT
services to all scientific and support Divisions in the Centre. Its objectives are to develop a
fully-integrated IT infrastructure throughout the Centre; provides end-users with a seamless
interface to all applications as well as direction and strategy to fulfil these requirements. CIS’
strategic plans are the introduction of a data warehouse on the Internet; enhancement of the
Centre’s web page; standardization of the software and hardware used in the Centre;
conversion of CIS to a self-supporting business. '

TEU, the Training and Education Unit (TEU) promotes human resources development by
strengthening research capacity in research techniques; management of diarrhoeal diseases
and family planning services and; responding to new and emerging issues. The Unit’s
objectives are to develop distance leaming methods and tools; develop new training courses
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in areas in which the Centre has a comparative advantage; promote the fellowship scheme;

collaborate with national and regional universities for accreditation; make the Unit self-
sufficient.

Prof Jacobs thanked Mr Thorpe for his presentation.
Discussion:

Mr Carriere stated that he welcomed the creation of the Division. It was discussed that with
the ever-changing new technologies, it was necessary for the Centre to have a Division
devoted to strengthening the Centre’s capacity to deliver services that are on par with
international standards. It was noted that DISC has the best bio-medical library in the country
and 1s used by people of wide-ranging interests.

Mr Thorpe stated that the Division was recently-established in August and was in the process
of assessing its personnel and other resources to determine the appropriate needs of the
Division, the Centre, and the wider user community.

Prof Jacobs invited Dr Robert Breiman to present his report for Health Systems and
Infectious Diseases Division (HSID).

Dr Breiman reported that the name HSID is the name change of HPED as had been directed
by the Board. It was recently Health Systems Research Division (HSRD) but with the
addition of an Infectious Diseases component in August 2001, it was felt that the name Health

Systems and Infectious Diseases Division better reflected the mission and objectives of the
Division.

HSID’s provisional mission is to strengthen national health systems through support of
operations research; design, test and facilitate replication/extension of cost-effective and
sustainable research outcomes for rural and urban settings with emphasis on prevention and
control of infectious diseases.

The Division provides infrastructure and expertise for Centre-wide operations research with
adaptation/implementation of benefits of interventions identified in *research world” and
“real world” applications 1.e. accelerates evolution of policy through research. It also

provides a Division-level epidemiologic and operational focal point for infectious disease
research.

Total HSID staff is 205 — 41 national officers, 2 international, 162 other (including field level
and general services).

3 cross-divisional programmes are housed within HSID: Programme on Health and Family
Planning Systems (PHFPS); Programme on Infectious Diseases and Vaccine Sciences
(PIDVS) and; Family Health Research Project (FHRP).

PHFPS is an ICDDR,B Centre-wide initiative for supporting activities on integrated delivery
of essential health and family planning services. Its objectives are to facilitate, focus and
make coherent Centre-wide research and activities relevant to national health and family
planning programmes through identification of priority problems; design, implementation,
evaluation and replication of cost-cffective and sustainable interventions; provision of
technical assistance. PHFPS delivers maximum health benefits tc the community, making
optimal use of available knowledge, solutions and resources.
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PIDVS is an ICDDR,B initiative for focus, facilitation and synergy. Its objectives are to
facilitate and focus ICDDR,B’s expanding role in the prevention and control of infectious
diseases important to Bangladesh and other impoverished settings.

The Programme’s prinicipal coordination and facilitation efforts are to:

= Evaluate promising vaccine candidates against key infectious diseases and disease

‘:—-:—::::é?ﬁdr'dmes“ e - e -
Define disease incidence and burden for major disease syndromes and key aetiologies
Define risk factors and clinical and epidemiologic characteristics of priority infectious
diseases for use in cost-effective strategies for prevention and control

Evaluate treatment and prevention strategies for reducing burden of infectious
diseases

Enhance capacity to investigate outbreaks in Bangladesh

FHRP is the USAID/Dhaka-supported Operation Research Project (ORP) which has been
restructured and renamed. The restructuring aims to improve project activities with broad
involvement of scientists/researchers working in other Divisions/Programmes of the Centre;

to develop and test practical new interventions with enhanced emgphasis on ESP programme
needs.

FHRP studies:

Bangladesh fertility decline

Development and evaluation of community-based IMCI intervention
Community-based interventions to reduce neo-natal mortality
Cost-effectiveness analyses of NGO (PSKP) nutrition interventions in Dhaka

Addressing missed opportunities - for family health rapid appraisal tool for ESP
managers ‘ '

Programmatic and non-programmatic determinants of low EPI coverage

Cost-effectiveness of different strategies to improve access to basic obstetric care in
Bangladesh

Effects of single-dose vs multiple dose HiB vaccine

Community-based impact evaluation and surveillance of PSKP nutrition iterventions
Impact of improved Essential Obstetric care. :

Dr Breiman stated that apart from the above, studies/interventions having practical relevance
to the national programme on ESP will be undertaken on a rolling basis.

PHFPS coordinates FHRP activities and assists in strengthening operations research
capacities/skills of the Centre.

PIDVS and PHFPS interact with all the Divisions of the Centre.

The Division is overseen by Head, HSID. The Administration and Coordination offices of
PIDVS and PHFPS are directed by the Head and in turn are responsible for coordinating the
activities of the Economic Studies Unit (rural interventions and field site management); Data
Management Unit (urban interventions and field site management) and; the Infectious
‘Disease Unit.

PIDVS operates 3 field sites: Abhoynagar (education and communication), Mirsarai
(essential obstetric care) and Kamalapur (Dhaka urban slum clinic). Research at Abhoynagar
and Mirsarai provided the base for guidelines for site selection of clinics; community
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participation in clinic establishment and function; reorganization of domiciliary services to
clinic-based service delivery. 6,000 community clinics will operate in government and local
community partnership. The National Health Reform Programme now wants “one-stop”
provision of ESP in rural areas via community clinics.

The Division incorporates cross-divisional scientific teams in wide-ranging activities;
dengue, rotavirus vaccine, Shigella burden of disease and cholera vaccine (DOMI), ARI,
tuberculosis, emerging and re-emerging infectious diseases. It also coordinates the activities
of the Vaccine Working Group.

The dengue research team comprises:

LSD - Dr Anowar Hossain, Dr Mahbubhur Rahman, Dr Tasnim Azim
CSD — Dr Akramuzzaman, Dr M A Salam

PHSD - Dr A K Siddique, Dr Yukiko Wagatsuma, Dr Abduliah Brooks
TEU -Dr AN Alam

Dr Breiman pointed to knowledge gaps in the efforts to limit the impact of dengue in
Bangladesh: magnitude and severnity of the problem, habitat and density of Aedes mosquito;
clinical characteristics of dengue/DHF; risk factors for disease and poor outcome; host factor
determunants for severe disease and poor outcome.

PIDVS’ partners/collaborators are: Ministry of Health, Dhaka City Corporation, Bangladesh
hospitals, Johns Hopkins University, CDC, AFRIMS, WHO, IV], pharmaceutical companies.
Its donors are: USAID, DfID, JICA, NIH, NVPO, WHO IVI, Gates/PATH, GAVI,
pharmaceutical companies, CDC, AFRIMS.

Prof Jacobs thanked Dr Breiman for his presentatio‘n.

Discussion:
[t was suggested that the name of the Division be re-assessed.

Prof Jacobs invited Prof Lars Ake Persson to present the report for Public Health Sciences
Division (PHSD).

Prof Lars Ake outlined the structure of the PHSD: Matlab Health Research Unit (MHRU),
Social and Behavioural Sciences Unit (SBSU), Health and Demographic Surveillance Unit
(HDSU), Health Economics (HEU), Epidemic Control Preparedness Unit (ECPU), Child
Health Unit (CHU), Reproductive Health Unit (RHU).

Highlights

In 2001, the Division published 22 papers in peer-reviewed journals, 10 in press, and 7
contributions in books. Two PhD theses: Dr D S Alam (MHRU) amd Dr G Mostafa (HDSU).
Experiences from Chakoria were the basis for the organization of a Self-Help Conference
(which started today in the Sasakawa auditorium). The modemization of Matlab HDSS is
completed. [n December, an international training course and longitudinal data anaiysis is
planned. The Centre now has microwave link to Matlab for voice and IT communication.
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Major initiatives/plans:
Child health

o Evaluation of Integrated Management of Childhood Illness (IMCT)
o mproving case management diarrhoea, ARI, malnutrition
o Strengthening Centre’s capacity on Child Development studies

- = = ==I5=Improving neonatal health and survivals= i s o

o Childhood injunies: understanding and interventions

—

Reproductive health

EU-supported investments in obstetric care facilities in Matlab to be finalised
soon; infrastructure for evaluation and in-depth studies

USAID and DfID new partners in safe motherhood studies

Unmet Obstetric Need project underway; assessing and evaluating new safe
motherhood indicators

Violence against women studies completed. Other studies on the public health
consequences of violence initiated

Male involvement in reproductive health project; male clinics running well;
peer promotion and community awareness activities

'Major population issues

The key population issue currently is the stalling of the fertility decline of the 1980s. Is it
brief and temporary, or longer-term. What are the implications? >80% of population growth
to 2050 will be due to population momentum, a consequence of large numbers of adolescents
entering the reproductive years. What social and economic policies and interventions might
offer alternative roles to early marriage and childbearing for young women? What new (non-
FP) approaches may be needed to minimize unwanted fertility (incl abortion) and assist
couples to achieve their desired family size?

Prof Persson thanked Dr Yunus and colleagues for their excellent work m the modernization
of HDSS.

He stated that the Division is hoping to recruit a health economust.

The Division hoped to do more on health for the elderly as it is a vulnerable, very under-
served group.

Prof Jacobs thanked Prof Persson for his presentation.

Discussion:

. Mr Carriere noted that the Division has been very productive and action-oriented. It has
made very important findings and appears to be clear 1n its focus. He wanted to know “how
and where does it all come together?” Dr Sack stated that the Programmes follow a cross-
divisional, thematic approach with staff working together from different disciplines.

Prof Jacobs thanked all the participants and declared the Programme Committee closed.
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Draft resolutions of the Programme Committee

The Committee resolved to present the following draft resolutions to the Board for its
approval:

I/BT/NOV/01

The Board authorizes an external review of the Laboratory Sciences Division during the first
half of 2002 and of the Clinical Sciences Division during the second half of 2002. A report
from the external reviews will be submitted to the Board of Trustees at its June meeting and
November meeting respectively, Further, the Board anticipates external reviews of the
Information Sciences Division and the Public Health Sciences Division during 2003. Each of
these external reviews will be carried out by a multinational group of three or four persons,
including at least one member of the Board of Trustees.
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Minutes of the Finance Committee
Saturday 10 November 2001
1:30pm

Present:

Executive Committee

Prof Marian Jacobs Chair of the Board

Prof Azad Khan Chair, Finance Commiitee
Mr Rolf Camere

Prof David Sack Director

Absent (with. regrets):
Dr Ricardo Uauy Dagach

Invited:

Division Heads, CFO, Acting Head HR, Ms Vanessa Brooks (ER&ID), Dr Ishtiaque Zaman
(ER&ID), Ms Shamima Moin, Mr M A Samad, Mr SK Abdul Matin (Finance personnel).

Minute Secretary:
Mrs Judith Bennett Henry

Prof Jacobs invited Mr Stephen Sage CFO to present the Finance report.

Mr Sage stated that he was pleased to be at the Centre and thanked the Trustees, Director and
staff for their patience and understanding for his delayed arrival. He looked forward to a
rewarding relationship with ICDDR,B.

2001 Forecast

The 2001 forecast showed a revenue of US$14,136,000 in donors’ contribution which was
US$365,000 (2.5%) less than the budget approved in November 2000. For items with a
change of more than US$100,000, contributions showed reduced revenues from AusAid,
European Union, USAID-Dhaka, oil companies (for disasters), the Hospital Endowment
Fund (HEF). This was offset by increased contributions from Netherlands government, SDC-
Switzerland, Thrasher Foundation, the Bangladesh government.

Unrestricted contributions for core totalled US$2,738,000 forecast for 2001 compared to
US$1,810,000 budgeted for 2001. This showed an increase of US$928,000 (51%). Mr Sage
stressed that the Centre must continue to press for unrestricted funds as well as it needs to
internally generate core funds.

Expenditures against 2001 budget were US$13,956,000 cash basis which was US$435,000
(3.0%) less than budget. These covered increased vs budget, local salaries and capital
expenditures and were offset by international salaries, supplies and materials.

Surplus is forecasted to be $180,000 compared to budget of $110,000 for 2001. This reduces
the cumulative deficit to less than $3,000,000 which is a reduction »f over $1,000,000 in the
past three years. :
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2002 Budget
The 2002 budget forecast showed revenue from contributions totalling US$13,773,000 which

was USS$363,00 (2.6%) less than 2001. Contributions to 2002 budget showed reduced
revenues vs 2001 from European Union and World Bank which was offset by increased
contnbutions from USAID-Dhaka, DfID, AusAID.

The ten (10) largest donors contnbuted US$10,313,000 to the 2002 budget which was 75% of
the total budget. The same 10 contnbuted US$9,843,000 in 2001, 69% of the total budget.
Mr Sage urged that the Centre expand its donor base to avoid any possible crisis should a
major donor decide to change its funding policy or orientation.

Unrestricted contributions for core for 2002 showed US$2,488,000 budgeted vs
1US$2,738,000 forecast for 2001, a decrease of US$250,000 (9%).

Expenditures for 2002 were forecast at USS$14,305,000 or US$349,000 (2.5%) more than
2001. Mr Sage stated that for the Centre to break even in 2002, it would need: to decrease the

deficit by USS$532,000. The budget was prepared on a conservative basis including only
finalized agreements.

Although the budget shows a deficit, management is confident that projects in progress will
yield contributions to the 2002 budget to at least breakeven. Thus is similar to 1999 to 2000

when deficit budgets were presented the previous November and actual results yielded a
surplus.

Hospital Endowment Fund(HEF)

The HEF received contributions of US$252,000 through 30 Sept 2001. A new fund manager
was engaged in September 2001 — Morgan Stanley was replaced by TIAA-CREF. The HEF
saw an 8% decline in market value; 94% of the HEF is in money market funds pending
stability of the market. Management is recommending a withdrawal of $200,000 as of 31
December 2001 for operating costs of the Hospital in 2002.

Centre Endowment Fund

The Fund received no contribution through 30 Sept 2001. A new fund manager was engaged
in September. The Fund saw a 13% decline in market value in 2001. The Fund is invested
with TIAA-CREF and currently held in money market account. Mr Sage requested Board
approval to transfer US$120,000 from Centre Endowment Fund for project development
funds. (The reason this fund declined more than the HEF was that more was invested in

equities and bonds. Some of the HEF was in time deposits and were protected from the
market decline).

Gates/Government of Bangladesh Award

Mr Sage pointed out that the Gates Award (US$1m) and the Government of Bangladesh
matching funds (US$885,000) were not represented in the budget. The Gates fund is invested
in short-term time deposits and is projected to earn approx US$14,000 in 2001. The GOB
recently released the matching fund. The award monies are being held pending instruction
from the Board. A plan for this fund is being presented (see Annex 1).

Strategic Plan
On Strategic Plan issues, the Finance Office is invoived in several activities:

- Common operating costs which would be identified in all projects with an indication
of portion contnbuted by project and portion contributed by core funds. This would
allow tracking to inform core donors of projects funded by their contributions.
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MIS review to test the capabilities of the finance MIS as well as of the current system
and identify improvements needed.

Audit of indirect costs for USAID reimbursement which is required periodically to
maintain ongoing funding and which will effect future common operating costs.

Plans to service units on a business basis i.e. to identify service support units, develop
a business model with the aim to implement with specific support services e.g.

tr hospital 1
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Prof Jacobs thanked Mr Sage for his presentation.

Discussion:

Prof Azad Khan stated that the Gates/Bangladesh funds should directly benefit the children of
Bangiadesh. It was discussed that Mrs Melinda Gates’ statement in her speech at the award
ceremony that no child should die of an easily prevented disease should be taken as the
guiding principle. It was suggested that the speech should .be looked over and a brochure
prepared explaining the use of the funds in keeping with the spirit of the award.

It was noted that the local currency of Bangladesh was devalued by 4.8% resulting in some
gain to the Centre. However, the grant from the EU was negatively impacted by the
weakening of the Euro against the dollar in 2001.

It was further discussed-that in an effort to diversify funding sources, the Centre may consider
using some of the award to create something innovative. It was suggested that corporate as
well as individual donors should be targeted. Ms Brooks felt that to advance the profile of the
Centre to corporations and individuals, it was crucial that the Centre change its name. It was
equally important to avoid quirky or catchy names and to settle on one which projects the
Centre in a more sophisticated, international way.

Mr Sage affirmed that TIAA-CREF did offer accounts targeted to individuals, corporations
and organizations with a social and humanitarian agenda and that the endowment funds were
to be invested in such an account,

It was suggested that the Cenire should give a higher profile to donors of unrestricted funds.
Prof Jacobs also suggested that the Centre should institute a mechanmism for tracking donor
policy. Prof Sack confirmed that the ER&ID office receives electronic mailing with updated
information on donor policy. ~

Prof Jacobs suggested that the Centre consider income-generation activities through sale of
services such as the laboratories; rental of accommodation; ICDDR,B guesthouse.

Prof Jacobs thanked Ms Moin, Mr Samad and Mr Matin for managing the Finance Office
until Mr Sage’s armival. She declared the Finance Committee closed.
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Draft resolutions of the Finance Committee

The Committee resolved to present the following draft resolutions to the Board for its
approval:

2/BT/NOV/01

The Board authorises Mr Stephen Sage, acting in his capacity as Chief Finance Officer (CFO)
to sign cheques on behalf of the Centre, and the Board withdraws its previous authorisation of
Mr Winklemann as signatory.

3/BT/NOV/01

The Board authornizes the transfer from the Reserve Fund to the operating Fund of all monies
in excess of $2,000,000 at December 31, 2001 to further reduce the cumulative deficit.

4/BT/NOV/01

The Board approves that the previously authorised transfer of $200,000 from the Hospital
Endowment Fund in 2001 may be carried over into 2002 as deemed necessary by the

Director; and also authorises $200,000 to be transferred from the Hospital Endowment Fund
to operations in 2002.

S/BT/NOV/01

The Board authorises the transfer of up to $120,000 from the Centre Endowment Fund in
2001 and that such unexpended monies may be carried over into 2002.

6/BT/NOV/01

The Board authorizes opening an account with TIAA-CREF Trust Company for the Hospital
Endowment Fund as per the attached certificate {Annex 2).

T/BT/NOV/01

The Board endorses the budget for the award funds (from the Gates Global Health Award and
the matching award from the Government of Bangladesh) as presented by the Director in the
memo of 4 Nov. Further, it encourages the Centre to utilize these funds and the work carried
out as a result to popularize these two awards.
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The Director’s Office

ICDDR,B: The Centre for Health and Population Research
ICDDR,B, GPO Box 128, Mohakhali, Dhaka 1000
ronnenmae BANGLADESH

e . _._.__Phone; 8811751- 60 (Ext 2100) Direct: 880-2-8823031
T T Fax: 880-2:882-3116 (from the U.S;1:208-955-4437) = i .

Email: dsack{@icddrb.org

To: Executive Committee of the BOT
From: Director

Subject: Gates-Bangladesh Award Funds
Date: 4 November 2001

The following describes the recommendation of the rﬁanagement for the allocation of
the Gates-Bangladesh award funds.

INCOME
Award Source Amount
Gates Foundation $1,000,00¢

G of Bangladesh _ $885,000
Total

ALLOCATION ' ' 2002
Staff benefits ‘ N '
Staff Benefit : $50,000
Staff Development and Training $50,000-

Patient care : $200,000
Investments
Local investment $0 . $400,000
Project Development Funds $100,000 $200,000 :
Dissemination activities $50,000
Totals
Remaining
(Expenditures will be within [0% of the above listed line-item amounts.)

An explanation of the items is as follows:

Staff Benefit

~ Examples of the funds for staff benefit will include improving the créche,
health club facilities, canteen, etc. We would want input on these from SWA,
staff clinic, HR and other groups who have an interest in 1mprov1ng the
facilities for staff.

Staff development would operate according to staff rules. Our “Circle
Around the Centre” campaign this year will include a matching programme
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whereby contributions through the Circle will be matched from the award
fund.

Patient care would provide certain specific services in our Dhaka Hospital. For this
we would designate a specific activity (e.g. costs for the ALRI ward, short stay ward,
or other activity) as being funded by the Gates award. We could confidently say that
the $600,000 1n patient care will

provide services for 60,000 patients and save the lives of 6,000 patients.
Alternatively, this could be start up funds for new and innovative ideas about how to
operate the hospital.

Investments

Local investment means that we would think like a businessperson.
Considering our expertise and relative strengths, we would invest in a Centre-
controlled activity that would continue to earn income into the future. This
could be, for example, in further development of our clinical [aboratory,
production / marketing of rice ORS, renting vehicles to our intemational level
staff, or others. Whatever activity is selected should have a solid business plan
and should be geared to provide an income in the future.

Project Development funds would provide discretionary funds to the
Divisions and Programmes. Of the $500,000 total available for project funds,
at least $50,000 will be spent for collaborative projects with local institutions
and another $50,000 will be spent in collaborative projects with regional
institutions ‘outside Bangladesh. The funds to the local and regional
institutions is not a “small grants programme™ for local institution, but rather
are intended to be start up funds that will build future collaborations.

Dissemination activities will increase the ways that the Centre provides
information to those outside the Centre. This may be through joumals, other
publications, Internet sites, special training activities, brochures, videos, etc.

Remaining

This will remain at the Director’s discretion for use in unforeseen
circumstances or for new initiatives that require seed funds. Examples will
include capital needs for an HIV laboratory, pending receipt of specific project
funds, funds for emergency response to emerging diseases or outbreaks. Prior
to 1ts use, the funds will remain invested in safe investments and will continue
to bear eamnings.

Reporting requirements for the Gates-Bangladesh funds

All funds from the fund will be given a specific budget number that identifies this as
the source for the activity. On a semi-annual basis we will want to report the results
of the funds to ourselves and annually in the Annual Revort. Thus, the persons
receiving funds for staff development will be designated Gates-Bangladesh scholars.
The patient care activity funded will be designated as the Gates-Bangladesh ward or
activity, etc. The projects funded under the project development funds will likewise
be designated as a Gates-Bangladesh project.
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SECRETARY'S CERTIFICATE

I, David A. Sack, as Director of The Intermational Centre for Diarrhoeal Disease
___Research, Bangladesh (the “Centre”), and Executive Secretary of the Board of Trustees of the
*“—>Centre; a non-profit‘organization:formed:and existing .under_the laws _of the Bangladesh,

hereby certify that the following is a true and correct copy of a resolution of the Board of *
Trustees of the Centre adopted by unanimous written consent of the Board of Trustees:

RESQLVED, that the Director is authorized to open an account for the Centre with
TIAA-CREF Trust Company, FSB (“Trust Company’), and to execute an agreement with the
Trust Company in the name and on behalf of the Centre goverming that account, and that he 1s
authorized in the name and on behalf of the Centre to take such action with respect to said

agreement and account consistent with its purpose that such officer may deem appropriate;
and further

RESOQLVED, that the Director, the Chief Finance Officer of the Centre, and the
Chairman of the Endowment Fund Committee are each an “Authorized Individual” and as
such must act together with one other such Authorized Individual and further

RESOLVED, that any two Authorized Individuals acting together are hereby
authorized to act on behalf of the Centre with regard to the account, including the power to
give written instructions for the purchase, sale, exchange or transfer, deposit, or withdrawal of
any securities or other property held in such account, and to make and to execute any
necessary forms in connection with such transactions; and otherwise take any action relating
to the account on behalf of the Centre, and Trust Company may deal with any two Authorized
Individuals acting together as though it were dealing with the Centre directly; and further

RESOLVED, that the Executive Secretary of the Centre’s Board of Trustees is héreby
authorized, empowered and directed to certify a true copy of these Resolutions and a
specimen signature of each Authorized Individual to the Trust Company; and further

RESOLVED, that Trust Company may rely upon the certification given as continuing
fully effective unless and until Trust Company shall receive written notice of an amendment,
modification or rescission of such Resolution or certification, in the form of a certification of
the Secretary of change in the Authorized Individual’s authority, and that Trust Company
shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken upon instruction of any Authorized
Individual prior to receipt of notice of change in such person’s authority, and a reasonable
opportunity to act upon that notice.

I further certify that the following is a true and correct list of officers elected to the

office of Director, Chief Finance Officer and Chairman of the Fund Management Committee

and at duly convened meetings of said Board of Trustees, as taken by me from the minutes of
said meetings:

Director: - David A. Sack:

Chief Finance Officer: Stephen E. Sage

Chairman, Fund Management Committee: William B. Greenough, HI
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[ further certify that the following individuals hold the office indicated and that the
bignature affixed next to that individual’s name is a true and correct specimen signature of
hat individual:

ame: Position: Signature:
David A. Sack Director
Stephen E. Sage Chief Finance Officer

William B. Greenough, III  Chairman, Fund

Management Committee

I further certify that the above quoted resolutions are still in force and effect and have not
been repealed or amended.

In witness whereof, [ have set my hand.

By: Judith Bennett Henry date
‘Board of Trustees

By: David A. Sack date
Executive Secretary
Board of Trustees
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Minutes of the Personnel & Selection Committee
Saturday 10 November 2001
' 2:30pm
Present:

e

Prof Marian Jacobs Chair of the Board
Prof Azad Khan

Mr Rolf Carriere Chair, P&S Committee
Prof David Sack Director

Absent (with regrets):
Dr Ricardo Uauy Dagach

Invited:
Division Heads, CFO, Acting Head HR, Ms S Nahid Sultana (Personnel}

Minute Secretary:
Mrs Judith Bennett Henry

Mr Carriere requested the Executive Committee’s approval of the minutes of the Personnel
and Selection Committee meeting of June 2001. Prof Jacobs moved; Prof Sack seconded.

He then invited Acting Head HR Mr Wahabuzzaman Ahmed to present the report of the
Personnel Office.

Staffing overview

During the reporting period 1 April-30 September 2001, the Centre had 45 separations and 57
additions. Fixed term staff belonging to all categories increased by 12 — these were hired
mostly for project positions. The Centre continues to follow the policy of restricting external
recruitment of fixed-term staff.

International staff by continent: As of 30 September 2001, Asia — 9 (38%); N. America ~ 7
(29%); Europe — 5 (21%); Australia — 1 (4%); Africa — 1 (4%); S.Amer - 1 (4 %). These
numbers include fixed-term, seconded and short-term staff.

Staffing status by gender:

Total international professional (incl FT/ST/Seconded)  -- 24

Male --18 (75%)
Female - 6(25 %)
Total national officers {incl FT/ST) -173

Male - 133 (77%)
Female -- 40 (23%)
Total General Services (incl FT/ST) -2 932

Male -- 546 (59%)
Female --386 (41%)

Page 27 of 3




Total community health workers
Male
Female

Total volunteers
Male
Female

Total trainees
Male
Female

Total CSA (contract)
Male
Female

Grand Total

- 19
—~ 6 (32%)
- 13 (68%)

72
—1(1%)
- 71 (99%)

27
18 (67%)
9 (33%)
379
120 (32%)
- 259 (68%)

1626

Male 842 (52%)
Female ' - 784 (48%)

Discussion:

Gender policy

It was discussed that the Centre needs gender balance. This requires pro-active recruitment
and the commitment to set a trend and be seen to create a conducive environment. It was
important to open up the recruitment process. A strong gender policy is needed.

[t was also discussed that the Centre should institute a mentoring system for female scientists.

It was suggested a public health fellowship to tram female scientists in the research field and
provide on-the-job training,

New international professional staff

Head, Information Sciences Division, PS. Mr Peter Thorpe, a British national, joined the
Centre on 1 August 2001 to head the newly established Information Sciences Division.

Chief Finance Officer, PS5, Director’s Division. Mr Stephen Sage, a US national, joined the
Centre on 21 August 2001.

Recruitment of international professional staff

Associate Director of the Centre and Head, Laboratory Sciences Division (D1). The position
was advertised in The Lancet, ASM News, New England Journal of Medicine and the Centre
website. Two (2) candidates-- Dr Andrej Weintraub and Prof Antoine Andremont -- were
shortlisted and interviewed. At the June meeting, the Board gave approval to extend an offer
to either one of the candidates. Offers were made to both but personal and professional
commitments prevented their acceptance. Dr G Balakrish Nair, who is currently acting Head
LSD, indicated his interest in assuming the position. Centre management will recommend to
the Board the confirmation of Dr Nair as Head of LSD.

Associate Director and Head, Clinical Sciences Division (D1). One (1) candidate was
shortlisted for the position ~ Dr Pearay Ogra, who was unable to accept the offer until late
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2002. Dr Charles Larson, a candidate for a position with the FHRP project, has indicated his
interest in the position. Dr M A Salam is currently Acting Head, CSD.

Renewal of contracts

Associate Director, D1, Policy and Planning. Prof Barkat € Khuda’s contract will end on
19 June 2002. He will complete almost 5 years of service as intemational professional staff.
7" The-Centre ‘recommends:that : Prof;Barkat .e. Khuda’s .contract_be extended to complete six

years. T el

The recommendation was noted by the Executive Committee and will be addressed in the
Closed Session of the meeting.

Head, Health and Demographic Surveillance Programme, P5, PHSD. The contract of Dr
Peter Kim Streatfield will expire on 17 July 2002. The Centre recommends that Mr
Streatfield’s contract be extended by another full term of three (3) years under the existing

terms and conditions. Prof Lars Ake Persson made a strong recommendation for extension of
Dr Streatfield.

Director, ADG. The three-year secondment contract of Prof David Sack expires on 30
September 2002. He was seconded from Johns Hopkins University.

Clause 13.1 of the ICDDR,B Ordinance 1978 (Ordinance No. LI of 1978) stipulates ‘a

- Director who shall be selected and appointed by the Board for a term which may be
renewable for another term’.

[t was agreed that Executive Committee members would discuss with Prof Sack in Closed
session and submit its recommendations to the Full Board.

Seconded staff contracts

Dr Jozef Bogaerts, Senior Scientist, P5, Laboratory Sciences Division, will leave the Centre
on 21 December 2001. He was seconded from the Belgian Technical Cooperation. It was not
yet known whether the agency will send a replacement.

The contract of Dr Robert Breiman, Medical Epidemiologist and Acting Head, Health
Systems Research Division, will expire on 21 July 2002. He was seconded from CDC
Atlanta and US Embassy Dhaka. Centre management will request approval of an extension
of contract and his confirmation as Head of the Divisien. Prof Sack reported that he had
made formal request to the Surgeon General for approval of Dr Breiman’s extension.

The contract of Mr Carel Van Mels, Demographic Researcher, Health and Demographic
Surveillance, PHSD, will expire on 28 December 2001. He was seconded from the Mim'stry
of Foreign Affairs, Government of the Netherlands. -Prof Sack reported that formal request
for extension was submitted through the Dhaka Embassy and is awaiting a formal response
but imtial indicators are favourable for his continuation.

The contract of Dr Yukiko Wagatsuma, Scientist, P4, Epidemic Control Preparedness
Programme will expire on 16 January 2002. She was seconded from Johns Hopkins
University and is expected to continue at the Centre.

Dr Abdullah Brooks, Scientist, P4, HSRD, completed his assignment under a secondment
from Johns Hopkins under the Child Survival Fellow Programme on 31 May 2001 an
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commenced his new tenure as a Scientist on secondment from Johns Hopkins University
effective | July 2001 for a period of 2 years.

Completion of tenure at International Professional level

Dr AKM Siddique, Epidemiologist and Head, Epidemic Control Preparedness Programme,
P4, PHSD, will complete 6 years at international level on 30 June 2002. As per Centre rules,
and as noted at the June 2001 Board meeting, he may remain under the policy of promotion
of Bangladeshi scientists to intemational level. Further to this, he has attained the age of 60
and under the provision of the Staff Rules, can continue on a renewal basis yearly until age
65. It was suggested that an understudy be engaged for eventual hand-over of the ECPP.

Dr Radheshyam Bairagi, Senior Scientist, PS, PHSD completed six years of tenure on 14
June 2001. He was extended for one year under the policy of promotion of Bangladeshi
scientists to intemational level, as noted at the June 2001 Board meeting. He may be renewed

on a yearly basis based on satisfactory performance as well as availability of funds, not
exceeding age 63, as per rule. '

Establishment of new international posts

The establishment of a new position of Head, Nutrition Research Programme, P4/P5, CSD, is

needed urgently to provide effective leadership to the ongoing and highly expanding nutrition
research, training and service activities of the Centre.

The post of Head, External Relations and Institutional Development (ER&ID), P2, was
established at the 1998 November BoT meeting. Following announcements and receipt of

applications, it was decided to postpone the process until the arrival of the Director to assess
the needs of the post.

[t was decided to rename the post as Programme Officer and seek an early recruitment. The
Job description was revised to suit the needs of the ER&ID office. Centre management is
requesting the Board to approve recruitment for the post.

Mr Zaman highlighted to the Committee the number of vacant posts in the list of established
international professional posts:

Director’s Division: Head, ER&ID (P2), Internal Auditor (P1), Associate Director (P4).

"PHSD: Environmental Specialist (P4), Health Economist (P4), Demographer (P4), Maternal
Health Specialist (P3).

CSD: Assoc Director (D1), Health & Child Survival Fellow, International Fellow.
LSD: Assoc Director (D1)

HSRD: Management Scientist (P4), Health Scientist (P4), Administrative Director (P3), Sr

Adviser & Head, HPED (FHRP) (D1), Operations Research Scientist (P4), Visiting Scientist
(P4).

Selection of members to the Board of Trustees

Currently, all members are in place. However, the tenure of Prof Marian Jacobs as a member
will expire in November 2002 and BoT members should submit names of possible candidates
to the Director. When Prof Jucobs leaves the Board, a new Chair will need to be appointed.
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Scientific Promotions update

It was reported that the Centre instituted a new policy for Bangladeshi scientists to apply for
promotion to the international level. Scientists must be at least at an NOC level and should
submit their applications with CVs and list of publications to Division Heads who will then
make recommendations to the Promotions Committee following which the applications will

= = —be sent:for external review. .. The process takes_at least 3 months. There are currently 5
applications under review. This policy” allows ~for ~outstanding = scientists - to =receive .
promotions, but it is intended for only a few.

Discussion:

Prof Jacobs asked whether non-scientific staff were eligible under the policy. She suggested
that the Centre look at the financial implications. It would send a positive signal to the staff
that their work is recognized as important as the scientific staff. She further suggested that the
Centre identify selected posts as key posts and provide salary enhancement.

Dr Sack commented that the current policy of Bangladeshi staff promotion to international
status is relevant only if the scientist is able to bring in additional support through competitive
grants. Thus, this mechanism may not fit non-scientist positions.

It was discussed that the scientists who apply for promotions are screened not only for
scientific production but also for their skill in clinical or other professional services in areas
where the Centre is active. Evidence of scientific/clinical performance, training and
advocacy are some of the criteria by which scientists should be judged.

Prof Sack reported that Human Resources was 80% through the re-classification of posts. It

is expected to be completed in several months. A new personnel evaluation system is being
reviewed. ‘

‘Home leave policy

Mr Zaman presented for the Committee’s information, a revised home leave policy. The
policy states that eligible staff members will be entitied to one home leave every eighteen
months during their contract. In exceptional cases, home leave may be advanced with
approval from the Director, provided that the staff member has served a minimum period of
qualifying service.

Prof Sack explained that the previous rule stated that leave could be taken after 24 months
which was not practical for someone with a three-year contract. In fact, the new home leave

policy represents no significant change from the previous one except for being more
adaptable to the Centre’s situation.

Duration of Cdntracts

It was further noted that a 3-year contract was not a sufficient timeframe for developing
programmes or for staff to settle into the programmes and build a strong base of interaction
with other related projects/collaborators/fellow researchers. It was suggested that Prof Sack
review the issue and develop options for career structure for next BoT meeting. Note: The
Executive Committee stressed that renewal of contracts should be submitted through Division
Heads who would then forward the approval/non-approval to the Director.
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Education grant policy

Dr Sack pointed out that staff members’ children attend different international schools in
Dhaka and these follow a different grading system which causes difficulty in assessing
eligibility for education grant allowance. He felt that the policy should be revised to make it
age-specific. The Board was informed that the staff rule was revised to state that a child will
be cligible after the first full term that begins after the child’s 5® birthday. It was

recommended that the policy be retroactive to I August 2001 to include the beginning of the
current school year.

Salaries
It was discussed that the Staff Welfare Association would be making the request for a salary

increase and the Executive Committee would need to consider this in Closed Session. It was
noted that the Board approved salary increases in November 1999 and November 2000.

Draft resolutions of the Personnel & Selection Committee

The Committee resolved to present the following draft resolutions to the Board for its
approval:

8/BT/NOV/01

The Board approves the extension of the current employment contract of Prof Barkat ¢ Khuda
for the period 20 June 2002 to 31 July 2003 under the same terms and conditions.

9/BT/NOV/01

The Board approves the extension of the current employment contract of Dr Kim Peter

Streatfield by another term of three (3) years effective 18 July 2002 under the same terms and
conditions.

10/BT/NOV/01

The Board approves the extension of the secondment employment contract of Prof David A
Sack for a further term of three (3) years.

11/BT/NOV/01

The Board approves the establishment of the post of Head, Nutrition Research Programme
(P4/P5) of the Clinical Sciences Division.

12/BT/NOV/01

The Board approves the recruitment of Head, Extermal Relations and Institutional
Development (P4) rather than the P2 position suggested in the HR report.
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13/BT/NOV/01

The Board approves salary increases of 6% for General Services staff, 8% for National
Officers and 6% for International Professional staff, effective 1 January 2002. The benefits
provided to IPO staff should be consistent with the UN system and the total increase (salary
plus benefits) should be 6%.

= 14/BT/NOY/01_

ey ——

—~—--.-——-..-_._, — _

The Board approves the selection of Dr Rob Breunan as Head ‘of the Health 'Systemis and
Infectious Diseases Division, and Associate Director of the Centre. Dr Breiman is serving at
the Centre under secondment from the Centers of Disease Control and Prevention in the
USA. He will be equated to a level of D1, step 2 (see note from Prof Sack).

15/BT/NOV/(01

The Board authorizes a three-year contract with Dr Charles Larson as Senjor Operations

Research Scientist at P5 or as Head of the Clinical Sciences Division at D1 level (see note
from Prof Sack).

Notation: The Board notes that several Bangladeshi scientists have applied for an
international position under the Bangladeshi Scientists to International Level Policy, and
further notes that it was not possible to complete the evaluation of these applications prior to
the November meeting. The Board is willing to evaluate these applications using electronic

media prior to the next meeting of the Board in order to speed the process of promotion as
needed.
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Minutes of the Strategic Plan
Sunday 11 November 2001
8:00am

Present:
Executive Committee

Prof Marian Jacobs Chair of the Board
Prof Azad Khan

Mr Rolf Carriere

Prof David Sack Director

Absent (with regrets):
Dr Ricardo Uauy Dagach

Invited:

Division Heads, CFO, Acting Head HR, Ms Vanessa Brooks (ER&ID), Dr Ishtiaque Zaman
(ER&ID).

Minute Secretary:
Mrs Judith Bennett Henry

Prof Barkat-e-Khuda stated that the compilation of the Plan was an entirely participatory
exercise. Following the review of the draft at the June Board meeting, a Strategic Plan Core
Group was formed. Questionnaires were distributed to all Divisions and Programmes for
their input. A retreat was organized to brainstorm and review responses to the questionnaire.
Discussions also took place at the Scientific Council.

The Plan was sent to all BOT members in the pre-meeting documents folder.
Prof Barkat outlined the health setting as a context for the Centre’s priorities:

Global setting

97% of the world population increase takes place in developing countries who have a
continuing need to pursue strong family planning programmes and research. They are also
experiencing new challenges of rapid urbanization, environment degradation, malnutrition,
non-comumunicable diseases, burden of injuries and an ageing population. Since the 1978
Declaration of Alma Ata, there has been progressive physical and social deterioration;
inequity in all areas of these societies continues to rise.

The resources devoted to health systemns are unevenly distnbuted and out of propottion to the
range and level of health problems. Less than 10% of global spending on health research is
allocated to 90% of world’s health problems. There 1s an ever-widening gap between rich

and poor countries in average per capita on health spending and in distribution of the global
disease burden.

Bangladesh setting

Cholera and all other known forms of diarrhoeal disease are endemic to Bangladesh who
continues to face difficult challenges in the health sector. Respiratory and diarrhoeal are still
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the most common causes of death among children under 5; tuberculosis is the second most
common cause of death among adults. 75% of DALYS is accounted for by 7 conditions ~
malnutrition is a major cause of Years Lived with Disability.

Population growth is a major development challenge for Bangladesh and places a heavy

burden on health care and social services. In the future, communicable, perinatal and

pregnancy-related complications as causes of death from approx half to less than one-third of
_.___.all deaths. By contrast, non-communicable diseases will account for over half of all deaths.

_— e .
—— A me —— p—

—_

The Centre is thus located in a setting that enables it to bring science to where the problems
exist.

Priority setting

The basis for setting priorities 1s provided by the Centre’s broad mission statement, a well-
defined vision for the future, multi-disciplinary skills, long-standing evidence-based research
experience, patient and field populations, funding prospects.

These aspects are combined with an evaluation of the cost-effectiveness of the activity;
feasibility of potential resulting interventions; emerging new problems. In setting its
priorities, the Centre’s guiding principles are Global Health by the Year 2020; the regional
burden of disease/DALYS, and the national burden of disease..

Discussion:

EC members congratulated all who participated in putting together the Plan. It was noted
however that it needed to better establish strategic choices and intentions. These should be
defined in terms of the scientific staff and mobilizing resources for infrastructure,
collaboration, clinical services, training, TB, poverty, violence against women. It also needed
to focus the idea of the Centre as a specialised organization that is ciearly distinguishable
from other organizations. Resource mobilization should be included in a more effective way.

It was also felt that the priority setting timelines (outlined in Prof Barkat’s charts) were
unrealistic and should be reviewed.

Mission, values, vision statement. EC members urged the Centre to enter into a long-term
refationship with a marketing/ad agency who would over time, know and understand the
Centre in all its aspects and can assist in identifying and translating the Centre’s needs and
priorities. It was suggested that the Centre invite proposals from 3 or 4 agencies. -

It was important to distinguish ICDDR,B from another organization with a compelling
statement that captures the imagination and links the Centre’s vision with a bigger world
vision. The Centre needed to declare what is not its mandate; focus on where its strengths
and critical mass lie and be cognizant of what is taking shape in the world m health and
development. The Centre should discuss in its Scientific Council what it can realistically do
that no other organization is doing in the world. This should not be handcuffed by the
Centre’s funding status. The statement needs also to underline what is important so that
someone who is unfamiliar with the Centre could interpret the details more easily.

The question was raised on the reaction of the government of B-angladesh to the priorities. Is
the Centre shifting from high to low prionities too fast? Prof Sack stated that the Centre is
already working with the GoB in certain areas — IMCI, Nutrition. The Plan will be submitted

to the Health Secretary for his comments and he will be invited to ve present at the adoption
of the Plan.
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The Plan (without annexes) had been forwarded to the Donors Support Group who had
requested to review it in preparation for the DSG meeting this afternoon.

Name change
It was advised that the word “Centre” should remain in the new title, Remember that the

name means a lot to agencies, foundations — Centre may want to request suggestions.

Final draft
The Centre would need to meet with government officials for consultation on the Plan to
define more sharply the division of labour between the Centre and other national institutions.

Division Heads, Programme Heads should liaise with the marketing agency to assist in
getting the Plan into focus. The final draft should be completed by next June.
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Full EC Meeting
Sunday 11 November 2001
10:00am

Present:

——

Prof Marnan Jacobs Chair of the Board
Prof Azad Khan -

Mr Rolf Carriere

Prof David Sack Director

Absent (with regrets):
Dr Ricardo Uauy Dagach

Invited:

Division Heads, CFO, Acting Head HR, Ms Vanessa Brooks (ER&ID), Dr Ishtiaque Zaman
(ER&ID).

Minute Secretary:
Mrs Judith Bennett Henry

Prof Jacobs stated that the duty of the Board was not to manage but, as prescribed in the
Ordinance, to make it possible for the Centre staff to carry out their work. She felt the
Centre’s priorities should focus on: continued interest in micro-nutrients, infectious diseases, )
gap in the life cycle, ageing population, poverty and equity.

HR

gli_ta noted that Ms Diann Hill was on matemity leave and conveyed best wishes on behalf of
the Board. However, with the absence of Mrs Hill, she was concerned about the schedule for
.the HR agenda.

The SWA had earlier expressed concern about capacity retention at the Centre. She felt it
was necessary for the Centre to strike the balance of the need for an international centre to
- have change against the need io stay “cutting-edge”.

Funding

She stated that the Centre has to meet the challenges to see how best to support the Centre.
Important to diversify the donor base. Ms Brooks reported that on mission to the US in
August, she met with vanous individuals and corporations to drum up interest in and support
for ICDDR,B. Plans were underway for a trip in mid-November by Centre Director to key
US cities to meet with interested parties. This would culminate in a sponsored event in New
York with representatives from the public health sector, pharmaceuticals, philantrophists who
~ would be attracted to adopt the Centre as one of their causes. The plans were put on hold

" following the events of 11 September but it is anticipated that these events will occur in
March 2002.

It was noted that there were a number of individuals/corporations who are interested in
funding humanitarian causes. Prof Sack felt that it was necessary to play up the Centre’s role
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in peacekeeping. By addressing root causes of discontent, the Centre’s research has great
relevance to the global threats.

Divisions

With core operating costs being projectised, the Divisions are interacting and these activities
are necessary to translate research findings into policy and planning.

Salaries

[t is increasingly clear that the Centre’s system is not capable of keeping up with the UN
salary scale but it can provide fair and competitive salaries to its staff. The Full Board will
review the recommendation for salary increase and its approval will be transmitted at the
earliest to the Director to inform the staff,

Strategic Plan

Prof Sack affirmed that he will share the Plan in draft with key government officials and
donors.

June Board meeting

The Executive Committee felt that a four- or five-day meeting should be planned for June
2002. This could begin with a meeting of the Programme Committee foilowed by one day of
informal discussions between staff and Board members followed by two (2) days of formal
meetings. The mformal day would allow Board members to make field trips.

Members considered whether, for economy, the EC should physically meet in Dhaka with
video-conferencing to the other Board members during one of the two annual meetings.
Action: Head ISD to check with World Bank on the possibility of renting their video-
conferencing system. ,

Date of June meeting: Thursday 30 May 2002 to Sunday 2 June 2002. (For information,
British Airways armves early momning on 30 May and departs moming of 3 June).

Note: The name of Dr Ricarde Uauy Dagach was omitted from the minutes of the June
Board. Dr Dagach was present at all meetings. The omission is deeply ragretted.

Prof Jacobs declared the Board meeting closed.
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Staff Welfare Association (SWA)

Officers of the Staff Welfare Association met with members of the Executive Committee to
share their views on matters relating to the Centre staff. Following are the minutes:

Dr Golam Rabbani, President of SWA welcomed the EC and thanked them for taking the

=== time from their busy schedules to meet with them. The SWA would present to the EC several
issues for Board Consideration and’ approval s

T e ey o T S
A r————. e —
— -—-._q.-.._.

Salaries

He thanked the Board for its approval at the last two meetings of salary increases which
gesture served to boost the confidence and morale of the staff. However, there are still wide
gaps in the salary structure which need to be addressed. He noted that the award by the Gates
Foundation reflected the contribution of the staff to promoting and advancing the work of the
Centre. He urged the EC to submit to the Board recommendations for a targeted time period
to bring the Centre salary structure in line with the UN, as prescnibed in the Ordinance.

Establishment of promotion criteria for non-scientific staff

Dr Rabbani noted that the introduction of the scientific ranking system has also boosted the
morale of the scientific staff. However, a system has yet to be introduced which addresses
the career needs of the non-scientific staff who perform their duties at the highest level
alongside their colleagues who benefit from the scientific ranking system. Centre
management should look into establishing a similar system for non-scientific staff to
encourage and support their efforts.

‘The SWA was heartened to note that the re-classification exercise had started under the new
Head HR; however, the process has been slow and to date, has been unproductive.

QOther issues .

_Dr Rabbarii listed a number of issues which had been brought to the attention of the Board on
previous occasions and which remain to be résolved:

Introduction of a uniform recruitment policy -
Review of salary of national vs intemational staff
Review of working hours of employees in GS level [ & 11
Dependency allowances:
* Increase the allowance
» Extend the age limit for dependent children up to 25 years.
(Due to student overload at umiversities, it may take up to age 25 to
complete a Masters degree)
-0 Increase of annual holidays from 11 to 14 days.
o Three months’ leave pay at ime of retirement.

Dr Rabbani urged timely action on issues currently being handled by Head HR.

He stated that the relationship between the staff, management and the Board was important to
all parties and he expressed the hope that the relationship would continue to be productive.
He thanked the EC for 1ts consideration.
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Overview of the Board Meeting

This overview is intended to provide a glance at the structure of the meeting. As
a separate part of the Directors Report, | am also enclosing the Director's Report
from the 2001 Annual Report. The full Annual Report will be available when you
arrive in Dhaka.

A schedule for the meeting is enclosed with the materials in the packet. To
summarize the general schedule, the meeting will start on June 6 in the morning
and continue until June 9 around mid-day. A Donors Support Group meeting
immediately follows the Board meeting in the afternoon of June 9. On June 10, a
trip to Matlab is available for those Board members who wish to stay the extra
day, but this is optional and informai.

The first day, June 6, will start with an open meeting of the Programme
Committee {donors and Centre staff are invited to come to this open session).
This includes a presentation by the Director followed by presentations by each of
the Division Heads. The day will end with a preliminary report of the external
review of the Laboratory Sciences Division. (The final report and the Centre’s
response will be presented at the next Board meeting in November). The lunch
on June 6 provides an opportunity for informal discussions with selected Centre
staff. The evening is open.

June 7 is divided into morning and afternoon sessions. During the morning, the
Board members will be assigned to one of four sub-groups and will have a
chance to hear about specific programmes or to visit some of the Dhaka field
sites. We will assign Board members to the sub-groups. During the afternoon,
the Board wiil discuss the Strategic Plan. This evening is open as well.

June 8 is also divided between sub-groups in the morning and formal sessions in
the afternoon. The afternoon session will include the Committee meetings of the
HR and Finance Committees. (For the information of new Board members, each
member is assigned to a Committee, however, the Committees meet with all
members of the Board present). During the Committee meetings, the issues are
discussed and resolutions are formulated. The committee meetings are
generally closed to include only the Board members and the Division Heads. For
some specific agenda items, the Board may have a “closed-cilosed” meeting
(meaning only Board members present). On the evening of June 8, we plan a
nice supper on the Rooftop Pavilion along with the Scientific Council members
and their partners.

On June 9, we have the formal Board meeting when we carry out the official
business of the Board (e.g. passing resolutions) and also take care of other
agenda items that may not have been addressed in the Committees. We
schedule the meeting of the Donors Support Group, which immediately follows
the Board meeting and is intended to inform the donors in Dhaka about the
results of the meeting, and to communicate any issues that need to be




communicated between the donor community and the Board. The first hour of
the Donors Support Group is an open session that is also open to the staff of the
Centre and during this session, the Board Chair and the Director will provide an
- . -overview_of the Board meeting. Since staff may also be present, it gives a
consistént message to all of those concerned. = = wr—m e oo

P

We welcome you and trust that you will enjoy the monsoon season of Dhaka.

Long Hiatus Since A Board Meeting In Dhaka

There has been an unusual hiatus for the meetings of the Board in Dhaka. The
June 2001 meeting was held in Washington DC to coincide with the presentation
of the Gates Award for Global Health that was presented on May 31. Then
because of the uncertain political climate during the last half of the year, only the
Executive Committee met in Dhaka in November 2001. While unfortunate, the
Executive Committee did conduct the business of the Centre, and the
considerations and the decisions of the EC were sent to all Board members for
their approval. This unusual hiatus since the last meeting, along with the joining
of several new Board members will make this meeting more eventful than
normal. The staff at the Centre will attempt to bring the Board up-to-date with
the events of the last year and will attempt to orient the new members in a more
deliberate manner, thus the meeting is scheduled for four days rather than the
usual three,

Forty million lives saved, and 40 million less people.

The Centre is scheduling a profile-raising event in New York on May 17 to
highlight the role of the Centre in the international heaith arena. One is often
asked whether it is wise to invest in health research, and we are able to answer
that the discovery of oral rehydration solution (ORS) has saved the lives of an
estimated 40 million children around the world since its development.
Furthermore, the development of family planning strategies that led to the
successful national family planning programmes in Bangladesh has resulted in a
marked lowering of fertility in this country. Had the fertility continued at the
higher rates, there would be at least 40 million more mouths to feed. During a
recent trip to the Philippines, | had the opportunity to talk to one who is an expert
in issues of the green revolution and | inquired whether the Philippines was self-
sufficient in rice. His reply was striking. “No” he said, “the rice farmers are
increasing their production of rice but they cannot keep up with the increase in
population. Itis a race between the rice production and the population and so far
the population is increasing too fast for us.” Now that Bangladesh is self-
sufficient in rice, one wonders if this could have occurred if the population of
population of Bangladesh was 40 million more than it is today.

The “ICDDR,B way” of research

The Centre has developed a certain method for conducting research that may be
unique in developing countries. A large number of the research projects are
intimately linked to the provision of service. Certainly this has always been the




case for the hospital where medical services are provided to over 100,000
patients per year, and in Matlab where those living within our field area receive
considerabie benefits from their participation in the research project. This is now
extended to the Kamalapur urban project where the interventions being tested
require a clinic to detect outcome events, but at the same time, the clinic serves
the needs of the families who are participating in the study. One cannot provide
service for the specific illness of the study participant without providing services
to the other children in the family, and without providing services for other
common ilinesses that bring families to the clinic. The intertinking of service and
research is somewhat more expensive in the short run, but it leads to a
partnership between the Centre and the community that in fact makes the
research more productive as well as ethical. This is in contrast to the many
projects in which research data is collected while not providing any service to
those who are the subjects of the research, and given the inherent inequality in
position of the researcher and the subject, presents real ethical issues for
international health research. The ICDDR,B way is a process that has developed
over time, and seems to work well, but given the reputation of the Centre and the
trust that communities place in us, it also places an even greater burden on us to
maintain the trust and to ensure that the research being conducted is ethical and
benefits the community and the study subjects.

Follow-up from the last meeting in November
A few action items from the last meeting in November included the following:

a) We reported that the reclassification of Centre positions was in process.
This is one of the important items on the HR agenda. It is now completed
and will be discussed in the HR Committee rmeeting.

b) The duration of contracts for the Centre’s international staff is generally for
three years, with a maximum of six years, but there has been uncertainty
about whether this is an appropriate policy. The Director was to make a
recommendation about this issue and report back the Board. This will be
discussed at the meeting, but we may need additional time for a firm
recommendation.

There was a need for clarification of the list of approved International
posts and recommendations for the current needs at the Centre. This is
now provided in the HR folder.

There is always need to balance the budget and extensive information on
this is provided in the Finance folder.

Transitions At The Centre
Transitions of senior staff

The Centre nearly always has some transitions in staffing. The changes in
senior staff are included below:




» Dr M Abdus Salam is now the acting Division Head of the Clinical
Sciences Division following the departure of Prof George Fuchs in June
2001.

=»-Dr. Balakrish _Nair was appointed Associate Director and Head of the
Laboratory Sciences Division = =—=—=o = —- - —— e i

> Dr Rob Breiman was appointed Associate Director and Head of the Health
Systems and Infectious Disease Division (HSID, formerly HPED).

> Mr Peter Thorpe joined the Centre in August as Head of the Information
Sciences Division.

> Mr Stephen Sage joined the Centre in August as Chief Financial Officer.
Unfortunately, we regret that he has decided that he will need to leave the
Centre in September because of family reasons. A search is underway
for his replacement.

» Prof Marian Jacobs will be attending her last Board meeting in June 2002,
and the Board will need to identify a new trustee and a new Board Chair.
> Dr Charles Larson, a paediatrician from McGill University joined the
Centre as Senior Operations Research Scientist and Head of the Health

and Family Planning Systems Programme.

T

The HR Committee will consider the positions for the LSD, CSD, and HSRD
divisions.

Project Transitions

Several of the major grants are ending and new grants are beginning, and the
transition between the old and new is not always smooth. Some large and / or
significant new projects include the following:

The conversion of the Operations Research Project (ORP) to the Family
Health Research Project (FHRP). This has resulted in a significant decrease
in staff, but hopefully a more focused and productive project that involves all
divisions of the Cenfre. By contrast the ORP only involved the one Division.

- Eight projects are now active under the newly redesigned FHRP and about

15 new should start soon.

A five-year grant from DfID on poverty and health is now enabling a major
emphasis on this theme, and is also enhancing the resources for the
infrastructure of the Centre to pursue this theme.

The project on low-birth weight is well under way in Matlab with support from
UNICEF. We had been awarded a multi-million dollar grant from NIH for co-
funding of the low-birth weight study in collaboration v:ith Cornell University,
but after more than a year of negotiation with NIH, Comell with the
concurrence of the investigators at the Centre withdrew its application
because of conditions that NIH administrators attempted to impose that we
felt to be improper.

A large study on the health effects of arsenic is under way in Matlab with
support from the government of Sweden and the WHO. This will identify the
guantitative relation between arsenic ingestion in water and the health




consequences such as skin lesions and cancer, internal cancers, other
chronic diseases, and reproductive health events (e.g. stillbirths, spontaneous
abortions). The arsenic exposure in Bangladesh has been termed the worst
mass poisoning in history, and the Centre is uniquely qualified to address
critical issues regarding arsenic contamination because the Matlab field area
is located in the epicentre of the contamination and because of the long-
standing demographic data base that includes cause of death and morbidity.
The Centre has been conducting studies with the iInternational Vaccine
Institute on shigellosis and will soon initiate another study of a new live oral
cholera vaccine. Additional studies are being planned with the killed oral
cholera vaccine that was proven effective at the Centre in 1985 and is now
recommended by WHO,

Over the last several years, the Centre has established an urban field area in
the neighborhood of Kamalapur, near the train station. This is the site for
several studies (pneumonia, shigellosis, dengue and influenza vaccines). We
anticipate that this urban site will increase in importance for both controlled
intervention studies as well as for operations research related to urbanization,
urban health services, and urban demography.

The Chakaria project, characterized as a self-help project, is in the process of
undertaking changes that will lead to sustainability as weli as the creation of a
“health cooperative.” This initiative has grown out of the community-based
decisions from the community itself.

Major studies on neonatal mortality are now starting in Sylhet (multiple
funding agencies) and another will start soon in Mirzapur (funding from
Wellcome Trust).

The Centre has signed an agreement with the Government of Bangladesh to
continue the HIV-AIDS sero-surveillance for the next three years in
cooperation with a concurrent behavioural surveillance being organized by
FHI. The Centre has also established the first CVT facility in Bangladesh and
is looking for ways to provide these services in cooperation with other NGOs
involved with HIV control. We expect that prevention of or limitation of the
HIV epidemic in Bangladesh will assume an increasingly important role for
the Centre.

The funding for the World Bank-supported Nutrition Centre of Excellence
ended in 2001 since it was limited to three years. This has been an
immensely important stimulus for the Nutrition Programme at the Centre, and
has led to several important new initiatives that will continue on. The Annual
Scientific Conference (ASCON) scheduled to start on June 10 will highlight
the research from the NCOE, as well as the Bangladesh Integrated Nutrition
Project (BINP).

The Reproductive Health Project funded by the European Union has led to a
solid infrastructure for essential obstetric care in Matlab, including a new
maternity unit at the Thana Health Complex, and improved government
facilities in surrounding unions. It is now in an excellent position for
continuing studies on safe motherhood and can be a leader in this area as it
has been in the field of family planning earlier.




s The Centre has initiated several new studies in infectious diseases including
dengue, sexually-transmitted diseases, tuberculosis, kala azar, and recently
—--malaria. A little-known problem in Bangladesh is the large number (estimated
“at'15’ mltllon) “of people who:are at risk of resistant P. falciparum. One of the

most affected areas is our field area in Chakaria (south of Chittagong)—=="

Organization of the Centre

The Centre is organized administratively into five scientific / technical Divisions
including the newly-created Information Sciences Division and the Health
Systems and Infectious Diseases Division (converted from Health and Population
Extension Division). The Centre also has six thematic Programmes that cut
across the Divisions, but each is housed in a Division. After a long period of
discussions as to the nature and relationships between the Divisions and
Programmes, they are now working together in an increasingly cooperative
manner, but we will likely always need to work toward an integrated scientific
programme.

The Centre carries out its coordinating and decision-making roles through
several Committees. The Administrative Council (AC) includes the Heads of
each Division, the Associate Director of Policy and Planning, CFO, Head HR,
ERID senior staff, and the Consultant on logistics and management. The
Scientific Council (SC) includes the same persons as well as each of the
Programme Heads. The AC and SC meet on alternating Mondays. Each Monday
at 12:30 pm, there is also a Centre Scientific Forum (CSF) where the Divisions
and Programmes have a chance to present their work to other staff at the Centre.
The Divisions and / or programmes sponsor additional seminars frequently.

The Research Review Committee meets monthly to consider new protocols and
other scientific policy issues. Similarly the Ethical Review Committee meets
monthly. Official minutes of each of these meetings are maintained. The ERC
is recognized with an MPA and FWA with the US government.

Changes in Physical Plant

The facilities have been needing changes to adapt to the increasing needs at the
Centre for offices, laboratory and other space. In addition, many of the facilities
were up to the standard for an “international standard.” When the current main
building was constructed, there was funding identified for the basic construction,
but not for equipping the building, and so there has been need to improve the
space that we occupy. A summary of the major capital improvements since July
2001 is included here.
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Overview of the financial situation

The good news is that the Centre finished last year (2001) with a positive
balance. The cumulative deficit remains at about $2.9 million at years end. This
has decreased from $3.9 million (officially) in 1998. The deficit of 1998 included
a commitment for deferring charges for the cost of the right-sizing of 1998 (about
$550,000) on the assumption that the right-sizing would resuit in cost savings
over the next few years. Unfortunately, the 1998 deficit also included additional
expenditures for research under the USAID grant that was not, in fact funded
until later, and this added to the financial burden during the last two years. So,
we have made remarkable progress in decreasing the cumulative deficit by $1
million over three years (or by $2.5 million depending on how one counts it).
Currently, there are no other deferred expenses, and the Centre is on more solid
financial footing now, but still has the cumulative deficit than it has been in recent
years.




The bad news is that our financial figures are currently forcasting a negative
balance for the current year IF we do not take action to prevent this. Hence, in
spite of good fi fnanciai years in the last three years, we have concerns about the
near future.

=—====meeting and will prowde a plan on how to reduce or ehmmate the deficit by years
end.

Interestingly, the revenue for -our forecast is significantly higher than originally
budgeted last November by about $1.4 million. This degree of increase
(forecast relative to budget) has not been seen previously and reflects a major
increase in project activity — positive sign. Unfortunately, many of the projects do
not include common operating costs so that, although they increase our activity,
they do not reduce our deficit for the year

One factor that has led to the risk of deficit is the large number of transitions,
some of which have left gaps in funding between the time the old projects ended
and the start of the new one. In many cases, these gaps represented projects
that are high priority and could not be stopped without severely damaging the
overall productivity of the Centre or of a priority project. In other cases, there
were major delays in start-up of projects beyond that which could have been
foreseen, and in two cases an unexpected response from the donor to not adjust
for major currency devaluation.

Looking to the future, we face significant obstacles in reducing the deficit at a
rate ciose to that of the last three years. Unless there are significant increases in
unrestricted funding, it will be increasingly difficult to further lower the-cumulative
deficit. This is because the earnings from our reserve account, as well as the
endowment were being transferred to the operating fund and these earnings
provided a major help in reducing the deficit. The low yields from the reserve
fund and the Endowment are unlikely to allow for significant transfers to the
operating fund during the next years.

We need to recognize the remarkable commitments from the Dutch and Swiss
governments to the core along with the Japanese government who contributed to
the Hospital Endowment. While many others contribute to the core funding of the
Centre as shown in the financial report, these particular donors’ commitment to
the institutional strength of the Centre is extremely welcome and timely. Without
the unrestricted income, the Centre would not be able to function, and there
would be no Centre to carry out the projects. It is unfortunate that so many
donors, including many of the leading foundations for international health seem
unsupportive of institutional strengthening.

At our New York event on May 17, we will be launching a drive to invite 100
companies to contribute $10,000 to the Centre annually in order to add $1
million to the endowment annually. It will only be through this broad base
of additional support that the Centre can become financially stable. | invite




the Board members to assist with this effort to identify companies that
would provide this pledge.

Major donors
The Finance Report will provide more detail about the financial situation;

however, we should note several major grants during the year. (Many of these
were reported to the November meeting).

Bangladesh

The Government of Bangladesh continues to provide core support to the Centre
at a level of about $200,000 annually. In addition, the GoB provided a one-off
contribution to match that of the Gates Award. ($885,000), thus creating the
Gates-Bangladesh fund. We have also been awarded a contract with the GoB
for conducting the national sero-surveillance for HIV-AIDS,

Netherlands

The Government of the Netherlands awarded an annual grant of about $1 million
(depending on exchange rates) for three years starting this year. The importance
of this award is hard to overestimate in terms of providing substantial stability to
the work of the Centre.

Switzerland
The Swiss government had been giving the Centre a substantial award each

year to various projects at the Centre from its Embassy in Dhaka. This year, they
decided to change to the mechanism to provision of a grant of about $500,000
from its headquarters.

Japan
The Government of Japan granted an award of $980,000 in 2001 and this is

divided into some different portions, $200,000 of which was designated for the
hospital endowment.

USA, Washington

The Government of the USA through USAID had been providing funding through
its central office in Washington through a cooperative agreement for Child Health
Research. This agreement helps the Centre, not oniy in providing core and
project funding, but also in being an administrative mechanism by which other
government agencies can add funds to the Centre's progiamme. An extension
to the Cooperative Agreement was signed in June 2001 for another three years.
The amount of the award is expected to be in excess of $900,000 annually
depending on availability of funding and the nature of the project work.

USA, Dhaka

The USAID mission has been providing a considerable amount of funding to the
Centre primarily through a Cooperative Agreement for the Operations Research
Project. In late September, an agreement was reached for a major change in




this project, and it is now called the Family Health Research Project (FHRP).
Under this amendment to the Cooperative Agreement, the Project was extended
for another five years for a total budget of $15.5 million over this time period.
The funds will be_used primarily.by. -targetedresearch:protocols-that “will be
‘developed” “by scientists™in ‘any of the divisions (formerly, only the HPED was
involved). The transition of the ORP to FHRP requires many financial and
personnel adjustments that are difficult this year, but we anficipate that the
revised project will be more productive and will benefit more directly the
effectiveness of the Essential Services Package in Bangladesh.

United Kingdom

In consultation with representatives from DfID, the Centre prepared an
application to DfID for a five-year project on Poverty and Health at a funding level
of one million pounds annually. This grant started in late 2001,

Sweden

We have negotiated a new three-year agreement with SIDA-SAREC for
continuation of work in coliaboration with Swedish scientists. In addition, the
Swedish government has provided additional funds for a project on health effects
of arsenic contamination.

Australia
The Australian government has been a consistent donor throughout the history of

the Centre: however, there was a major concern that they would no longer be
able to continue this practice. The Director made a trip to Canberra in August,
and through the efforts of our Board members, the decision ‘was made to
continue the contributions at about the same level (Au$ 500,000 annually). A
portion (Au$200,000 annually) of the donation will, however, be designated for
use in HIV-AIDS research. Two research projects are now being carried out on -
HIV, and the funds from Australia are also being used in part to fund the flow —
cytometer, a necessary large piece of equipment when treating AIDS patients or
carrying out research on immunology.

Vaccine-related grants

The Centre has received several grants in the area of vaccine testing. These
include grants from the International Vaccine Institute for shigellosis and for
testing of a new oral cholera vaccine, a grant from the National Vaccine
Programme Office (through USAID) to conduct studies on a new.rotavirus
vaccine, and a grant from Quintiles for studies of a new nasal influenza vaccine.
We anticipate additional vaccine related grants in the near future for work on
other vaccines.

Other grants

There are many other grants and awards that deserve attention, and it is not my
intent to ignore any. | trust the Board will read the Finance Report that gives
more detail. However, the ones mentioned above are larger and support the




infrastructure of the Centre that is critical to the financial and scientific health of
the Centre. They are also important because these are multi-year agreements
that allow for planning in a more realistic fashion.

Competitive Grants

Of note is the increase in receiving grants based on competition with granting
agencies like NIH, Thrasher Foundation, NVPO, private companies, and others.
The finance report formerly combined the NIH grants with USAID since both of
these come from the US government. They are however different in their
implications, and we are now showing them separately.

Decrease in support

Not all the grant news is good. Two major grants are con:ing to a close with out
any logical replacement. The first is the Nutrition Centre of Excellence Grant
from the World Bank, amounting to $900,000 annually over the last three years.
Unfortunately, this particular grant cannot be extended beyond three years, and
the Centre is looking for other sources to maintain the momentum in nutrition
research that was stimulated by the NCOE / World Bank grant.

The other disappointment was a major (exceeding $600,000) shortfall in a grant
from the European Union, caused primarily by currency devaluation along with
some additional administrative problems. The EU was funding major projects in
reproductive health and studies on contraceptive use dynamics, and these
projects have had to reprogramme their activities severely.

Prospects

While there are many potential prospective grants, one should be highlighted
because of their strategic importance. The Centre is scheduled to coordinate the
operations research for the National Nutrition Programme (NNP). Unfortunately
the start for this has been delayed, but the Centre plans to play an important
supportive role with the government in the success of the NNP.

Strategic Planning ‘
Led by Prof Barkat-e-Khuda, the strategic planning process has moved forward
and is an important issue for the Board to consider. Since the last Board
meeting, the programmes have continued to prepare their inputs into the Plan,
the primary outcome of these programme inputs are in the tables that reflect the
priorities that each of the programmes is recommending as priorities for the
Centre. This last convoluted sentence is only to clarify that there are potential
overlapping interests between programmes, and one way to encourage
cooperation rather than competition is to ensure that the priorities are Centre
priorities and are not “owned” by any one programme.
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Some crucial points | would ask the Board to consider akout the Strategic Plan
include:

7. e L———

Name change for.the Centre ———= ~ . ~——"
- “The “name"that is being suggested is the International Centre for Health and
Population (ICHAP). This is very similar to the name adopted several years ago,
but leaves out the word “research” from the name. The reason for dropping the
word “research” from the name is because of the donors perspective that we
were only a research organization and were not eligible for funds related to
service, technical assistance or training.

Mission / values / vision statements

These statements are always difficult, but hopefully they capture the Centre’s
spirit. The Board should reflect on these to ensure that they are clearly
understood, and do indeed give the right message. Consider that they are a way
that we communicate our message to the outside and to our own staff.

Priority Setting

In preparing the Plan, the Programmes spent considerable time discussing the
methods for setting priorities, as well as creating tables of higher and lower
priority issues. When each of the Programmes brought their priorities to the
table, it was clear that there were many overlapping prIOrItleS and there was a
potential conflict about which Programme was to “own" a given priority.

However, the discussion revealed that in fact each of these priority areas were
recommendations as Centre priorities, and should not be viewed as overlapping.
The fact that multiple programmes recommended them, only added to their’
"importance for the Centre.

Hospital Plans

The Plan also presents a vision for the Hospital as evolving into a self-
supporting, teaching and research facility for patients with certain diseases that fit
the criteria of being “common, life-threatening, and easily treated”. As Melinda
Gates indicated in her award banquet speech, “no child should die from an easily
prevented or easily treated disease.” Our interpretation of this remark is that we
need to characterize these “easily-preventable deaths” and build a treatment
centre around this concept. In Bangladesh, the common and easily-treated
diseases are diarrhoea, pneumonia, severe malnutrition, dengue and malaria.
Unfortunately, the primary care system is not equipped to deal with these
diseases when they are severe and the hospital care for these cases is too
complex to be cost-effective. However, the experience with the ICDDR,B
hospital has shown that inexpensive care for diarrhoea or severe malnutrition, if
given urgently, can save many lives at a very low cost. It costs the Centre about
$10 to provide life saving treatment to patients with severe dehydrating
diarrhoea. We feel the same is true for the other common, life-threatening
illnesses, but the model for this new type of facility must be developed and be
sustainable economically.




Geographic interests for the Centre

In Bangladesh

Where shouid we carry out our work? Currently, the Centre is based in Dhaka
but it has several field areas. New protocols have tended to add additional field
areas to the Centre's range, and there is increasing realization that the Centre
should concentrate on only a few field areas and not expand to further areas for
intensive studies. That is, the Centre has invested heavily in the field areas
already in place and we should use them to the maximum extent. This does not
prevent surveys in any part of the country that is appropriate, but we should not
be starting new field areas with each new protocol.

Outside Bangladesh

Outside Bangladesh, the Centre is conducting a major collaborative project with
Nepal. This project to assist with improving the microbiclogy laboratory services
has been going well and could lead to additional projects there. The Centre is
interested in developing projects outside Bangladesh, especially in the region,
but these will require project and long-term funding.

Also outside Bangladesh, there is need for consultants from the Centre to assist
with important work. Recently, the Centre has provided consuitants to UNICEF,
International Vaccine Institute, and to UNAIDS. We have also been in contact
with WHO regarding collaboration for outbreak investigations of emerging
diseases in the region. We anticipate that the Centre will need to increase its
capacity to carry out these regional consultancies.

Management changes

In contrast with rather modest changes in the organogram, the Centre is working
toward making changes in management systems to improve efficiency. One
change is to decentralize the financial responsibilities, and from a financial
perspective, our goal is for each unit of the Centre to become self-supporting, or
nearly so. For example, administrative units such as the transport pool,
maintenance, travel office, etc. receives core funding, and these costs have been
included in the indirect cost pool. In principle, these units are functioning in order
to carry out specific tasks and provide resources to the projects, and appropriate
charges are made to budget codes using these services. However, the charges
have not been sufficient to cover the costs of operating the units. In the future,
the units will be run more like small businesses, and they must at least break
even in order to stay in business. If they require subsidies from the core, an
evaluation will be made to determine if the amount of subsidy is warranted, or if
there are ways to economize, or to outsource the service. Our current system
monitors costs very accurately, but there is limited ability to make management
decisions based on this information since the management decisions were made
centrally by persons not having direct knowledge of the unit. Decentralization will
require greater responsibility upon those having the most knowledge of the unit.
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Major Scientific Activities
The DIVISEOI’\ Heads will update the Board on the major new_ initiatives, some

that the” Board learned “about last June but they lnclude studies on neonatal
health, severe malnutrition, zinc deficiency, low birth-weight, pneumonia,
tuberculosis, dengue, enteric and respiratory vaccine testing, and HIV-AIDS

Planned Changes in Medical Practice

As a result of some of the Centre's studies, as well as studies carried out in other
Centres, we will want to follow-up with the consensus to change the standard
ORS to one containing 70 meq of sodium. We will also be advising the national
authorities about this anticipated change.

We plan to begin treating diarrhoea patients with zinc. Research from the Centre
has shown that zinc treatment decreases the severity and duration of diarrhoea
and that children who receive zinc for 14 days have a decreased mortality rate.
Operations research is now needed to determine the optimal methods for
implementing these findings in our hospital, in clinics and in the community. We
will likely need to find an industrial partner to produce the needed dissolvable
tablets.

Publications

The Journal of Health Population and Nutrition continues to be published on
schedule. We are finding increasing interest in publication of summaries of
important meetings. For example, the March 2001 issue reported on the findings
- of a meeting on community-based IMCI, and the December issue published the
consensus of a WHO meeting on zinc treatment for diarrhoea. We expect these
reviews and policy statements will increase the interest in the journal and
increase its scores. ’

The Centre's web site is also changing to make it more user-friendly and to
provide increased information to the users. We anticipate that this will continue
to evolve with the additional staff who are being recruited for this.
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Representation of the ICDDR,B Staff Welfare Association (SWA) to
The Board of Trustee’s meetings, 6-9 June 2002

Welcome!

Hon'ble Chairperson of the ICDDR, B Board of Trustees Prof. Marian Jacobs, respected Trustees,

representatives of the Government of Bangladesh, Patron-in-Chief of the Staff Welfare Association,
welcome and Assalamo-alaikum.

It 1s my privilege to share the views of the staff of the Centre with the members of the Board of Trustees.
would like to thank the Board, on behalf of the staff of the Centre, for allowing us to discuss matters of
mutual interests amid their busy time schedule. [ hope the issues that T am going to raise would receive
favorable consideration.

1. Staff Salary:

On behalf of the staff of the Centre, | am pleased to express our gratitude to the Board members and the
Patron-in—Chief, SWA, for considering salary adjustments during the last three years. This helped the
employees to overcome their frustration and lack of confidence on the Centre’s policy, the salary adjustment
helped them financially and increased their level of confidence and moral. They would remain ever grateful
to you all.

However, there are still wide gaps in the salary structure, whether it is determined by UN scale {as prescribed
in the ICDDR,B Ordinance ) or by the market forces. By any standard, the staff of the Centre are grossly
underpaid. Despite the fact, they have been continuing their efforts to accomplish the Centre’s goals in
promoting health and human welfare world wide. For example the Gate’s Global Public Health Award which
has been given to the ICDDR,B reflects the contribution of the staff at all levels.

It should be emphasized that the Centre’s best strength is its skilled employees, their morale and interest
must be protected judiciously against all odds. This will ensure an uninterrupted growth and development of
the Centre,

I would therefore, strongly urge upon the Board and the management that they consider a definite plan of
action, preferably in cooperation with the staff members, as to how the salary gap could be resolved on a
priority basis, in the best possible way, considering the interest of the Centre, its financial situation, staff
expectation, and the regulatory issues. Without having such a plan, the future is left to chance and
uncertainty with little probability of success.

2. Establishment of promotion criteria for all categories of staff:

(a) Scientific staff: Introduction of the scientific ranking system has contributed much towards
boosting up the morale of the scientific staff of the Centre. The criteria of scientific ranking are
again under review and we are expecting that before taking any major decision regarding the
promotion of any scientific staff, an uniform criteria will be set up and following the new
criteria, next promotion, up-grading or fixing the scientific staff should be considered.




Non-scientific staff: Setting up criteria for non-scientific Staff is also in progress.
These categories of staff of the Centre work equally hard to perform their assigned
duties and responsibilities with the entire satisfaction of their supervisors. There are
many staff who have been working in the same Grade for years even for more than 25
. _.___years. These staff are deprived and frustrated™ Therefore as the setting up of criteria for
“~both scientific and non-scientific staff are in progress, we are expecting that if any
promotion is considered following the new criteria, it should be implemented for both
the scientific and non-scientific staff simultaneously.

Other pending issues:

There are some important and specific issue that have been brought repeatedly to the notice of the Board for
many years now, but little has been done. They are briefly summarized below:

¢ Introduction of a uniform recruitment policy.
Review of salary of national versus international staff.
Review of working hours of employees in GS level I & II.
Dependent facilities:

(a) To increase the children allowance from Tk. 500 to 1000.
(b) Extension of retirement age limit for staff up-to 65 years.
(¢) Extension of age limit for dependent children up-to 25 years. (It may be mentioned that due
to session jam in Universities nowadays it takes about 25 years of age to complete the
Masters degree). _
s Increase of Annual Holidays from 11 to 14 days.
o Three months leave pay at the time of retirement.

It is good to hear that some of these issues are being considered by the current Head of Human Resources.
However, we would solicit a fast action in these respects, since little major steps have been taken so far.

Benefits by the SWA to the staff: 1 would like to bring to your kind attention, the important role that the
SWA has been playing in accomplishing the overall goal of the Centre. Through its medical assistance fund,
the SWA provides monetary benefit to employees, provides educational funds to staff dependents, organize
cultural activities including picnic, annual dinner, farewell to outgoing staff, condolences of deceased staff,
construction of mosque in Matlab, and home gardening and fish production in Matlab. Through the
Cooperative Society, the SWA has been significantly contributing to staff welfare by its credit programme.

Conclusion: By interacting with management, the SWA also contribute significantly in improving staff
relationship with the management with regard to the administrative, financial, and regulatory activities.

We believe that the confidence and trust the SWA and the management are very important for the
development of the Centre and we must ensure that our mutual cooperation definitely leads to a productive
conclusion in the future. R

Thank you.
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Dr. Md. Sirajul Islam
President, ICDDR, B Staff Welfare Association (SWA)
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FINANCE COMMITTEE - JUNE 8, 2002 MEETING

AGENDA
1. Approval of Agenda.

2. 2001 Auditors' Report and Audited Financial Statements
3. 2002 Forecast.
4, Appointment of Auditors for 2002.
5. Funds
a) Hospital Endowment Fund
b) Centre Endowment Fund
¢) Reserve Fund
d) Operating Fund
6. Other Items:
a) Update on Prior Year Issue
b) Bank Overdraft Facility
¢) Cheque Signatories

7. Draft Resolutions

Tables:

Table 1/1A. Contributions from Donors 2000 to 2002

Table 2. Revenue by Sources and Expenditure by Categories 2000 to 2002

Table 3 Unrestricted and Restricted Revenue and Expenditure 2000 to 2002

Table 4/4A . Donor Contributions by Unrestricted and Restricted Funds 2000 to 2002
Table 5. Unrestricted Projects/Programs and Management Expenditure 2000 to 2002
Annexure;

A - Report of the Finance Committee of November 2001
B - 2001 Auditors' Report and Audited Financial Statements
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L 2001 AUDITORS' REPORT e

The audit was completed and the audit report was signed on March 21, 2002. The audited
financial statements are attached as annexure B.

Financial highlights and abridged audited financial statements are included in the Centre's
2001 Annual Report.

The auditors’ report includes one qualification. Management does not agree with the
qualification for not including the assets and liabilities of “ICDDR,B Employees
Separation Payment Fund” as the Centre has no effective control over these funds. The
inclusion of such funds in the Centre’s Statement of Financial Position would materially
distort the true financial position of the Centre.

The joint auditors have issued a letter to management covering minor matters. This letter
is available, should any committee member wish to review it.

The audited financial statements do not contain the detailed information which is
presented to the Finance Committee. Accordingly, Finance Department has prepared
detailed tables included as attachments to this report.




REVENUE

Contributions from Donors and Endowment Fund (Tables 1,3,4,4A) increased from
prior year by $162,000, (1.2%) from $13,830,000 to $13,992,000.

2001 2000 INCREASE
ACTUAL ACTUAL (DECREASE)
Restricted
Projects / Programs 9,172,000 9,817,000 (645,000)
Fixed Assets 764,000 611,000 153,000
Endowment Funds 69,000 266,000 (197,000}
10,005,000 10,694,000 (689,000)
Project -Indirect 1,349,000 1,404,000 (55.000)
Total Restricted 11,354,000 12,098,000 (744,000)
Unrestricted 2,638,000 1,732,000 906,000

Total Contributions $ 13,992,000 $ 13,830,000 $ 162,000

Restricted Contributions decreased primarily due to less project activities funded by
Switzerland-SDC, USAID, NIH, World Bank and absence of transfer from Hospital
Endowment Fund. This decline was partially offset by greater funding by Government of
Bangladesh, International Vaccine Institute, Japan and UNICEF.

Unrestricted Contributions increased primarily due to the generous contributions from
the Netherlands and Switzerland-SDC.

Contributions include a write-off of $109,000 due to the uncertainty of collection of a
receivable outstanding since 1998. Collection efforts are continuing and should the donor

make payment, receipts will be reflected as revenue in the year received.

Exchange gains and other receipts decreased $52,000, (6.2%) from $833,000 to $781,000.




EXPENDITURE

Operating Cash Expenditure (Tables 3,4,5) decreased by $18,000, (0.1%) from prior
year from $14,600,000 to $14,582,000.

2001 2000 INCREASE
ACTUAL ACTUAL (DECREASE)

Summary P

____._-.—- —_— e mem

““Operating Cash Expendlture 14,582,000 14,600,000 (18,000)
Less: Exchange Gain & Other

Receipts 781.000 833,000 (52.000)
Net Operating Cash Expenses $ 13,801,000 $ 13,767,000 $ 34,000

Detail
Restricted
Projects / Programs 9,241,000 10,083,000 (842,000)
Fixed Assets 764,000 611,000 153,000
Total Restricted 10,005,000 10,694,000 (689,000)

Unrestricted
Projects / Programs 2,224,000 1,434,000 790,000

Management 1,572,000 1,639,000 (67.000)
Total Unrestricted 3,796,000 3,073,000 723,000

Net Operating Cash Expenses  § 13,801 000 $ 13,767,000 $ 34,000

Restricted Expenditure decreased in line with decreased revenues as noted under
revenue.

Unrestricted Expenditure in Projects / Programs increased primarily due to absence of
transfer from Hospital Endowment Fund, formation of Information Sciences Division, and
increased support for Matlab and other PHSD activities.

Unrestricted Expenditure in Management decreased primarily due to the absence of a
charge for the Voluntary Severance Program which was incurred in 2000 and was partially
offset by increased spending on administrations/personnel and policy/planning.

Net Cash Surplus excluding depreciation increased by $128,000 from prior year from
$63,000 to $191,000.

Cumulative Operating Deficit excluding depreciation decreased by $431,000 from prior
year from $3,357,000 to $2,926,000. This improvement was comprised of the operating
surplus of $191,000 and a transfer of $240,000 from the Reserve Fund to the Operating
Fund.

Depreciation increased by $44,000, (4.8%) from $920,000 to $964,000. Cumulative
unfunded depreciation, increased by $964,000 from $12,081,000 to $13,045,000.

Total Expenditures including depreciation increased by $26,000, (0.2%) from
$15,520,000 to $15,546,000.
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2002 FORECAST

REVENUE

Donor and Endowment Funds Contributions (Tables 1,3,4,4A) were budgeted at
$13,773,000 and are forecast to increase to $15,165,000. This increase of $1,392,600,
(10.1%) is explained by the following table.

2002 2002 INCREASE
FORECAST BUDGET (DECREASE)

Summary

Operating Cash Expenditure 16,438,000 15,103,000 1,335,000
Less Exchange Gain & Other

Receipts 736,000 798,000 (62,000)
Net Operating Cash Expenses § 15,702,000 $ 14,305,000 $ 1,397,000

Restricted
Projects / Programs 9,795,000 8,934,000 861,000
Fixed Assets 848,000 548,000 300,000
Endowment Funds 525,000 400,000 125,000
11,168,000 9,882,000 1,286,000
Project - Indirect 1,402,000 1,403,000 (1.000)
Total Restricted 12,570,000 11,285,000 1,285,000

Unrestricted 2,595,000 2.488.000 107,000
Total Contributions $ 15,165,000 $ 13,773,000 $ 1,392,000

Restricted Contributions are forecast to increase significantly due to contributions from
the Government of Bangladesh, International Vaccine Institute, Sweden-SIDA/SAREC,
DFID, WHO, Thrasher, Centre Endowment Fund and spending of Gates-GoB award
funds.

Unrestricted Contributions are forecast to increase primarily due to additional support
from USAID / Washington.




2002 FORECAST
EXPENDITURE

Operating Cash Expenditure (Tables 3,4,5) which were budgeted at $15,103,000 are
forecast to increase to $16,438,000. This increase of $1,335,000, (8.8%) comprises:

2002 2002 INCREASE
LD LR T T S S e e o et "FORECAST ™~ — BUDGET (DECREASE)
Summar
Operating Cash Expenditure 16,438,000 15,103,000 1,335,000
Less: Exchange Gain & Other
Receipts 736,000 798.000 {62,000}
Net Operating Cash Expenses $ 15,702,000 $ 14,305,000  $1,397,000

Detail
Restricted
Projects / Programs 10,320,000 9,334,000 986,000
Fixed Assets 848,000 548,000 300,000
Total Restricted 11,168,000 9,822,000 1,286,000

Unrestricted
Projects / Programs 2,612,000 2,747,000 (135,000)
Management 1,922,000 1,676,000 246,000
Total Unrestricted 4,534,000 4,423,000 111,000

Net Operating Cash Expenses 315,702,000 $ 14,305,000  $ 1,397,000

Restricted Expenditure is forecast to increase comparably with restricted revenue.

Unrestricted Expenditure in Projects / Programs decreased primarily due to additional
support from the Gates / GoB award funds.

Unrestricted Expenditure in Management increased primarily due to unplanned costs
of hiring and recruitment.

Net Cash Deficit excluding depreciation was budgeted at a deficit of $532 000. This is
forecast to worsen by $5,000, (0.9%) to $537,000.

Depreciation which was budgeted at $900,000 is expected to increase by $26,000, (2.9%)
to $926,000.

Total Expenditure including depreciation was budgeted at $16,003,000 and is expected
to increase by $1,361,000, (8.5%) to $17,364,000.

Net Operating Deficit including depreciation was budgeted at $1,432,000 and is forecast
to increase by $31,000, (2.2%) to $1,463,000.

Management is developing specific action steps to reduce the forecast deficit to achieve
breakeven level for the year.
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APPOINTMENT OF AUDITORS FOR 2002
Price Waterhouse, Kolkata and Hoda Vasi Chowdhury & Co, Dhaka were the joint
auditors for 2001,

Price Waterhouse, Kolkata have been the Centre's auditors for the past six years and Hoda
Vasi Chowdhury & Co, Dhaka for three year.

The Centre’s practice is usually to retain auditors for five to seven years to provide
continuity in the audits and minimize audit costs.

Management is recommending the reappointment of Price Waterhouse, Kolkata and Hoda
Vasi Chowdhury & Co, Dhaka as joint auditors for the year 2002.

Management is recommending that the audit fee not exceed $15,500, same as 2001.




BOT/FIN/JUN/02
Agenda -5

FUNDS
a) Hospital Endowment Fund

The market value of the Hospital Endowment Fund was $5,160,000 at December 31,
~_2001. Donations and fund raising activities contributed $274,000 to the fund in 2001,
“-- - ~=Capital loss, net of interest income and gains, was $362,000 in 2001.
At December 31, 2001 the monies were held in these investments: 67% in money
market funds, equity mutual funds and fixed income mutual funds managed by TIAA-

CREF in USA; 27% in time deposits with American Express Bank in Singapore; and
6% in equities and debentures in Bangladesh.

No funds were transferred to the Centre’s operation in 2001.

b) Centre Endowment Fund

The market value of the Centre Endowment Fund including USAID Endowment Fund
was $3,418,000 as at December 31, 2001. There were no contributions to this fund in
'2001. Capital loss, net of interest income and gains, was $388,000 in 2001.

All of the monies are invested in money market funds, equity mutual funds, and fixed
income mutual funds managed by TIAA-CREF in USA.

During 2001, $69,000 of $74,000 carried over from withdrawal in 2000 were expended
for developing research programs. The remaining $5,000 together with $120,000
withdrawn in 2001 will be expended in 2002.

¢) Reserve Fund

The balance of the Reserve Fund at December 31, 2001 was $2,007,000. Interest income
was $85,000 during 2001. The Reserve Fund is held in time deposits as security by
American Express Bank against the Centre’s overdraft facility. In 2001, $240,000 was
transferred to the Operating Fund to reduce the Centre’s cumulative operating deficit.

To continue the reduction of the cumulative operating deficit, management recommends
that all funds in excess of $2,000,000 be transferred on an on-going basis to the
Operating Fund.

d) Operating Fund

The cumulative operating deficit has declined by $996,000 over the past three years
from its maximum of $3,922,000 at the end of 1998 to $2,926,000 at December 31,
2001. Much of this decline resulted from transfer of Reserve Fund earnings accumulated
over past years. Current economic forecasts predict significantly lower interest rates over
the next several years. Thus, it is unlikely that the primary source of past deficit
reduction will continue in the near future. If modest surpluses (eg. 0.5% of revenues) can
be achieved, the reduction of deficit to $2,000,000 over the next six years would be a
reasonable outcome,
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OTHER ITEMS

a) Update on Prior Year Issue
At the June 2001 Board of Trustees meeting, the following issue was reported.

In 2000, an official from the tax assessing authority raised the issue of taxation on
payments to employees when they separate from the Centre. The Centre has, along
with a tax consultant, responded indicating that we feel this income is tax exempt.
However we hope, the matter will be settled satisfactorily.

In July 2001, Finance Department management and its tax consultant met with
representatives of the National Board of Revenue concerning this matter. The NBR staff
gave verbal assurance that these payments are tax exempt. Written acknowledgement may
be forthcoming.

b) Bank Overdraft Facility

The Centre's current $2 million overdraft facility with American Express Bank, which
carries no undrawn commitment fees, will expire on July 13, 2002, Interest rates are the
bank’s prime rate in the USA and the equivalent rate in Bangladesh. The facility is used
for the balance of margins on letters of credit and any overdraft. As a result of the large
cumulative deficit of the Centre, there will be an ongoing overdraft requirement to cover
operating costs. This overdraft facility is secured by term deposits of the Reserve Fund.

In view of this, management recommends renewing the overdraft agreement of $2
million for the year to July 13, 2003.

By way of Board resolution in June 1995, management may borrow from the Hospital
Endowment Fund up to a maximum of $750,000 to cover operating cash requirements.
No funds were borrowed during 2001.




¢) Cheque Signatories

Currently, outside of the Finance Department, three individuals are authorized as
signatories of cheques.

L
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‘Director T David A. Sack, M.D.
Associate Director, P & P . Prof. Barket-e-Khuda
Associate Director, PHSD :  Prof. Lars-Ake-Persson

| el e A N e

Over the past year there have been several occasions where Finance operations were
hampered by absence of these individuals. Management recommends that cheque
signing authority be extended to the following persons:

Associate Director, LSD :  Dr. G. Balakrish Nair
Associate Director, HSID . Robert F. Breiman, M.D.
Head, ISD :  Peter Thorpe

This authorization is in compliance with the Centre’s financial policy:

Operations of all bank accounts require two signatories, who are divided into Group
1 and Group 2.

Group 1 Director
Chief Finance Officer
Controller, Budget and Costing
Controller, General Accounts and Payroll

Group 2 Director, Division Directors

Cheques will be signed and counter-signed by one signatory from each group. The
Director can sign for either Group 1 or Group 2.







TABLE - 1
ICDDR,B: CENTRE FOR HEALTH AND POPULATION RESEARCH
CONTRIBUTIONS FROM DONORS 2000 - 2002
(IN US$'000)

2000 2001 2002 2002-STATUS
DONORS ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET FIRM ESTI.

Revenue Contributions :
AUSTRALIA - AusAID - 357 2.6% 258 1.8% 245 1.8% 207
BANGLADESH 497 3.6% 654 4.7% 456 3.3% 824
BELGIUM - BADC/ BTC 158 1.1% 240 1.7% 186 1.4% 142
CANADA - CIDA 204 1.5% 192 1.4% 192 1.4% 100
EUROPEAN UNION 910 6.6% 758 5.4% 174 1.3% 189 76
FORD FOUNDATION 309 2.2% 285 2.0% 201 1.5% 221
GATES - GoB AWARD 494
INTERNATIONAL VACCINE INSTITUTE 118 0.8% 376 2.7% 526
JAPAN 658 4,.8% 874 6.2% 982 7.1% 1,016
NETHERLANDS 238 1.7% 1,011 7.2% 1,004 7.3% 1,006
SWEDEN - SIDA / SAREC 444 3.2% 509 3.6% 679 4.9% 819
SWITZERLAND - SDC 836 6.0% 761 5.4% 524 3.8%]. 518
SWISS RED CROSS 243 1.8% 174 1.2% 185 1.3% 175
UNICEF 3 0.0% 218 1.6% 255 1.9% 284
UNITED KINGDOM - DFID 759 5.5% 828 5.9% 1,253 9.1% 1,366
USAID/Dhaka 2,762 20.0% 2,233 16.0% 2,612 19.0% 2,064
USAID/Washington 2,192 15.8% 2,193 15.7% 1,837 13.3% 1,866 138
USA - NIH 888 6.4% 775 5.5% 566 4.1% 409
USA - Other Sources 197 1.4% 152 1.1% 184 1.3% 294
WORLD BANK - NCoE 973 7.0% 758 5.4%
WHO ' 242 1.7% 176 1.3% 169 1.2% 353
HOSPITAL ENDOWMENT FUND 200 1.4% 400 2.9%: ;.. 400 400
CENTRE ENDOWMENT FUND 66 0.5% 69 0.5% o 125
ARAB GULF FUND (18) -0.1% (109) -0.8% o
SAUDI ARABIA 52 0.4% 50 0.4% 50 0.4%]|". - 50
SRI LANKA 4 0.0% 4 0.0% 4 0.0%] 4
OTHERS (See Table - 1A} 656 4.7% 811 5.8% 1,239 9.0% 1,499

GRAND TOTAL 13,830 100.0%| 13,992 100.0%| 13,773 100.0% 14,847 318

Note: Where necessary 2000 and 2001 figures have been regrouped to conform with 2002 forecast.




TABLE-1A _
ICDDR,B: CENTRE FOR HEALTH AND POPULATION RESEARCH

CONTRIBUTIONS FROM DONORS 2000 - 2002

|

(IN US$'000)

2000
ACTUAL

2001
ACTUAL

2002
BUDGET

2002-STATUS
1
[LFIRM ESTI.

OTHERS :

AMERICAN EXPRESS FOUNDATION
BGS ARGOSS

BOG/DGHS/ARI
CANADA/CHC-ASCON

CDC - ATLANTA

CIRCLE AROUND THE CENTRE
CYTOS PHARMACEUTICAL
DARTMOUTH COLLEGE

DUNCAN BROTHERS

FUTURES GROUP

JAPAN - JICWELS

JAPAN - EMBASSY

JAPAN - UNIVERSITY OF TOKYO
MACRO INTERNATIONAL INC.
NEW ENGLAND MEDICAL CENTRE
NESTLE RESEARCH FOUNDATION
NORWAY - NORAD

NORTHFIELD LABORATORIES
NQVARTIS

NEWCASTLE UNIVERSITY
PRAXIS

SAVE THE CHILDREN

13

13
22
25
11

8

(46)
80
78
42

0.1%
0.2%
0.2%
0.1%
0.1%
-0.3%
0.6%
0.6%
0.3%

0.9%
0.2%

13

|
|




TABLE-1A .
ICDDR,B: CENTRE FOR HEALTH AND POPULATION RESEARCH

CONTRIBUTIONS FROM DONORS 2000 - 2002

(IN US$'000)

2000 2001 2002 2002-STATUS
ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET FIRM  ESTI.

PLAN INTERNATIONAL 13 0.1%
PROCTOR & GAMBLE i 0.0%
QUINTILES EAST ASIA PTE. LTD. 10 0.1% 168 1.2%
SMITHKLINE BEECHAM 49 0.4% 51 0.4% 85 0.6%
THE INDEPTH NETWORK i0 0.1% 4 0.0%
THE ROCKEFELLER FOUNDATICON 6 (.0% 49 0.4% 140 1.0%
THRASHER (51) -0.4% 52 0.4% 162 1.2%
TOMEN CORPORATION 17 0.1%
UCB-OSMOTIC/SIDAC 38 0.3%
UMEA UNIVERSITY
UNAIDS 4 0.0% 9 0.1% & 0.0%
UNIVERSITY OF BASEL 1 0.0% 24 0.2%
UNGCAL 35 0.3% 70 0.5% 79 0.6%
DISASTER / EPIDEMIC :

AusAID 13 0.1%

UNQCAL, Caimn, Shell & Occidental 79 0.6% 15 0.1% 155 1.1%

s5pC 5 0.0% 7 0.1%
OTHERS (S5) 91 0.7% 27 0.2% 47 0.3%

TOTAL OTHERS 656 4.7% 811 5.8% 1,239 9.0%




ICDDR,B : CENTRE FOR HEALTH AND POPULATION RESEARCH
REVENUE BY SOURCES AND EXPENDITURE BY CATEGORIES - 2000 TO 2002

TABLE - 2

A

i
j (IN US$'000)

2000

ACTUAL

BUDGET
2002

REVENUE:

UNRESTRICTED FUNDS

RESTRICTED - INDIRECT

RESTRICTED - PROJECTS / PROGRAMS
CONTRIBUTIONS BY DONORS

EXCHANGE GAINS (NET)
OTHER RECEIPTS

1,732
1,404
10,694

11%
10%
73%

18%
9%
68%

2,488
1,403
9,882

INC/(DEC)
FORECAST 2002
BUDGET 2002

107, 4%
) 0%
1,286 13%

13,830
133
700

94%,
1%
5%

95%
1%
4%

13,773
100
698

1,392 ’[ 10%
{

i
(62) -9%

TOTAL REVENUE

14,663

100%

100%

14,571

EXPENDITURE:
LOCAL SALARIES / WAGES
INTERNATIONAL SALARIES
CONSULTANTS
MANDATORY COMMITTEES
TRAVEL
SUPPLIES AND MATERIALS
REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE
RENT, COMMUNICATION AND UTILITIES
PRINTING AND PUBLICATION
TRAINING AND FELLOWSHIP
STAFF DEVELOPMENT
VOLUNTARY SEVERANCE PROGRAM
OTHER EXPENSES

TOTAL INTERNAL CASH EXPENDITURE
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

6,166
2,451
323
81
583
1,850
199
454
270
224
143
288
869

42%
17%
2%
1%
4%
13%
1%
3%
2%
2%

75

840

46%
15%
2%
1%
4%
12%
1%
4%
2%
1%
1%

6%

6,674
2,779
217
104
729
1,924
163
471
306
285
124

670

1,3301 9%

12%
2%
27%

-15%
0%
-40%
-13%
3%
-5%
7%

40%

13,941
659

13,668
914

94%
6%

14,446
657

6%

TOTAL OPERATING CASH EXPENDITURE

14,600

14,582

100%

15,103

NET CASH SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)
DEPRECIATION
NET OPERATING SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)

63
920
(857)

191
964

(773)

(532)
900
(1,432)

Note: Where necessary 2000 and 2001 figures have been regrouped to conform with 2002 forecast.




TABLE - 3 .
ICDDR,B : CENTRE FOR HEALTH AND POPULATION RESEARCH
UNRESTRICTED AND RESTRICTED REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE 2000 TO 2002
(IN US$'000)
ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET ... . - FORECAST
2000 2001 2002 o 2002 -
UNRESTR. RESTRI.  TOTAL | UNRESTR.  RESTRL TOTAL | UNRESTR. RESTRI.  TOTAL | UNRESTR, ~RESTRL - TOTAL
REVENUE: L '
UNRESTRICTED FUNDS 1,732 1,732 2,638 2,638 2,488 2,488 [ 2 2,595
RESTRICTED - INDIRECT 1,404 1,404 1,349 1,349 1,403 1,403 |: 1,402
RESTRICTED - PROJECTS / PROGRAMS 10,694, 10,694 10,005 10,005 9,882 9,882 111,168
ONTRIBUTIONS BY DONORS 3,136 10,694 13,830 | 3,987 10,005 13,992 ( 3,891 9,882 13,773 15,165
EXCHANGE GAINS (NET) 133 133 120 120 100 100 © 00
QTHER RECEIPTS 694 6 700 640 21 661 680 18 698 - 636
TOTAL REVENUE 3,963 10,700 14,663 | 4,747 10,026 14,773 | 4,671 9900 14,571 07, 11,194 15,901
EXPENDITURE: S P
LOCAL SALARIES / WAGES 1,795 4,371 6,166 2,349 4,429 6,778 2,878 3,796 6,674 £ " 2,50 4584 7,487
INTERNATIONAL SALARIES 927 1,524 2,451 1,023 1,152 2,175 1,601 1,178 2,779 |- 527 - 1,200 3,827
CONSULTANTS 45 278 323 20 206 226 12 205 a7 | SR |
MANDATORY COMMITTEES Bl 81 94 5 99 104 104} ..
TRAVEL 28 555 583 35 548 583 41 688 729 &
SUPPLIES AND MATERIALS 732 1,158 1,890 747 996 1,743 692 1,232 1,924 |
REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE 48 151 199 88 103 191 45 118 163 |.
RENT, COMMUNICATION AND UTILITIES 220 234 454 346 188 534 263 208 471
PRINTING AND PUBLICATION ) 132 138 270 153 97 250 155 151 306
TRAINING AND FELLOWSHIP 20 204 224 26 148 174 18 267 285
STAFF DEVELOPMENT 143 143 75 75 50 74 124
VOLUNTARY SEVERANCE PROGRAM 288 288
OTHER EXPENSES 309 560 869 294 546 840 254 416 670
INTERCEPARTMENTAL SERVICES (773} 773 (769) 769 (1,019) 1,019 ‘ (
TOTAL INTERNAL CASH EXPENDITURE 3,852 10,089 13,941 4,406 9,262 13,668 5094 9,352 14446 | 5,
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 48 611 659 150 764 914 109 548 657 | . 208 .  B48 . 1,056
TOTAL OPERATING CASH EXPENDITURE 3,900 10,700 14,600 4,556 10,026 14,582 5,203 9,000 15,103 | 5,244 11,194 16,438
NET CASH SURPLUS/ (DEFICIT) 63 63 191 191 (532) (532} ::(537). .. . ... (537).
DEPRECIATION 920 920 964 964 900 900 [ 1926 . o 926
NETY OPERATING SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) (857) (852)| (773) (773)| (1,432) (1,432) (1,463)

Note: Where necessary 2000 and 2001 figures have been regrouped to conform with 2002 forecast.




TABLE - 4
ICDDR,B: CENTRE FOR HEALTH AND POPULATION RESEARCH

MAJOR DONOR CONTRIBUTIONS BY UNRESTRICTED AND RESTRICTED FUNDS 2000 - 2002 : 5 {IN US$'000)

2000 - ACTUAL 2001 - ACTUAL 2002 - BUDGET 2002 - FORECA [ 2602~ sTATUS
UNRESTR. _RESTR.  TOTAL % DNRESTR. _ RESTR. TOTAL % UNRESTR. _ RESTR.  TOTAL % . STR.. . TOT! FIRM _ESTIM,

UNRESTRICTED FUNDS:
AUSTRALTA - AusAID 297 297 2.1%| 154 154 1.1% 145 145 1.1%][: £ 1] 160
BANGLADESH 191 191 14%| 186 186  1.3% 186 186 1.4% - i y 176
BELGIUM - BADC / BTC (11) (1) -01%| &4 64 0.5%
CANADA - CIDA 204 204 L.5%] 192 192 1.4% 192 192 1.4% :7%
NETHERLANDS 214 214 1.5%| 1,004 1,04 7.2% 1,004 1,004  7.3%|u LEC : %] 1,004
SWEDEN - SIDA / SAREC 272 272 2.0%| 23 231 1.7% 183 183 1.3%|#5 : 245
SWIT2ERLAND - SDC 252 252 1.8%| 524 524 3.7% 524 s24  3.8% : 518
UNITED STATES - USAID 275 275 2.0%| 338 3 2.4% 200 200 1.5% 200
ARAB GULF FUND (18) (18) -0.1%] {(109) {109) -0.8%
SAUDI ARABIA 52 52 0.4% 50 50 0.4% 50
SRI LANKA . 4  0.0% 4 4 0.0% 4 0.0%

TOTAL UNRESTRICTED 1,732 12.5%)] 2,638 2,638 18.9% 2,488
RESTRICTED PROJECTS/PROGRAMS FUNDS:
AUSTRALIA - AusAlD 57 60 0.4% 104 104 0.7% 12
BANGLADESH 271 306 2.2% 63 405 468 3.3% 37
BELGIUM - BADC/ BTC 169 169 1.2% 176 176 1.3%
EUROPEAN UNION - BHARP 910 910 6.6% 758 758 5.4%
FORD FOUNDATION 272 309 . 37 248 285 2.0% 26 201
GATES - GoB AWARD
INTERNATIONL VACCINE INSTITUTE 16 102 118 0.8% 71 376
JAPAN 54 560 514 . 104 - 759 863 6.2% 92 809
NETHERLANDS 5 19 24 . 1 [ 7 0.1%
SWEDEN - SIDA/SAREC 15 157 172 . 37 241 278 2.0% 8S 496
SWITZERLAND - SDC 57 527 584 N 20 217 237 1.7%
SWISS RED CROSS 32 211 243 23 151 174 1.2% 24 185
UNTTED KINGDOM - DFID (See Table - 4A) 96 663 759 X 87 741 828 5.9% 1,253
UNDP/UNOPS - Japan (5) 49 44 2 11 11 0.1% 173
UNICEF 3 3 A 19 199 218 1.6% 22 255
USAIC/Dhaka (See Table - 4A) 503 2,259 2,762 R 1,840 2,233 16.0% 2,612
USAID/Washington do- 348 1,569 1,917 . 1,515 1,855 13.3% 1,637
USA - NIH ~dio- 3 885 888 . 775 775 5.5% 566
USA - Other Sources -do- 27 170 197 . 129 152 1.1% 184
WORLD BANK - NCoE 127 846 973 . 659 758 5.4%
WHO {1) 243 242 . 175 176 1.3% 169
HOSPITAL ENDOWMENT FUND 200 200 . 400
CENTRE ENDOWMENT FUND 66 66 . 65 69 0.5%
OTHERS (See Table - 4A) 68 588 656 . 86 725 811 5.8% 1,239

TOTAL RESTRICTED 1,404 10,694 12,098 1,349 10,005 11,354 81.1% 11,285
TOTAL CONTRIBUTIONS 3,136 10,694 13,830 100°%)| 3,987 10,005 13,992 100% 13,773
Note: Where necessary 2000 and 2001 figures have been regrouped to conform with 2002 forecast.




TABLE-4 A
ICDDR,B - CENTRE FOR HEALTH AND PCPULATION RESEARCH
MAJOR DONCR CONTRIBUTIONS BY RESTRICTED FUNDS 2000 - 2002 (IN US$'D00)
2000 - ACTUAL 2001 - ACTUAL 2002 - BUDGET - 2002 - FORECAST "~/ 1 -] 2002 - STATUS
UNRESTR. RESTR.  TOTAL % NRESTR.  RESTR.  TOTAL % UNRESTR. _RESTR.  TOTAL % [NRESTR. - RESTR. TOVAL "% | FIRM__ ESTIM
RESTRICTED FUNDS: C N .
UNITED KINGDOM - OFID: - B
- DFID / Equitable Health 79 79 0.6% 56 1,155 1,211 8.8% .56 1,273 1,329 8.8% 1,329
- DFID / HIV 40 128 168 1.2% 11 11 0% o L9 9 0.1%) 9
- DFID / Heaith Econormist 11 83 - 94 0.7% 41 187 228 1.6% 5 37 42 0.3% -3 5. .28 0.2% 28
- DFID { Modernization of Matiab DSS 45 452 497 3.6% 46 464 510 3.6% L .
Sub-total 96 663 759 5.5% 87 741 828 5.9% 61 1,192 1,253 9.1%} 59 1,307 - 1,366 9.0%] 1,366
UNITED STATES: o - S
- USAID/Dhaka
- ORP/FHRP 503 2,025 2,528 18.3%| 393 1,608 2,001 14.3% 506 2,046 1,964
- )81 234 234 1.7% 232 232 1.7% 60 100
Sub-total 503 2,259 2,762 20.0%)| 393 1,840 2,233 15.0% 506 2,106 2,064
- USAID/Washington
- Research and Others 328 1,490 1,818 13.1% 340 1,515 1,855 131.3% 259 1,213 1,481
- Nepal 20 79 99 0.7% 33 132 i85
Sub-totai 348 1,569 1,917 13.9%| 340 1,515 1,855 13.3% 292 1,345 1,666
- USA - NIH
- CASE WESTERN RESERVE UNIVERSITY 96 88
- SURVEILLANCE 542 542 3.9% 407 407 2.9% 266 49
- UNESERSITY OF MARYLAND & BIQTECH. INSTIL 176 176 1.3% 133 133 1.0% 50 48
+ MASSACHUSETTS GENERAL HOSPITAL 6 6 0.0% 144 144 1.0% 74 109
- RAND CORPORATION 24 24 0.2%
- STANFORD UNIVERSITY 11 11 0.1% 16 17
- UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA - DAVIS 6 49 55 0.4% 2 2 0.0% S
- UNIVERSITY OF ALARAMA 5 5 0.0% 2 2 0.0%
- UNIVERSITY OF VIRGINIA {(3) 83 80 0.6% 76 76 0.5% 64 93
Sub-total 3 885 888 6.4% 775 775 5.5% 566 409
- USA other Sources:
- UNIVERSITY OF PENNSYLVANIA 12 12 0.1% 16 16 0.1% 12 4
- HOWARD HUGHES MEDICAL INSTITUTE 3 3 0.0% 5 43 48 0.3% s 42 H
- INTERNATIONAL SCIENCE & TECHNO.INSTIL. 106
- OFFICE OF U.5 FOREIGN DISASTER ASSTN. 43 43 0.3% 1 1 0.0% 74 84
- JOHNS HOPKINS UNIVERSITY 27 112 139 1.0% 18 69 87 0.6% 10 41 K 96
Sub-total 27 170 197  1.4% 23 129 152 1.1% 15 169 184 1.3% 294
RESTRICTED FUNDS: - OTHERS cel
AMERICAN EXPRESS FOUNDATION 3 10 13 0.1% 3 10 13 0a%l|i
BGS ARGOSS 2 8 10 0.1% :
BOG/DGHS/ARI 3 3 0.0% P
CANADA/CHC-ASCON 15 15 0.1% A : 53 7 0.3% 53
CDC - ATLANTA 3 10 13 0.1% 13 50 63  0.5%| 19 76 95 0.6% 95
CIRCLE AROUND THE CENTRE 22 2 02% I 50 . ~0.3% 50
CYTOS PHARMACEUTICAL 49 49 0a4% 25 25 0.2% 5 5 0.0%]. 3 0.0% 3
DARTMOUTH COLLEGE 11 11 0.1% e 45 . 0.3% 45




TABLE - 4 A
ICDDR,B - CENTRE FOR HEALTH AND POPULATION RESEARCH
MAJOR DONOR CONTRIBUTIONS BY RESTRICTED FUNDS 2000 - 2002 .; (IN US§'000)

2000 - ACTUAL 2001 - ACTUAL 2002 - BUDGET : 2002 CAST:: | 2002-STATUS
RESTR, TOTAL % |INRESTR. RESTR.  TOTAL % UNRESTR. RESTR. TOTAL % I ; % FIRM _ ESTIM.
DUNCAN BROTHERS 8 10 0.1% 2 6 8  01%
FUTURES GROUP 55 67 05% (9) (37 {(46) -0.3% ,
JAPAN - JICWELS SG 50 0.4% 80 80 0.6% 98 98 0.7% 55
JAPAN - EMBASSY 78 78 0.6% :
JAPAN - UNIVERSITY OF TOKYO 33 42 0.3% 2 2 0.0%] 25
MACRO INTERNATIONAL INC. (1) (1) b 34
NEW ENGLAND MEDICAL CENTRE 50 66 96 126 0.9% 62 81 0.6%fE ] |36 3%
NESTLE RESEARCH FOUNDATION 20 20 24 24 02% 84 g4  0.6%[ ; ' 75
NORWAY - NORAD 4 4 ¥ :
NORTHFIELD LABORATORIES : 14 18
NOVARTIS 9 12 . 23 31 0.2%
NEWCASTLE UNIVERSITY 48 63 . 52 68 0.5%
PRAXIS
SAVE THE CHILDREN 4 {4)
PLAN INTERNATICNAL 13 13
PROCTOR & GAMBLE 1 1
QUINTILES EAST ASIA PTE. LTD.
SMITHKLINE BEECHAM 10 39 49
THE INDEPTH NETWORK
THE ROCKEFELLER FOUNDATION 6 6
THRASHER ) (48)
TOMEN CORPORATION
UCB-OSMOTIC/SIDAC 7 n 38
UMEA UNIVERSITY
UNAIDS 4 4
UNIVERSITY OF BASEL
LNOCAL 35 35
DISASTER / EPIDEMIC ;
AusAID 13 13
UNOCAL, Calrn, Shell & Occidental 79 79
SDC
QTHERS (55) 91 91
TOTAL RESTRICTED - OTHER




TABLE - 5
ICDDR,B : CENTRE FOR HEALTH AND POPULATION RESEARCH

UNRESTRICTED PROJECTS/ PROGRAMS AND MANAGEMENT EXPENDITURE 2000 TO 2002
{IN US$ '000)

ACTUAL 2000 ACTUAL 2001 BUDGET _ 2002 L . . FORECAST. -30025. : . .i:i:
GRQOSS RECOVERY NET % GROSS RECOVERY NET % GROSS RECOVERY NET % GROSS RECOVERY - - "NET:» ~
COsTS COSTs COsTS COSTS COSTS COsTS CosTS COSTS

PROJECTS/ PROGRAMS

CLINICAL SCIENCES: ,
DHAXA HOSPITAL 1,223 (622) 601 4.4%| 1,390 (415) 975 7.1%| 1,457 (653) 804 5.6%| 1,380 (698) 682

DIVISIONAL 140 (44) 96 0.7% 60 {58} 2 0.0% 21 (58) 163 1.1%|. 177 “(63) 114 7%
PUBLIC HEALTH SCIENCES:
MATLAB CLINICAL RESEARCH 334 (140} 194 1.4% 373 (137) 236 1.7% 381 {135) 246 1.7% 360 . (128) 235 - 1.5%
MATLAB ADMINISTRATION 331 (128) 203 1.5% 308 (120) 188 1.4% 314 (137) 177 1.2%)| 02730 0 (89) . 174 i1.1%
MATLAB COMMUNITY RESEARCH 95 (1) 94 0.7% 184 184 1.3% 262 262 1.8% 21 K 221 1.4%
DIVISIONAL 173 173 1.3% 315 315 2.3% 385 386 2.7% 446 . 346 2.8%
HEALTH & DEMOGRAPHIC SURVEILLANCE 43 43 0.3% 30 () 29 0.2% 80 80 0.6% 86 : 86  0.5%
LABORATORY SCIENCES: | o S
LABORATORY SERVICES 1,010 {1,189) (179) -1.3% 956 (1,104) (148) -1.1%| 1,253 (1,218) 35 0.2%)| 1,086 (5,122) (36) -0.2%
DIVISIGNAL 120 (120) 120 {120) 113 (113) 120 {120} -
HEALTH & POPULATION EXTENSION/HSIC: - : S
DIVISIONAL 85 85 0.6% 364 364 2.5%|. 455 ¢! 454 - 2.9%
INFORMATION SCIENCES:
DISC 206 {25) 181 1.3% 280 (21) 259 1.9% 281 37 244 1.7%). . 345 16%
TRAINING & DISSEMINATION 147 (137} 10 0.1% 153 {108) 45 0.3% 137 (222) (85) -0.6%|' (65) - -0.9%
COMPUTER SERVICES 94 (76) 18 0.1% 162 {108) 54 0.4% 163 (92) 71 0.5%|. 56 0.4%
TOTAL PROJECTS/PROGRAMS 3,916 (2,482) 1,34 10.5%| 4,416 (2,192 2,238 __ 16.1%] 5,412 {2,665) 2,747 19.0% 7612 16.6%
MANAGEMENT :
DIRECTCR'S BUREAU 336 336 2.4% 302 (1) 301 2.2% 318 318 2.2% 39
EXTERNAL RELATIONS 8 INSTITUTIONAL DEV. 75 75 0.5% 84 84 0.6% 215 215 1.5%| " 229
POLICY AND PLANNING 37 37 0.3% 149 149 1.1% 149 149 1L0% | : . 152
BoT & COMMITTEES 100 100 0.7% 108 108 0.8% 121 121 0.8% | S e
ADMINISTRATION & PERSONNEL 856 (336) 520 3.8% 967 (323) 644 4.6% 807 (344) 463 3.2%) 4Ry
FINANCE 334 (15} 319 2.3% 387 (44) 343 2.5% 366 {17) 349 2.4%| ° T445
VOLUNTARY SEVERANCE PACKAGE 288 288 2.1% LT R
OTHER 302 (338} (36) -0.3% 263 (320) (57) -0.4% 315 (254) 61 0.4%[ . ‘ S
TOTAL MANAGEMENT 2,328 (689) 1,639 11.8%] 2,260 {688) 1,572 1La%| 32,381 (615) 1,676 11.5%| 2506 (583} L 031 Tii3%
[TOTAL PROJECTS/PROGRAMS AND MANAGEMENT | 6,244 (3,171) 3,073 22.3%| 6,676 (2,880) 3,796  27.5%) 7,703 (3,280) 4,423 30.9%| 7,676 (3,142) ° 4,534 28.9%
TOTAL CONTRIBUTIONS 13,830 13,992 13,773 : 15165
LESS: UNRESTRICTED FUNDS* 3,073 22.3% 3,796  27.5% 4,423 30.9%;} - : - 453 i28.9%
RESTRICTED FUNDS* 10,6%4 77.7% 10,005  72.5% 9,862 69.1%| : 11,168  -71.1%
NET OPERATING CASH EXPENSES 13,767 100.0% 13,801 100.0% 14,305  100.0%] i . 15,702 100.0%
NET CASH SURPLUS/({DEFICIT) 63 191 {532) I I (537) o

Note: Where necessary 2000 and 2001 figures have been regrouped to conform with 2002 forecast. * Net of Other Recelpts and Exchange Gains.




Minutes of the Finance Committee
Saturday 10 November 2001

1:30pm
Present:
Executive Committee
Prof Marian Jacobs Chair of the Board
Prof Azad Khan Chair, Finance Committee
Mr Rolf Carriere
Prof David Sack Director

Absent (with regrets):
Dr Ricardo Uauy Dagach

Invited:
Division Heads, CFQO, Acting Head HR, Ms Vanessa Brooks (ER&ID), Dr Ishtiaque Zaman
(ER&ID), Ms Shamima Moin, Mr M A Samad, Mr SK Abdul Matin (Finance personnel).

Minute Secretary:
Mrs Judith Bennett Henry

Prof Jacobs invited Mr Stephen Sage CFO to present the Finance report.

Mr Sage stated that he was pleased to be at the Centre and thanked the Trustees, Director and
staff for their patience and understanding for his delayed arrival. He looked forward to a
rewarding relationship with [CDDR,B.

2001 Forecast

The 2001 forecast showed a revenue of US$14,136,000 in donors’ contribution which was
US$365,000 (2.5%) less than the budget approved in November 2000. For items with a
change of more than US$100,000, contributions showed reduced revenues from AusAid,
European Union, USAID-Dhaka, oil companies (for disasters), the Hospital Endowment Fund
(HEF). This was offset by increased confributions from Netherlands government, SDC-
Switzerland, Thrasher Foundation, the Bangladesh government.

Unrestricted contributions for core totalled US$2,738,000 forecast for 2001 compared to
US$1,810,000 budgeted for 2001. This showed an increase of US$928,000 (51%). Mr Sage
stressed that the Centre must continue to press for unrestricted funds as well as it needs to
internally generate core funds.

Expenditures against 2001 budget were US$13,956,000 cash basis which was US$435,000
(3.0%) less than budget. These covered increased vs budget, local salaries and capital
expenditures and were offset by international salaries, supplies and materials.

Surplus is forecasted to be $180,000 compared to budget of $110,000 for 2001. This reduces
the cumulative deficit to less than $3,000,000 which is a reduction of over $1,000,000 in the
past three years.




2002 Budget

The 2002 budget forecast showed revenue from contributions totaling US$13,773,000 which
was US$363,000 (2.6%) less than 2001. Contributions to 2002 budget showed reduced
revenues vs 2001 from European Union and World Bank which was offset by increased
contributions from USAID-Dhaka, DfID, AusAID.

“The ten(10) 1argest donors contributed US$10,313,000 to the 2002 budget which was 75% of
the total budget. The same 10 contributed US$9,843,000 in 2001, 69% of the total budget.
Mr. Sage urged that the Centre expand its donor base to avoid any possible crisis should 2
major donor decide to change its funding policy or orientation.

Unrestricted contributions for core for 2002 showed US$2,488,000 budgeted vs US$2,738,000
forecast for 2001, a decrease of US$250,000 (9%).

Expenditures for 2002 were forecast at US$14,305,000 or US$349,000 (2.5%) more than 2001.
Mr. Sage stated that for the Centre to break even in 2002, it would need to decrease the deficit
by US$532,000. The budget was prepared on a conservative basis including only finalized
agreements.

Although the budget shows a deficit, management is confident that projects in progress will
yield contributions to the 2002 budget to at least breakeven. This is similar to 1999 and 2000
when deficit budgets were presented the previous November and actual results yielded a
surplus.

Hospital Endowment Fund(HEF)

The HEF received contributions of US$252,000 through 30 Sept 2001. A new fund manager
was engaged in September 2001 — Morgan Stanley was replaced by TIAA-CREF. The HEF
saw an 8% decline in market value; 94% of the HEF is in money market funds pending
stability of the market. Management is recommending a withdrawal of $200,000 as of 31
December 2001 for operating costs of the Hospital in 2002,

Centre Endowment Fund

The Fund received no contribution through 30 Sept 2001. A new fund manager was engaged
in September. The Fund saw a 13% decline in market value in 2001. The Fund is invested
with TIAA-CREF and currently held in money market aaccount. Mr Sage requested Board
approval to transfer US$120,000 from Centre Endowment Fund for project development funds.
(The reason this fund declined more than the HEF was that more was invested in equities and
bonds. Some of the HEF was in time deposits and were protected from the market decline).

Gates/Government of Bangladesh Award

Mr. Sage pointed out that the Gates Award (US$1m) and the Government of Bangladesh
matching funds (US$885,000) were not represented in the budget. The Gates fund is invested
in short-term time deposits and is projected to earn approx US$14,000 in 2001. The GOB
recently released the matching fund. The award monies are being held pending instruction
from the Board. A plan for this fund is being presented (see Annex 1).




Strategic Plan
On Strategic Plan issues, the Finance Office is involved in several activities:

- Common operating costs which would be identified in all projects with an indication of
portion contributed by project and portion contributed by core funds. This would allow
tracking to inform core donors of projects funded by their contributions.

- MIS review to test the capabilities of the finance MIS as well as of the current system
and identify improvements needed.

- Audit of indirect costs for USAID reimbursement which is required periodically to
maintain ongoing funding and which will effect future common operating costs.

- Plans to service units on a business basis i.e. to identify service support units, develop a
business model with the aim to implement with specific support services e.g. transport
pool, hospital lab.

It was noted that the local currency of Bangladesh was devalued by 4.8% resulting in some
gain to the Centre. However, the grant from the EU was negatively impacted by the weakening
of the Euro against the dollar in 2001.

Prof Jacobs thanked Mr. Sage for his presentation.
Discussion:

Prof. Azad Khan stated that the Gates/Bangladesh funds should directly benefit the children of
Bangladesh. It was discussed that Mrs. Melinda Gates’ statement in her speech at the award
ceremony that no child should die of an easily prevented disease should be taken as the guiding
principle. It was suggested that the speech should be looked over and a brochure prepared
explaining the use of the funds in keeping with the spirit of the award.

It was further discussed that in an effort to diversify funding sources, the Centre may consider
using some of the award (o create something innovative. It was suggested that corporate as
well as individual donors should be targeted. Ms Brooks felt that to advance the profile of the
Centre to corporations and individuals, it was crucial that the Centre change its name. It was
equally important to avoid quirky or catchy names and to settle on one which projects the
Centre in a more sophisticated, international way.

Mr. Sage affirmed that TIAA-CREF did offer accounts targeted to individuals, corporations
and organizations with a social and humanitarian agenda and that the endowment funds were to
be invested in these funds.

It was suggested that the Centre should give a higher profile to donors of unrestricted funds.
Prof Jacobs also suggested that the Centre should institute a mechanism for tracking donor
policy. Prof Sack confirmed that the ER&ID office receives electronic mailing with updated
information on donor policy.

Prof Jacobs suggested that the Centre consider income-generation activities through sale of |
services such as the laboratories; rental of accommodation; ICDDR,B guesthouse. \

Prof Jacobs thanked Mrs. Moin, Mr. Samad and Mr. Matin for managing the Finance Office
until Mr. Sage’s arrival. She declared the Finance Committee closed.




e . L ——

Draft resolutions of the Finance Committee

The Committee resolved to present the following draft resolutions to the Board for its
approval:

2/BT/NOV/01

The Board authorises Mr. Stephen Sage, acting in his capacity as Chief Finance Officer (CFO)
to sign cheques on behalf of the Centre, and the Board withdraws its previous authorisation of
Mr. Winklemann as signatory.

I/BT/NOV/01

The Board authorizes the transfer from the Reserve Fund to the operating Fund of all monies in
excess of $2,000,000 at December 31, 2001 to further reduce the cumulative deficit.

4/BT/NOV/1

The Board approves that the previously authorised transfer of $200,000 from the Hospital
Endowment Fund in 2001 may be carried over into 2002 as deemed necessary by the Director;
and also authorises $200,000 to be transferred from the Hospital Endowment Fund to
operations in 2002.

S/BT/NOV/01

The Board authorises the transfer of up to $120,000 from the Centre Endowment Fund in 2001
and that such unexpended monies may be carried over into 2002.

6/BT/NOV/01

The Board authorizes opening an account with TIAA-CREF Trust Company for the Hospital
Endowment Fund as per the attached certificate (Annex 2).

7/BT/NOV/01

The Board endorses the budget for the award funds (from the Gates Global Health Award and
the matching award from the Government of Bangladesh) as presented by the Director in the
memo of 4 Nov. Further, it encourages the Centre to utilize these funds and the work carried
out as a result to popularize these two awards.
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AUDITORS' REPORT

TO THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF
INTERNATIONAL CENTRE FOR DIARRHOEAL DISEASE
RESEARCH, BANGLADESH

We have audited the accompanying Statement of Financial Position of
INTERNATIONAL CENTRE FOR DIARREQEAL DISEASE RESEARCH, BANGLADESH

(ICDDR,B) as of December 31, 200L and the related Statements of
Activity (Operating Fund) and Cash Flows for the year then ended.
These financial statements are the responsibility of ICDDR,B's

management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are

free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles

used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial presentation. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

As explained in Note 17, $10,317,620 being the accumulated balance of the
"ICDDR,B Employees Separation Payment Fund” at December 31, 2001 and
invested with Generali Worldwide Insurance Company Limited of Guernsey,
Channel Islands has not been recognised in these accounts.

Except for the matter referred to in the immediately preceding paragraph
in our opinion, the financial statements referred to above, together with
the notes thereon, present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of ICDDR,B as ¢f December 31, 2001 and the results of
its activities and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity
with the accounting policies disclosed in Note 2.

\/Q{J% (it Willadoaar~

Hoda asx Chowdhury & Co Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountants

Dhaka, March 21, 2002




INTERNATIONAL CENTRE FOR DIARRHOEAL DISEASE RESEARCH, BANGLADESH

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2001

Cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

CURRENT ASSETS:
Inventories
Accounts receivable
Donors
Others
Hospital Endowment Fund investments
Centre Endowment Fund investments
Cash and bank balances
Deposits with bank against Reserve
Fund

LESS: CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Contributions received in advance
Accounts payable

NET CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL NET ASSETS

vt
BODA VAS! CHOWDHURY & €O

17,919,222
13,002,578
4,916,644

475,565

1,658,151

584,093
5,160,137
3,418,182
2,019,380

2,007,408
15,362,926

5,062,585
2,640,257
7,702,852

7,660,074

Uss 12,576,718

16,969,270
12,081,245

4,888,025

460,255

1,138,998

647,140
5,246,080
3,926,617
1,652,375

2,162,147

15,233,612

3,996,533
3,180,372
7,176,805

8,056,707

12,944,732

PRICE WATERHOUSE




INTERNATIONAL CENTRE FOR DIARRHOEAIL DISEASE RESEARCH, BANGLADESH

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2001 (Cont.)

Note 2001 2000
REPRESENTED BY:
Fixed Assets Fund 10 4,916, 644 4,888,025
Fixed Assets Acquisition and
Replacement Fund 11 - 78,107
Hospital Endowment Fund 15 5,160,137 5,246,080
Centre Endowment Fund 16 3,418,192 3,926,617
Reserve Fund 12 2,007,408 2,162,147
Cperating Fund 13 (2,925,663} (3,356,244)
TOTAL FUNDS Uss 12,576,718 12,944,732

The accompanying notes 1 to 21 are an integral part of thesa Financial

Statemants.

/C‘ ) ___
Director
ICDDR, B Board of Trustees

M exr

This is the Statement of Financial Position referred to in our reporxrt of same

Mdf' Qﬂ\[% (i, Wikeshewns

Hoda vasi Chowdhury & Co Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

date.

Chartered Accountants

Dhaka, March 21, 2002




INTERNMATIONAL CENTRE FOR DIARRHOEAL DISEASE RESEARCH,

REVENUE

Contributions
Exchange gains-{net):
T Other receipts

EXPENDITURE

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITY (OPERATING FUND)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001

Note

5

e it

O iy

P

15

" Salaries and benefits - local
Salaries and benefits - international
Voluntary severance package

Consul tancy

Mandatory committees

Travel

Supplies and materials

Repairs and maintenance

Rent, communication and utilities
Printing and publications

Other expenditure

Capital expenditure (net})

20
2(e)& 10

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR BEFORF DEPRECTATION

ADD: Depreciation for the year

2(e)& 3(b)

2001
13,992,524

660,880

14,773,202

6,777,843
2,175,830
226,023
98,788
582,790
1,742,896
191,114
333,689
249,777
1,085,395

914,166

14,582,311

190,891
{563,964)

T TP T Y R

BANGLADESH

2000

13,830,289

132,872

__ 700,334

14,663,495

6,166,052
2,450,536
288,019
322,749
80,951
582,496
»1,890,740
198,374
454,259
270,791
1,236,048

659,214

14,600,229

63,266
{519,906)

DEFICIT FOR THE YEAR AFTER DEPRECIATION Uss  (773,073) {856, 640)

The accompanying notes 1 to 21 are an integral part of these Financial
Statements.

7

Director
ICDDR, B

R

Member
Board of Trustees

This is the Statement of Activity {(Operating Fund) referred to in our report of
game date.

Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants

Vasl Chowdhury & Co
Chartered Accountants

Dhaka, March 21, 2002




e ——

e T

INTERNATIONAL CENTRE FOR DIARRHOEAL DISEASE RESEARRCH, BANGLADESH

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001

2001
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Deficit of revenues over expenses after depreciation (773,073)

Adjustments to reconcile net cash
from operating activities
Depreciation 963,964
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 12

Decrease/ (Increase) in assets
Accounts receivable

Donors {559,153)
Others 63,047
Inventories (15,310)

Increasge/ (Decrease)} in liabilities

Donors' contribution received in advance 1,066,062
Accounts payable (540,115
205,434

Decrease in deferred
revenue expenditure

Cash surplus from operating activities 205,434

CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of fixed assets (992,595}
Interest on Reserve Fund deposits 85,261
Net cash used in investment activities {807,334)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditure out of
Project funds 763,645
Central funds 150,523

Net cash from financing activities 814,166

Net increase in cash and

equivalents uss 212,266
Cash and equivalents beginning of year uss 3,814,522
4,026,788

Cash and eguivalents gnd of vear Uss
M
Director

2000

(856, 640)

913,906

7,470
(69,084)
(46,344)

(1,107,713)

999,819

{152,586}

288,019

135,433

(659,214)

97,296

(561,918)

611,709

47,505

659,214

232,729

3,581,793
3,814,522

ICDDR, B Board of Trlustees

This is the Statement of Cash Flows referred to in our report of gsame date.

L o O S

Hoda 'Vasi Chowdhury & Co
Chartered Accountants

Dhaka, March 21, 2002

jwiu/ Wil e
Price Waterhouse
Chartered Accountants




INTERNATIONAL CENTRE FOR DIARRHOEAL DISEASE RESEARCH, BANGLADESH

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2001

l. NATURE OF ACTIVITIES

I e

i

e mpe T Tnternational- Centre for Diarrhoeal Disease Research, Bangladesh ("Centre”)
was established in 1978 by an Ordinance of the Government of The People's
Republic of Bangladesh to provide for the establishment of an international
Centre in Bangladesh with multinational scientific collaboration and financial
contributions to conduct research in diarrhoeal diseases and the directly
related subjects of nutrition and fertility with special relevance to developing
eountries and for matters ancillary thereto. The activities of the Centre are
mainly funded by various Governments and international organisations.

—_——m— Ead

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles on the historical
cost convention and in the manner as prescribed and approved by the Board of
Trustees.

“Revenue" and “"Expenditure” of the Centre for the year have been accounted
for on an accrual basis.

Contributions have been considered as revenue on the following bases:

Central funds have been accounted for to the extent they relate ,to the
current peried and those pertaining to future periods have been carried
forward.

Project funds received during the year but not expended have been carried
forward as contributions received in advance. Correspondingly, amounts equal
to the expenses incurred but not yet reimbursed by donors have been treated
as contributions receivable. Project funds include overhead recoveries at the
rate provided for in the various donor agreements.

Grants in kind by way of various services rendered by different donors and
those directly paid by donor({s) to other organisation(s) and institution{s)
for project/service work carried out by them on behalf of the Centre have not
been considered in these. accounts.

Fixed assets acguired up to August 1981 have been brought to account at
material cost only. Subsequent thereto incidental expenses such as labour,
freight, insurance, etc. have also been taken into consideration in arriving
at the cost of fixed assets. However, in effect the capital expenditure
(expenditure on project and central support facilities and equipment) is
expensed in the year in which it is incurred and the fixed assets (items
costing more than $200) are recognised in the accounts with a corresponding
contra account titled “Fixed Asset Fund®. Depreciation on fixed assets is
calculated on the "Straight line®" method based on the estimated useful life
of such assets without any effect on the Operating Fund (Refer Note 13).

o h
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.)

£)

g)

h)

Inventories are valued at invoice price plus incidental expenses such as
labour, freight, insurance, etc. Inventories issued at weighted average
cost to service centres are expensed when issued. The stock of such items
remaining unconsumed at the year end and not considered significant are not
included in the closing stock. However, closing inventories at Matlab
Health Complex are accounted for.

Endowment Funds:
Investments are valued at cost or market value, whichever is lower.

Interest on investment in government securities is recognised in the
accounts on realisation basis.

The Board of Trustees may authorise the amount of funds to be withdrawn from
the endowment funds to a maximum of five percent of the balance of the funds
at the end of the previous year.

Currency conversion of non-US currencies to US dollars:

Advances, liabilities and cash and bank balances are translated intc US
dollars at the prevailing year end exchange rates.

All items other than those stated above are translated into US dollars at the
rates of exchange prevailing at the beginning of that month.

The exchange rates used for the currency conversion are calculated on the

prevailing average of the buying rates of “Telegraphic Transfer Clean” and
"On Demand Transfer” as published by Centre's bank and are as follows:

Average monthly

Currency exchange rate Year end exchange rate
2001 2001 2000
Taka Taka Taka
Us § 1.00 55.3442 56.3625 53.7200
UK £ 1.00 79.5216 81.1508 79.8011
EURO 1.00 48.8813 48.9678 49.8038

H,yc
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DEPRECIATION

: Additions/ At Additions/ At
PARTICULARS January 1 (Adjustments) December January 1 {Ajdustmenis) December Oecember
2001 in 2001 3, 2001 2001 in 2001 31,2001 31,2001

g T e T T T T s

po = Freehold land 85,508 - ———~105,508 " -

Buildings ) 5,555,654 19,612 5,575,266 2,459,838 108,744 - 2,608,583 2,966,683

Equipment 9,911,424 749,509 10,660,933 8,378,807 771,794 9,150,601 1,510,332
Fumniture 162,182 6,297 168,479 150,548 3,497 154,045 14,434

" Vehicles 1,236,038 {409A3) 1195 075 1,052 051 A7298 1086349 105726
16,950,806 734,455 17,685,261 12,081,245 921,333 13,002,578 4,682 683

Capital work in progress _ iR4R4 215 497 233 981 - - - 231041
200 UsS$ 16,869,270 949952 17,918,222 12,081,245 921,333 13,002,578 4,916,644

2) {b}
2000 US$ 16,310,056 659,214 16,969,270 11,161,339 919,906 12,081,245 4,888,025

External additions and disposals/write offs of fixed assets in the year
comprised $992,595 and $42, 643 respectively.

External additions and disposals/write offs for depreciation for the year
comprised $963,964 and $42,631 respectively.

Two plots of land measuring 4.10 and 0.51 acres situated at Mohakhali (Dhaka)
and at Matlab (Chandpur)., received as donations from the Government of the
People's Republic of Bangladesh and a private individual respectively, have
not. been valued and therefore not incorporated in these accounts.

Cost of buildings includes an amount of $103,488 spent by the Centre on the
extension of the Institute of Public Health building, owned by the Government
of the People's Republic of Bangladesh and which is at present partly
accommodating the Centre.

4. INVENTORIES 2001 2000

Supply stores 408,044 368,642
Maintenance stores 64,060 64,666
472,104 433,308
Stores in transit 17,553 42,956
489,657 476,264
Less: Provision for obsolete and

slow moving stock 14,092 16,009
475,565 460,255

W
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5. CONTRIBUTIONS

Donor

Central Funds (Unrestricted)
Arab Gulf Fund
Australia- AusAlD
Bangladesh
Belgium — BADC/BTC
Canada - CIDA
Netherlands
Saudi Arabia
Sweden - SIDA/SAREC
Switzerland -5DC
Sri Lanka
United States — AID
Gates Award for Global Health

Bangladesh- Gates Award Match Fund

Centre Endowment Fund (Note 16)
Hospital Endowment Fund
Total Central Funds

Project Funds (Restricted)
Australia-AusAlD
Bangladesh — WB & BINP
Belgium — BADC/BTC
European Union
Ford Foundation
Howard Hughes Medical Institute
International Vaccine Institute (IV1}
Japan
Japan-JICWELS
MGH and Harvard Medical School (a)
Netherlands
New England Medical Center (NEMC)
Sweden —- SIDA/SAREC
Switzerland — SDC
Swiss Red Cross
The Johns Hopkins University (a)
The Rockefeller Foundation
Thrasher Research Fund
United Kingdom = DFID
United States — AID etc.
UNICEF
University of Basel
University of Newcastle- DFID
Univarsity of Virginia {a)
UNOCAL Foundation
WHO
World Bank

Disaster Fund (UNOCAL, Shell, Caim & Others)

Others (b)
Total Project Funds
Total Contributions

Uss

uss
UsSs

{Due)
Advanced
al1.31.2001

(109,091)

{93,000)

(16,505)

74,155

{144 441)
{22,565)
218,240
(32,915)

527,387
41,921

262,322
57,973
(6,176)
(3,788)
25712
3,226
236,720
{22,820)
62,183
215,635
(5,000}
560,296
(391,348)
207,729

71,133
{43,230)
65,335
152,095
457 511
187,619
176,801

4.001.976
2,857,535

(c)

2001

Received
during
the Year

154,530
180,000

256,360
1,003,742

230,559
524,044
4,000
338,187
1,000,000
885,000
120,000

{Due)/
Advanced
31.12.2001

(99,026)
(64,614)
48,070

(50,-000)

1,000,000
885,000
125,512

Income

for the
Year

(109,091)
154,530
186,026

64,614
191,785
1,003,742
50,000
230,559
524,044
4,000
338,167

68,643

4,696,402

103,020
414,750

34,187
680,218

45,000
372,275
827,156

171,719
30,000
274,324

33,668

173,861
1,082,765
4,236,195
150,000
48,976
31,803
103,760
80,000
149,724

300,000

—429 630
8803031

14,499,433

1844042

(1,037)
(76,051)
75,972
{110,697)
242,851
39,088
254,140
87,767
(21,957)
21,484
(11.079)
(70,172)
(95)

{196,864)
8,477
166,139
116,822
763,988
(794,031)
140,067
48,442
34,578
{15,688)
75,355
126,131
(66}
167,966
_447 972

1.519.502
3,364,444

2,707,019

104,057
468,236
176,455
758,000
284,516
47,833
118,135
1,001,711
79,930
144,059
7,291
125,884
277,645
236,720
174,044
87,374
49,496
52,038
879,073
4,638,878
217,662
534
68,358
76,218
69,980
175,688
757,577
19,653

Income

(18,248)
296,711
191,500

(11,243)
203,506
213,617
52,843
271,950
252,206
4,000
275,000

59,629
305,872
169,140
910,483
309,061

3,079
614,022
50,334
6,176

23,909

65,797
171612
584,532
242,985
139,284

6,240
(51.084)
808,876
5,531,052
3,537

63,456

78,505

34,665
242,452
972,583

91,764

188459 ___ 394 441
11285505 11,832 602

13,992,524

13,830,289

{c)

Includes subcontracts from the National Institute of Health (NIH), USA.

Coniributions in 2001 from *Others' for project funds were received from American Express Foundation, Canadian
HC-LFMO, CDC- Aflanta, Cytos Pharmaceuticals Inc., Dartmouth College, The Indepth Network, International
Aomic Energy Agency, Nestle Foundation, Novartis - Nutrition Research AG, Quintiles East Asia Ple. Ltd., Self
Sustaining Units, UNAIDS, UNOPS, University of Alabama and University of Pennsylvania.

{Due)/advanced contributions comprise as follows:

2001,
{1,698,151)
5.062.595
3,364,444

2000
(1,138,998)
2,996,533
2,857,535

{Due)
Advanced
Net US$

e
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6. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE - QTHERS

Advances to employees:

Investment loan 99,653 119,730
Festival advance 140,099 146,768
Others 103,135 148,535
342,887 415,033
e~ Operating ;advances s to:projects T T s Lo TSN 117582 - - 24,780
Advances to suppliers and others 226,919 204,328
Deposits and other receivables 2,705

Us$ 584,093

7. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash in hand
Cash at banks:
Taka accounts
Current accounts 3,456 432,319
Current account (convertible) 24,932 39,080
Time deposit 620 651
29,008 472,050

USS$ accounts
Current account 59,388 1,093,633

Time deposit 1,885, 000 -
1,944,388 1,093,633

EURO current account 4,847 59,524

UKf current account 37,995 23,308
2,019,380 1,652,375

8. DEPOSITS WITH BANK AGAINST RESERVE FUND

Time deposit (Note 12} 2,004,000
Current account 3,408
2,007,408

9. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Supplies and materials
Expenses and other 2,483,166 2,217,566
Advance from Institute of

Public Health against procurement 32,800 837,378
Security and other deposits 71,997 62,278
Current account with

Hospital Endowment Fund 6,403 9,283

2,640,257 3,180,372

Hre
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2001 2000

10. FIXED ASSETS FUND

11.

12,

Balance as at January 1 4,888,025 5,148,717
Add: Capital expenditure cut of
Project funds 763,645 611,709
Central funds 150,521 47,505
Fixed Assets Acquisition and
Replacement Fund (Note 11) 78,429 -
5,880,620 5,807,931
Less: Depreciation for the vear 963,964 919,906

Transferred to Operating Fund (Note 13)
written down value of fixed assets
sold i2 -
uss 4,916,644 4,888,025

The fund reflects contributions from donors and Centre's expenditure for
fixed assets and is equal to the net book value of fixed assets.

FIXED ASSETS ACQUISITION AND REPLACEMENT FUND

Balance as at January 1 78,107 78,107
Add: Transfer from Operating Fund (Note 13) 322 -

Less: Funds utilized for acguisition
of fixed assets (Note 10) 78,428 —
uss - 78,107

The fund was established by the Board of Trustees in 1990 to provide for
the acquisition or replacement of egquipment and facilities. It was the
intention to build the fund up to an amount equal to the provision for
depreciation by donor contributions, by annual transfers from the
Operating Fund and by interest income on investment of funds in separate
interest bearing account distinct from the Centre’'s general and other
earmarked funds. The fund has been utilized fully in this vyear for
acguisition of facilities.

RESERVE FUND

Balance as at January 1 2,162,147 2,364,851
Add: Net interest earned on deposits 85,261 97,296
2,247,408 2,462,147

Less: Transferred to Operating Fund(Note-13) 240,000 300,000
Uss 2,007,408 2,162,147

The fund was established to enakle the Centre to attain better financial
stability and to enable it to retain a satisfactory level of work in case
of uneven flow of resources beyond its control. The fund comprises
donations, transfers from operating account and income earned on
investment of the fund.

Time deposit against this fund is under iien to American Express Bank Ltd.
to the extent of the Centre‘s overdraft facility of $2,000,000.

Hhe
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2001 2000
13. OPERATING FUND

Balance as at January 1 (3,356,244) (3,719,510)

b2dd: Deficit for the year after depreciation (773,073} (856,640}
Transferred from Reserve Fund (Note 12} 240,000 300,000
Depreciation for the year. .. . .- = —~eroro=-"= 0220963, 964 919,906 -
e “fPransférred from Fixed Assets Fund (Note 10)
written down value of fixed assets
sold 12 -

(2,925,341) (3,356,244)

Less: Transferred to Fixed Assets
Acquisition and Replacement Fund (Note 11) 322 _
Uuss (2,925,663) (3,356,244)

14, HOSPITAL ENDOWMENT FUND INVESTMENTS

Quoted on the Dhaka Stock Exchange (a)
Shares 100,673
Debentures 19,272
119,945

Government securities {(unquoted)
Bangladesh Sanchayapatra and Protirakkha
Sanchayapatra 217,710 172,980

Overseas investment (b)
With TIAA-CREF Trust Company FSBE (c) 3,471,565 3,633,505

Cash on time deposit and at bank 1,387,940 1,319,650
Us$ 5,160,137 5,246,080

(a)Market value of guoted investments on Dhaka Stock Exchange as at
December 31, 2001 $103,471; {2000: $137,519).

(b)Market value of overseas investment portfolio as at December 31, 2001
$3,471,565; (2000: $3,617,453).

(c)In September 2001 the Centre transferred overseas investment from
Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated, USA to TIAA-CREF Trust Company FSB.

15. HOSPITAL ENDOWMENT FUND 2001 20090

Investment Capital Account
Donations
Balance as at January 1 4,440,372 3,415,584
Received during the year 232,937 1,024,788
Balance as at December 31 4,673,308 4,440,372

Fund raising activities
Balance as at January 1 73,116 52,350
Net fund raised during the year 40,663 20,766
Balance as at December 31 113,778 73,118

Profit/(loss} on sale/valuation of investments
Balance as at January 1 284,734 261,104
Net capital gain/(loss)for the year (453,774) 23,630
Balance as at December 31 (1659,040) 284,734
(A] 4,618,048 4,798,222

e
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15. HOSPITAL ENDOWMENT FUND (Cont.)

16.

17.

2001 2000
Investiment Income Account
income
Balance as at January 1 1,183,348 1,075,658
Net income 91,351 107,690
Balance as at December 31 1,274,699 1,183,348
Less: Distribution to hospital
Balance as at January 1 726,207 526,207
During the vyear — 200,000
Balance as at December 31 726,207 726,207
[B] 548,492 457,141
Current Account With Centre {C] (6,403) {(9.283)
[A+B+C] USS$ 5,160,137 5,246,080

The Hospital Endowment Fund was established to raise money through
donations and other fund raising activities and to use the income earned
cn the investment of thogse funds for patient care in the Centre's
hespitals. fThe responsibility of the fund administration is with the
Director.

CENTRE ENDOWMENT FUND

Balance as at January 1 3,926,617 3,841,691
Add: Net capital gain/(loss)

on sale/valuation during the year {437,425) 167,332
Add: Revenue income {net) 49,000 57,594
3,538,192 4,066,617

Less: Contribution to project
fund (Note 5) 120,000 140,000
Balance as at December 31 Uss 3,418,192 3,926,617

The fund was established to raise donations from governments, their
agencies, foundations, corporations and individuals. The income earned from
the investment of these funds will be used in supporting new research
initiatives and provide a stable financial base for the Centre's ongoing
activities, The investment of funds is monitored by the Centre Fund Finance
Committee in USA. In September 2001 the Centre transferred overseas
investment from Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated, USA to TIAA-CREF
Trust Company FSB. Included in these funds are a USAID contribution of
$1,000,000 (market wvalue as at December 31, 2001 $1,262,555; 2000:
$1,422,821). The total market value of the funds as at December 31, 2001
was $3,418,192; (2000: $4,016,397).

EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT FUND

The Centre operates a retirement fund called "ICDDR,R Employees Separation
Payment Fund" for all national employees under an agreement with the
Generali Group of UK. During the year the Centre and staff members
contributed 14.8% and 7.4% of the base pay respectively to the fund. The
amounts so accumulated were remitted, net of employee settlements, to
Generali Group on a quarterly basis by the Centre. The Generali Group is
empowered to invest the fund available with them as considered profitable
by them and at the end of each calendar year the profits earned from these
investments are distributed among the staff members' accounts.

This accumulated fund which at December 31, 2001 was estimated at
$10,317,620 (2000: $9,280,189) is not reflected in the books of account as
it is not directly related to the Centre’s activities.

H’l"’ PRICE WATERHOUSE
RODA VASE CHOWDHURY & CO




18. MANDATORY COMMITTEES

The expenditure include an amount of $6,030 {2000:%9,606) paid as
honorarium to the members of the Board of Trustees.

19. OTHER RECEIPTS 2001 2000
— _ Laboratory -tests o= rm = STm S ST s = 736775097 © 405,670
Transport and equipment rental 55,013 58,886
Interest 35,598 11,462
Tuition and dissemination 15,435 27,842
Guest house and cafeteria (net of expenditure

$91,280; 2000: $136,850) 41,299 25,532
Miscellaneous 146,026 170,942
Uss 660,880 700,334

20. OTHER EXPENDITURE 2001 2000
Training and dissemination 173,947 223,601
Staff development and training 74,888 143,280
Contractual services 359,693 368,797
Other services 300,838 281,214
Hospital patient expenses 105,761 137,522
Bank charges and interest 3,626 34,616
Legal and professional fees 70,642 47,018
Uss 1,089,385 1,236,048

21. GENERAL

The previous year's figures have been rearranged and regrouped, wherever
considered necessary, to conform to the current year's presentation.

Figures appearing in these financial statements have been rounded off to
the nearest US dollar.

\M
Director M

ICDDR,B Board of Trustees

HY Wy |

fi0DA VASI CHOWDHURY & GO PRICE WATERHQUSE




S/BT/JUNE 2002

PERSONNEL AND SELECTION
COMMITTEE




BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETING
June 2002

CENTRE

FOR HEALTH AND
POPULATION RESEARCH

PERSONNEL AND SELECTION
COMMITTEE MEETING

e e

A
RSl R LT S VLTI TR T NI TR SR T T TN I R e (T TR R S T W AR T YR TS S S T S A R R SRR




3%]

PERSONNEL AND SELECTION COMMITTEE MEETING

Saturday, 8 June 2002

Agenda
Approval of agenda

Approval of the minutes of November 2001 meeting

Staffing:
3.1 Overview of the staffing status and total numbers by categories
3.2 Status of recruitment of intemational professional staff:
a.  Associate Director, D1, Clinical Sciences Division
b.  Chief Finance Officer, P5, Director’s Division
c¢.  Head, Nutrition Research Programme, P4/P5, Clinical Sciences Division
d. Head, External Relations & Institutional Development, P4, Director’s Division
e.  Operation Research Scientist, P4, Health Systems and Infectious Diseases Div.
f.  Health Economist, P4, Health Economics Unit, Public Health Sciences Division
33 Renewal of contract

a. Executive Assistant to Director, P1, Director’s Division
b. Head, Reproductive Health Programme, P5, Public Health Sciences Division

34 Information on new international professional staff
a.  Associate Director, D1, Laboratory Sciences Division

3.5 Status of seconded staff contracts
a. Demographic Researcher, P4, Public Health Sciences Division
b.  Senior Scientist, P5, Laboratory Sciences Division

3.6 Information on new Adjunct Scientists
a.  Adjunct Scientist, Laboratory Sciences Division

3.7 Completion of tenure at international professional post
a. Senlor Scientist, P5, Public Health Sciences Division

3.8 Reclassification of international professional post .
a.  Social Scientist and Head, SBSU, P4, Public Health Sciences Division

39 Change in status for international professional post
a. Associate Director and Head, PHSD, D2

3.10 Establishment of new intemational professional posts (to be distributed at meeting)
a. Deputy Director, D2, Director’s Division
b. Pathologist, P4, Laboratory Sciences Division
c. Grants Admnistrator, P4, Director’s Division

Promotion of Bangladeshi Scientists to international levels

Selection of members of the Board of Trustees

Any other business
6.1 Update on the ongoing Human Resources agenda




Minutes of the Personnel & Selection Committee
Saturday 10 November 2001
2:30pm
Present:

Executive Committee

POV RN, S U oy NS B
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Prof Maran Jacobs Chair of the Board
Prof Azad Khan

Mr Rolf Carriere Chair, P&S Committee
Prof David Sack Director

Absent (with regrets): .
Dr Ricardo Uauy Dagach

Invited: :
Division Heads, CFO, Acting Head HR, Ms S Nahid Sultana (Personnel)

Minute Secretary:
Mrs Judith Bennett Henry

Mr Carriere requested the Executive Committee’s approval of the minutes of the Personnel
and Selection Committee meeting of June 2001. Prof Jacobs moved; Prof Sack seconded.
He then invited Acting Head HR Mr Wahabuzzaman Ahmed to present the report of the
Personnel Office. '

Staffing overview

During the reporting period 1 April-30 September 2001, the Centre had 45 separations and
57 additions. Fixed term staff belonging to all categories increased by 12 — these were hired
mostly for -project positions. The Centre continues to follow the policy of restricting
external recruitment of fixed-term staff.

International staff by continent: As of 30 September 2001, Asia — 9 (38%); N. Amenica -7
(29%); Europe — 5 (21%); Australia — 1 (4%); Africa — 1 (4%); S.Amer ~ 1 (4 %). These

numbers include fixed-term, seconded and short-term staff.

Stafﬁng status by gender:

Total international professional (incl FT/ST/Seconded)  --24
Male --18 (75%)
Female -~ 6(25 %)

Total national officers (incl FT/ST) --173
Male — 133 (T7%)
Female : -- 40 (23%)

| Total General Services (incl FT/ST) - 932
Male ' -- 546 (59%)
Female ' -- 386 (41%)

Total community health workers - 19
Male -~ 6 (32%)
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Female _ - 13 (68%)

Tolai volunteers --72

Male - 1 {1%)
Female - 71 (99%)
Total trainees - 27

Male - 18 (67%)
Female -~ 9(33%)
Total CSA (contract) - 379

Male -- 120 (32%)
Female -- 259 (68%)
Grand Total 1626

Male -- 342 (52%)
Female -- 784 (48%)
Discussion:

Gender policy

- It was discussed that the Centre needs gender balance. This requires pro-active recruitment
and the commitment to set a trend and be seen to create a conducive environment. It was
.important to open up the recruitment process. A strong gender policy is needed.

It was also discussed that the Centre should institute a2 mentoring system for female
scientists. [t was suggested a public health fellowship to train female scientists in the

research field and provide on-the-job training.

New international professional staff

Head, Information Sciences Division, P3. Mr Peter Thorpe, a British national, joined the
Centre on 1 August 2001 to head the newly established [nformation Sciences Division.

Chief Finance Officer, P5, Director’s Division. Mr Stephen Sage, a US national, joined the
Centre on 21 August 2001.

Recruitment of international professional staff

Associate Director of the Centre and Head, Laboratory Sciences Division (D1). The
position was advertised in The Lancet, ASM News, New England Journal of Medicine and
the Centre website. Two (2) candidates-- Dr Andrej Welntraub and Prof Antoine
Andremont -- were shortlisted and interviewed. At the June meeting, the Board gave
approval to extend an offer to either one of the candidates. Offers were made to both but
personal and professional commitments prevented their acceptance. Dr G Balaknsh Nair,
who 1s currently acting Head LSD, indicated his interest in assuming the position. Cenlre
management will recommend to the Board the confirmation of Dr Nair as Head of LSD.

Associate Director and [ead, Clinical Sciences Division {D1). One (1) candidate was
shortlisted for the position — Dr Pcaray Ogra, who was unable to accept the offer until late
2002. Dr Charles Larson, a candidate for a position with the FHRP project, has indicated
his interest in the position. Dr M A Salam is currently Acting Head, CSD.
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Renewal of contracts

Associate Director, D1, Policy and Planning. Prof Barkat e Khuda's contract will end on
19 June 2002. He will complete almost 5 years of service as international professional staff,
The Centre recommends that Prof Barkat e Khuda’s contract be extended to complete six
years.

“The recommendation’ was noted by the Executive Committee and will be addressed in the
Closed Session of the meeting.

Head, Health and Demographic Surveillance Programme, PS5, PHSD. The contract of
Dr Peter Kim Streatfield will expire on 17 July 2002. The Centre recommends that Mr
Streatfield’s contract be extended by another full term of three (3) years under the existing

terms and conditions. Prof Lars Ake Persson made a strong recommendation for extension
of Dr Streatfield.

Director, ADG. The three-year secondment contract of Prof David Sack expires on 30
September 2002. He was seconded from Johns Hopkins University.

Clause 13.1 of the ICDDR,B Ordinance 1978 (Ordinance No. LI of 1978) stipulates ‘a

Director who shall be selected and appointed by the Board for a term which may be
renewable for another term’.

It was agreed that Executive Committee members would discuss with Prof Sack in Closed
session and subrmit its recommendations to the Full Board.

Seconded staff contracts

Dr Jozef Bogaerts, Senior Scientist, P35, Laboratory Sciences Division, will leave the Centre
on 21 December 2001. He was seconded from the Belgian Technical Cooperation. It was
not yet known whether the agency will send a replacement.

The - contract of Dr Robert Breiman, Medical Epidemiologist and Acting Head, Health
Systems Research Division, will expire on 21 July 2002. He was seconded from CDC
Atlanta and US Embassy Dhaka. Centre management will request approval of an extension
of contract and his confirmation as Head of the Division. Prof Sack reported that he had
made formal request to the Surgeon General for approval of Dr Breiman’s extension.

The contract of Mr Carel Van Mels, Demographic Researcher, Heaith and Demographic
Surveillance, PHSD, will expire on 28 December 2001. He was seconded from the Ministry
of Foreign Affairs, Government of the Netherlands. Prof Sack reported that formal request
for extension was submitted through the Dhaka Embassy and is awaiting a formal response
but initial indicators are favourable for his continuation.

The contract of Dr Yukiko Wagatsuma, Scientist, P4, Epidemic Control Preparedness
Programme will expire on 16 January 2002. She was seconded from Johns Hopkins
University and is expected to continue at the Centre.

Dr Abdullah Brooks, Scientist, P4, HSRD, completed his assignment under a secondment
from Johns Hopkins under the Child Survival Fellow Programme on 31 May 2001 and
commenced his new tenure as 2 Scientist on secondment from Johns Hopkins University
effective 1 July 2001 for a period of 2 years.




Completion of tenure at [nternational Professionai level

Dr AKM Siddique, Epidemioiogist and Head, Epidemic Control Preparedness Programme,
P4, PHSD, wiil complete 6 years at international level on 30 June 2002. As per Centre rules,
and as noted at the June 2001 Board meeting, he may remain under the policy of promotion
of Bangladeshi scientists to international {evel. Further to this, hie has attained the age ot 60
and under the provision of the Staff Rules, can continue on a renewal basis yearly until age
55. [t was suggested that an understudy be engaged for eventual hand-over of the ECPP.

Dr Radheshyam Bairagi, Senior Scientist, PS, PHSD completed six years of tenure on 14
June 2001. He was extended for one year under the poiicy of promotion of Bangladeshi
scientists to international level, as noted at the June 2001 Board meeting. He may be
renewed on a yearly basis based on satisfactory performance as well as availability of (unds.
not exceeding age 65, as per rule. '

Establishment of new international posts

The establishment of a new position of Head, Nutrition Research Programme, P4/P5, CSD,
is needed urgently to provide effective leadership to the ongoing and highly expanding
nutrition research, training and service activities of the Centre.

The post of Head, External Relations and Institutional Development (ER&ID), P2, was
established at the 1998 November BoT mesting. Following announcements and receipt of
applications, 1t was decided to postpone the process until the arrival of the Director to assess
the needs of the post.

[t was decided to rename the post as Programme Officer and seek an early recruitment. The
job description was revised to suit the nesds of the ER&ID office. Centre mandgement 15
requesting the Board to approve recruitment for the post.

Mr Zaman highlighted to the Committee the number of vacant posts in the list of established
international professional posts:

Director’s Division: Head, ER&ID (P2), Internal Auditor (P1), Associate Director (P4).

PHSD: Environmental Specialist (P4), Health Economist (P4), Demographer (P4), Maternal
Health Specialist (P3).

CSD: Assoc Director (D1), Health & Child Survival Fellow, [nternational Fellow.

LSD: Assoc Director (D1)

HSRD: Management Scientist (P4), Health Scientist (P4), Administrative Director (P5), St
Adviser & Head, HPED (FHRP) (D1), Operations Rescarch Scientist (P4), Visiting Scientist
(P4).

Selection of members to the Board of Trustees

Currently, all members are in place. However, the tenure of Prol Marian Jacobs as a
member will expire in November 2002 and BoT members should submit names of possible
candidates to the Director. When Prof Jacobs leaves the Board, a new Chair will need to be
appointed. '

Page 30 of 39




Scientific Promotions update

It was reported that the Centre instituted a new policy for Bangladeshi scientists to apply for
promotion to the international level. Scientists must be at least at an NOC level and should
submit their applications with CVs and list of publications to Division Heads who will then
make recommendations to the Promotions Committee following which the applications will
_be sent_for_external review. The process takes at least 3 months. There are currently 5

e

appllcatlons “under review. This’ pohcy ‘allows for -outstanding -scientists—to- ‘receive”

promotions, but it is intended for only a few.
Discussion:

Prof Jacobs asked whether non-scientific staff were eligible under the policy. She suggested
that the Centre look at the financial implications. It would send a positive signal to the staff
that their work is recognized as important as the scientific staff. She further suggested that
the Centre identify selected posts as key posts and provide salary enhancement.

Dr Sack commented that the current policy of Bangladeshi staff promeotion to international
status is relevant only if the scientist is able to bring in additional support through
competitive grants. Thus, this mechanism may not fit non-scientist positions.

It was discussed that the scientists who apply for promotions are screened not only for
scientific production but also for their skill in clinical or other professional services in areas
where the Centre is active. Evidence of scientific/clinical performance, training and
advocacy are some of the criteria by which scientists should be judged.

Prof Sack reported that Human Resources was 80% through the re-classification of posts. It.

is expected to be completed in several months. A new personnel evaluation system is being
reviewed.

Home leave policy

Mr Zaman presented for the Committee’s information, a revised home leave policy. The
policy states that eligible staff members will be entitled to one home leave every eighteen
months during their contract. In exceptional cases, home leave may be advanced with
approval from the Director, provided that the staff member has served a minimum peniod of
qualifying service.

Prof Sack explained that the previous rule stated that leave could be taken after 24 months
which was not practical for someone with a three-year contract. In fact, the new home leave

policy represents no significant change from the previous one except for being more
adaptable to the Centre’s situation.

Duration of Contracts

It was further noted that a 3-year contract was not a sufficient timeframe for developing
programmes or for staff to settle into the programmes and build a strong base of interaction
with other related projects/collaborators/fellow researchers. [t was suggested that Prof Sack
review the issue and develop options for career structure for next BoT meeting. Note: The
Executive Comumittee stressed that renewal of contracts should be submitted through
Division Heads who would then forward the approval/non-approval to the Director.
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Education grant policv

Dr Sack pointed out that staff members’ children attend different international schools i
Dhaka and these follow a different grading system which causes difficulty in assessing
eligibility for education grant allowance. He felt that the policy should be revised to make it
age-specific. The Board was informed that the staff rule was revised to state that a child
wiil be eligibie after the first full term that begins after the child’s 5" birthday. [t was
recommended that the policy be retroactive to | August 2001 to include the beginning of the
curreat school vear.

Salaries
[t was discussed that the Staff Welfare Association would be making the request for a salary
increase and the Executive Commiitee would need to consider this in Closed Session. It was

noted that the Board approved salary increases in November 1999 and November 2000.

On a closing the meeting, members agreed to move the presentation and discussion of the
Strategic Plan to the following day, 11 November, at 8:30am.

Draft resolutions of the Personnel & Selection Committee

The Committee resolved to present the following draft resolutions to the Board for its
approval:

8/BT/INOV/01

The Board approves the extension of the current employment coatract of Prof Barkat ¢
Khuda for the period 20 June 2002 to 31 July 2003 under the same terms and conditions.

9/BT/NOV/01
The Board approves the extension of the current employment contract of Dr Kim Peter
Streatfield by ancther term of three (3) years effective 18 July 2002 under the same terms
and conditions.

10/BT/NOV/0]

The Board approves the extension of the secondment employment contract of Prof David A
sack for a further term of three (3) vears.

LI/BT/NOVY/0I

The Board approves the establishment of the post of Fead, Nutrition Research Programme
{P4/P5) of the Chnical Scicnces Division.

12/BT/NOV/(

The Board approves the recruitment of Head, Extemal Relations and Institutional
Development (P4) rather than the P2 position suggested in the HR report.
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13/BT/NOV/01

The Board approves salary increases of 6% for General Services staff, §% for National
Officers and 6% for International Professional staff, effective | January 2002. The benefits
provided to IPQ staff should be consistent with the UN system and the total increase (salary
plus benefits) should be 6%. '

’“_.__...__—""ZT";FB’T/NOVIO]:_ _— — . i L o o et et n _"_l“_'. *

The Board approves the selection of Dr Rob Breiman as Head of the Health Systems and
Infectious Diseases Division, and Associate Director of the Centre. Dr Breiman is serving
at the Centre under secondment from the Centers of Disease Control and Prevention in the
USA. He will be equated to a level of D1, step 2 (see note from Prof Sack).

15/BT/NOV/01

The Board authonizes a three-year contract with Dr Charles Larson as Senior Operations
Research Scientist at P5 or as Head of the Clinical Sciences Division at D1 level (see note
from Prof Sack).

Notation: The Board notes that several Bangladeshi scientists have applied for an
international position under the Bangladeshi Scientists to International Level Policy, and
further notes that it was not possible to complete the evaluation of these applications prior to
the November meeting. The Board is willing to evaluate these applications using electronic

‘media prior to the next meeting of the Board in order to speed the process of promotion as
needed.

|
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Overview of the staffing situation

There were 69 separations and 43 additions during this reporting period (October 01, 2001 -
March 31, 2002). The total number of Centre fixed-term staff belonging to all categories thus
decreased by 26 as shown in Table 1 below. The net separations of 26 were mostly for the
project positions. The Centre however, continues to follow the policy of restricting external
recruitment of fixed-term staff as far as practical.

Table 1

OVERVIEW OF STAFFING SITUATION
October 2001 — March 2002

Separations/Additions of Staff

Restricted Unrestricted Net Change
Sep Add Sep Add

International

Research
{Scientific
Support & Field)

Research
(Administration)

Administration & | -- - - +3 - +3 +3
Human Resources

Finance -- -- (1) +1 (O +1 -

(57) +35 | (12)  +8 (69)  +43 26

Net separation : 26




BOT/P&S/Jun 2002

ICDDR,B

OVERVIEW OF THE
STAFFING STATUS

T CFT Core filided = T = = T T
PF - Project funded

Functional Area

-International
Professional staff

-Research
(Scientific, Support
& Field)

_Research
(Administration)

-Support Services & Human Resources

-Finance

Sub Total

-Interr;ational
Seconded Staff

-Short term staff
(Int'l, NO & GS)

-Community Health Worker

Sub Total

Health Worker

Fellows
Contractual Service Holder

Daily Wagers

GRAND TOTAL




Table-2
BOT/P&S/Tun 2002

NUMBER OF FIXED-TERM UNRESTRICTED,
RESTRICTED & INTERNATIONAL PROFESSIONAL STAFF

Functional Area 2001 2001 2002

(Mar 31) (Sept 30) (Mar 31)
Unrestricted 465 468 464
Restricted 630 637 615
International 13 15 13
Professional

Total 1108 1120 1094




Table-3
BOT/P&S/Jun 2002

_STAFFING STATUS

FIXED-TERM -

s arch 31, 2002

Location

nternational Professional
Fixed Short
Term Term Secopded

Director's Division

-Director’s Office
-Human Rescurces
-Finance

-ER&ID

-Support Services
-SWA

Public Health
Sciences Division

Clinical Sciences
Division

. Laboratory Sciences
- Division

Health Systemns and
Infectious Diseases
Division

Information Sciences
Division

Total




STAFFING STATUS

Table-4
BOT/P&S/Tun 2002

(SECONDED, SHORT-TERM, CHWs & HEALTH WORKERS)

As of March 31, 2002
Sl Location Seconded Short-term CHWs Total HW
No. Staff "
Director’s Division 1 1 - - - 2 -
2. Public Health 4 - - - 18 22 -
Sciences Division :
3. (Clinical Sciences - - - - - 1 92
Division '
4, Laboratory Sciences - - - - - - -
Division
5. Health Systems and 1 - - - - - -
Infectious Diseases
Division
6. Information Sciences - 1 - - - i -
Division
Total 6 2 - - 1R 26 92

NO :National Officer
GS  : General Services

CHW : Community Health Worker

HW : Health Worker




FIXED-TERM

LIST OF INTERNATIONAL PROFESSIONAL STAFF

As of March 31, 2002

BOT/P&S/Jun 2002

Sk
No.

Name

Country

Job Title

Contract
Start Date

ijContract
{.End Date

1.

ARIFEEN, Dr. Shams El

BAIRAG]I, Dr. Radheshyam

BENNETT HENRY, Ms Judith G.

BHUIYA, Dr. Abbas Uddin
BLUM, Dr. Lauren S.
HILL, Ms. Diann M.
ISLAM, Dr. Sirajul

KHUDA, Dr. Barkat-e-
KILLEWO, Prof. Japhet Z. J.

NAIR, Dr. Gopinath Balakrish

PERSSON, Prof. Lars Ake

Bangladesh
Bangladesh
Trinidad & Tobago
Bgng]adcsh

USA

USA

Bangladesh

Bangladesh
Tanzania

India

Sweden

Head, Child Health Programme
Demographer
Executive Assistant to Director

Social Scientist

Anthropologist

Head, Human Resources
Environmental Microbiologist

Associate Director and Head,
Policy & Planning

. Head, Reproductive Health

Programme
Associate Director and Head, LSD

Associate Director and Head,
PHSD

* ser Policy of promotion of Bangladeshi Scientists to International Level

21.11.2000
15.01.1998
01.10.1999
01.047.1594
23.01.2000
30.04.2000
01.07.2001

01.08.1997
27.10.1999

09.04.2000

01.03.1999

20.11.2003

,130.06.2002 *

l30L09.2002

31.12.2004 *

1122.01.2003

1| 29.04.2003

i 30.06.2004 *

31.07.2003

‘1 26.10.2002

12.12.2004

i

28.02.2005




contd..... Tahle-5

BOT/P&S/Jun 2002
LIST OF INTERNATIONAL PROFESSIONAL STAFF
As of March 31, 2002
FIXED-TERM :
SL Name Country Joh Title Pay Contract Contract
No. Levél Start Date End Date
12. SIDDIQUE, Dr. A . K. M Bangladesh Epidemiologist P4 01.07.1996 30.06.2003*
13. STREATFIELD, Dr. Peter K. Australia Head, Population Sciences P35 18.07.1999 17.07.2005
Programme
14. SAGE, Mr. Stephen L. USA Chief Finance Officer P5 21.08.200! 20.08.2004
153. THORPE, Mr. Peter UK Head, Information Sciences P5 : (1.08.2001 31.07.2004
* per Policy of promotion of Bangladeshi Scientists to International Level
Table-6
BOT/P&S/Jun 2002
SHORT-TERM
S1. Name : Country Job Title Pay Contract Contract
No. Level Start Date End Date
1. ALAM, Dr. A N. Bangladesh Head, Training & Education Dept. P4 (1.05.96 29.03.2003
2. BROOKS, Ms. Vanessa J. USA Grants Administrator P4 01.10.97 31.03.2002

I



LIST OF SECONDED STAFF

As of March 31, 2002

[

|
N
4

i

|

'{ Table-7
BOT/P&S/Jun 2002

1

bi
!

4

!
|

Name

Country

Job Title

Contract
Start Date

Contract
End Date

Seconding
Institution

BREDMAN, Dr. Robert F.
BROOKS, Dr. W. Abdullah
DIELTIENS, Dr. Greet

MELS, Mr.Carel T. van

SACK, Dr. David A.

WAGATSUMA, Dr. Yukiko

USA

USA

Bel éium
Netherlands

USA

‘Japan

Centre for Disease Controi
The Johns Hopkins University

Belgian Technical Cooperation

Associate Director & Head, HSID
Scientist

Technical Advisor

Demographic Researcher
Director

Scientist.-

The Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs

01.08.2000
01.07.2001
09.01.2001
29.12.1999
01.10.1999

17.01.2000

09.07.2004
30.06.2003
08.01.2004
0 1..07.2002
30.09.2005

31.12.2002

1

C_bC/US Embassy
4




Table-8

BOT/P&S/Jun 2002
LIST OF ADJUNCT SCIENTIST
As of March 31, 2002
St Name Country Job Title Contract Contract
No. Start Date End Date
1. BAQUI, Dr. Abdullah H. BANGLADESH Adjunct Scientist 01.07.2001 30.06.2004
2. TAKEDA, Prof. Yoshifumi JAPAN Adjunct Scientist 14.02.2002 13.02.2005
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A—

3.2 Status of Recruitment of International Professional Staff

Agenda 3.2a Associate Director, D1, Clinical Sciences Division

After the November 2001 Board of Trustees meeting, it was decided that Dr. Charles P.
Larson would be offered the position of the Senior Operations Research Scientist at pay level
P5 (Resolution 15/BT/Nov/01). As such a farther decision was made to re-advertise the
position of the Associate Director, Clinical Sciences Division at pay level D1. This was done
and as of now 9 (nine) applications have been received including 3 (three} from within the
division itself. These are being scrutinized and a report on this recruitment will be made
during the meeting. In the meantime — Dr. M. A. Salam, Chief Physician is acting against this
post and has been receiving the acting allowance since 01 October 2001.

Agenda 3.2b Chief Finance Officer, PS, Director’s Division

On 15 April 2002, Mr. Stephén E. Sage, Chief Finance Officer announced that he will not be
able to continue with his services at the Centre beyond mid-September next, for family
reasons. This announcement has thus, necessitated an immediate search for his replacement.
The post was advertised on 27 April 2002 in The Economist, SEEK Communication, Drum
Beat Magazine website and the ICDDR,B website. - The closing date for the advertisement is
27 May 2002. The status of this recruitment will be reported during the meeting.

Agenda 3.2¢ Head, Nutrition Research Programme, P4/P5
Clinical Sciences Division

As per BOT resolution 11/BT/Nov/01 the position of the Head, Nutrition Research
Programme, at pay level P4/P5 of the Clinical Sciences Division was announced in various
journals and websites. As a result, a total of 7 (seven) applications have been received.




Agenda 3 BOT/P&S/Jun 2002

3.2 Status of Recruitment of International Professional Staff

Agenda 3.2d Head, External Relations & Institutional Development., P4
Director’s Division

As per resolution (12/BT/Nov/01) of the November 2001 BOT meeting, the reclassified post
of the Head, Extemal Relations & Institutional Development under the Director’s Division
was advertised at pay level P4. This announcement resulted in a total of 28 (twenty eight)
responses. The applications are being reviewed for short-listing and the status of this
recruitment will be provided during the Board meeting. In the meantime, Dr. Ishtiaque A.
Zaman who has been acting in this position since 01 October 2001 has been granted the

acting allowance at pay level P4 effective 01 January 2002 which will end on 30 September
2002.

Agenda 3.2e Operations Research Scientist, P4, Family Health Research Project
Health Svstems and Iofectious Diseases Division

This established position of the Operations Research Scientist at pay level P4 for the Family
Health Research Project was announced after the November 2001 BOT meeting in all the
leading journals and through other established channels of Centre’s recruitment process.
There have been 3 (three) responses which are being scrutinized for interview and
finalization.

Agenda 3.2f Health Economist, P4, Health Economics Unit
Public Health Sciences Division

At the request of the Public Health Sciences Division, the established position of the Health
Economist to head its Health Economics Unit at pay level P4 has been announced in the
Economist and the Lancet and through other standard vacancy announcement procedures
including the various websites. The closing date for the advertisement is 27 May 2002.
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3.3 Renewal of Contracts

Agenda 3.3a Executive Assistant to Director, P1, Director’s Division

Mrs. Judith G. Bennett Henry who joined the Centre on 01 October 1999 as the Executive
Assistant to the Director on a three years contract will have completed her tenure of service
on 30 September 2002.

Discussions regarding the renewal of her contract are currently taking place.

Agenda 3.3b Head, Reproductive Health Programme, P35,
Public Health Sciences Division

Prof. Japhet Z. J. Kjlle;vo, Head, Reproductive Health Unit, P5, Public Health Sciences
Division joined the Centre on 27 October 1999 on a three years contract. His contract thus
expires on 26 October 2002.

Discussions regarding the renewal of his contract are currently taking place.
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3.4 Information on new International Professional Staff

Agenda 3.4a Associate Director, D1, Laberatorv Sciences Division

Ags discussed at the November 2001 meeting of the Board of Trustees, Dr. G. Balaknsh Nair
was offered the post of Associate Director and Head, Laboratory Sciences Division at pay
level D1. He accepted the appointment and joined his new assignment effective 13 December
2001 for a period of three years. '

This is for the information of the Board.
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3.5 Status of seconded staff contracts

Apenda 3.5a Demographic Researcher, P4, PHSD

The current secondment employment contract of Mr. Carel T. van Mels, Demographic
Researcher of the Health and Demographic Surveillance Unit of the Public Health Sciences
Division, from the Government of the Netherlands, will expire on 02 July 2002. The Centre
is expecting the finalization of a secondment agreement with the Netherlands
Interdisciplinary Demographic Institute (NIDI) to be completed shortly.

Agenda 3.5b Senior Scientist, PS5, LSD

Dr. Jozef Bogaerts who was on secondment from the Belgian Administration for
Development Cooperation left the Centre in December 2001 after five years of service.
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3.6 Information on new Adjunct Scientists

Agenda 3.6a Adjunct Scientist, LSD

In line with the Adjunct Scientists policy, the Centre has offered a contract to Prof.
Yoshifumi Takeda, Professor Emeritus, Faculty of Human Life Sciences, Jissen Women's
University, Tokyo, Japan and a former member of the Board of Trustees, for collaborative
studies, initially with the Laboratory Sciences Division of the Centre; for a period of three
years effective 14 February 2002.
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3.7 Completion of tenure at international professional posts
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Agenda 3.7a Senior Scientist. PS, Public Health Sciences Division

Dr. Radheshyam Bairagi, currently on contract under the policy of promotion of Bangladeshi
Scientists to international level, will be leaving the Centre upon completion of his contract 30
June 2002.

This is for the info_rmation of the Board.
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3.8 Reclassification of international professional post

Agenda 3.8a Soctal Scientist and Head, SBSU, P4, PHSD

Dr. Abbas U. Bhuiya was hired as a Social Scientist, P4 in 1994. Then in July 1998, he was
designated as the Head of the Social and Behavioral Sciences Programme (SBSP), which at
the time was a P5 level post. However, Dr. Bhuiya remained at a P4 level and subsequently
was made acting Head of the Health Economics Programme after the departure of its Head.

In addition to being a productive and innovative scientist in the field of public health and -
social aspects on health and disease, he has been managing all these units very effectively in
addition to his own Chakoria Community Health Project.

As such, it is recommended that the current post of the Social Scientist and Head, Social and
Behavioural Sciences Unit at pay level P4, be approved for reclassification to pay level P5.
The Centre also requests that in recognition of the highly satisfactory services rendered by
Dr. Abbas U. Bhuiya be appointed to the reclassified post (up to the end of his present
contract) under the policy of promotion of Bangladeshi Scientists to international levels,
which he presently holds.

Draft resolution:

The Board resolves to approve the Centre's request to reclassify the post of the Social
Scientist and Head, Social and Behuvioural Sciences Unit, PHSD at pay level P53, and the
appointment of Dr. Abbas U. Bhuiya to the reclassified post.
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3.9 Change in status for international professional post
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Agenda 3.9 Associate Director and Head, PHSD

In recognition of Professor Lars Ake Perrson leadership and scientific productivity to the

Centre and the Division, his contract was renewed for up to three years at a D2, step 4 level.
This was made effective on 1 March 2002.




Agenda 3 BOT/P&S/Jun 2002

3.10 Llst of established international professional posts

Job Date Post Current Abolish Other
Division Title Grade | Established ' Incumbant Post Action
Director's Div | Director ADG Jan-82 Dr David A Sack Retain
Asseciate Pirector and el Policy & Planning 3] Jui-00 Dr Barkal-c-Khuda TBI}
Head, Human Resources 78] Apr-00 M3 Diann M Hill Retain
Chief Finance Officer PS5 Sep-88 Mr Stephen E Sage Retain
Head, External Relations and [nstitutienal Development P4 Nov-01 Vacani Retain Currently Recruiting
Execulive Assistant to Dircclor Pl Jan-82 Ms Judith G Bennet Henry Retain
Internal Audinor 1 Nov-9§ Vacant Abolish THD
PH3D Associale Director and Head. PHSD D2 Jan-82  |Prof Lars Ake Persson Retain
Head. Population Sciences Programme Ps Now-95  |Dr Kim S Sereatficld Retain
Head. Reproductive Health Programme Ps Jul-97 Prof Japhet J Killewo Retain
Demowraphes Ps lan-§9 Dr R Bairagi Abalish Al retirement or at <nd of contragt
Scientist P4 Jan060  |Dr Lauren S Blum Retain
E pideniolouist P4 Jul-96 Dr AKM Siddicrue Abolish Al retirement or at end of contragt
Social Scientist. Head. SBSU P4 Ju-94  |Dr Abbas Bhuiva Reclassify at P$
Head. Child Health Programme P4 Nov-00  |Dr Shams El Arifeen Retain
Emvizonmental Specialist P4 Jun-97 Vacant Abalish
Health Economis! P4 Jan-57  [Vacani Relain Currenily Recruiting
Demaouranhicr Resemcher P4 Dec-99 Vacant .‘\bolilsh
SMateroal Health Specialist 3 Cut-94 Vacant Abolish
CSD Associate Director and Head, CSD D1 Jan-82 Vacant Retain Currently Recruiting
Head. Notrition Rescarch Programme P4/S Nov-01  |Vacant Retain Cuzrenily Recruiling
LD Associate Director and Head. 1L.SD o)} Jan-82  |Dr G B Nair Retain
Seniof Scientisl 1’3 Jun-96 Vacanl Abolish
Rescarch Micaohiolowist i8] Jul-§2 Vacan Abolish
HSID Associate Director and Head. HSIRD D1 Nov-0i  |Dr Rebent F Breiman Retain
Sr. Overations Rescarch Scientist PS5 Nov-01  |Dr. Charles Larson Retain
Ouerations Research Scientist P4 Feb-89  [Vacant Retain Recruiting
ISD Head. ISD P Aug-01  |Mr Peter Thorne Retain
Head, Training & Edu, Deof, (ST) P4 Mav-56 D1 AN Alam Retain
Job Dute Post
New Posts* Title Grade | Estahlished
Director's Deputy Directar D2 Ocl-97
Grants Administralor P4 Oct-97
LSD Pathologist P4 Jun-02

* Based on the availability of funds
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4.0 Promotion of Bangladeshi Scientists to international level

As reported in the November 2002 Board meeting, four scientists have applied for promotion
to international level. Their applications were sent for extemal review and recommendations
for promotions will be made at the Board meeting. '

A copy of each candidate’s application package along with the external review results will be
available at the meeting. A copy of the policy for the Promotion of Bangladeshi Scientist to
international level is included.
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Selection of members of the Board of Trustees

Action Required

I To consider replacement of 1 Board member: Prof Marian E Jacobs
2. To reappoint: Dr Ricardo Uauy Dagach and Dr Tikki Pang

NOMINATIONS FOR TRUSTEES — JUNE 2002

Developing Country:-

Dr Zemn El Abdeen Abdul Rahim Karrar (Sudan)
Dr Samia Ahmed Gumaa (Sudan)

Dr Nahid Kamel (Egypt)

Dr Farida Mohammed A Al Awadi (Kuwait)
Prof Chitr Sitthi-Amorn (Thailand)

L
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LIST OF BOARD MEMBERS
WITH NATIONALITY, DISCIPLINE, JOINING AND ENDING DATES
L TomTmm Tz womem o n(As at June 2002) S

e

e

Name Country Discipline Joining/Ending date
Mr Rolf Carriere UNICEF Management/ 1997/2003
Int’l Health

Dr Ricardo Uauy Dagach Chile Nutrition 1999/2002

Prof N K Ganguly India Public Health & 2000/2003
Nutrition

Dr Maimunah B A Hamid  Malaysia Public Health 2001/2004
Dr Terence H Hull Australia Demography 2001/2004
Dr Nobukatsu Ishikawa Japan Social Medicine 2001/2004
Prof Marian E Jacobs South Africa Child Health 1996/2002*

Prof AK Azad Xhan Bangladesh Gastroenterology 1999/2002

Prof Jane Anita Kusin Netherlands Public Health & 2000/2003
Nutrition -

Dr Claudio Franco Lanata  Peru Nutrition/ 2001/2004
. ' Epidemiology ‘

Prof Tikki Pang WHO Infectious Disease,  1999/2002
Research & Policy ;

Vacant _ Bangladesh (GoB)  Civil Servant 2002/
Mr M Fazlur Rahman Bangladesh tGoB) Civil Servant 2001/
Prof David A Sack | USA Infectious Diseases 1999/
Dr Marcel Tanner ASwitzerland Tropical Medicine  2001/2004

Prof Carol Vlassoff Canada Public Health 1998/2004*
Trop. Diseases

Dr I Kaye Wachsmuth USA Public Health & Sci. 2001/2004

*Unable to serve another term without a break




Target membership: |1 members at large
3 GoB
1 Director, [CDDR.B
1 UN
1 WHO
Total: 17 members
Current composition:
Developed Country Region

David A Sack (USA) Director Nth America
I Kaye Wachsmuth (USA) Nth America
Terence H Hull (Aus) Pacific

Jane Anita Kusin (Netherlands) Europe
Marcel Tanner (Switzerland)  Europe
Nobukatsu Ishikawa (Japan)  Asia

Carol Vlassoff {Canada) Nth America
UNICEF: Rolf Carriere

Total: 8

Total: 17

Developing Country

AK Azad Khan (BD)
Vacant (BD)

M Faztur Rahman (BD)
Claudio Franco Lanta (Peru)
NK Ganguly (India)

BOT/June 2002

Region

Asia
Asia
Asia
S. Am
Asia

Maimunah BA Hamid (Malaysia) M/East

Marian Jacobs (RSA)
Ricardo U Dagach (Chile)
WHO: Prof Tikki Pang

Total; 9

Africa
S.Am/Carib

Of 15 (excluding WHO and UNICEF) more than 50% must be from developing countries
(including Bangladesh). Not less than 1/3 from developed countries.

As per above table:

8/15 (53%) are from developing countries (50%=38)
7/15 (47%) are from developed countries (2/3=7)

Gender: M=14
F=3

BD = Bangladesh

Ordinance 8 (3): At any given time, the Board shail be so composed that, not counting the
members nominated by the World Health Organization, more than 50% must come from the
developing countries, including the members nominated by Bangladesh, and not less than one-
third from developed countries. The Director shall be counted as coming from the developed or
developing countries depending upon nationality.
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Any other business

Update on the ongoing I-_Iuman Resources agenda
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Centre for Health and Population Research
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save lives and build a healthy futun’

Strategic Plan to the year 2010

By 2010...

}
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The population of the city of Dhaka will exceed 20 million and that of Bangladesh will be
aveut 154 millior.

Those over 60 years will mltiply from 6.8 million to 65 million, raising the elderly from
5% of the population te 26%.

Banglasdeshy will have had to vespond o at Teast vie major natural disaster.

V. dholerne 0139 will spreaid in epidemic mamer to other conntries in Asia and Africa.
Nunibiers of patients with HIv-A108 will begin an exponential increase with massive in-
crease in the burdent of tubercrdosis.

There will be epidensics of cheler, shigellosis, dengue, and inflacnza that will the assis-
tance of the Centre.

At least one wew conmmunicable disease that we do not curvently know about will be discov-
eved i Bangladesh for the first time.,

The health effects of arscuic will canse i hayge increase in cancer, diabetes aud heart dis-
ease rates il Bangllesh.
The vace between peverty ad Tiealth will vewsin i the balince and will depend on what

W¢ ({U How.

But by 2010, through the work of the Centre, in cooperation
with the Government and other organizations, Bangladesh can

lead the way toward a healthy future




ICODR.B: CENFRE FOR HEALTH AND POPULATION RESEARCH STRATEGIC PLARM

Acknowledgements

This Strategic Plan represents the collective work of the scientists
and staff of the ICDDRB: Centre for Health and Population Re-
search along with the members of the Board of Trustees, and
with inpui from donors. Many of the contributors may not be
aware of their inpul in the Plan since many of the concepts
were formulated during unofficial as well as official discussions
relating to the Centre. We appreciate all of these conftributions.

3




ICDDR.B: CENTRE FOR HEALTH AND POPULATION RESEARCH SIRATEGIC PLAN

Table of contents

it

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ... cerrrcsissniessesssnasnessssnssavssnsssmsasimssssrsssassn sssssnssessssssnssssssnsas 2
TABLE OF CONTENTS r.r.ooooovoeoesesersssssssresoseessmsecrermeesesersrsnsnssessssee R 3
FOREWORDD ..o eeeeciecerenerensraersssessasessnssssnesnsssssessassessassnt 49040 50140044904 4000400014008 4 04030000 saganasaness 6
MISSION, VALUES AND VISION..ccoirimmrenmrsincasmrsssssninisasescsssscssassrasssssrssssssntssssssisasss 11
1 RT3 (0 TR PO OO RPOSOt 11
WALUES .. otctteitteteeeeeteeteeasssssesssassseemes e s e am e et bbb e ab 1o 2o et am e s s caseeaenaae s s e es s en e sn s e anseaes et 11
YA o [ U U PP 11
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ....ccooeenvnimminnsvesssiossrorens 12
BACKGROUND ... cottiinirinieraesrssessssesssassssssssssssimnmmsssasssstasntsssirsssassntsssssssasssnsssanessassassssssasas 20
ORGANIZATION AND MANAGEMENT .....oonivriiinirsnmmnecsmmssmmssnmssnmssssssssssssssssessesasssnnns 22
BOARD OF TRUSTEES ...t cteeetieesiessteesneninssmie seemieas st et sss st sbbann s ba e be s ssmss bbb g s n e n e 22

FD 1A% £ [0 1S U O O PO OO PP PCUOPP N 22
Clinical Sciences Division (CSD).......cccocoiiiiviiiiiieciei i s 22
Public Health Sciences Division (PHSD)..............ccooiiiicii i 22
Laboratory Sciences Division (LED)........ccvvvveiiiviiiiiiiiii i 23
Health Systems and Infectious Diseases Division (HSID) ... 23
Information Sciences Division (ISD) ... 23

The Director’s DIVISION ... .c....oc.ooooi oot 24
PROGRAMMES . ...cuitiiititiotaiettese st tet s atatas b aast et be ettt eesame s s e e e e e e m e e nan s e e s e erene s amnae 24
CRIIA HeQIth ... et 24
Reproductive Health ...............ccociiiiiiii et s 25
INUFILIOM oo ettt a s et 25
Infectious Diseases and Vaccine SCIENCES...........c.cc.oivivivviviiininniin e 25
Health and Family PIanning SYSIEMS............ccccoveirrirniiieciciieisinianininisisissisasisscee s 25
POopulation .............ooooiiiiii e e 23

— INEW PROQEQMINES .. oottt be et 26

T U EXISTING ACTIVITIES ...ttt esie ettt ettt e em e 26
COLLABORATIONS ..ttt st ieamcnm s ettt s emes e e et 28
HEALTH SITUATION AS A CONTEXT FOR THE CENTRE..........ccviimiiiieieens 29
GLOBAL SETTING L.iiiiteiitt ettt sn et se s a e s es s e sa s sn e s s s s b 29
BANGLADESH SETTING.....iiiiiiiiiiiiiiii ittt eesstasssesesas st sisn s ss s e ssa e naes 32
COMPARATIVE STRENGTHS ....oeeietetrrereurrerseessereeeetessseassastessseasse s ssaassseesaessseesseesseesmansennseenes 34
TR FASIFUCIUFC. . oo ettt 34
Multi-Disciplinary Human Resources.......................... et e 30
Review Mechanisms. ... e, 30
Financial SYS1ems ... 37
Ethical Reviews ................ U U OO PSSP UR R 37
FUTURE DIRECTIONS ottt iciennissssnssiasamsssastesses st mess sssssasssassassssosrenentassssssrans 37
REVISION OF MISSION STATEMENT L. o et e e e 37
“LIFE CYCLE” APPROACH ...eiii ittt se e st sbe s s v et 38

3

T

T
B




ICDOR,B: CENTRE FOR FEALTH AND POPULATION RESEARCH SiRATECGIC PLAN

CONCEPFUAL FRAMEWORK L.oiiti it 40
PROGRAMME PRIORITIES ...coiiirrreeeir et e s s re s s s besssnn e e snessrns 41
CHILD HEALTH 1ttt ettt et e e 41
Problems identifled ... 41
OPPOFIIIIIIES (oo oo e et 41
Relative SITenGIIS | 42
PrIOFIHES o oo e 42
REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH ..oiiiiii ittt 43
Problems identified ..., 43
OPDOVIUILILIES .. .ot e 44
Rel@iive SIr@NGIRS ..o 44
PRIDFIIIES (oo e et e e et 45
INUTRITION ..ottt be ettt h ettt ab b2 e ettt ene s e es e eeennn e 45
Problems identified.........................occocoioiiiiiii e, 45
OPPOrtURIHES ... e e e 45
Relative Strengths ... e 45
PrIOFIHIOS (..o et 46
INFECTIOUS DISEASES AND VACCINE SCIENCES ..ottt ettt 46
Problems identified ... 46
OPPOTIURILIES (..ol 46
Relative SIFERGINS ... ..o 46
PrIOFIIES .o e e e, 47
HEALTH AND FAMILY PLANNING SYSTEMS ..ottt 47
Problems identified............................oi oo 47
OPPOFIUIILIES ... 47
Relative SIrengths ... 48
PriOrities . ..o J T 48
POPULATION SCIENCES PROGRAMME ...ttt e 48
Problems Identified ... e 48
OPPOTTURIIIES ... it 49
Relaiive SIFERGUIS ... 50
PRUOPTHOS ... e 50

TRANSLATION OF RESEARCH FINDINGS INTO POLICY AND ACTION ............ 51

NEW INTTIATIVES (..ot sessst e sesessa st ass st essneeessmeessseasanse senssessssssssssssssans 51
INTERNATIONALIZATION ..ottt ettt oot e, 31
MARKETING PRODUCTS AND SERVICES IN BANGLADESH AND THE REGION ..o 52
A NEW NAME FOR THE CENTRE ..ottt 52
FURTHER STRENGTHENING OF THE CENTRE S INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES ..oovon 52

Dhaka Hospital.. ... 32
Laboratory Services. 57
Urban and rural field arcas. ... S P URTPU PR 50
Information Scicnees Division (ISD) .o o0
Human Resources Managentent ... 65
Financial management of the Cemtre ..o 66
ReSOurce MobiliZation. ... 66
Centre endoWmemts e 67

Common institutional costs 67




ICDDR.8; CENTRE FOR HEALTH AND POPULATION RESEARCH STRATEGIC PLAN

Financial efficiency and reporting

MONITORING MECHANISMS FOR IMPLEMENTING THE STRATEGIC PLAN.68

_ANNEXI: A BRIEF HISTORY OF 1CDDR,B ettt s s s 70
ANNEX H: EXAMPLES OF COLLABORATIONS OF THE CENTRE......cccccccvnnninnnnns 72
ANNEX III: KEY RESEARCH ISSUES BY CURRENT EXPERTISE,
COMPARATIVE ADVANTAGE AND PRIORITY .. eiirceeereccercserssssnsnnsssessessessesonnas 73

LD HE A LTH oo ieeiteee e et eeeeaeeeeseeeeessserreaere et essssresasssssasasrass anabasssaseesaasns it et r b raaassansssss 73
REPRODUGCTIVE HEALTH .oooiiiieiiittiese e iseese e aeeeeaaseseasrera e rstananassranssnaastrasssannsesantsstisaeeses 14
N U T R T ON oottt eee e et e et ee et et esarsenaaaaesaeeeeeanaiaasteteaesan s et astbesssanasiaansssssasnantesssantasienttsesen 75
INFECTIOUS DISEASES AND VACCINE SCIENCES - eeeee ittt ettt it oe et e e sttt s e s et e ettt e e eenne 76
HEALTH AND FAMILY PLANNING SYSTEMS ittt iessits s s st ettt i s st e e 77
PO P UL ATION -t eete et esen e eseee et asee esese e st sesennem s ee e ee ekt re s aae e et temmeen e e e eeessrsestesbaasssennnses 78
ANNEX 1V: RESEARCH PRIORITIES, QUESTIONS, AND RELATED
INFORIMATION ..ivvrrissssnnnsssssssssssosssrsrsssssrsssrssnserererssrsssboiotaratarsrsstonsersttsiassssssssssssssssassssssssaras 79
LD HEALTH ottt sttt et ettt e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e et s s vaab bbbt e e e s 79
REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH ..ooeoeeiee et eesessssssssr s saar bbb baseaaaeaessssssmanannrresees B
NUTRITION vt eeeeee e e e e e e e s ereeee e e e e e ettt ettt e ettt eeeee e s sassstaresrassanrrsbbbsbbesresiesssesssssssssnssssnne 9O
INFECTIOUS DISEASES AND VACCINE SCIENCES ....ooiieecii e v v eeerae e e s esete e anaeansinnsasessennanes 96
HEALTH AND FAMILY PLANNING SY ST EMS oo ieiiei ettt ie st tserseses st e absb st eesieamara s aesesssnas 102
PO P UL ATION . oottt e e ee e et et s e e e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e e e eemmn e e s saasasess s b reennnsaas st rtassa sanaasianasaeeas 109
5




ICODR.B: CENTRE FOR HEALTH AND POPULATIOM RESEARCH SIRATEGIC PLAKI

Foreword

Injust a few years, in 2010, Bangladesh will be a different place
for the 154 million people who will be living here. It will also be
different for the other millions who live in other less developed
countries. The difference might be a rapid deterioration of the
recent health and population gains of the last decade, or it
could be a dramatic improvement in the survival, health, nutri-
lion. and personal developmeni. The ICDDR.B: Centre for
Health and Population can play a major role in making the dif-
ference between deterioration and improvement, and the dif-
ference will come about because of what scientists are able to
learn and how this knowledge can be used. Here are a few
examples of what we will know by the year 2010, and how this
knowledge can be used to make Bangladesh and the
developing world a better place for the children, mothers and
families of the next generation.,

Neonatal Health: ¢ will know the mfor cises of deaths during e first few davs of fe and will ave leamed

wiys to prevent these throngl treatment of fnfections, better elivery care, aud early breast-feeding.  we will then
share this kmowlerdge with others.

Nutrition Du PTCﬂHﬂHCY And Lactation: we will know the vower of rntritions foods mud micrann-
¥

trients for preguant and lactating mathers to improve the growtle and health of their childror. Based on this
totowledge, we can hely the govenmtents and developmsent partiers plan better prograniies.

Intnnization Dlu’fllﬂ Preguancys we will kuow if inonunizing prequant mothers with vaccines will protect

their infants from paccwmonin il neonatil sapsis. We aan e this knowledge to develop pragrammes in our field
areis aid eneonrage policy makers to considder this strateqy for wider apylication,
B - e A

Zine Slg{pkmznts: wie will bnow fiow to prodice easily sobdble zine tablets in conperation with a local phar-

mitceitical compatny, wnd will asxisl i ilistvibuctivg and popubirizing the wse of these tablets for chibdvon with cacl

episode of aenle ilhess o ns dinrthea i respiratory infection.

Super ORS: we will knew how fo prpare a betler »siper ORS” that inchues swili=secrefory propertics as wll

s rehydmli:m propertics. We will then assist others iw its preparation.
o i
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* Control ‘(y the Sth'PmldfmiC:‘WeiiH Teamhow b6 deal with “sth pdemic of cholera-and will assist:

other countries s Uey face this new pandemic

Anﬁlriaﬁc-stlsmt, Eﬂdﬁﬂlic Shggeﬂosls: we will lean: how to deal with a major epidemic of anti-

biotic resistant shigellosis and will assist other countries as they face similar eyidemics.

Herd Inmﬂmity For Measles: we will lnow how to improve the coverage for EPY vaccines, and espectally

improve the coverage for meastes vaccine in order to achieve herd inmninity.

New Vaccinesfor Inmamization Programmes: we will know which new vaccines should be troduced

into routine immunization programnes and wnderstand how to make this reconomendation.

Rotavinus Vaccine: we will kow if rotavinis vaccine will prevent severe votavims diariea in Buigladesh.

Assuming it does, we will demonstrate its public health wtility, expectivg it will reduce overall admissions for diar-
rhea byzat least 30%.

Equlty Of Rotavinis Vaccine: we will monitor the equity benefit of rotavirus vaccine since the vaceine
can be given to nearly all infants, even those who would not normally access treatment when they become ill.  Sinee

rotavine infects all strata of society, the vaccive but not all have equal access to treatment, the vaceine will be a
test case for equity.

qulﬂy Of Health nterventions: we will tuow how to moniior health interventions for equity characteris-

ties and will use this hmwh*d‘gc to prioritize new progravmes.

EﬂfﬂOfﬂX’%ﬂﬂC E. Colf Vacetne: we will know if n vaccine for enterotoxigenic £. eolf is effective in

preventing severe £. cof diarthea.  Asnunig it docs, we will demonstrate its public health wiiity with the eXpec-
tations that this will further veduce overall admissions for diarrhea by 200 (above that provided by rotavims
viccine}.

Eﬂﬂly }rreventable Deaths: we will know how to identify those common acute fe-threatening ilesses qj

tar RiN} iy
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facilitics; skills and resources are needed to prevent these deaths. we will hive @ model facility for treatment of

these: itheesses it we will e these a a toaching faclity.

IMCI: we will bnow if the 1M1 (integratod miiiegomont of childfiood iliess) approach is uscfl and effective,

and we will e our evabution of 1MCI to simplify and mprove ils dfectiveness i the treatment of sick children.

child Dzveloyrmt: we will kuow how to fmprove the mental and physical development ‘{ children thrmgh

stimulation and Detter wutrition.

ExXclusive Breast PEEdD}g: we will kiow how to influence fumilies to practice exclusive breast-feeding for the

first six months of their babies' lives with the goal of fmplementing national programmes for bresst-feeding promo-
tion.

Health COHSG([H!MZS Of Arsenfc: we will bnow the quantitative velation belween arsenic concentration in

drinking water and ilbeesses, and we will have tested strategies to reduce arsonic consonption.  with this buowl-
adge, we will know how to reduce the rates of these arsenic-related Miseuses.

oral cholera vaceine:  we will lnow how to produce i oral chalera vaccine that is fow cost and can be

readily introdiced fute cholera endemic areas, and we will share this kowledge witht others to prevest and redice
seasonsl pedks in cholera.

Case thﬂﬂmnt Of Denge:  we will leand how o improve the casc matagement of patients with se-
vere denge infection wsig oral relydration solution.  This improvement will have spectal tmportance lo mral areas
where 1V fluids may ot be available.

Fﬂﬁlﬂy Reduction: we will ko why the reduction o ferlility luss Teveled, and we will fearn what steps
will be weeited to veduce fertility to replacoment levels. we will wee this owledge fo- informe policies and pro-
qrnnes.

Micromutrients: e will bnow which micromcrients are needed and how 1o provide these throigh food fortifi-

cation, throwgit suplements, wd thronglt foeally aviadlable, wicrontrient-ricls foods,

Realth co eratives: e will have quined experience with “healtl cooperalives” s o way e provide com-
4 ) Y Vo)

wiaily-dlirected primary health serviees,
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RCMIg STD'S: we will have identified effective strategivs for wiyimizing spread of sexually-transwitted

infections through behavior change and treatment.

and we will know how to internipt these routes in erder Lo limit the Hiv eyidemic il ‘Ba:[glﬁdﬁ:h.

Treatment llf HIV-AIDS }Jﬂﬁﬂiﬁ: we will leamn Trow to nse anti-retroviral dngs, in coneert with volus-

tary testing and cownselling, to hely HIV infected peaple and to limit the transmission of the virus in this low
prevalence country.

Tuberadosis control: we will bow the e}:idﬂuiology of tubereulosis i Bmglaﬂcsh and will Fnow the ngi-

tude of antibiotic resistance where aid when mudtiple antibiotic resistance occurs.

Rigﬂ.d dkgmsis: we will kuow how to Aiaguose important connon ilhiesses (e.g. cholera, malaria, shigello-
sis) usingy rapid field tests, like dipsticks, and will be able fo nse these to carry out how cost swrveillice for these
infections.

'I'Tﬂ.blﬂg and out-reach: we will leans how to prepare electronically-based training malerials and Tow to

effectively wse then i cooperation with face-to-face, hands-on training, out-reach, and cousulting services. The
* trainingg will be conducted in several siles in Bangladesh as well as some additional sites fn the region.

Ing:roved mmmgmmt: we will have a management information system iw place with coordinated informa-

tion from fisance, Timan resowrces, and yrojects in order to fmprove efficiency at the Centre.
, ; prof y

Gowler EM’. we will have achieved gender equity at eacl level of the organization.

Fufure Le s we will attracl and develoy voung national scientists through structired programmes {o
y youtlg : ) aL'i|

heconte futurc leaders [nr the Centre and the intermational sricutiﬁf community.

Medical Ethics for DEVCW Countries: we will be advocates, providiug a voice for developing coun-

Uy institutions toward the discourse on medical ethics. we will continne to conduet scientific aml medical projects
it au ethical mamer respecting uationsd orns and nphelding intemational standards.

o s —
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Master Plan fOT the PhyﬂCﬂI Plant:  the coutruction on the main biibding will e complete wnd e

constrction of the office tower will be wnderway. The main building will Towse wew space for haspital pationts,
linbarataries, libyary and (raining, wid offices.

Al International Institution: we will contimee to Ve an inlernationa] contre with intermationnl aud Biilyj-

faddeshi staff sind scientists warkiu‘g sidde by sire.

Financtal SHMMMMY' we will be deficit frec, and we will have & Centre Endowment of US$ 10 nillion

it @ Hospital Endowment of us$ 20 million.

This is a long and ambitious list, but each of these are feasible
and redlistic if the Centre is able to secure the resources
needed fo complete the studies that are needed. Being a re-
search institute, the Centre hopes to create the new knowl-
edge to bring new ideas fo life, and to use this knowledge to
turn them info products and strategies that lead to better lives.

i
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Mission, Values And Vision

Mission

F U SO
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The mission of the Centre is to develop, fest, and disseminaie soluiions to ma-
jor healih and population problems facing the world, with emphdasis on simple
and cost-effective methods of prevention and management. The Centre
caries out this mission through caring for patienis and communities, ad-
vanced research, training, and communication, leading to policy and pro-
grammes.

Values

The Cenire’s guiding values are:

» Excellence and high ethical stfandards in science and service
Fairness to and respect of staff, patients, communifies and pariners
Gender equity
Responsible and efficient use of resources
Responsiveness to emerging issues.

Vision

The Centre’s vision is

» To be a premiere centre for global health sciences, aitracting the finest
minds from Bangladesh and other developing and indusirialized coun-
tries, to conduct excellent and relevani healih research, service and
tfraining. :

To remain responsive to, and be an advocate for, the healih research
needs of vulnerable populafions,

» Jo be o leader and o partner in national, regional and global efforts to
improve the qugaliiy of life in developing countries.

» To understand current population frends, and anficipate future chal-
lenges in order io plan for a brighter tomorrow.,




ICODOR.E: CENTRE FOR HEALTH AND POPULATION RESEARCH SiRATEGHT PLAN

Executive Summary

The ICDDR.B: Centre for Health and Population Research (The
Centre), and recipient of the first-ever Gates Award for Global
Health, is a maturing health research and service institution
based in Bangladesh, but with a global sphere of influence.

The Centre, founded in 1960, originally focused on cholera con-
trol through improving case management ond testing cholera
vaccines. These objectives required the establishment of a
clinical research ward and laboratories in Dhaka, and a large,
population-based field area in Matlab Thana. These facilities
have grown considerably since 1940, and the Centre has con-
finved to evolve toward addressing a much-expanded
agenda dealing with critical problems of health, population
and nutrition that are common in poor countries. While main-
taining @ focus on problems of the most vulnerable, it is also an
“institute for global health sciences” with its state-of-the-art
laboratories and data management systems.

As the Cenfre moves into its next phase, it retains many of the
features of the original institution, i.e. importance of excellence
in clinical research to improve treatment for patients with
common and severe health conditions; modern laboratories to
support the clinical research, while providing fundamental
knowledge about these conditions; and population-based
studies to understand the epidemiology of il-health while devis-
ing interventions.

The Centre has however progressed considercbly in expanding
its research agenda. Criginally focussed on cholera and diar-
rhoeaq, it now encompasses ¢ full spectrum of issues related to
child health, reproductive health, infectious disease and vac-
cine sciences, nutrition, population sciences, health sys-
tems research, safe water, and HIV-AIDS, Additionally, it
has greatly exponded its research tools to include disci-

...the Centre now eNCOMpASSES

plines of anthropology, economics, medical geography, ﬂﬁlﬂ Wﬁffmm Uf}’riﬂrﬂ}’

and other social sciences. In each of these “new" areas
of research, the Centre took into consideration which
aspects could best contribute to the overall improve-
mentin health for vulnerable populaticons.

A tenet of the Centre's approach is the interdisciplinary and
inter-divisional research in which the clinical and laboratory re-
search interacts with epidemiologic, social sciences, and
health systems research. Thus, findings from the clinical

health issues

studies can quickly be applied to field situations and the -~ the Centre takes ant interdis-

lessons from these field studies can be “scaled-up” into
programmes. Similarly, the observations from the field

c{plinmy and tuter-divisional

and programmes provide guidance for the clinical and ﬂjfjlmﬂCh to research

laboratory studies. Mechanisms for facilitating this cross-
disciplinary interchange include the Scientific Council,
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the inter-divisional Programmes, the weekly Cenire Scientific
Forum (CSF) and other seminars as well as working groups on
specific fopics. )

_Priority-setting at the Cenire represents o complex interaction
of numerous factors, but begins with the “life cycle” approdch™ ™ == === =
to define the different stages and the vulnerable periods in the
life cycle when cost-effective interventions are most likely to
improve the health of populations. Key factors in priority-setting
includes the mission of the Cenire, the relative strengths of the
Cenire in terms of its scienfific/medical and logistic rescurces,
global priorities by international agencies, interactions with the
Government of Bangladesh (GoB), and funding opportunities.
The Centre primarily attempts to camry out applied and down-
stream research but it does not shy away from using state-of-
ihe-art tools to provide a better understanding of the issues it
studies. For example, studies on cholera range from molecular
studies of the bacterial genes, o clinical studies on new treat-
ments, epidemiologic and vaccine studies, and economic
analyses.

Some major new initiatives which have recently begun, include
projects o a} evaluate the efficacy of the Integrated Man-
agement of Childhood lliness {IMCI), b) understand causes for
low birth weight and evaluate strategies for decreasing rates of
low birth weight and increasing survival, c) evaluate interven-
tions for neonatal mortality, d} develop strategies for reducing
matemal mortality, €) improve refermal systems for maternity
care, f) improve family planning services, g) characterize the
problem of sexually-transmitted infections, h) improve health
services at primary clinics for women with gynaecologic symp-
toms, i) camy out surveillance for HIV-AIDS in high-risk groups, j)
develop sitrategies for recognizing and managing severe
malnutrition in the community, k} develop programmes for zinc
supplements to children, 1) increase rates of exclusive breast
feeding, m) evaluate new vaccines for enteric infections {chol-
era, enterotoxigenic E. coli, and rotavirus), n) evaluate new
vaccines for respiratory infections {H. influenzae and § pneu-
mococcus, influenza), o) understand population dynamics of
Bangladesh, especially the slowing of ferility rate decline, p}
improve health equity and improve our undersianding of the
relations between poverty and health, g} improve the Essential
Services Package (ESP) in Bangladesh through operations re-
search, r).conirol morbidity and mortality due to acuie respira-
tory disease, tuberculosis, dengue, kala azar and malaria.

o o _ ...the Centre is the only iuter-
The Centre is international in character and is the only such
health research centre based in a developing country. It is  Hational health research insti-
international in several respects. it is governed by an inter- ; :
national Board of Trustees and is able to recruit professionat tute based i a demﬂ}ﬂng
staff from around the world. Global health priorities as well counhy
as national ones guide it. It publishes its findings in interna-
tionally-recognized, peer-reviewed journals, and its results are of

13
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international quality. Iis financial accouniing and its ethical
standards meet or exceed international standards. Trainges
come from around the world [over 20,000 irainees fram 78
couniries).

It is also a local institution. About 97% of the scientific staff are
Bangladesh nationals. It provides medical services to aver
120,00C local patients per year in ifs hospitals. and provides ser-
vices to many others in the community. It provides technical
assistance to the Government of Bangladesh and non-
governmental agencies {NGOs) in Bangladesh. Thus, the Cen-
tre qualifies both as an international and a national

organization. -...the ICDDR, B way combies research

The “ICDDR,B research way” charccterizes the
Centre's methods for research. Unlike projects
camied out by many other research-oriented
agencies who piggy-back their projects onto other's services,
most of the Centre's research projects ensure that participants
in the research and their communities benefit through provision
of medical services appropriate to the study being conducted.
Sometimes this results in projects that seem more expensive in
the short term, but the concept of "partnering” with communi-
fies results in long-term benefits both in the creation of new
knowledge and to the communities who participate.  And, the
Centre feels this is the ethical way to conduct research among
vulnerable populations.

[

The Centre is organized into five scientific Divisions and six
cross-divisional Programmes. Each of the Divisions has respon-
sibilities for certain aspects of the infrastructure of the Centre.
They host the cross-divisional Programmes, and they fos-

with Service and community partnership.

ter the scientific and technical research of their scientists.  ...the Centre hasﬁve Scientiﬁc

They also, increasingly, take responsibility for the financia
integrity of the Cenire by promoting and marketing their

divisions and six cross-

key cctivities and research. Thus, the Divisions provide divisimml’pr%mmmes

the administrative crganization for the Cenire. The cross-
divisional Pregrammes however, better describe the sci-
entific agenda by defining the scientific goals. These cur-

rent Programmes include Child Health, Reproductive Health,
Infectious Diseases and Vaccine Sciences, Nuirition, Population
Sciences, and Health and Family Planning Systems. The Centre
anticipates the formation of two additional programmes on
Safe Water and HIV-AIDS. Each of these programmes has a
"home™ in one of the Divisions, but are clearly Centre-wide in
their scope.

The administration of the Centre is managed through five of-
fices within the Director’s Division: Finance, Hurman Resources,
Policy and Planning, External Resources & Institutional Devel-
opment and General Administration. During the last few years,
fhere was some consideration for o complete re-organization
for the Centre’s management system, but after careful exami-
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nation of the opfions, a more evolutionary approach was ap-
plied. The changes in the former organizational chart include
the following:

LS

~____» Cregfion of the Division of Information Sciences )
= bringing 16gether-DISC! Zthe -Computer Information == the Centre believes cross- .
Services (CIS) and the Training & Education Unit divisional proarammes wroduce
{TEV) into a combined division fo better coordinate . Wisto MIP g J

fthe production, organization and dissemination of good science

knowledge at the Centre. '

» Establishment of defined mprogrammes to foster
cross-divisional collaboration.

> Increasing decentralization of responsibility for the scien-
tific agenda to the Divisions and Programmes.

A%

Direct reporting of Finance, Human Resources, and
General Administration to the Cenire's Director rather
than through a Head of Finance and Administration.

A theme of this reorganization structure has been decentraliza-
tion of authority, stimulating individual initiative while encourag-
ing cooperation and cross-cutting activities. Good science and
good programmes work together. and the Centre encourages
this synergy. Decentraiization implies that scientists and public
health professionals become increasingly responsible for the
defining the work of the Centre as well as generating the finan-
cial support for the Centre. The challenge is thus to encourage
this decentralization, while still maintaining the coordination
and cooperation needed for a coherent programme.

This Strategic Plan depends on adequate finances to cany out

the research, service, and fraining. Traditionally, the Centre has

relied on significant financial input from government donor

agencies of the United States, the UK, Bangladesh, the Neiher-

lands, Japan, Switzerland, Canada, Belgium, Sweden, Australia _

and others. Other funds have come from foundafions h o icted”
such as Ford Foundation, Rockefeller, and more recently - e Centre’s “unrestrictea”
Gates Foundation. Project funds have come from other ;ﬁmdmﬂ dro;gaed—fmm 50 to
agencies, foundations, companies, and significant fund- _ IR

ing is now coming from grant support from the National 0”1)’ 13% du”% the last 6
Institutes of Heaith {NIH) and the World Health Organiza- years.

fion [WHQOJ. Recenily, private companies such as UNG-

CAL have also provided significant funding.

Considerable changes have occurred in donar-funding at the
Centre in recent years. Firstly, because of a shift in donor policy,
core {unresiricted) funding has decreased dramatfically in fa-
vour of project funding. For example, in 1994, about 50% (or US$

t Dissemination and Informaiion Services Cenire includes the library, publications, and audio-
visual unit.

15
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4 million) of the total income was unrestricted, but this de-

creased to 13% (or USS 2 million) in 1990. On the other  ...the Centre anticipates an
hand, the total income incregsed from US$ 8 million in o, .. .
1924 to over USH 13 million in 1990, reflecting a marked in- ticrease I ﬂCflVlf)’ eqi“mmt
crease in project funding. Some, but not all, of the project  to US$ 1 million each year
funding included payment for common institutional costs?, s

bul many of the projects did not pay their full share to be over the ne)(tﬁve years
completely funded. (Not all donors have moved to pro-

ject funding; notably the governments of the Netherlands

and Switzerland have increased their funding to core.) In

the future, when the full level of the common institutional costs

is not funded, the Centre must identify funding sources from

core donors who are willing to co-fund the project. Acknowl-

edgement will be given to these core donors as co-funders.

Based on the projects being anticipated, the Centre will in-
crease its activities by about USS 1 miilion each year during the
next five years. The increase is anticipated because of the de-
fined projects that are underway as well as other projects that
are likely to start soon. For many of the new projects, funding
has already been identified. Thus, the annucl budget for 2002 is
expected o be about US$ 15 million and by the year 2006, is
likely to be about US$ 20 million. We anticipate that the
funding froem government aid agencies will remain stable

or will increase sorewhat, but that the majority of the ...thg_Centresendmwnents are

increase will be from research granting agencies (e.g. preséﬁﬂy mh(edﬁt about us$

NIH). foundations, companies, and individual donors. The T
Centre initiated programmes: “Circle Around the Cen- 9 million
tre” for individual contributions and "Corporate Sponsors

Group" for companies to support the Centre.

in addition to the annual income to the Centre, endowments
have been formed for the Centre as a whole, as well as specifi-
cally for the Dhaka Hospital. At present, the total value of the
endowments is about USS 9 million. There is currently a speciai
effort to obtain contributions to the Hospital Endowment Fund
(HEF), and with prudent investments, a goat of US$ 20 miliion by
the year 2010 has been set.

During the last decade (between 1994 and 1999}, the Centre
accumuiated a significant deficit of about US$ 4 million caused
by the rapid shift of donors from core to project funding, along
with the cost incurred to maintain hospital services in Dhaka
and Matlab. The Cenire was not able to adapt to this rapid shift
in donor funding as quickly as the donors were able to change
their pattern of funding. The unfortunate accumuiation of this
deficit has had considerable negative impact on the creativity
and flexibility of the Cenftre's programme. Since 1999, the Cen-
ire has balanced its annual accounts and has been able to

2 Common institutional costs are somelimes referred o as indirect costs.
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decrease the occumulated deficit, according to a plan  the coutre ahus to elimi-
adopited by the Board of Trustiees that year. By the end of
2001, the deficit had decreased fo less than US$ 3 million  Mate ifs deficit by 2010,
[reducing the deficit by 25% in three years). By the year ; o

= -~—-——2010,.the plan.is for.the deflcd to be eliminated. However, whil contuuung to cm’ry out
the more critical concern’is for the Centre to continue fo ”"Vlttﬂ T‘ESﬂErCh “and mmmgmg '
carry out its life-saving and scientifically-creative mission
while managing its resources in a responsible manner.

its vesources reyonﬂbly

During the next five years, the Centre will vpgrade its
physical facilities in several ways as outlined in the Master Plan
currently being developed. A new cutpatient clinic building has
been completed and this houses the PSKP3 clinic, as well as
additional space for the Centre’s Clinical Sciences
Division and the Nutrition Programme. Additional
physical changes include additional space for STD
and virology laboratories, renovation of the
diagnostic unit, renovation of the staff ¢linic and
the créche, renovation of other offices and
conference rooms, and improvement of the
grounds and gardens.

D
Egggi . s b f

The major project for the Master Plan however wilt
be the completion of the Centre's main building
in Mohakhali that will be extended to eight floors from its cur-
rent three floors. This expansion will accommodate the over-
crowded hospital inpatient wards, short-stay wards, and outpa-
tient facilities. It will also house a new. and expanded llbrory
new laboratories, -additional office space, expanded .

— e

training and computer facilities, and dining and activity d’le Cmm wil H}’gﬂﬁf its

facilities. A utilities building will be needed to house the phys:cal faahtws over the next
maintenance units and new electrical generation | ,

equipment. During a subsequent building phase, a sec- ﬁVE yt’ﬂ?’S

ond building will be constructed to house the addifional -
offices. This new building will replace several {emporary

buildings that have already outlived their expected life

by many years.

A .,.,,_

O

Some expansion will also be needed in Matlab to accommo-

date increased activity there. The Centre also owns a large of-

fice and guesthouse in Chakaria as a base for its fieldwork o

in this region, and it continues to own facilities in Teknaf. ...the Centre will futroduce 4
The Teknaf property is currenily leased o an NGO for @ yew lnoman resources mm,'ﬂgg_
nominal fee, but could represent an additional rescurce for . '

the Centre in ihe future. ment systent

Management of human resources will be changed during
the next five years. Originally ihe system has used the sys-
tem of the United Naticns (UN} as the basis for a human re-
sources system. This had the benefit of using an established and

3 Progati Samaqj Kallyan Pratisthan (PSKP), an NGO supported by John Snow Internationai (JS).
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stable system with tested personnel rules. However, the UN sys-
tem has had frequent changes in its pay scale, as well as its
rules and procedures that are difficult for the Centre to adopt,
and in some cases are inappropriaie. Also, the UN system fits
better with a civil service career siructure with a siable revenue
source rather than a research organization that must be

more adaptable to rapid changes in scientific and fund- ...the Centre will contine to

ing opportunities, The Centre’'s new human resources m},hﬂjm’ Smﬁdzwlo}yment

management system will be a hybrid of that found in the
privaie sector and a UN organization, but it will certainly

be mote merit-based, flexible, and market-driven, The
Cenire will attempt to hire and retain excellent staff and to be
among the best employers in Bangladesh at about the 75 per-
centile of the market, but it can no longer use the UN system as
its only benchmark.

Staff development has been a major part of the Centre’s pro-
gramme and this will continue in the future. A change in staff
development policies will be o gear the staff development
programme more toward the anticipated future scientific and
technical needs of the Centre rather than viewing staff devel-
opment as a “benefit” for long service at the Centre. The num-
bers of scientists with advanced degrees have increased, and
there will be G greater need for sabbaticals to maintain ad-
vanced skills rather than doctoral training o develop junior re-
searchers, as has been the need in the past,

The Centre has recently adopted new policies regarding the
status of the international level of Bangladeshi staff in an at-
tempt to retain the highly valued senior scientific staff. Previ-
ously, international staff members were limited to six years of
internationai service. The new policy allows such scientific staff
to remcin at the Centre at an international level, but with a sal-
ary that depends on the grants being raised by project donors.
It is anticipated that this incentive system will stimuiate produc-
tivity, will help the Centre retain key leaders, but will protect the
Centre from financial risk.

Some of the changes in the Strategic Plan will require modifica-
tions to the ordinance. The major change needed is a change
in the official name of the Centre. It is proposed that the name
be changed to Internationat Centre for Hecith and Population
(ICHAP), while keeping the same logo. The other major change
is to release the Centre from the reference to HR policies and
salaries comparable to the UN scale, since this is not an appro-
priate standard for a resecarch instifution such as ICDDR,B. Since
the ordinance is an official document from the Government of

Bangladesh, an amendment will require passage through Par-
liament.

Looking Forward

oo
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The Cenire has matured over the last 40 years and it continues

to look forward to a bright future. One might expect the job of

the Cenftre o be finished within the next few years, that “healih

for all” will have been accomplished, and that there would be

no need for.the Cenire to continue. - Unfortunately, this is unlikelyﬂ.._&ﬁ;
and the coming years will present even greater challenges '
than those of the past. In fact, the success of the Centre will

depend, in great part, on the ability of the Centre’s scientists to

forecast problems of the future, and to adapt to the changing

needs of Bangladesh and other developing countries. Some of

the new challenges that will certainly be important will include:

» Conirol of HIV-AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria in a chang-
ing environment,

» Rapidly evaluating new vaccines that may be useful for
developing countries in a manner thai will assist policy
makers determine their utility,

> Incorporating the newest molecular methods (e.g. ge-
nomics and proteonomics) into research that is relevant
for developing countries,

» Continuing increase in antimicrobial resistance among
infectious diseases,

> Adapting to a rapidly increasing population, even if fertil-
ity rates decline,

> Problems of an aging population with increasing rates of

disability,
» Health impacts related to urbanization and industrializa-
tion, ,
> Managing the long term effects from arsenic expo- | e
sure, ' b ‘
» Managing the increasing utilization of community clin- - ﬂ“ C‘Wt.,”. J §_hate§1c P%ﬁm
ics and maternity centres, y may invol\_re ia._cha'}lgegi_n the ;
» Creating a model for sustainable facilities for easily d e
treatable, common, acute life-threaiening ilinesses, orainance S

A

Adapting to new systems for providing health care,
likely to be increasingly based on self-sustaining, fee-for-
service and insurance systems.

The challenges of improving heaith in developing countries will continue
throughout the next century, and we expect that the mission of the Centre will
continue and expand for a very long pericd.

T
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Background

The Board of Trustees (BoT), at ifs June 2000 meeting, asked the
Centre 1o develop a Strategic Plan for the next five vears. In July
2000, the Centre Director set up a Strategic Planning Core Group
(SPCG}. headed by the Associate Director and Head, Policy and
Planning, and comprising two representatives from each of the
four scientific Divisions and four repraesentatives from the Director's
Division, to work under the overall guidance of the Centre Direc-
tor. The SPCG had a number of meetings, and finalized two sets of
questionnaires, one 1o be completed by the Principal investigators
and the other by the Associcte Directors and Programme Heads.
Subseqguently, the SPCG developed checklists to generate addi-
fional information and reach consensus on some maijor issues such
as the Centre's mission, vision, and priorities.

The basic approach adopted for the development of the Strate-
gic Plan included three stages: (1) siluation analysis; (2) formula-
tion of vision statement and future directions; and (3) formulation
of Sirategic Plan/proposed actions. The Strategic Plan deveilop-
ment process comprised: (i) major activities under each of the
above three key aspects, (i) methods and processes for accom-
plishment of the proposed activities, and {iii} timelines and respon-
sibitities for the proposed activities.

With the finalization and approval of the Strategic Plan by the BoT,
the process of developing a mechanism to assess the perform-
ance of the Strategic Plan would be initiated: (i) to examine
whether the Centre is on the right frack, {ii) to be responsive to
magjor changels) that could not be foreseen while preparing the
Strategic Plan, and (i} to assess how implementation of the Stra-
tegic Pian affects the institutional and financial sustainability of the
Centre.

At the June 2001 Bol meeting, the draft Strategic Plan was pre-
sented. Useful discussion followed, and the draft plan was modi-
fied accordingly. There was further discussion at the November
BoT meeting and the revised plan will be shared with the Govern-
ment of Bangladesh {GoB). Based on inputs and suggestions from
all concerned, the draft Strategic Plan wili be considered at the
June 2002 BoT meeting. A salient feature of the Strategic Plan is its
participatory nature, with the involvement of the Centre staff at
different levels, the BoT, the GoB and the donors.

Brief History

In 1960, the Cholera Research Laboratory [CRL) was created un-
der the Pakistan-SEATO agreement to study the epidemiology.
freatment and prevention of cholera. In 19463, a field site was
opened in Matlab, rural Bangladesh, and a series of cholera vac-
cine frials was initiated. In 1966, the Demographic Surveillance Sys-
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tem (DSS) was set up, and in 1968 the first successful clinical trials

of Oral Rehydration Solution {ORS) were completed. Indeed, the

CRL conducted research that now forms the core of the global
knowledge on diarhoeal diseases, and led to the development of

QRS which is now used world-wide for the treatment of diarrhoeal

diseases, and is estimated to save three million lives annually. The
—pioneering:work-of - the -Centre.in-ihe .development . of ORS has____
been acclaimed worldwide, and in June 2001 the Céntre re-
ceived the first Gates Award for Global Health.

in 1978, the Government of Bangladesh (GoB) passed an Ordi-
nance, making the CRL an international institution, and renaming
it the Infernational Centre for Diarrhoeal Disease Research, Bang-
ladesh (ICDDR,B}, hereinafter referred to as the "Centre”, Under
the Ordinance, an international Board of Trustees (BoT) was sef up
to provide overall governance for the Cenire. With the interna-
tionalization of the Centre, ifs focus broadened to include not only
cholera and diarrhoeal diseases but also family planning, fertility
and nutrition; and over time child health, reproductive health,
health systems research and environmental heaith. In addition to
conducting basic and applied research, the Centre runs a large
hospital in Dhaka caring for over 100,000 patients annually and
provides fraining to scientists and public health professionals from
around the world. Furthermore, it provides vatuable technical as-
sistance to the GoB and NGQOs. Thus, it has evoived from being
primarily a research institution to one that also provides clinical
and laboratory services, fraining, and technical assistance {Annex
| gives a brief history of the evolution of the Cenftre}.

Over the years, the Centre has attracted scientists from ail paris of
the world, including Bangladesh. This has resulted in a powerful
cross-fertilization of ideas and approaches, thereby contributing
considerably fo the productivity of the Centre. The publication re-
cord of the Centre {over 2000 scientific publications in peer-
reviewed journals and numerous working papers and other spe-
cial publications since 1978) provides evidence of the level of re-
search that is being carried out at the Cenire. The Centre has
irained over 20,000 health and family planning professionals from
78 countries in five continents across the globe, who have applied
what they have learned at the Centre in their own countries. In
addition, the Centre has provided valuabie technical assistance
to the GoB and NGQOs in Bangladesh in the design of a number of
important programme interventions. In short, the Centre has used
science and technology to develop solutions to maijor health and
population problems in Bangladesh, with global application. In-
deed, the work of the Centre is often cited as the authority for im-
portant health and population-related decisions taken by gov-
ermnments and development agencies throughoui the world. Also,
the Centre takes pride in the fact that many of its alumni are influ-
ential policymakers in their respective agencies.
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Organization and Management

Board of Trustees

A 17-member international Board of Trustees, comprising distin-

guished researchers, public health professionals, representatives

of the GoB and the private sector, governs the Centre. A majority

of the members are nationals of developing countries including

three from Bangladesh. The Board also includes one

representative from the World Health Organization and At international Board of Trus-
one from another UN agency. currently UNICEF. The -

Board is a self-selecting body, and members serve for te_esﬂovems the Centre
ihree-year terms, and they may serve for a maximum '
of two terms. While there is no specific geographic representation,

the Board has traditionclly represented different regions of the

word. The Board appoints a Director and approves the selection

of all staff at the rank of P5 and higher, including the Associate Di-

rectors who head the scientific Divisions.

Divisions

There were 1,117 permanent staff as of July 2001 including 12 in-
ternational staff. The staff work in one of five scientific/technical
Divisions or in one of four administrative offices within the Director’s
Civision.

Clinical Sciences Division (CSD)

This division conducts hospital- and community-based clinical re-

search in diarrhoeal diseases, respiratory infections, nutrition and

child development. The Division operates the Dhaka

Hospital of ihe Centre that provides treatment to gy scientiﬁc/techniml divisions
around 120,000 patients each year {about 60% of them ] ]

are children under the age of five] with uncomplicated  SUPETVIses the research, service and
and complicated diarrhoeal diseases, and associated
health preblems including malnutriion and pneumo-
nia. Prevention strategies such as immunization of
children and women, educction of mothers on prevention and
home management of diarrhoeal diseases and malnutrition, and
counselling to lactating mothers on exclusive breastfeeding are
also undertaken at the hospital. Provision of theoretical and
hands-on training on case mancgemeni of diarrhoeal diseases
and associated heaith problems, and research methodoslogy are
also important activities of the division.

Public Heaith Sciences Division (PHSD)

tmini%.

The PHSD is organised through seven units, namely, reproductive
health, child health, health and demographic surveillance, Mat-
lab health research, epidemic control preparedness, health eco-
nomics, and social and behaviourat sciences. PHSD evatuates and
tests community-based interventions to improve the heclth of the
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population, particularly of the poor. Major current studies include
integrated management of childhood illnesses {IMCI), essential
services package. safe motherhood, family planning, nutrition and
reproductive heaith interventions. The Division has broadened its
agenda by conducting research on low birth weight, fuberculosis,
arsenic contamination of ground water, and interaction of pov-
z—erty.and health-PHSD operates the unique Matlab field site.includ-
ing a small hospital and clinics and the Health and Demographic™
Surveillance System [HDSS) that has been running for 35 years
covering a population of over 200,000. The other field sites include
Chakaria, a remote rural area in the southeast coast of Bay of
Bengal.

Laboratory Sciences Division (LSD}
The LSD conducts laboratory-based research to adopt, develop
and use the best scientific technology to address infectious dis-
eases and related health problems of disadvantaged populations
in partnership with other divisions of the Centre and with national,
regional and international institutions that share ocur commitment
to maintain healthy populations. It has several state-of-the-art
laboratories including laboratories for Enteric and Respiratory Mi-
crobiology, Environmental Microbiology, Immunology, Molecular
Genetics, Nutritional Biochemistry, Parasitology, Reproductive
Tract Microbiology, Tuberculosis, Virology and Clinical Diagnostic
laboratories. In addition, LSD has taken up activities on HIV surveil-
lance, voluntary counselling and testing and other research pro-
jects for investigating the dynamics of a possible HIV epidemic.
Some recent discoveries involve the molecular and genetic
mechanisms for pathogenesis of enteric bacteria, increasing anti-
biotic resistance of enteric, respiratory and sexually-transmitted
organisms, immune mechanisms of amoebiasis, and changing se-
rotypes of rotavirus. The mandate of the Division is to apply high
quality science o alleviate diseases.

l‘

Health Systems and Infectious Diseases Diw‘sion (HSID)

The HSID, in cooperation with the Government of Bangladesh,
conducts community-based family health research in maternal
and child health, communicable diseases, immunization, nuirition,
reproductive health, and health-delivery systems. The HSID main-
tains large urban field areas in Dhaka and rural field areas in Mir-
surai and Abhoynagar where large-scale effectiveness studies are
carried out. Current activities include trials of new vaccines, fests
of nutritional interventions, studies on the appropriate manage-
ment of sexually transmiited infections, and epidemiology of den-
gue fever. The Division hosts the programmes on Infectious Dis-
eases and Vaccine Sciences and the Health and Family Planning
Systemns.

Information Sciences Division (I1SD) .

The ISD facilitates the two-way transfer of knowledge in and out of
the Cenire. The Dissemination and Informaiion Services Centre
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{DISC) provides library and information services o ihe Centre staff
and external users who have library membership and is responsible
for the production of the Centre’s publications, including the quar-
terly Journal of Healfth, Population and Nufrifion, two newsletters,
Annual Reporf, warking papers, scientific reports, and special pub-
lications. The Training and Education Unit (TEU) arranges national
and international courses on the clinical management and labo-
ratory diagnosis of diarrhoeal diseases, reproductive health and
family planning, child health and survival, nutrition, epidemiclogy,
and research methods. The Computer Information Services (CIS) is
responsible for maintaining and developing the local computer
network and for access to email and the Internet, and for assis-
tance in developing new software and applications, and data
storage and manipulation.

The Director's Division

The Director's Division provides the administrative and infrastruc-

tural support essential for the efficient functioning of the research,

service, training and technical assistance activities of the .« - ,

Centre. The Director's Division currently consists of offices  Th¢ administmtiveﬁ{nctions dare
for Policy and Planning, External Relations and "o 0 o . L.
Institutional Development, Human Resources, Finance, mmfd out by the, Oﬁm within the
and General Administration. The Director's Division also ‘Dirkétb'r’s-Di-vision :
houses the secretariat for the Ethical Review Committee - w70
(ERC) and ihe secretariat for the Asian Scientific

Conference on Diarrhoeal Diseases and Nutrition (ASCODD).

Programmes

With a view to better position the Centre to respond to the emerg-
ing priorities in the health and population sector as well as of the
doncr community and realizing the need for greater synergies and
coordination among the activities of the scientific

divisions, the Centre, over the last few years, has set , e
up several cross-divisional Programmes. These are: Six cross—dlvmarmlyrogmmmes help to

Child Health, Reproductive Health, Nutrition, deﬁne the research priorities, mldchili—
Infectious Diseases and Vaccines, Health and

Family Planning Systems, and Population. These tate m‘mnﬂ reseﬂmhfmm A bﬂﬂcﬁ”d'
crosscutting programmes are aimed at enabling ing to u_geﬁd knowledfie.

the scientists from one Division tc work closely with

their colleagues in other Divisions and to move research findings

from basic findings to their application in an efficient manner.

Child Health

The mandate is to contribute to the development of cost-effective
child health and survival programmes by enhancing the under-
standing of the causes of childhood morbidity and mortality and
by testing cost-effective public health interventions. Major em-
phasis is given to decreasing mortality during the necnatal period,

and to implementation of the integrated management of child-
hood tlnesses.
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Reproductive Health

The mandate is to address issues related to reproductive health
research with major emphasis on safe motherhood and reducing
maternal mortality, improving family planning accepitance and
performance, and prevention and freatment of sexually transmit-
... ted infections. Major emphasis_is given_to_including adolescents

———

Nutrition

The mandate is to improve the overall nuiritional status and ad-
dress other nutritional issues applicable to the population by con-
ducting relevant research and translating the research results into
meaningful action. Major emphasis is given to prevention of and
freatment of severely malnourished children, evaluation of micro-
nutrients such as zinc, and reducing the adverse consequences
from low birth weight.

Infectious Diseases and Vaccine Sciences

The mandate is to facilitate and focus on the Centre's expanding
role in the prevention and controi of infectious diseases relevant to
Bangladesh and other impoverished settings globally, with particu-
lar emphasis on epidemiology. clinical and laboratory research,
and vaccine evaluation. Major emphasis is given to evaluation of
vaccines for enteric and respiratory infections and conirol of {u-
berculosis, dengue, HIV-AIDS, and malaria.

Health and Family Planning Systems

The mandate is to conduct research relevant fo national health
and family planning programmes through identification of priority
problems; design, implementation, evaluation and replication of
cost-effective and sustainable interventions; and provision of
technical assistance that will deliver maximum health benefits to
the community, making optimal use of available knowledge, solu-
tions and resources. Major emphasis is given to supporting studies
of practical value to improving the Essential Services Package
{ESP). evaluation of government and NGO programmes, devel-
opment of evaluation tools, providing technical assistance, and
understanding issues of health equity.

Population

The mandate is to understand demographic frends in Bangladesh
and fo assist with development of policies and programmes that
will decrease fertility and mortality while respecting individuals'
desires and expeciations. Special emphasis is given to studies to
understand the levelling of the fertility rates at a level above re-
placement rates and to factors affecting increasing urbanization,
as well as the health impacts of the lowering fertility and urbaniza-
fion.

~and men'into réproductive health programmes™— = === =~ === Dm0 TE L LT
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New Programmes

The Centre expects to form at least two new programmes in the
near future including one for safe water and another for HIV-AIDS.
The programme on safe water will coordinate those activittes that
are involved with provision of bacteriologically-safe water, arsenic
contamination in water, and operations research related to provi-
sion of safe water. The HIV-AIDS Programme will greatly expand
the ongoing activities already started to confrol the impending
HIV epidemic in Bangladesh.

Existing Activities

The activities of the Centre fall in four broad categories: research,
training, technical assistance and services.

As of early 2001, the Centre had a total of 85 ongoing research
and technical cssistance projects. Tnese projects fall under nine
themes: nutrition, child health, health systems, emerging and re-
emerging infectious diseases, clinical case management, repro-

ductive health, social and behavioural sci-
ences, vaccines, and population dynamics.
The ongoing projects cover various topics, in-
cluding. for example, prevention, pathogenesis
and risk factors, ireatment and management,
molecular epidemiology, diagnostics, immune
response, effectiveness and impact; and
strengthening of knowledge, service delivery,
support systems, and financial sustainability.
The ongoing projects are divided into 12 major
types of studies, with community-based #ri-
als/interventions being the most frequent type,
followed by clinical trials, cohort or follow-up
studies, surveillance/monitoring, and  cross-
sectional/descriptive studies.

Insert map of field areas for the Centre

The Centre has several field sites, spread across
different parts of the country. The maojority of

the ongoing studies are carried out at the Dhaka Hospital, fol-
lowed by Matlab, rural Family Health Research Project [FHRP) sites
(Abhoynagar and Mirsarai), selected urban sites, and a few in
other specific creas. (See map).

The Centre operates two hospitals that constitute the infrasiruciure
for clinical research, patient care, and research and
case management training. In addition fo supporting re-
search activities, the two hospitals provide patient ser-
vices for the treatment of diarrhoeal diseases, malnutri-
fion, and acute respiratory infections and, at the Matlab
facility, reproductive health services including emer-
gency obstetric care. The hospital-based clinical and
laboratory facilities provide information to the Gavern-
ment of Bangladesh on trends and patterns in the epi-
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demiology of diarrhoeal diseases through a hospital surveillance
system.

At the Dhaka Hospital, about 120,000 patients are treated annu-
ally: 85 percent are children and 60 percent are under five, At
Matiab, over 20,000 patients are treated annudlly of whom over
80 percent are children and 60 percent are under five, Children

and morbidity from diarrhoeal diseases, vaccine preventable dis-
eases, acute respiratory infections and related issues of malnuiri-
tion. Most of the Dhaka patient population lives in the urban slum
areas and most are the poorest of the poor.

Starting in March 2000, the Centre implemented the
first phase of its plan fo “franchise” its Dhaka hospital
services with John Snow international (JSl) and Progati
Sama] Kallyan Pratisthan (PSKP), a JSl-supported
NGO+ The expecied outcomes of this inifiative in-
clude reduced patient load and financial pressure on
the Cenire's Dhaka hospital; improved health care
delivery (decentralization, improved case
management of diarrhoeal disease and malnutrition
within a package of comprehensive health care ser-

vices); and a new infrastructure for the Cenfre {0 |

undertake operations research and surveillance.

The clinical laboratory services unit provides diagnostic support to
the Dhaka Hospital, the staff clinic, and paying users; enables sci-
entfists to carry out research and provide research support 1o pro-
tocols of LSD and other divisions; and supports iraining pro-
‘grammes organized by the Centre. The clinical laboratories ser-
vices were opened to private paying users in 1990, and since then
the demand for its services has been constanily rising. The total

PO —

amount of cash revenue earned from paying users from 1990 to.

2000 was over US$ 3.0 million. It is generally felt that the revenue
from the clinic can be increased further.

The Cenfre's Training and Education Unit (TEU) provides training
facilities to Bangladeshi and other nationals in areas in which the
Centre has a comparaiive advantage. The TED offers short-term
national and international training courses primarily on the clinical
management and laboratory diagnosis of common diarrhoeal
diseases, and health systems research.

Since 1978, nearly 20,000 scientists, physicians, laboratory person-
nel, programme managers, trainers and students from various
couniries have received training at the Centre. The Cenire's Train-
ing Department has coniributed towards the strengthening of na-
tional Conirol of Diarrhoeal Diseases (CDD) programmes in devel-
oping countries.

4 Funded through USAID

Ca—
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The Dissemination and Information Services Centre (DISC) dissemi-
nates research findings and manages information rescurces. To
support this aciivity, BISC maintains one of the richest libraries in
the country. DISC is composed of the Information Services Branch,
Publications Services Branch, and Audiovisuals Unit.

The Library has a collection of over 45,000 books, journals, re-

prints, documents, and audiovisuals, and receives over 300
current journcls. The library provides a full range of modern
information services.

The Publicaiions Services Branch produces the Centre’s
Annual Report, Journal of Healih, Population, and Nutrition
(JHPN), Glimpse, working papers, scientific reports and other
documents.

The Audiovisual Unit supports the Centre’s communication ac-
fivities through visual aid development, graphics and artwork,
photography, tape-slide preparation and  projection,

Journal of
Health,
Population and
Nutrition

recording of tape-slide presentations and sound mixing, and
video shooting.

The major tasks of the Computer Information Services {CiS) are to:
(i} provide services on all host computers and Internet connec-
tions; (i} provide IT services to all scientific and support division and
units; (i) maintain, administer and manage all LANs in the Centre
as well as the backbone network of over 500 networked PCs and
10 servers; and (iv) maintain Internet services for email, world wide
web, and interoffice communications.

Collaborations

The Centre has wide-ranging collaboration with universities and
research instituticns, both in Bangladesh and abroad. Collabora-
tion within Bangladesh is conducted through relevant government
agencies, NGOs, universities and research institutions, The nature
of coliaboration includes material support, scientific and technical
assistance, expert advice and exchange of ideas, technology
transfer, and financial support. Over the years, the Centre has en-
tered into collaborative agreements with many of the world's
leading international health research institutions. These cgree-
ments provide the basis for international collaboration and part-
nership in health and population research activities as well as staff
development for the Centre's scientists.

Collaboration within the region is expanding and includes col-
laborative work in Nepal and India and Theiland. An example of
the regional collaboration includes the South Asian Association for
Regional Co-operation [SAARC) fellows programme, the hosting
of the ASCODD secretariat at the ICDDRB, joint protocols with the
National Institute for Cholera and Enteric Diseases {NICED) in Kol-
kata, India, a technical assistance project in microbiology in Ne-
pal, and joint research projects with scientists in Thailand. The Cen-
tre also has collaborative links with several UN agencies such as
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WHO, UNICEF, UNAIDS and UNFPA. Further, the Centre collabo-
rated with the International Union for the Scientific Study of Popu-
lation.{lUSSP) and Pariners in Population and Development (PPD)
in hosting the International Seminar on Family Planning Pro-
grammes in the 21st Century.

==—Health:Situation as:a Context for.the Centre: ~—= - —

— wm wwe— —

Global Setting

In 1998, the world's population was growing at 1.3 percent per
year, or an annual net addifion of 78 million people. Ninety seven
percent of the world population increase iakes place in the less
developed countries. Sixty percent of the world population in-
crease is contributed by only 10 countries, with 21 percent con-
tributed by India and 15 percent by China. Every year, the popu-
lation of Asia increases by 50 million, the population of Africa by 17
million, and that of Latin America and the Caribbean by nearly 8
million. In 2000, the world population was 6.1 billion people. It is
projected.to increase to 7.2 billion in 2015, and further increase to
8.9 billion by 2050. Therefore, the developing countries still have a
continuing need to pursue strong family planning programmes
and research in issues relating to cost-effective and sustainable
population strategies.

Financing of these important activities is a major problem. Expen-

diture on family planning in developing regions was US$ 9.9 billion

in 1996, of which about 8.0 bilion was contributed by national

governments and US$ 2.0 billion by donors. Funding requirements

will rise about three-fold to US$ 21.7 billion by the year 2015, as the
- number of eligible couples increases (Bulatao, 1999).

The global demography frends are exhibiting new challenges for

~ both the developed and developing countries. For the develop-
ing countries, some of the key emerging issues relate to rapid ur-
banization, environment degradation, malnutrition and notable
increase of older people in the overall population structure. If not
properly addressed, in combination with underdevelopment and
limited resources, both human and financial, such problems can
become almost insurmountable and fie countries down in vicious
cycles of further poverty and violence.

The era of globalization is presumably opening many opportunities
for millions of people around the world. Increased trade, new
technologies, foreign investments, expanding media and Internet
connections are expected to fuel economic growth and human
advance. All this offers enormous potential to eradicate poverty
and create an enabling environment for people to enjoy long.
healthy and creative lives. However, experience of the last two
decades indicates that most of the low-income countries have
been unable to realize the opportunities of economic and tech-
nological globalization. These countries are becoming even more
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margindlised. inequalily nhas been rising in many couniries since
the early 1980s. Globalization was predicted fo result in conver-
gence; in fact, disparities have been widening between the de-
veloping and developed economies. For insfance, by the late
1990s. one-ifin of the world's population had 86 percent of the
world's GDP, while the bottom one-fifth had only 1 percent. In
1993, just 10 countries accounted for 84 percent of global re-
search and development expenditures and contrelled 25 percent
of the US patents of the past twe decades (Overview: Globaliza-
tton with a Human Face, Human Development Report 1999).

Since the 1978 Declaration of Alma Ata, which followed the prom-
ise of "Health for Ali by the Year 2000", there has been progressive
physical and social deterioration of communities, countries and
the environment, with increasing polarization of wealth distribu-
tion. This has resulted in a decline in the health of the world's poor,
charactenzed by a high burden of disease, death and disability
associated with a number of new and re-emerging condiiions in-
cluding AIDS, drug-resistant malaria and tuberculosis. For the ma-
jority of people, this has been accompanied by lack of access to
decent affordable health care.

The dismal state of the health of the poor takes place against a
background of political uncertainty, social and economic up-
heavals and culturat change. At the same time, rapidly increasing
globalization, and the revolution in information and communicao-
tions technclogy, has made this world a global village which

means that what happens in one country potentiaily affects every
other.

Nowhere is this clearer than in health where the rapid spread of
communicable diseases has emphasized once again our interde-
pendence - and vulnerabitity — in the face of these global threats.
At the same tfime, major scientific development cnd break-
throughs, such as the human genome project, innovative tech-
nologies that have accelerated drug and vaccine development,
and the crucial evaluative frameworks now avdailable to appraise
health reform efforts and the performance of national health sys-
tems (WHO, 2000) hold the promise of more effective preveniion,
management and freatment for an array of critical health prob-
lems. However, the inherent danger in the powerful and inexora-
ble forces of globalization, and similarly with the revolutionary ap-
plications now arising from new genefic understanding, is their po-
tential to accentuate inequality. While their fruits are enjoyed by
those nations and groups with the mecns of access, they are
generally not available to the world's poor who, instead, progres-
sively crowd the margins behind barriers that are ever more diffi-
cult to penetrate (International Conference on Health Research
for Development - Conference Report, Bangkok, October 2000).

The resources devoted o health systems are very unequally dis-
tributed, and not at all in proportion to the distribution of health
problems. Low- and middle-income countries account for only 18
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percent of world income and 11 percent of globai healih spend-
ing [US$250 billion or 4 percent of GDP in those countries). Yet, 84
percent of the world's population live in these countries, and they
bear 93 percent of the world's disease burden. These countries
face many difficult challenges in meeting the health needs of
their populations, mobilizing sufficient financing in an equitable
and affordable :manner,zand:securing.value for.scarce resources
{The World Health Report 2000, WHO)}. Overall, the world macro-
economic situation appears to be quite dismal. Poor countries are
becoming poorer, debt burdens are soaring, and it is-becoming
increasingly difficult for them to retire and service the debts. As a
result, they are forced to slash their budgets and expenditure, and
health and social services are the usual casualties in this exercise.

Added to the above are the issues of allocative inefficiency.
Global spending on health research for both the public and pri-
vate sectors amounts to about US$56 billion per year {1992 esti-
mate). However, less than 10 percent of this is devoted to 90 per-
cent of the word's health problems — a miscllocation often re-
ferred to as "the 10/90 gap." It has been estimated that pneumo-
nia, diarrhoeaq, tuberculosis and malaria, which together account
for more than 20 percent of the global disease burden, receive
less than 1 percent of the total public and privaie funds devoted
to health research. The human and economic costs of such misai-
location of resources are enormous (The 10/90 Report on Health
Research 2000).

Understanding how countries finance their health care systems is
of critical importance for developed: and developing countries
alike. The methods used o mobilize the resources that support ba-
sic public health programmes, provide access to basic heatth ser-
vices, and configure health service delivery systems affect peo-
ple's economic and polifical well-being.

In 1994, global spending on all health activities totalled US$2,330
billion, or about 9 percent of global income. Of this, high-income
countries accounted for 89 percent of the total health expendi-
ture, while their popuiations accounted for just 16 percent of the
global population. The extreme disparity between the amount of
resources that low- and middle-income couniries and high-
income countries devoie to health care reflects the widely varying
capacities of these country groups to provide health services.

Average per capita healih expenditures range from US$16 in low-
income countries to US$1,468 in the high-income countries — about
a hundred-fold difference. Developed counitries also spend more
on health as a percentage of GDP. Low-income countries spend
about 4 percent of GODP on health, while the high-income coun-
tries spend about 7 percent. South Asia spends the least on health
as a percentage of GDP {3.7%).

To close the resource gap, developing countries will have to make
sizeable investments in health services and increase spending at
rates faster than those of high-income countries. Thus, policymak-
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ers will confinue fo face the perpetucl challenge of raising sufhi-
cient revenue for the health secior in an equitable and efficient
way. Although most countries recognize that health care is a right
of ali citizens — as embodied in the WHO goat of "Health for All by
the Year 2000" - there are no clear guidelines on how this objec-
tive translates into health service delivery, and whether such ser-
vices are affordable (Innovations in Health Care Financing, World
Bank Discussion Paper No. 3465, 1997).

The gap between rich and poor nations is even more dramatic,
when the distribution of the global disease burden is considered.
Of the estimated 1.4 trillion Disability Adjusted Life Years (DALYs)
lost in 1990, industrial countries accounted for just 7 percent. Of
these, 81 percent were agttiibutable to non-communicable dis-
eases. Developing countries, which accounted for 93 percent of
the global disease burden, had a rather different disease profile.
Except for countries in Europe and Central Asia, which have
demographic and epidemiological profiles similar to those in in-
dustrial nations, nearly half of the DALYs lost in developing coun-
fries were caused by communicable diseases, mainly among
children.

Aging popuiations and the rising incidence of non-communicable
diseases will continue to raise the cost of patient care. In industrial
countries, a large portion of health spending is used for a small
percentage of patients in the final years of their lives. Most of
these patients are suffering from some form of non-communicable
disease. Over the next three decades, developing countries will
undergc a major demographic and epidemiclogical transition,
with significant increases in the burden of injuries and non-
communicable disease. Epidemics of non-communicable dis-
ecses such as cardiovascular diseases, neuro-psychiatric condi-
fions, and chronic respiratory infections, as well as the growing
burden of violence and injuries, are increasing in low-income
countries (The 10/90 Report on Hecith Research 2000). These dis-
eases are more expensive to treat and harder to prevent. This
transition will reorient demand for heatth services, including re-
search, and increase pressures for new investment in health care
and heatth systems development,

Bangladesh Setting

Most developing countries, including Bangladesh, face difficult
challenges caused by poverty, malnutrition, and poor heaith,
poor performance of health systems, and inadequate and/or un-
sustainable health care financing. More detail of the Bangladesh
setfing is discussed in World Bank, Health Futures in Bangladesh:
Some Key issues and Options. [draft, June 2001) and the Demeo-
graphic Heclth Survey, 1999-2000 released in 2001.

Bangladesh is the eighth most pepulous country in the world with
a population of around 130 million. The country has the highest
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population density in the world. It is one of poorest countries in the
world with a per capita income of around US$ 380. As a result of
overcrowding, poverty, and poor access to health services, infec-
tious diseases and malnutrition are common.

Choier'o and all other known forms of diarrhoeal disease are en-
demic to Bangladesh. The Centre’s two hospitals and ifs siate-of-

e the-art laboratories-coupled with the existing surveillance systems = -

P PP J— U

and field sites, offer unique opportunities for research, tfraining, ser-
vices and technical assistance. Such opportunities enable scien-
fists to carry out comprehensive studies on cholera and other en-
teric diseases, together with other public health concerns, in the
environment in which they thrive, with access to both hosts and

agents.

Seventy-five percent of total DALYs in Bangladesh is accounted
for by seven conditions: respiratory diseases, perinatal conditions,
diarrhoeal diseases, accidents, malnutrition, cardiovascular dis-
eases, and child birth related complications. Although infant and
under-five mortality rates have declined considerably, they are sill
high. The maternal mortality rate in Bangladesh is one of the high-

est in the world.

Malnutrition is @ m'ojor cause of Years Lived with Disability in Bang-
ladesh. Half of all babies born are of low birth weight, about half
of children are moderately malnourished, and about 12 percent

are severely malnourished. As
a result, 1 in 40 deaths is due
to poor nutritional status. In
addition, half of all women
are matnourished.

Among the infant deaths,
those that occur during the
first month represent an in-
creasing proportion as child
health interveniions have
been more effective for the
older infants and children
gbove age one year. AmMong

interventions that have been
targeted to the neonates, the
one with most impact has
been -immunization of
mothers with tetanus vaccine
to prevent neonatal etanus.

Childhood infections have
declined considerably in
Bangladesh in recent dec-
ades due to ithe widespread
immunization programme.
Communicable diseases now
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account for about 38 percent of DALYs. However, respirgtory and
diarrhoeadl diseases are still the most common causes of death
among children under five, accounting for about 40 percent of all
Years of Life Lost. Tuberculosis ts the second most common cause
of death among adults. Tuberculosis causes about 70,000 deaths
per year, with 300,000 new cases each year.

Non-communicable diseases are also major causes of death in
Bangladesh, accounting for half of the Years of Life Lost. Deaths
associated with comoplications of childbirth continue to be a major
cause of concern.

There are marked health inequalities in Bangladesh. The probabil-
ity of dying among infants in poor households is 1.7 fimes higher
compared to that in nicher households. Also, under-five mortality is
higher in poor than rich households. Twice as many children in
poor than in rich households suffer from stunted growth, and se-
vere under-weight is five fimes as pronounced among poor chil-
dren than among rich children. Communiccble as well as non-
communicable diseases are more prevalent in poor households.

Population growth is also a major development challenge in
Bangladesh, and places a heavy burden on health care and so-
cial services. The current average fertility level in Bangladesh is
cover three children per woman of reproductive age, and has
reacched a plateau over the last several years. Although contra-
ception has increased, the dropout rate is quite high. Also, the
relative share of longer-acting methods has declined.

With demographic transition taking place, the disease patterns of
the past century are changing. An important point to note is that
in the future, communicable, perinatal and pregnancy-related
complications as causes of death will decline in Bangladesh from
about half of deaths to less than one-third of all deaths. By con-
trast, non-communicable diseases will account for over half of all
deaqths.

Thus, the Centre is located in a setting that provides itself with im-
mense scope for research, training and services on diseases that
not onily affect Bangladesh but most of the developing world. in
other words, the setting enables the Centre to bring science to
where the problems exisi.

Comparative Strengths

Infrastructure

The hospitals and clinical resources in Dhaka and Matlab provide
a large patient population typical of those who will benefit from
the advances in cur research. Although only a small proportion
participate in aciual research protocols, those who do assure
timely completion of studies on new drugs, vaccines, nutritional
interventions, new rehydration sclutions, and other new strategies
for treating diarrhoeal disease, pneumonia and mainutrition. The
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hospitals' Hospital Surveillance System (HSS) in Dhaoka records in-
formation on every 50ih patient, and every patient coming from
the Health and Demographic Surveillance System {HDSS) area in
Matlab. The surveillonce records data on etiologic agents, physi- \
cal findings. anthropometrics, socioeconomic, demographic
characteristics, feeding practices, and the use of drugs and fluid ’

~therapy:atshome This:system:thus:allows scientists. and:physicians = === e

to improve care and preventive measures, as well as to monitor
changes in disease patterns, including drug sensitivity.

The laboraicries provide opportunities and facilities to study health

problems commonly encountered in developing countries, using

state of the art equipment. Also, the Centre has excellent labora-

tory animal facilities, including provision for inbred strains, as well t
as larger animals for media reagents.

The Centre's extensive rural and urban community-based health

and family planning interventions, together with its excellent work-

ing relationships with the GoB and NGOs, provide exciting oppor-

tunities for social, behavioural and health systems research in @

variety of settings. Years of experience and meticulous record

keeping have given the Centre an invaluable wealth of informa- -
tion and data sets, enabling scientists to undertake high-quality

research. Longitudinal data sets enable scientisis o examine

changes over time. The longitudinal data is included in the HDSS

database. About 100 field workers collect this data from the

215,000 residents of the Matlab field area, and the data is com- i
puterized as a resource for the Centre's scientists as well as others :
who collaborate with the Centre. Previously, the demographic

data was collected separately from the health information, but

the two systems have now been merged into a single surveillance

system.

In other urban and rural "extension areas”, the Cenire maintains
demographic surveillance systems. These extension areas were
funded by USAID through the Operations Research Project {ORP),
but with the transition to the new Family Health Research Project
[FHRP}, these extension areas are funded more generally by ongo-
ing research projects.

Modern computer systems, based on a 500+ user locai area net-
work, with a dedicated satellite link and microwave link to Matlab
ensures rapid compilation and analysis of the extensive daia col-
lected by Cenire researchers. The Centre's library, data archives,
and publication facilities allow for rapid and effective exchange
and dissemination of information.

The Centre's training facilities at Dhaka include a 192-seat audito-
rium {with the help of funds from the Sasakawa Foundation] and
two large seminar rooms equipped with modern audio-visual
equipment. The Cenire also has a residential fraining facility at
Matlab where groups can stay for several days while participating
in hands-on experience in this rural areaq.

=
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The Centre operates an Epidemic Control and Preparedness Pro-
gramme [ECPP) that enables the Centre to ossist the Ministry of
Health and Family Welfare [MOHFW) during outbreaks of diar-
rhoeal disease, and ic characterize disease and drug resistance
patterns throughout the country. This programme continues to
yield useful nationwide information on existing diseases as well
new, emerging pathogens.

Since 1998, a second generation surveillance system for HIV has
been conducted annually. So far, the Centre has conducted
three rounds of serological surveillance. The total sample size is
around 8,000, and inciudes sex workers, male-on-male sex part-
ners, injecting drug users, STD patients and bridging populations
such as fruckers, rickshaw-pullers and dockworkers. The serological
surveillance is coordinated with a behavioural surveillance, and is
jointly published in cooperation with the office of the Director
General Health Services. This serological and behavioural data
thus forms the basis for action programmes to control or prevent
the expected HIV epidemic in Bangladesh.

Multi-Disciplinary Human Resources

The breadth of disciplines among the Centre's scientific staff al-
lows the Centre to address health and population problems from
a wide variety of complementary approaches. For example, labo-
ratory scientists and epidemiologists help scientists identify patho-
gens and disease patterns affected by emerging and re-
emerging diseases such as dengue, TB, STD and malaria, while so-
cial scientists examine the changes in human behaviour and de-
mographers analyze the effects on population. The results of their
work are then fed into health care delivery systems, which are
then refined and optimized by means of health systems research.
The ability fo draw on this diverse expertise allows researchers at
the Centre to develop a comprehensive understanding of health
and population problems and their potential solutions for Bangla-
desh in particular and developing countries in general.

Review Mechanisms

The Cenfre is committed te ensure that its research agenda is
relevant and is at the forefront of international health. Further-
more, o ensure ifs scientific excellence and relevance and that
fne research agenda falls within the Centre's strategic areas of in-
terest and competence, each research protocol is subjected to
internal and external peer reviews. In addition, tc maintain the
highest standards of propriety, the Cenire's Ethical Review Com-

mittee (ERC) critically examines the ethics of any proposed proto-
col.

The Programme Commitiee of the Board of Trustees meets bian-
nually to review the scientific activities of the Cenire and their im-
plementation. In addition, the BoT commissions external reviews of
the divisions on a regular basis.
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With these mechanisms, the Centre ensures that ifs activities are
well-organized and directed to the major health and population
issues within its expertise, while maintaining the flexibility to re-
spond to the changing needs and new discoveries that charac-

terize health and population research.

_Financial systems

— o

e —— e ——— s o ——

The finance sysTem prowdes Q completely compu’renzed cxccount-

ing of all income and expenditure that cllows the Cenire to gen-
erate financial reports as needed for each donor. The Cenfre's
accounts are audited annually jointly by a reputable mulii-
national audit firm (currently Price Waterhouse) in association with
a well-recognized local audit firm. in addition, special audits are
conducted as needed for specific grants. Also as needed, audits
are conducted to review specific financial actions within the Cen-
fre (e.g. interdepartmental charges, risk management of the fi-
nancial system, etc.}) In addition to the general audit, a specific
auditis conducted of the "common institutional costs” {sometimes

called indirect costs).

Ethical Reviews

The Ethical Review Committee (ERC), established through provi-
sion in the Centre's Ordinance, subjects each protocol involving
human subjects to a review. The ERC reports to the Board of Trus-
tees, but its members serve in their individual capacity with the
exception of the Bangladesh Medical Research Councii (BMRC)
that must be represented on the ERC. Approximately one-third of
the members of the ERC are scientists of the Centre, but the others
are respected members of the local community, including both
scientists and non-scientists. The membership includes women,
members of the religious community, and legal professionals. The
" ERC has a Mulliple Project Assurance (MPA) with USAID, and a
Federal Wide Assurance (FWA 00001468} with the United States
government, It uses the Helsinki Accord as its standard, and has
formed its own set of procedures. The Committee meets monthly,

but may hold extraordinary meetings if
recorded in official minutes.

Future Directions

.Revision of mission statement

A review of the previous mission
statement identified a few issues that
needed to be addressed to ensure
that ihe siatementi(s} adequately re-
flected the purpose of the Centre’s
existence, outlined its "business”, and
provided a statement of values that
guide the accomplishment of the

needed. its meetings are

-Mission: The mission of the Centre is to

develop, test, and disseminate solutions to
major health and population problems fac-
ing the world, with emphasis on simple
and cost effective methods of prevention
and management. The Centre carries out
this mission through caring for patients
and communities, advanced research,
fraining, and communication, leading to
policy and programmes.
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Cenire's mission. Thus, the statement has been re-formulaied into
three sections: a mission statement, a values statement and a vi-
sion statement.

Pricrity Setting

The basis for setting priorities is provided by the Centre's broad mis-
sion statement, a well-defined vision for the future, a multi-
disciplinary skills pool, long-standing evidence-based research ex-
perience, patient and field
populations, and  funding &
prospects. These aspects are . ‘r‘- Exceﬂence and h:gh ethrcal standards in sci-
combined with an - '
evaluation of the cost-
effectiveness of the activity,
the feasibility of potential
resulting interventions, and
emerging new problems.

Values

In setting its priorities, the _
Centre's guiding principles LT
are: Global Health by the '

year 2020, the regional burden of disease/DALYs, and the local
burden of disease.

“Life Cycle” Approach

[Insert figure of life cycle] In general, the “life cycle" approach
conceptualizes the health,

develooment, and research  Vision:

issues  of individuals and
families, and suggests
intervention  points  where
significant improvements can
be mplemented. The Cenfre
places a great deal of

To be premiere centre for global health
sciences, attracting the finest minds- fromuBong—.
Iodesh and‘other devetopmg cmd mdusfnohzed‘
countries; fo conduct excellent and relevant. . -
health research, service and training.

emphasis on the periods To remain responsive to, and be an
mmediately prior to  advocafe for, the health research needs of vul-
pregnancy, the pregnancy Nerable populations,

itself, the delivery of the To be aleader and a partner in national,

newborn infant and the  regional and global efforts to improve the qual-

period  during infancy. In jiy of life in developing countries.
addition, the Centre places .
emphasis on criical periods of To understand current population trends,

vulnerabiiity, especially from oqd anticipate future challenges to plan for a
common llness that are Prfghteriomorrow.

preventable or treatable using

cost-effective methods. This is

not, however, to exclude

other periods of life {later childhood, adclescence, tater adult

years), but it does focus the Centre's resources on these particu-
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Aging/
Disability

Conception/Pregnancy
Maternal Nutrition

Reproductive Age

FP redntsetasasurEaTavesaannErnnnrnans
RTIL/STI/HIV/AIDS
Fertility _ LBW
Cross-cutting Lssues Safe Motherhood

Adolescence
Adolescent Health
RTI/STI/HIV/AIDS

Infectious / Communicable diseases
Vaccines
Anti-microbiol resistance
Integrated delivery of services
Health Financing and Sustainability
Health Equity
Urbanization
Population and Development Linkages

Neonatal stage
LBW
Neonatal Mortality

Childhood
LBW
Nutrition
IMCI

Infancy
LBW
IMCT

Nutrition
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larty vuinerable periods. It seems that interventions during the de-
fined vulnerable pericds will have the greatest payoif in terms of
cost-effective and long-term improvements in health and devel-
opment. The "life cycle” approach also suggests that the rewards
of intervening at these cruciat periods are likely to have payoffs in
future generaiions.

The major chcallenges for the health resecarch in the developing
regions include population growth, emerging and re-emerging
infectious diseases resulting from globalization and ecological
changes, and non-communiccble diseases with the rapid growth
of medical technology and their implications on the costs of the
healin systems. The major research priorities of the Centre, at dif-
ferent stages of the life cycle are shown in the table.

Major Research Priorities at the Different Stages of the Life-Cycle

Maternal nutrition Maternal nutrition Low birth weight

Integrated man-
Neonatal mortality Childhood nutrition agement of child-
hood iliness

Family planning and

Adolescent healih RTI/STI/HIV-AIDS n
fertility

The Major Cross-cutting Research Issues

Infectious / commu- ) Anti-microbial resis-
. . Vaccines
nicable diseqases tfance

Population and de- Integrated delivery

: . Safe water
velopment linkages of services

Health financing and
sustainability

Health eqlui’fy Urbanization

Research findings to policy and programmes

In conducting this priority research, the Centre will follow the con-
ceptual framework, as shown,
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Conceptual Framework

Biomedical/Socio-behavioural Research Health Systems Research

l

l

l

l

Building
Knowledge
Base

}

Develop/Test
Efficacy of Po-
tential/Novel/

Innovative Inter-
ventions
and
Test feasibility of
Implementation

!

Develop/Test
Appropriate
Operational Sys-
tems,
Acceptability of
Interventions
and
Assess Cost-
effectiveness
and Sustainabil-
ity
in Real Pro-
gramme Envi-

ronment
_> ‘l

<

}

<

Advocacy/
Technical Assis-
tance to
Facilitate
Translation of
Research info
Programme /
Policy
and
Analyze the
Cutcomes

—»

|

ICDDR,B Infra-
structure
{Hospital, Lab,
Matlab, and
other field sites)

ICDDR,B Infra-
structure
{Hospital, Lab,
Matlab, and
other field sites)

GoB/NGO/Privat
e Sector Health-
care Pro-
grammes

National Pro-
gramme
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Programme Priorities

Annex Il gives the key research prionties by their current strengths,
comparative advaniages and time frame. The research questions,
performance Indicators, resource needs, benefits to the Centre,
and expected policy/programmatic impact are described in An-
nex lll. These priorities and directions for research are grouped ac-
cording o the programme area; however, it should be clear that
these are "Cenire priorities” that have been recommended by
the different Programmes. Therefore, the specific activities may, or
may not be actually camied cui through that Programme.

Child Health

Problems identified

Aithough infant mortality rates have decreased in recent years,
they are stili much too high. The largest share of infant deaths oc-
curres during the first few days of lives, and specific freatment
methods are needed to help these neonates. Many also start out
life much too small: 45% of newborn infants in Bangladesh weigh
less than 2500 grams. Since child survival is directly linked with birth
weight, the high incidence of low birth weight is viewed as a ma-
jor obstacle to improving child heclth and development. Large-
scale nutrition programmes attempt to improve nuirition of preg-
nant mothers with a goatl to increase birth weight, but the efficacy
of such programmes and the optimal nuiritional supplements are
not well defined.

Medical services for infants and children are also deficient. Fami-
lies in Bangladesh cannot access paediatricians, and high-level
care is generally not accessible. An approach to providing good
medicat care to children is now being introduced, called iIMCI (in-
tegrated management of childhood iliness) that describes stan-
cdard care that can be provided through primary heaith systems
for the most common and important medical conditions.

Opportunities

It now seems that many necnatal deaths can be prevented if
proper freatment is given in a timely manner. Many of the deaths
are due to infections, aspiration, birth trauma, and improper han-
dling of the newborn. We feel that community based strategies
are possible to reduce risk of infection, reduce birth frauma, im-
prove newborn care and treat aspiration. We also feel that com-
munity workers can recognize and treat neonatal infections and
begin early treatment. Also, low birth weight can be increased,
but more importantly, it appears that the ill effects of low birth
weight can be minimized through nutritional interventions aimed
toward the mother and child.
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Relative strengths

The Centre has many resources to address issues of child health, It
has field areas where strategies can be tested and their success
documented. Through NGO partners, specific interventions for
recognizing ond Treoﬁng neoncn‘ol infecﬁons can be developed.

'"demogrophlc survelllonce system is absolUtely” Unlque “for testing

strategies for increasing birth weight and for assessing nutritional
interventions on the subsequent health of the children. Its relations
with the Ministry and local health programmes allow for testing the
efficacy of IMCI strategies in a manner that is not possible in any
other site in the world. This will allow for further refinement and ad-
aptation of the IMCI strategy for Bangladesh.

The Centre's hospital and laboratory facility provides an ideal set-
ting for conducting clinical trials of new ogems new drugs and
new ORS solufions.

Priarities

Based on the continuing problems of child health, opportunities,
and relative strengths, the Centre has identified several pricrities
for improving child health. Firstly, it will continue 10 ==« - —m- s

maintain surveiliance for indicators of child survival > child Survrwﬂ And Devdoymmt lndlcators

and ill health. It will also conduct studies to evaluate = y‘__Nutntw;mI s“}?jlgmgnf_; R
the power of nutritional supplements to increase birth S LOW B:rth nght

weight and to improve child survival. It will test . -

strategies fo reduce neonatal mortality through > -Ne""“t‘.d Hmlth
community-based strategies to recognize and freat > IMCI

neonatal infection at a very early stage. >

children with common acuie life threatening ilinesses.

The prototype of this category of iliness is acute

diarrhoeq, but other acute illnesses that also should be included
are pneumenia, dengue, malaria,. typhoid and severe malnutri-
tion. We have shown that a tfreatment costing US $5 can save the
life of a patient with diarrhoea who would otherwise have died.
We will examine how to freat these other life threatening ilinesses
in a similar cost effective way, by determining the needs of facili-
ties, freatmenis and fraining needed to accomplish this. The Cen-
tre will then establish a model facility where these methods can
be faught. '

The Cenire will continue to improve on clinical treatments for
common childhood ilinesses by testing improved ORS solutions,
anti-secretory drugs and anfibiotics.

v

"'Mmmgement of Easily. Trmtzd ere Threaten-
The Centre will confinue to improve freaiment of : iy llnesses
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Reproductive Health

Problems idenfiified

Although the Cenire has, for many years, been involved in
increasing rates of contraceptive methods, it now recognizes that
reproductive health encompasses a wide variety of issues that are
important to families. High maternal mortality rates continue in
Bangladesh and about 90% of deliveries take place at home.
While there are goals to increase the numbers of facility-based
deliveries attended by skilled birth attendants, a majority of detiv-
eries will continue to take place in the home.

Most families wish to limit the number of children or to space their
pregnancies using contraceptives, but many families still experi-
ence cifficulty in using them. This is seen in a high proportion of
famiiies who discontinue their family planning method, sometimes
because of perceived side effects. Unintended pregnancies are
still common. Family planning programmes now approach this
issue as a way to assist families achieve their desired family size
rather than as a method for “popuiation control”; however, the
issue of providing appropriate family planning services is obviously
of crucial importance to nationcl strategies to achieving re-
placement fertility in the near future.

Because of unwanted pregnancies, abortions will continue. Unfor-
tunately, complications from abortion are common and there is
need to improve management of post-akbortion complications like
infection, perforation and bleeding. On the other hand, high qual-
ity family planning programmes reduce rates of abortion in Bang-
ladesh, and this is likely to occur globaliy.

Sexudlly fransmitted diseases are becoming more commonly rec-
ognized. White ST! are especiclly common among commercial sex
workers, they are also occurring in families not normaily consid-
ered high risk. While about 35% of sex workers were positive for
syphilis, about 4% of pregnant wemen cattending a prenatai clinic
in Dhaka were similarly positive. Along with STI, antibiotic resis-
tance is increasing. The proportion of N. gonorrhea isolates resis-
tant to ciprefloxacin {the most commonly recommended antibi-
ofic) has risen from 7% to 78% in the last 5 years: this rate of resis-
tance is among the highest in the world.

HIV-AIDS is a major threat in Bangiadesh because of the high-risk
behaviour in many groups. Networks of persons exist in Bangla-
desh that share needles, and purchase sex commercially and
many of these also have spouses suggesting that the virus may
rapidly spread from the high risk to the general population. These
networks have adlready led to the development of high rates of
syphilis and hepatitis C, and will likely lead to an explosive HIV epi-
demic in the near future.
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Opportunities

Although deliveries generally take place af home, women are will-
ing to use delivery facilities, especially for emergencies. Our pro-
jects have demonstrated how to improve basic obsietric facilifies
and to make them acceptable and effective at low cost. These
improvemenfs prepare fomiiies for possible obstetric emergencies,

Most families are now usmg controcephves but fhey need assis-
tance in using them appropriately. There is opportunity for improv-
ing the method mix to more closely adapt to the changing needs
of families {e.g. long acting methods for those who have com-
pleted their families).

Sexudlly-fransmitted infections will require behaviour changes and
increased use of condoms, but the treatment of cument infections
will aiso be required. Antenatal clinics will need to begin screening
women for STI's .in order to prevent complications {pelvic infec-
tions and transmission of infection to the newborn}.

Adolescents are eager to learn about reproductive health and
the new awareness of the need to educate the younger genera-
tion provides a new opportunity to improve the lives of the next
generation.

Regarding HIV-AIDS, Bangladesh has a real opportunity to avoid
the epidemic if the issue can be addressed rapidly. The nation
already has a good surveillance system in place, and through co-
ordinated interventions, the HIV epidemic might be avoided, but
the window of opportunity is rapidly closing.

Relative strengths

The Cenfre has considerable expertise in developing successful
family planning programmes. More recenily, it has acquired skills in
the range of reproductive heaith and has developed a model re-
productive health programme in Mailab that can be used to test
strategies for and improving services and reducing maternal mor-
tality. Being in Matlab, it can then be used for training and exten-
sion of the lessons learned to other areas of the country. The Cen-
tre has also acquired considerable expertise in adolescent health,
especially with relation o communicafions and reproductive

healih education. > Maternal ‘Mortality And Safe Motherheod
The laboratories of the Cenire are excelient

resources for documenting the burden of disecse,
and these laboratories are not  available

> mproved Fanily Planning Serviees
> adolescent Reproductive Health

elsewhere in the country. Furthermore, the Centre > sexually Transmitted Infections
is able to partner with many of the NGO's working  » RIV/AIDS

with  CSW's {fo help them improve their

programmes.
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Priorities

The priorties for reproductive health include improving emer-
gency and essential obstetric care and safe methernood, improv-
ing family planning services including developing services to men
as well as women, meeting the needs of adolescent’s reproduc-
tive health, prevention and freatment of STI/RTI/HIV-AIDS, minimiz-
ing the need for and improving post-abortion care, new born
care, and viclence against women,

Nutrition

Problems identified

Bangladesh faces many nutrition-retated health problems. Being
amoeng the poorest countries, with incredible population pressure,
and a rapidly growing population in the city slums, mainutrition is
central io most health issues, especiaily related to those of child
health. Most acute infectious diseases occur in children who are
malnourished, and the treatment of the infection must include the
treatment of the malnutrition as well as the infection.

Protein energy malnutition (PEM) is the most obvious, but other
specific deficiencies are also common, including iron, zinc and
iodine deficiency. Unfortunately, many families do not recognize
PEM as a problem since it is so common. Similarly, health care
workers do not recognize children as malnourished when they
come for tfreatment of common illnesses. Vitamin A is a needed
supplement, and the national programme is effectively disiributing
this to most children under five yeaors.

Opportunities

Our experience has shown that malnutrition is a condition that
can be addressed. Severe malnutiition can be treated effeciively
and at very low cost, both in the hospital and in the community.
Chitdren are healthier and mortality is reduced if they can be pro-
vided with zinc; and the Centre has shown at least one practicat
strategy for accomplishing this. Studies at the Centre have also
shown that it is possible to dramatically increase rates of exclusive
breastfeeding.

Relative strengths

The Centre has clinical (including o metabolic N
oalance ward) and field resources for identifying > Micromitrizats their impact on health and
cnd treating children with  mainutrition, and Aevelopment

developing new sirategies for addressing the

> Management of severely malnourished children
needs of families with malnourished children. It P
>

Increasiig Rates of exclusive breast fecdinﬂ

also has an excellent nutrition biochemistry ) - L
nteraction of nutrition and infections

laboratory  for conducting  nutrition  research.
Based on the successful experience with

managing severe PEM, the Centre has opportunities for training
and extension of the successful methods.
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Priorities

The priorities for nutrition include improving maternal nutrition and
decreasing rates of low birth weight, increasing exclusive breasi-
feeding, prevention .and management of severe and moderate
malnutrition, improving child feeding, the interaction of nutrition
and child development, provision of appropriate micronutrients,
,,,ond“building,The,kr}owledgiof,lhe.in’rerog’rion.between infectious..

" diseases and nutrition.
Infectious Diseases and Vaccine Sciences

Problems identified

While there has been much progress, infectious diseases continue
as the major cause of morbidity and moriality in Bangladesh. As a
resull of exireme poverty, high population density, poor sanita-
tion, malnutrition, and disease transmitting insect vectors, there is
further need for enhanced prevention, diagnosis and manage-
ment of a wide array of diseases with infectious eticlogies includ-
ing pneumonia, diarrheal diseases, tuberculosis, measles, vector-
borne diseases like dengue, malaria, visceral leishmaniasis {kala
azar} and filariasis, and sexually transmitted infections. Emergence
of HIV/AIDS will exponentially increase the impact of many of
these diseases. Drug-resistant infectious diseases will continue to
strain resources and threaten existing methods for effective ther-
apy. Of added concern, serious diseases for which effective pre-
vention strategies already exist remain a problem for much of
Bangladesh, like with measles (for which existing affordable vac-
cines are underutilized} and with Haemophilus influenzae type B
{Hib}, Hepatitis B, and pneumococcal diseases (for which safe
and effective vaccines exist, but cost is g-barrier to their introduc-
tion, acceptance, and use).

Opportunities

Childhood and adult mortality can be reduced dramaiically
through improved management of infectious diseases and pre-
vention via intfroduction of vaccines and behaviour modification
New technology is providing opportunities for rapid, practical di-
agnostic tests which will improve management, vaccines which
can provide prevention opportunities and options for treatment,
inciuding enhanced “super ORS"” and novel antimicrobial thera-
pies.

Relative strengths

Bangladesh is unfortunately home to many of the infectious dis-
eases of importance, and these occur at high rates in the field ar-
eas of the ICDDR.B. Thus, the Centre has a unique epidemiologi-
cal strength to conduct studies on disease incidence, disease
burden, as well as to study prospeciive interventions to conirol the
diseases. It also has excellent laboratory facilities and laboratory
scientists who can carry out the basic and applied studies to de-
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scribe in a comprehensive manner, the epidemiological, clinical
and pathophysiologic characteristics of the disease pathogens.
The presence of several field areas, the epidemiologic expertisea
and the laboratories, gives the Centre a distinct advantage for
conducting all phases of vaccine evaluations for enteric, respira-
tory infections, and likely ii will soon have this advantage for tu-
berculosis and dengue.

Priorities

The priorities for infectious diseases and vaccine sciences include
improving surveillance for and management of selected infec-
tious diseases including diarrhoea, ALRI [{pneumonia). sexually
transmitted diseases including HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis, dengue, ma-
laria, Kala Azar, drug-resistant infections, and enhancing the ca-
pacity to investigate study and manage outbreaks of communi-
cable diseases in the region. High priority is also given on evaluai-
ing promising new vaccines for enteric and respiratory infections
and defining disease burdens of selected infectious diseases to
better define the need for selected vaccines and to be prepared
to evaluate vaccines for rotavirus, enterotoxigenic E. coli, cholera,
pneumecnia/meningitis, dengue, tuberculosis, and malaria.

Health and Family Planning Systems

Problems identified

Medical services are sorely needed, yet ihe resources available
are extremely limited. The funds for medical services through the
government are about $4 per capita per year. Thus, most medical
services are obtained from non-government sources. Often the
services that are provided are of iow quality, and are not equita-
ble. Most services are especially inaccessible for the poorest seg-

menis of society even though they are iniended to reach the
pOOr. ‘

The services are limited, but they are also undergoing some maijor
fransitions in an attempt tc make them more cost-effective and
sustainable. Adapiing to these changes is exiremely difficult and
much effort is needed to make the new systems effective,

Past programmes, especiclly the family planning programmes
were delivered "at the door step.” These were effective but were
also too expensive to confinue. Thus, community clinics are being
implemented in an attempt to provide services in the community
in a more cost-effective manner.

Opportunities

The national programmes are undergoing changes that have the
potential for great improvement. Eventually the health and popu-
lation sectors will merge, community clinics will begin functioning,
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and the changes that are occurring provide hope that the Centre
can play an active role.

Relative strengths

The Cenire has considerable experience in conducting operations
research to strengthen health and family planning services, and in
evaluating these services. Building on the lessons from intensive

studies:in:the-hospital:and:field:areas{e.g~Matlab}-programmes ~- -

can then be developed and extended to fit into the government
programme. These can then be scaled up, evaluated, improved.,
and then scaled up further through the Ministry system and
through NGQOs. This has been the case with ORS, family planning
and can now be true for other interventions. The success of ORS
and family planning provides some assurance that programmes
can be successful.

Priorities

Priorities for health and family planning systems include defining
service strategies, economic analysis of various delivery opftions,
measurement of health equity at the local level, private and pub-
lic partnerships, translation of research findings into policy and
programmes, improving medical information systems to make
them useful for local health authorities. High priority is given to
economic andlysis for understanding the relation between pov-
erty and health, and ways fo monitor health equity.

Population Sciences Programme

Problems Identified

Bangladesh is the word's most densely populated agricultural
couniry. While the national family planning programme has con-
fributed to a substantial fertility decline and consequent reduction
in growth rate, available evidence suggests that the population
will finally stop growing at double the present size. If fertility could
be reduced to below replacement level soon, the final population
could be as much as 60 million fewer than otherwise. Much needs
to be understood about the obstacles to further decline in fertility
levels, and what policies may alleviate the future impact of popu-
lation momentum stemming from the youthful population age
structure,

Regarding family planning, what can be done to increase public
confidence in long acting, low cost clinical methods of contra-
ception, currently showing low and declining use. Can better
quality services, better siaff training, and strengthened manage-
ment improve continuation raies among temporary methods?
Regarding social policy, can increased opportunifies for young
women te be educated, and employed in the formal sector, result
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in delayed commencement of childbearing and overall lower fer-
tilitye wWhat other policies might have a simitar impact?

The decliine in fertility, while beneficiatl through slowing population
growth, has other less desirable consequences. The elderly popu-
lation [over 60 years) will multiply almost ten-fold, from 6.8 million
to 65 million, raising the elderly from 5% of the population to 26%.
The {dependency) ratio of working age to elderly population will
decline from eleven to two creating an enormous burden on the
workers. This will project the health and other support needs of the
adult and elderly population very much into the forefront of
health and social palicy for the 215t century.

Cne important consequence of this dramatic increase in propor-
fion of the elderly population is in adult diseases, which tend to be
more non-communicable than diseases among the young. In the
two decades from 1990 to 2010, the proportion of deaths due o
non-communicable diseases is expected to rise from 40% to 60%,
and this rising trend will continue. The significance is that non-
communicable diseases tend to cost more to manage and treat,
and can be more difficult to prevent than infecticus or communi-
cable diseases. For example, if current patterns prevail, it may be
expected that annual numbers of cardiovascular deaths among
the elderly (60+) will increase from 117,000 to 1.3 millicn during the
century, and this does not include the morbidity burden that will
fall on the health system.

Arguably the major demographic phenomena of this century will
be the massive increase in the numbers of urban poor. This global
migration is driven by a search for employment as in the rural ar-
eqs demand for agricultural labour levels off, or declines with ex-
panding mechanization. In rural areas the shift from extended to
nuclear families results in absence of support for elderly genera-
fions, in shartage of household labour, and in safety and security
problems. In 'receiving' areas, the growth of slums tends to pro-
duce many of the hazards of rural living - infectious diseases, and
imited cccess to affordable health services - compounded by
problems of family instability, alienation, lawlessness, drug use, lack
of land tenure, etc., conditions which typify slums worldwide.
Much needs tc be understood about survival strategies used by
such families and households, about how rural families adapt
themselves to these conditions, and how appropriate health ser-
vices can be delivered to them.

Opportunities

The infrastructure of the Centre's field surveillance sites offers an
opportunity to continue to be productively involved in studies on
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improved family plor'ming services, and increasingly on non family
planning approaches to delaying marriage and early childbear-
ing. The health service delivery infrastructure and the surveillance
are also well svited to the study of adult heaith problems, and in-
terventions to deal with them.

The routine -monitoring:of ‘migration-together with-family stricture
and household change generates vital information which, when
strengthened with more economic data, will enable greater in--
sight into the forces motivating rural-urban migration.

Relative strengths

The ICDDR.B has several major rural field sites with regular surveil-
lance of households and families. The surveillance collects data
on vital events including births, and also on factors that affect fer-
tility such as marriage, family planning use, aboriion, etc. This is a
very valuable resource for better understanding the complex rela-
tionships described above.

The surveillance routinely collects data on selected morbidities
and mortality. The system is currently being upgraded to focus
more on adult health, especially non-communicable diseases.
The existing network of sub-centres-and hospital will play a part in
this system in Matlab.

The surveillance can provide unique longitudinal data giving un-
matched insight into the bi-directional relationship between pov-
erty and heaith. That is, how poverty places families at greater risk
of ill health, and how ill health can plunge families either directly or
indirectly, into poverty. The surveillance can also be used to illu-
minate the dynamics of families making decisions on when and
where to move, on the economic forces driving their decisions to
migrate, and on the outcomes of the migrations of selected family
members (remittances, employment, living arrangements, efc., in
the urban areas).

Priorities

The priorifies for the Population Science program include investi-
gations of the fertility decline in Bangladesh, understanding how
to reduce ferility rates to replacement level or below, and how fo
minimize .the impact of population momentum through sociat in-
terventions. A second priority is fo work with colleagues to better
understand adult health problems, especially non-communicable
diseases. This inciudes how families provide the necessary re-
sources, both in terms of financial and social support, to deal with -
the growing health demands of an ageing population. The third
major priority is fo strengthen the focus on economic forces moti-
vaiing out-migration from Matlab. This needs to be combined
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with monitoring of changes in family siructure, especially in terms
of social and financial support for family members remaining be-
hind in the rural communities. The fourth priority is to work with
other surveiliance systems, through the In-Cepth network, to im-
prove the capacity of such systems to develop and monitor inter-
ventions for better managing health and population challenges.

The priorities for population include investigations of the fertility
decline in Bangladesh, undersianding how to reduce fertility rates
to replacement levels, to characterizing the consequences of
higher fertility rates as well as understanding why fertility rates have
levelled off. They also include understanding the relation between
family planning programmes and abortion in order o minimize the
latter. New priorities include characterizing patterns of ill health in
adults, especially related to disabilities, and understanding health
equity in relation to rapid population growth and urbanization.

Translation of Research Findings into Policy and Action

The Centre s principally involved in research leading to new
knowledge 1o promote health; however, it has limited scope and
resources to implement policy actions without the direct involve-
ment of the government, NGOs, or a relevant regulatory body.
Efforts are underway to develop a strategy to make this possible.
Translation of research findings is an important task, and will lead
to increasing GoB and donor interest and atiention. To achieve
this, the Centre will identify its products and services that would
lecd to health promotion, and try to attract the attention of rele-
vant bodies for practical implementation. Speciai efforts will be
made by the Centre to develop communication with policy mak-
ers, NGO officials, donors and UN agencies. The Centre will have a
strong policy and advocacy unit to undertake these activities.

he Centre will provide support and due recognition to the scien-
tists {in terms of salary and other support) for the time that is re-
quired for such translation, and appropriate funding will be allo-
cated to research projects which involve activities which cre
aimed ot translating research findings into policies.

Although the Centre's future research will be policy-oriented, basic
research will not be discouraged. Not every research finding is
immediately translatable, but we would continue to seek oppor-
tunities for praciical applications of the research.

New Initiatives

Internationalization

The Centre currently has major collaborations with institutions
globally, but does not have many actual projects outside Bangla-
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desh. As an international centre, it has the potential to expand its
. activities beyond the boundaries of Bangladesh but this depends
on the willingness of other governments to accept our assistance
and funding mechanisms to support such projects. The Centre
plans fo actively seek opportunities for projects within the region.
Such activities might include providing consultants, training and
technical assistance, joint research projects with universities or
I TSther Teseareh - organizations, -subcontracting: with primary “health ="~
care projects that need our expertise, and development of exper-
tise for investigating outbreaks in the region in collaborafion wiih
the World Health Organization. The Centre feels that these activi-
ties can be carried out in the spirt of South-South collaboration
and will benefit both institutions.

Marketing products and services in Bangladesh and the region

In addition to the collaborative projects identified, the Centre also
plans to generate income through marketing its products through
appropriate channels. These might include, for example the rice-
based oral rehydration solutions, new vaccines under develop-
ment, as well as surveillance and survey systems. 1t will also provide
consultation services to agencies who need such expert assis-
tance in the region.

A new name for the Centre

The name Intemational Centre for Diarhoeal Disease Research,
Bangladesh no longer describes the mission or activifies of the
Centre and a new name has been strongly suggested by many
stakeholders. The name that has the most support is the Interna-
tional Cenire for Health and Population {ICHAP) though other
names have also been suggested. The Board emphasized that the
word “International” should remain in whichever name that is
eventually decided on. A name change will require a change in
the Ordinance.

Further strengthening of the Centre’s infrastructure and services

. Dhaka Hospital

The Dhaoka Hospital was originally established as a clinical re-
search cenire where clinical studies involving patients with chol-
era and other diarrhoeal diseases could be conducied. Over the
years, it became increasingly popular because of the high quality
and dependable service with low case fatality
rates, and ‘no hidden charges. Meals and | Photograph of a ward
medicines are provided free of charge. The
cost per patient has remained extremely low
{about $10 per patient treated), and the
number of patients whose lives have been
saved is incredibly high - estimated to be
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about 10 to 15000 patients per year. Thus, the treatment is very
cost-effective; however, because of the high paiient volume, the
total cosis have been high — about US$1.2 to $1.5 million per year.
Unfortunately, in spite of the excellent, low-cost and life-saving
care provided, donors have shown little interest in supporting the
costs of the Hospital since they believe that the host government
should absorb the costs of running such a facility, and they are
concerned about open-ended commitments. The Government of
Bangladesh provides some support, but not nearly enough to
support the Hospital; hence, other strategies must be employed to
either reduce the costs of the Hospital by decreasing the quantity
of services, identifying other donors, or developing ancther strat-
egy to bring the Hospital costs in balance.

A recent analysis of the patients coming to the Dhaka Hospital
suggests a division into two major groups: adults and children who
have severe illness coming from the entire Dhaka metropolitan
ared, and children with mild illness who come from the immediate
adjacent areas of the city. The lives saved are those of the first
group, but the others with mild illness should ideally be going to
primary health care centres rather than to the Dhaka Hospital.

Common, Treatable, Life-Threatening ilinesses.

The Dhaka Hospital is a key part of the healih care system in
Dhaka. One of the iessons learned from the Hospital is that there
are certain ilinesses (e.g. severe diarrhoead) that are common, life
threatening, but are easily and inexpensively freated once the
appropriate case management system has been developed.
Other ilinesses, however, also fit these criteria of being common,
poientially fatal, easily treated, and having low cost for case
management. The other ilinesses include pneumonia, severe mal-
nutrition, malaria, and dengues. A concept espoused by Metinda
Gates in her speech awarding ICCDRB the Gates Award for
Global Health was that "no child should die of an easily treatable
disease,” and it is the intent of the Centre to take this message
and put into practice. Thus, we intend that the Hospital should de-
velop a model for treating, with a very low cost, these common,
life-threatening diseases. At the same time, the Hospital is unable
to take responsibility for additional patient care unless the Gov-
ernment and the NGO providers provide the actual treatment.

The Hospital can, however, develop the treatment model for
these ilinesses.

This new role impties that the Hospital will evolve from being a “di-
arrhoea hospital" to a new form of treatment centre that provides
a level of care between that of a primary health care facility and

that of a full service hospital, perhaps more like a specialized ur-
gent care facility.

5 Maternity care could be added to this list, but is not included here to avoid confusion with re-
gard to the focus on child health.
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Compilex cases that require extensive or prolonged care, surgical
and maternity facilities, etc., would need to be referred to other
area hospitals, but a large number of patients with life-threatening
illness could be freaied at low cost, and discharged within a day
or two,

This model of an urgent care facility fits well with the model being

- ___developed for.em ergency.maternity_care;.that.is, there.is plans to.

“havé one Emérgency Obstetric Care (EOC) facility to serve as a
referral centre for several primary health care cenires.

in order for the Centre’s diarrhoea hospital 1o evolve info a facility
for these iilnesses, several pre-requisites have to be considered.
These include:

> Provision of proper physical facilities to manage patients
with ALR!I and severe malnutrition

> A decrease in the number of diarhoea patients to make
room for the patients with other conditions

A patient reimbursement scheme that will make the new
facility more self-sustaining

Training of providers to this new strategy for care

Franchising the treatment for diarrhoeqa, ALRI and severe
malnutrition to other NGO clinics in Dhaka-

Referral system which allows the new ICCDR.B “urgent
- care” facility 1o send patients needing hospital care to
other hospitals

Marketing of the new treatment facility to inform the poten-
tial clients of the changes in services provided

Clear statement of goals of the new facility as a research
and model clinic, such that the Ministry of Health under-
siands that the ICDDR,B will be unable to assume responsi-
bility for the care of all patients in Dhaka who may choose
to come

> A strategy for converting from the current hospital to the
new urgent care facility

Financiat Plan For New Treatment Facility

The new facility will need to plan for efficient conduct of research,
minimum cosis, maximum cost-effectiveness, cost recovery, and
logistics. These are needed, not only to make it susicinable for the
ICDDR,B, but also to make it adaptable to the MOHFW and NGOs.
Thus, when developing the facility, a business manager will be
need to be recruited to assist in the design and to monitor person-
nel, medical records, quality assurance, costing, and efficiency. 1t
is planned thai the budget for the facility will not exceed US$ 1 mil-
lion annually for patient care activities. Research costs will be in
addition to this amount, but will be covered by specific research
projects.
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To cover the costs of the patient care, we anticipate the following
incomes:

Income from Hospital Endowment Fund 200,000
Income from the Diagnostic Centre 350,000
income from surcharge on research studies 100,000
Income from patient recovery 50,000
Income from Government of Bangladesh 500,000
Total 1,100,000

This facility reguires a separation of budgets from those of the cur-
rent Clinical Sciences Division {CSD) and those of the Hospital (but
without administrative separation). To explain, the Head CSD will
remain in charge of the Hospital, and will supervise a manager of
the Hospital. In addition, the Head of the CSD will be in charge of
the clinical research activities of the Division. As the Hospital re-
quires physician time, this will be "purchased” from the physicians
in the Division. However, the Hospital will only pay for the actual
physician requiremenis that it needs to care for the paiients. As is
the present case, nurses and paramedics can carry out much of
the work of the Hospital, and the provider mix will be determined
in order to maximize the cost-effectiveness of the re-designed
hospital. This may result in an assessment that the Centre currently
has more physicians than it requires for the Hospital. If not justified
by the patient care requirements, the physicians will need to have
research protocols, consulting, or technical assistance projects to
cover their salaries.

It is anficipated that the MOKFW will more actively purchase
medical services for its citizens through contract mechanisms.
Most certainly, the contracts will require the services to be low
cost. The Centre will position itself to successfully obtain these con-
fracts and should then be able to obtain significant funding to
provide the care administered through the Hospital.

In March 2000, the Centre infroduced a patient registratfion fee of
10 Taka. There are no other charges, either for food or medicine,
and this registration fee only pays a token amount toward the rea!
cost of the treatment given. This charge has recently been in-
creased to 20 Taka and we will encourage those who are finan-
cially agble fo contribute an extra amount, and we will consider
whether specific fees should be introduced to cover the costs of
medicine and food more adeguately.

Referrals o other hospitals

This plan will only be successful if there are other hospitals to which
the excess patients can be referred. This referral system must be
developed with the MOHFW. However, this would seem to be no

¢ To adjust for inflation, the hospital endowment will need to increase to 10,000,000 USD. provid-
ing up to 400,000 per year
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different than the problems that the NGO primary clinics have
now when dealing with patients, other than the patient expecia-
tions may be different when coming to the ICDDR,B.

The most logical plan is to assist organizations to start similar urgent

care facilities based on the lessons learned from the ICDDR.B. To

assist with the development of these other urgent care facilities,

= - =
way in which to make these facilities function using minimal re-
sources. The NGOs may not have the same financial resources as
ICDDR.B (e.g. from the endowment and the Diagnostic Cenire),
and thus, will need to have solid economic data that will con-
vince the MOHFW to invest in these facilities.

The urgent care model is not intended to be an alternative to the |
primary care clinic but rather as a facility where many patients

with life-threatening illnesses can find care when they need an al-

ternative to a hospital. Currently, there are no other facilities like

ICDDR.B other than general hospitals, but it is widely agreed that

these hospitals are unable to manage the large number of pa-

fients who need treatment, added to which, their patient care

treatment is very costly.

Other clinical services that interact with the treatment facility

Currently, the Centre operates a clinical laboratory facility that

carries out routine tests. These tests are provided on a fee-for-

service basis for research. protocols as well as to paying clients

who choose to use the laboratory at the Cenire because of its -
high reputation. The Cenire is in the process of improving these

facilities into a “diagnostic centre,” to make it more user-friendly,

and to expand the range of diagnostic tests being performed. It is

expected that the diagnostic facility can subsidize the hospital

costs to some extent, while continuing to increase its range of i
tests. .

There have been suggestions that the Centre have private cabins
- with an enhanced level of personal services for patients who are
able to pay the necessary cost. Preliminary evaluations have
found that such a system would be unlikely to be cost-beneficial
for the Centre uniess a large number of such beds were available. -
Further, it may distract from the stated mission of the Centre. This

suggestion for private paying beds will therefore need further re-

view and evaluation.

Another suggestion is 10 provide clinical services for employees of
other companies. The Cenire's staff clinic has developed an ex-
cellent reputation for providing excellent. preventive care and
general medical care for the staff and immediate families of the
Centre at minimai cost. Furthermore, the system that has been put
into place for more complex care, using a pre-paid medical plan
model, has been successfully established. Other companies have
expressed inferest in purchasing this service from our staff clinic.
The Centre could decide to offer employee health services to
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other companies, embassies, etc., and this would provide addi-
fional income that would subsidize the Hospital. Additionally, it
would direct some of the laboratory specimens to our laboratory
and increase this activity as well.

Thus, using the Centre’'s experience in clinical research and its ex-
pertise, within its overall mission, the Hospital would have the ability
to eamn significant income in order to subsidize its costs. During the
next year, a decision will be reached on which of these is more
apperopriate.

Interaction of Hospital with Clinical Research

A central mission of the Hospital is to conduct clinical research.
Thus, the patients coming to the Hospital must be the fypes of pa-
tients needed for the Centre's mission. Currently, a very small pro-
portion of the patients (less than 1%} is included in a research pro-
tocols. This represents a mismatch between the patients served
and the research needs of the protocols that have been devel-
oped. tither the categories of patients being treated need to
change, or the protocols being developed need to better fit the
patient mix. It is assumed that both types of changes are
needed, and in fact it is possible to learn of the hrue research
needs by stuadying the characteristics of the patients being
treated.

Adapting the research to the pafients has two advantages. Firsily,
the research will be more relevant to the needs of Bangladesh
and to the poor in general and secondly, it will be financiaily
beneficial to the Centre since the research protocols will increas-
ingly benefit the Centre's financial situation.

Laboratory Services

Clinical Laboratory and Diagnostic Unit {CLOU)
The clinical laboratory tests specimens for research studies, speci-
mens from the Hospital for clinicat care, and specimens for pa-
tients who come to the Centre on a fee-for-service basis. In the
near future, the clinical laboratories will be incorporated into a
new Clinical Laboratory and Diagnostic Unit [CLDU) that will in-
clude the resources for the current tests, but it will be expanded to
include sonography, radiology. endoscopy, histopathology and
cytopathology, as weil as testing of purity of water and food sam-
ples for arsenic and pathogenic bacteria. The range of clinical
fests will continue to expand depending on the demand for such
tests [e.g. serum lead levels for children). The concept of the Cen-
ire is to provide services to the greater Dhaka area and to gener-
ate some revenue to subsidize the Hospital.

The clinical laboratory is one unit of the Centre that is
currently profitable. There is general agreement that
there is much more demand for these services. There-
fore. if the Centre were to provide additionai services,
patients will be eager to use them, and to pay for
them. The reason for the popularity of the Centre's

Photograph of the new diag-
nositic unit
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laoboratory is the reliability of the results and the reosonobly good
service.

The Centre is renovating space on the ground floor where the ser-
vices can be expanded. !t is expected that the new space will be
more user-friendly, and wilt allow for faster service. If there contin-
ves to be increased demand, additional neighbourhood cenires
for specimen collection may be needed in Guilshan, Dhanmondhi -~ - ——

Bt e — e

and Mirpur. Spécimens will still be sent to the’ Centre's main clinical
laboratory, but the results will be faxed or sent by modem to the
neighbourhood centre.

The CLDU will likely require a full-time pathologist to be head of the
unit. Consuliant specialists will need to be recruited for sonogra-
phy, ECG and radiclogy. The new CLDU will need to continue to
upgrade its equipment, and the new equipment will be justified
on the basis of a business-like approach in terms of "return on in-
vestment.”

A specific additional requirement will be to anticipate the labora-
tory requirements for managing the patients with HIV-AIDS. Cur-
renfly, the Centre's laboratory is one of the few laboratories with
reliable HIV serology (including confirmatory western blot tests),
and it will likely need to establish polymerase chain reaction as-
says and flow cytometry. The latter equipment has been ordered
and will be operational during early 2002.

Research Laboratories

The laboratories conduct studies in a variety of fields including en-
teric and respiratory microbiology. STI/RTl, environmental microbi-
ology, immunology, parasitology, bacterial genetics, and nuiri-
tional biochemistry. These |laboratories have been extremely pro-
ductive, but some capabilities need to be added, especially in
the areas of additional molecular biology, arsenic, and serology
laboratories where GCP methods can be carried out for vaccine
tricls. Key for this is a modern serum bank with computerized and
well-characterized specimens.

The research laboratories require more space to
accommodafe the additional protocols under
way and being planned. Some space (six units)
are in the process of renovalion on the second
floor to provide this extension, but even more
space will be needed when added floors are
built. The |aboratories also need additional
equipment, and the new lab equipment is ex-
pensive. A flow-cytometer has been added
recently, but additional big-ticket items are
needed (e.g. electron -microscope, and se-
quencer).

Photograph of flow cytometer lab
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Urban and rural field areas

Matlab

Matlab remains as the major rural field area of the Centre. The sta-
tion boasts over 35 years of history and data collection on a cur-
rent populafion, and it remains a major resource for the Centre
and for research on health issues of developing countries. Many of
the guestions of crucial importance to public health can only be
answered definitively in Maflab, and these issues are ones that
were never anticipated even five years ago. The Centre has re-
cently embarked on a major study on low birth weight, testing nu-
tritional interventions in an attempt to reduce low birth weight and
improve healin and survival. Other interventions are reproductive
health, including subcentre-based emergency obstetric care and
male involvement, community-based IMCI, water filtration to pre-
vent cholera, as well as determining the epidemiology of tubercu-
losis in rural Bangladesh. Additional research projects include
characterization of family planning successes and constraints,
confraceptive use dynamics, defining the relationship between
abortion and family planning, and understanding why fertility rates
have not declined in recent years in spite of increasing contra-
ceptive prevalence rates. Anticipated studies include vaccine ef-
ficacy trials for cholera, enterotoxigenic E£. coli and rotavirus. An
unanticipated oppoertunity was the need for ¢ population data-
base on which to evaluate the safety of routinely administered
vaccines. There is no other site like Matlab for conducting this
evaiuation in terms of its large sample size, long-term follow-up,
and data quality.

A major effort went into combining the demographic surveillance
system (DSS) and the record keeping system (RKS). The first re-

corded demographic data while the latter

recorded illness and hedlth care service | Photograph of speed boat

events, especially related o health of children
ond mothers. These itwo systems are now
combined and ongoing data are collected
and organized within one HDSS database.

Matlab is only 35 miles away from Dhaka, but
nas felt separated from Dhaka by the 3-hour
frip required to travel by car and speedboat.

This disiance has been effectively made closer
oy the microwave link that was established during 2001 allowing
data and voice fransmission between Dhaka and Matlab and
Internet access for Matlab. We anticipate that it will also allow for
video-conferencing between Dhaka and Matlab.

Plans for Matlab include completing some needed expansion to
fhe hospital building, completing the EOC facilities in cooperation
with the Government of Bangladesh, and continuing to plan and
implement new interventions that can then be scaled up for im-
plementation in other parts of the country.
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Other Rural Field Areas

The Centre works in several other field areas in addition to Matlab
and each of these adds much-needed capabilities and re-
sources. The largest of these are the rural extension areas that are
part of the Family Health Research Project (FHRP), but other areas
include the very innovative self-help project in Chakaria, the Epi-
demic Control and Preparedness Project senfinel surveillance sites,

ZTSITERd BINP sites. the new site for neonatdl interventions'in'Syliét and = —= =~ = =

Mirzapur and other areas. At all of these sites, the Centre works in
collaboration with the Ministry of Health and Family Welfare and /
or NGOs.

The newly-designed FHRP provides some resources for the exten-
sion area, but these sites will need to identify other donors to con-
tinue their operations. They are expecied fo be sufficiently useful
for other projects that will make them sustainable based on this
project support.

Urban Field Areas

The Centre's urban magjor community
projects are locaied in Kamalapur and | Photograph of Kamalapur
Mirpur. The first, with its population of 140,000
is located close to the train station in a slum
area and is rapidly becoming an "urban
Matlab.” I has been exiremely useful for
studies on pneumonia, and is now the site for
studies on shigellosis, influenza vaccine, and
dengue and we anficipate that it will be
useful for additional studies of
communicable diseases as well as health
systems research. in cooperation with the Urban Family Health Pro-
ject, this area will be used for studies on urban hedalth, including
how best to provide health services, how best to set up referral sys-
tems, and how to finance urban health programmes. The Ka-
malapur area will also be used for studies on new vaccines when
a large urban field area is needed.

The other urban area in Mirpur has been used for smaller but in-
tensive studies of cohorts of children. For example, studies on the
epidemiology of amoebiasis using molecular techniques, Phase /11
studies of new vaccines for enterotoxigenic E. coli and rofavirus,
and community-based interventions for malnuirition are cutrently
ongoing. It is anficipated that this field area wili continue as the
site for other infensive community-based studies. -

information Sciences Division (ISD)

The Division was formed in 2001 as a way to bring together the
Computer Information Services (CIS). the Dissemination and Infor-
mation Services Unit {DISC) and the Training and Educaiion Unit
(TEU) as well as to upgrade the information services to the Centre,
e.g data archiving, data management, etc. Each of these units
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remains as units within the Centre but itis anticipated that they will

act increasingly as a coordinated Division.

Training and Education Unit (TEU)

The TEU plays a key role in the Centre’s sfrategy to disseminate its
research findings to health professionals in geveloping countries.
Since 1978, the TEU has been offering short-term iraining courses,
usually lasting two weeks, in the clinical management and labora-
tory diagnosis of diarrhoeal diseases, nutrition, family planning and

reproduciive health, biostaftistics, epidemiology and
research methods. This unit also coordinates short-
term fellowship programmes. To date, over 20,000
researchers,  physicians, |laboratory personnei,
managers, frainers and students from 78 countries
have received training at the Centre. Mosi come
from the developing world, but trainees from North
America, Europe and Japan have also
participated.

The cobjectives of the training programme are to

Photograph of training session

promote human resources development by

strengthening capacity in:

»

T
»

S
~

Research techniques

Mancagement of diarrthoeal diseases and family planning
services

Responding to new and emerging issues in health and
population.

The TEU's strategy for development over the next five years fo-
cuses on:

hS
»

Y/

The development of tools and technigues for making the
Centre’s courses available by distance leaming to trainees
around the world. This will initially concentrate on produc-
ing printed training modules, and then making these avail-
able on the Internet and on CD-ROM. Additional reference
materials to assist frainees will also be added.

Collaboration with nationa! and regional universities to en-
able participants at the Centre's courses to gain credits for
degree-level quclifications. The courses offered are in great
demand and highly valued by trainees and their employers
anc the additional benefit of degree-level credits would
make them even more atftractive. The contacts established
with the universities concerned will ciso have the anciliary
effect of enlarging the number of resource persons avail-
able to pariicipate in the courses.

Ol
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» Developing new fraining courses in areas in which the Cen-
ire has world-class expertise, such as demographic surveil-
lance and severe infant malnutrition. The training pro-
gramme must keep pace with changes and
developments in the Centre's research | Photo of new computer lab
programmes, as well as with requests from
potential porﬂcipon’rs cotlcborohng mshiu—

e e s
[P

= ={ions and donors = —= ——— = o o —om e = s

> The re-infroduction of a training fellowship
scheme, enabling trainees to participate in
Centre projects and so gain first-hand ex-
perience of the Centre’s methods and tech-
nigues. There is a continued demand from
the region for more long-term training in the
methods and techniques used at the Centre.
in the past, the Centre has provided
scholarships for training fellows to be attached to a particu-
lar project or unit to work with Centre staff and so gain first-
hand experience and hands-on fraining. At present, there
are few funds available for this type of training. The training
programme will endeavour to identify funding to support
the re-introduction of such a scheme.

> Making the training programme self-sufficient, by promot-
ing and marketing the fraining courses to donors ond po-
tential participants around the world.

Dissemination and Information Services Centre (DISC)

DISC is the central gateway to the Centre for the two-way flow of
information, both incoming and outgoing. It includes sub-units
concerned with information provision {library], publications and
audiovisuals.

The mission of DISC is to diffuse the results of global health, nutrition
and population research to solve common problems, especially in
the context of the developing world. It aims to achieve this by:

> S_en)ing as an effective information management and dis-
semination centre in the fields of health, population, nutri-
tion and related subjects

Opiii‘nizing the application of imprbved practices of infor-
mation storage, retrieval, publication and dissemination

Encouraging the free flow of information, so helping to
avoid duplication of research efforts

Preparing and publishing the Cenfre’s periodicals and re-
poris

Providing audiovisual and photographic services

Developing and maintaining computerized databases on
publications and contacts.

During the next five years, DISC's strategy is to:
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» Evolve inio an elecironic information store by creating dig:-
tized archives of the Cenire's publications, selected papers
published by Centre authors elsewhere, research project
proposals and related materials, and fraining materials in
support of the distance learning programme. These ar-
chives will be searchable both within the Cenire and on the
Internet. Digitization serves two purposes — preservation and
accessibility. The oider printed material relating to the es-
tablishment and history of the Centre are in danger of de-
terioration beyond repair. Digitization will preserve them for
the future. At present, only users in the iibrary can consult
these materials - digitization enables copies to be held in
several different locations and even to be purchased and

) used by individuals and institutions around the world.

\4

Provide increasing access for Centre staff io periodicals
and external reports in electronic format via the Internet
and CD-ROM. At present, 70 percent of the periodicals sub-
scnbed to by the library are available in electronic form on
the Internet, and this percentage will only increase. By sub-
scribing to more electronic versions, DISC will overcome the
problem of printed versions being lost in the mail in transit,
Access to electronic journals and the acguisition of site li-
censes for campus-wide access, will ensure better and ap-
propriate use.

Develop additional bibliographic databases, such as a bio-
liography of Centre authors' external publications and a
bibliography of material on Bangladesh related to health,
population and nutition, and make these available on the
Internet. There is o decreasing need for the detailed dato-
bases, containing abstracts of material selected from in-
coming journals and reports, once maintained by libraries.
This infermation is now generatlly readily available on the
internetf. Effort is better expended on developing more
specialized databases in which the Centre has a compara-
tive advaniage.

A\

4

Rearrange the layout in the library to provide programme
information aregs in which the main
books and journals will be grouped | Photo of library
together. There are indications that
several programmes will be employing
liorarians or information officers in the
near future. By rearranging the library
stock in this way, this project will be
facilitated and service to users improved.

 Provide upgraded computer facilities for
library users, enabling them to access
DISC resources and the Internet. Library
users can find the answer to most, if not all of their queries
by consulting material on CD-ROMs and in the varicus da-
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tabases developed by DISC. Some users may also be al-
lowed access to the Internet in the library. In view of these
developments, up-to-date computers would need to be in-
stalled in the library to assist users in their search for informa-
fion.

Computer Information Services (CIS)

- CIS.is:responsible.for.the provision.of. moderm:|T. services, including ==

email and Iniemnet, to all scientific and support divisions in the
Centre. This includes maintenance and management of the local
area network {over 500 PCs connected), development and main-
tenance support for applications used in the Centre, training and
assistance to users.

The broad objectives of CIS are to:

Develop a fully integrated IT infrastructure, based on exist-
ing and recognized technoiogy standards and which is ca-
pable of managing and delivering information throughout
the Centre in accordance with defined requirements;

Provide end-users with a seamless interface and connec-
tivity to all applications; and

Provide direction and strategy in fulfilling these require-
ments.

CIS's future plans over the next five years focus on:

>

N
~

The development of an integrated management informa-
tion system to provide the Cenire's managers with prede-
fined reports to assist in decision-making, moniforing and
confrol.

The infroduction of a data warehouse, an Intemet applica-
tion that will allow registered users to access and download
special datasets derived from the Cenfre's demographic
surveillance work. In addition, a donor area in the ware-
house would provide access for donors to specific reports
and audit requirements. This facility will facilitate access to
data held in the Centre by our collaborators and donors.

Enhancement of the Centre's Internet presence by provid-
ing features such as forms, database interfaces and dis-
tance learning modules on the Centre web pages. This will
involve working closely with other Divisions in the Centre to
enable web interfaces to existing systems to be developed.
in this way, information from the Centre will be made more
easily available to users around the world.

Siandardization of the software and hardware used by
Cenire staff for common office automation tasks and the
provision of regular training courses, in cooperation with
TEU. The limited resources available in CIS to support and
maintain both software and hardware and the desire for
standardization within the Centre necessitate this decision.
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Human Resources Management

The Centre's Ordinance specifies that the personnel system De
similar 1o that of the United Nations. Over the years, it has become
clear that the UN system is not ideally suited to the needs of a
large research and health service provider like the ICDDR,B. Unlike
the UN, there is no guaranteed revenue each year, the work is
primarily academic / research and not administrative. The market
place for research does not allow for a civil service system like that
of the UN. Also, for international posts, the UN assumes a career
structure while the Cenire does not have a career structure for in-
ternational professional officers (IPOs).

The Board of Trustees asked the management to evolve toward a
personnel system that is based on merit, and increasingly based
on the market. The Centre is now proceeding to identify a rational
HR system and is nearing completion of reclassification of all jobs
at the Centre. The new system will adapt some compoenents of
merit system, but will not completely abandon the UN sysiem af
present. For positions that are in high demand, however, the
newer system will be more adaptable to market forces. For Bang-
ladeshi scientists who have exhibited a keen sense of innovative-
ness and productivity, the Centre has instituted a plan that allows
them to have international salaries in proportion to the grants they
secure.

The HR agenda also aims to increase emphasis on internal train-
ing, cross training, development of career tracks (“job families™),
and staff development io allow professionals and skilled workers to
reach their full potential. At the same time, the agenda encour-
ages economy of human resources so that more productive work
is accomplished with fewer staff. This can be accomplished by
cross training, out-sourcing, increasing automation, and selection
of highly qualified staff.

Certain financial aspects of the human resources are also under
review. Specifically, the costs for personnel benefits [medical
benefits, taxes, end of service payments, etc.} are now included in
the personnel costs charged 1o the projects rather than to the
common operating cost {indirect cost) pool.

The Centre formerly followed a "six-year rule” for international staff
that was inferpreted that IPO staff may serve for a maximum of six
years, at which point, they must leave ihe Cenfre or revert to @
local staff salary. This rule has now been changed for Bangladeshi
scientists and is now being reviewed for staff at infernational rank.
Further, the "six-year rule” was effectively modified to ¢ "nine-

year” rule for the Directior with an amendment to the Ordinance in
1996,

A majcr need in the HR agenda is an improved management in-
formation sysiem {MIS} to manage both finance and human re-
sources in a unified fashion. A decision will be made during the
next year to adopt such a system.
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Financial management of the Centre

The financial health of the Centre will depend on the adequacy
of the financial resources provided to the Centre by its donors (re-
source mobilization), the income from its endowment, the effi-
ciency of the Centre's management, and the Centre’s productiv-
ity. The Cenfre has an excellent reputation for financially sound
c— -=management.-and . transparent: accountingspractices,zand . if oz =

" places great emphasis on maintaining this frust. The goals of the
financial management of the Centre are to utilize the resources
made available in a manner that is responsible, and to make full
efficient use of these resources in keeping with the mission, values
and vision of the Centre.

Resource Mobilization

The broad objectives of this Resource Mobilization Strategy are to
expand the Centre's resources through the following mechanisms:

> Strengthening institutional relationships between the Centre
and its traditional donors

Expanding our base of non-traditional donors from public
and private foundations, the corporate sector and the lo-
cal business sector

Increasing support from Cenire alumni

Expanding knowledge of the Centre through contacts nur-
tured by the Cenire's Board of Trustees, alumni and sup-
porters

Structuring our project budgets to ensure full recovery for
the total costs of the project

Attracting new funds through better use of information
technology that can publicize the Centre's programmes.
and skills to a much wider -audience of professionals, re-
searchers and practitioners in the global health community

Broadening the range of activities for-our professional staff
to include fechnical assistance, consuliations, and evalua-
fion projects

Increasing income from fee-for-service activities {e.g. clini-
cal iaboratory and patient fees)

Increasing support to the endowments

Ensuring thai our senior management team, intermational
scientists and senior-level national scientists know how fo:
{a) identify new resources, {b) uiilize appropriate channels
to secure new resources and, {c) present to the donor
community a consistent and unified picture of the Centre’s
unique qudalities such as ifs location, its state-of-the-art re-
search capabilities, its wealth of human resources, and its
scientific excellence.
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This sirategy will require additional resources for the office of Exter-
nal Relations and Institutionai Development ond fraining of the
scientific staff to increasingly become responsible for the devel-
opment of successful programmes.

Cenire endowments

The Centre's endowments, raised during the last ten years, total
about US$ ¢ million, but need to grow to at least US$ 30 million. The
goal for the next five years is to reach a goal of Us $20 million by
2010. The additions to the endowment will depend on gifts from
organizations, foundations and individuals who share our godals,
and believe that a strong and stable Centre will continue to meet
the challenges of the future. The intent of the endowment is fo
provide stability, flexibility and responsiveness, and to become tess
dependent on donors. Only with a strong financial base can the

Centre respond quickly to new opportunities, and new emergen-
cies.

The endowment funds are invested conservatively and only @
modest amount (not exceeding 5% of the principail} of interest
earned is taken into revenue. Thus, the endowment is intended to
grow over time. A fund management committee, appeinted by
the Board of Trustees, oversees the fund that is currently managed
by TIAA-CREF, one of the largest investment firms in the US.

Common institutional costs

Each activity at the Centre has a budget formulated at the lime
the project is defined, and this- budget is designed fo anticipaie
the actual costs of the project. All direct costs associated with the
project are itemized. and the project director or principal investi-
gator has authority and responsibility to manage this account
within the rules of the Centre, and under the supervision of the Di-
vision Head and the Director. Some costs, however, are more dif-
ficult to itemize {e.g. the costs for the administrative offices, pro-
curement, the Director's Office. or costs for the Board of Trustees,
etc.) These costs are, thus, categorized as the common institu-
tional cosis that are currently calculated to be about 32% in addi-
tion to the directly itemized cost, but can vary slightly from year to
year. These rates are actually low when compared fo similar rates
for US universitiest, and are much lower than for-profit organiza-
fions.,

The Centre receives income in the form of both project as well as
unrestricteds support. The unrestricted donctions are available for
the Centre to use in the most effective way for the overcll benefit
of the programme of the Centre. Project funds, however, cre des-
ignated for specific projects, and all costs for these projects are
tracked to validate the appropriate use of the funds. Most donors

+ US universities typically have indirect costs of aboui 60 to 80%.
5 Sometimes referred to as “core” support.
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who provide project-funding pay the full cost of the project, in-
cluding the common institutional costs, but a few donors have
rules that do not allow these common costs, or set a cap on ihe
percent that can be included as common institutional costs.
When a project donor provides less than the full cost of the pro-
ject, the core donors must co-fund the project in order for the pro-
ject to be completed. Thus, in the future, the additional costs for

T hese common: costs  will Be -ackhowlédged inpublications;-and
will be reported 1o the core donors. Using this mechanism, the
Cenire will be able to track the vaiue of the core donors. In fact,
the Centre will show that the core donors make it possible to carry
out the work of the Cenire, and that many of the projects would
not be possible without this core support. Likely, some projects
may not be possible if the primary donor is not wiling to pay
common institutional costs, if there are not sufficient funds from
unrestricted sources to co-fund the project.

Financial efficiency and reporting

The Centre’s financial management is one of the Centre's great
strengths as its computerized system accurately records each
transaction and makes it possible to provide reports to donors as
required. During the coming years, the Centre, however, will be
adopting a new computerized financial package, coordinated
with the HR section, to manage all of its financial and HR functions.

A critical feature of the financial system is to have information on
which to base sound management decisions. As a part of the
Strategic Plan, each of the units of the Cenire will be reviewed to
examine ways in which to cut costs and so make the Centre as
cost-efficient as possible. The Centre underwent a downsizing
process in 1998, resulling in a reduction of about 200 permanent
positions, and the Centre continues to carefully moniior cost, and
ihis cost efficiency has paid off in terms of balanced annual
budgets during the iast three years.

Monitoring Mechanisms for implementing the Sirategic Plan

The Strategic Plan serves many functions including informing all
the stakeholders, on the priorities, activities, and goals of the Cen-
tre. It is meant to be a dynamic instrument thai allows for some
changes when absolutely needed, but should ideally be a guide
for the Centre. To operate effectively, the Plan will be monitored
regularly to determine if the activities are on frack. The tracking of
aciivities will be done by means of log frame, showing means of
verification for each performance indicator identified. Also, each
Programme will develop annual work plans, which will serve as an
additional basis for monitoring its activities. Further, each Pro-
gramme will identify new areas of research, not included in ihe
Strategic Plan, for consideration of the Scientific Council, as fo
which of the new activities should be included as additional priori-




ICDDR.B: CENTRE FOR HEALTH AND POPULATION RESEARCH STRATECIC PLAN

ties of the Centre. The monitoring activity will consist of a report of
each protocol activity and matching this report with the Strategic
Plan. These reports will be prepared every six months by each
Principal Investigator and unit head, and reviewed at the Scien-
tific Council. These reports will then form the basis for reporting to
the donors, and the Board of Trustees. When the actual activities
differ significantly from the Plan, these will be carefully evaluated
to determine if they should be inciuded in the Plan, or if ihey
should be reconsidered for de-emphasis. Also, when there are
problems in effective implementation of activities. the Scientific
Council wili provide guidance regarding the optimal solutions.
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Annex I: A BRIEF HISTORY OF ICDDR,B

1860

Pakistan-SEATO Cholera Research Laboralory established.

1963

Matlab field station started.

First of a series of cholera vaccine trials launched.

e — — o e . e e e b e s e e

“Demographic Surveillance System established.”~ T T T 7T T T T T -

1968

First successful clinical trials of Oral Rehydration Solution.

1969

Relationship between stopping breast-feeding and resumption of menstruation demonstrated.

1971

Independence of Bangladesh.

1973

Shift from Classical to El Tor cholera identified.

1977

Maternal Child Heaith and Family Planning interventions began in Matlab. .

1978

Government of Bangladesh Ordinance establishing ICDDR,B signed.

1981

New Dhaka hospital built.

Urban Volunteer Programme initiated,

Classical cholera returned.
Field-testing of cereal Oral Rehydration Solution began.
MCH-FP Extension Project began.

First issue of the Journal of Diarrhoeal Disease Research published.

Epidemic Control Preparedness Programme initiated.

ICDDR,B received UNICEF's Maurice Pate award,

Full Expanded Programme of lfnmunization activities tested in Matlab.

WC/BS cholera vaccine trial launched,

ICDDR,B received USAID's "Science and Technology for Development” award.

Treatment of and research into Acute Respiraiory Infection began.

The Matlab record-keeping system, specially adapted for government use, extended to the naﬁdna! family
planning programme. B -

The new Matlab Health and Research Centre opened

ICODR, B scientists assist in the response to the diarrhoeal disease epidemics after the cyclone in southern
Bangladesh, and the cholera epidemic in South America.

ICDDR,B-Bangladesh Rural Advaqcei‘nent Committee study comrﬁenced.

New Sasakawa Intermnational Training Centre built.

New laboratories built and equipped

New Vibrio cholerae 0139 — Bengal identified and characterized.

ICDDR,B celebrated the 25th anniversary of the first successful clinical trial of ORS.

Operations Research Project (ORP), following the merger of the former MCH-FFP Extension Project (Rural
and Urban), was set up as the sole source for the entire National integrated Population and Health Project
{NIPHP), funded by USAID for 1997-2004.

Nutrition Centre of Excellence (NCOE) was set up under a World Bank grant lo undertake operations re-
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search in nutrition as part of Bangladesh Integrated Nutrition Programme (BINP).

Maijor initiatives in infectious diseases began with studies / interventions on dengue, malaria and T8.

2000 WHO recommends use of oral cholera vaccine based largely on studies carried out at the Centre in 1985.
Journal of Diarrhoeal Disease Research is re-launched as the Journal of Health Population and Nutrition
Centre is awarded the first ever Gates Award for Global Health. Government of Bangladesh provides
matching funds to create Gates-Bangladesh fund at the Centre.
Low birth weight study starts to define potential interventions to reduce low birth weight and improve child
2001  health and development
Operations Research Project converted to Family Health Research Project to support Essential Services
Package
Arsenic and health outcomes project starts
Major studies on neonatal health are started.
2002 First report of mortality benefit from supplemental zinc

Centre celebrates 40 million children saved from ORS at event at UN in New York
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Annex |l: EXAMPLES OF COLLABORATIONS OF THE CENTRE

Bangladesh " International

INFS/DU, Dhaka Medical College JHU, USAID, SDC, Institute of Child Health,
~(DMC) == v omrrm e e — - —— | - LUCL, Univ California, Davis, industrial partners ...

MOHFW, DGHS, DFP, DCC, NIPHP Partners in Population and Development (PPD},
Partners, IHE/DU NiH-USA, CDC-Atlanta, International Vaccine
Institute —Korea, industrial partners

DMC, Salimuliah Medical College, University of Leuven, Karolinska Institute, Na-
Shishu Hospital, GoB, NGOs, tional Institute of Child Health and Human De-
{(BWHC, Concern) velopment, Maryland, JHU, SMI- Stockholm,
Sweden, Nationa! Institute of Cholera and En-
teric Diseases, - India, National Institute of Infec-
tious Diseases —Japan, CDC - Atlanta, Emory
University, University of Edinburgh, industrial
partners

MOHFW, DGHS, DFP, DHC, Birdem, | JHU, PRISMA, Peru, Univ Maryland, London
Universities, BIDS, Bangabandhu School of Tropica! Medicine, INDEPTH, NID!-
Medical University, Holy Family Red Netherlands, Comell Univ

Crescent Hospital, NGOs

Centre-wide Collaboration: World Bank, UNICEF, WHO, UNAIDS, UNFPA, PPD

Nature of collaboration
Material Support
Scientific
Technical Assistance
Expert advice
Exchange of ideas
Financial support
Technology fransfer to the Centre
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Annex Ill: KEY RESEARCH ISSUES BY CURRENT EXPERTISE, COMPARA.-
TIVE ADVANTAGE AND PRIORITY

Child Heaith

RESEARCH ISSUES

CURRENT
EXPERTISE®

COMPARATIVE
ADVANTAGE'

EXPECTED PRIORITY'

2000

2005 ‘

2010 |

1 Surveillance and management of
common childhood illnesses

= Levels, trends and patterns of childhood ill-
ness and death

= Management of childhood illnesses (IMCI)

=> Prevention and management of childhood
illness in the community

++

++4

++

4

++

2. Improving perinatal / neonatal
health

= Levels, trends and causes of neonatal death
Management of neonatal sepsis

Newborn care

Prevention and management of asphyxia
Pregnancy and delivery based interventions

by el

+++

+44

+++

3. Strengthening and expansion of
immunization programmes
= Strengthen routine immunization programmes

= Disease burden and cost-effectiveness
evaluation for new chitdhood vaccines

= Disease control and reduction targets

++

4. Childhood growth and develop-
ment
= Improving caring practices in the community

= Incorperating nutritional interventions in child
health services

=» Chiidhood development interventions
= Preventing foetal growth retardation

++

5. Strengthening health systems for
the delivery of child heaith services

=> Improving child health services

Improving health services in support of IMCI
Impact and cost-effectiveness of IMCI
Alternative service delivery strategies

Ul

U

++

+4+

++

++

=1

- Understanding and responding to
emerging childhood health problems
= Prevention of childhood injuries

= Levels, lrends, patterns and consequences of
non-communicable morbidities in children

++

++

{ B N . .
" + indicates some, ++ moderate, and +++ high level of current expertise/comparative advantage

0 indicales no, + low, ++ moderate, and +++ high level of priority
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Reproductive Health

o
CURRENTa COMPARATIVE EXPECTED PRIORITY
T
EXPERTISE ADVANTAGE 2000 I 2005

RESEARCH ISSUES
: 2010 J

Ll 2, = Delermine cost-effective, acoeptable, afford- — ¢ - : = ==
able interventions o reduce maternal mortality
= Develop strategies to train, deploy and sus-
tain skilled attendants during delivery
= Measure progress towards improvement of
matemal health

-. 1. Safe motherhood + +++ ++ +++ +++

2. Family Planning

= Determine the most cost-effective, acceptable
and affordable interventions to further reduce
fertility to reach replacement levels

= Develop strategies to access them

3. Adolescent health

= Determine factors responsibie for heaith risk
behavicur among adolescents

= Develop appropriate health indicators for
behavioural change in unmarried adolescents

= Develop service delivery approaches for re-
productive health services for adolescents

4. STI-RTI/ HIV-AIDS

= Determine impact of interventions on STI -
RT1 / HIV-AIDS/Sexual health in preventing
further transmission

= Develop public health interventions to prevent
/ combat HIV/AIDS in a low prevalence country
like Bangladesh '

5. Maternal nutrition

=» Explore causes for poor nutrition in women, -
especially during pregnancy

= Determine effect / impact of maternal nutri-
tion/nutrition supplementation on matemat
morbidity, pregnancy outcome and birth-weight

6. Abortion care

= Develop strategies to reduce abortion-related
mortality and morbidity

7.Violence against women

= Assess magnitude, type and reasons for vio-
lence against women

= Develop strategies to reduce violence against
women

® + indicates some, ++ moderate, and +++ high level of current expertise/comparative advantage
® g indicates no, + low, ++ moderate, and +++ high level of priority
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Nutrition

RESEARCH ISSUES

CURRENT
EXPERTISE™

COMPARATIVE
ADVANTAGE'

EXPECTED PRIORITY"

2000

2005

2010

1. Newborn heaith and breast feeding
=» Develop strategies to reduce neonatal mortal-
ity and to increase exclusive breastfeeding
= Determine barriers to appropriate breastfeed-

ing

++

+

++4+

+++

2. Maternal Mainutrition and LBW

= Strategies to improve maternal nutrition and
adetescent nutrition

= Stralegies to understand determinants of ma-
temal and adolescent nutrition

= Strategies to improve and manage LBW

++

+++

+++

+44+

3. Severe and Moderate Mainutrition

= Understanding the determinants of moderate
and severe malnutrition

= Clinical studies to improve treatment of com-
plications of severe malnutriton

= Extend treatment of severe malnutrition to the
community

++

+++

+4++

+4++

+4

4. Infant and Child Feeding

= Strategic studies to improve breast feeding
practices

= Understanding and behavioural study on
complementary feeding

=> Improving complementary feeding and child
growth

++

++

+4

++

5. Child Development

= Studies on physiology, magnitude and deter-
minants of development

= Studies on improving child development with

malnutrition with different biclegical and social
implications

++

++

6. Micronutrient Research and
intervention

= Impact and determinants of micronutrients
deficiencies

= Test strategies for improving micronutrient
malnutrition

++

+++

++

++4

+4++

7. Infectious Disease and Nutrition
interaction

= |mpact, magnitude and determinant studies on
infection-malnutrition

= Strategic studies on prevention and curative
measures of infection-mainutrition cycle.

" + indicates some, ++ moderate, and +++ high level of current expertise/comparative advantage

' 0 indicates no, + low, ++ moderate, and +++ high level of pricrity
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Infectious Diseases and Vaccine Sciences

CURRENT | COMPARATIVE EXPECTED PRIORITY"™
2000 J

RESEARCH ISSUES EXPERTISE'? | ADVANTAGE'

1. Evaluate promlsmg vaccme candi- t++ t+

= Diarrhoeal diseases

= Respiratory diseases

= Dengue and vector-borne
= TB

2. Define disease incidence and bur-
den of disease

Diarrhoeal diseases

Respiratory diseases

TB

Vector-bome diseases

Sexually-transmitted infections

3. Define risk factors, clinical, socio-
logic, nutritional, and other character-
istics when developing strategies for
prevention and control
= Diarrhoeal diseases

Respiratory diseases

Vector-borne diseases

Sexually-transmitted infections

Newly emerging diseases

Identify, implement and evaluate
strategles for reducing maorbidity and
mortality from infecticus diseases
= Treatment regimens
= Community interventions/awareness
= |[mproved management

3. Enhance Centre-wide focus on re-
search of the priority infectious dis-
:ases: Diarrhoeal diseases, respira-
‘ory infections, vector-borne dis-
zases, TB, STD’s {including HIV)

6. Enhance capacity to investigate
infectious disease outbreaks in Bang-
ladesh and the region to use scien-
tific methods to develop and imple-
ment strategies for outbreak control

= Lab “surge poteniial” )

= Epidemic response teams (national)

= Other out-breaks

= Regional response team

2 + indicates some, ++ moderate, and +++ high level of current expertise/comparative advantage
" 0 indicates no, + low, ++ moderate, and +++ high level of priority
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Health and Family Planning Systems

RESEARCH ISSUES

CURRENT
EXPERTISE™

COMPARATIVE
ADVANTAGE'

EXPECTED PRIORITY'" |

2000

2005

2010

1. Service delivery for integrated

package of essential health and

family planning services {ESP)

= Cost-effective and sustainable sirategies
and operational sub-systems for ESP de-
livery through government, NGO and
commercial programmes
Appropriate strategies for incorporating
new! efficacious interventions
Strengthening quality of services and
strategies for meeting client satisfaction
Strategies for use of monitoring/evaluation

tools and results for local level planning of
ESP programme

++

++

++

+++

b4+

2. Economic analyses and financg-
ing of health and family planning
systems

= Demand, costing and cost-effectiveness
analyses

= Strategies for health financing and im-
proved financial sustainability

3. Health equity

= Mechanisms to analyse/monitor types,
extent and causes of inequities

Design and testing pro-equity interven-
tion{s)

4. Public-private partnership

= Design and testing effective strategies for
public-private parinership in ESP delivery

5. Meeting additional (emerging)

health and family planning needs

of the communities

== Appropriate methods/tools to identify addi-
tional needs by involving local communities

= Design and testing additional health and
FP needs identification methodologies

6. TA for translation of research
findings into policy and action
Communication/advocacy skills and ap-

propriate steps for translation of research
into policy and action

TA for cost-effective and sustainable repli-
cation of successful research findings

* + indicates some, ++ moderate, and +++ high level of current expertise/comparative advantage
® 0 indicates no, + low, ++ moderate, and +++ high level of priority
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Population

RESEARCH ISSUES

CURRENT
EXPER-
TISE'®

COMPARAT!VE
ADVANTAGE'

| EXPECTED PRIORITY"

| 2000 | 2005

l 2010

1. Fertility decline in Bangladesh
= ZiUnderstand the levelling of fertility decline *~—
= Focusing new interventions 1o overcome the
resistance to further fertility decline.

+++

+4+

+++

+++

+4++

2, Contraceptive use dynamics

= Understanding relation of discontinuation
and choice of contraceptives

= _ Understanding high discontinuation rates

3. Interrelation between abortion and

contraceptive use

= Determine how to maximize family planning
programmes to avoid unintended pregnancy

= Transfer lessons from Matlab to the GoB

= |dentify families with high risk of abortion

4. Health & Demographic Survelllance

System

= Maintain the HDSS

= Archive cohorts from past for future analysis

= . Begin comparative studies with others in the
In-Depth network

= Validate rapid demographic methods

5. Ageing and adult health issues
= Characterize adult health issues
= Quanlify burden of disease from disability

6. Education and family size .
= Characterize relation between education,
other SES factors, and demographic events

7. Poverty and rapid population growth

8. Urbanization and rural-urban migra-

tion’

= Characterize the push and pull factors for
urbanization

| 9. Utilization of health and family plan-
ning services
= Urban areas
=> Rural areas

10. Health equity, poverty and popula-

tion

= Develop methods for measuring equity in
programmes

= Describe characteristics of equitable and
non-equitable interventions

® + indicates some, ++ moderate, and +++ high level of current expertise/comparative advantage
¥ 0 indicates no, + low, ++ moderate, and +++ high level of priority




ANNEX IV: RESEARCH PRIORITIES, QUESTIONS, AND RELATED INFORMATION

Child Health

Annex |V

Priority Areas

Key Research Questions

Performance Indica-
tors

Resource Needs -

- Benefitto s
‘i -Centre/ mis- "

e
3t

- slon 5k

~ ¥ Expected Policy/
~+#Programmatic Im-
=¥ pact

Current Strengths
and Comparative
Advantages

1.

Surveillance
and manage-
ment of com-
mon child-
hood illnesses

What are the levels, trends

and patterns of childhood ill-

ness and cause of death? Can
monitoring tools be improved?

Can the recognition, assess-
ment and management of
childhood illnesses be im-
proved? Can IMCi case man-
agement guidelines he im-
proved and what impact do
they have?

What strategies can be used
for the prevention and man-
agement of childhood illness in
the community? How can we
improve caring and care-
seeking praclices? What com-
munity-based nutri-
tion/micronutrient programmes
are effective and can be incor-
porated into programmes?

umber of projects de-
veloped, funded and
implemented.

oliaborative links es-
tablished.

umber of publications,
dissemination activi-
ties, conferences and
workshops.

ngoing dialogue with
poticy-makers, stake-
holders, government
and non-governmental
agencies, international
agencies and scientific
community ta deter-
mine key research
needs, interpret re-
search findings and
initiate policy change

trategies, tools and
protocols developed
and evaluated

uman rescurces having
training and experience
in public health, pro-
gramma management,
epidemiology, paediat-
rics, and social sciences.

ractical skills in health
systems research, com-
munity-based observa-
tional and intarvantion
studies, and clinical trials

are expertise in data
processing and man-
agement.

ompuler, and other re-
lated office and commu-
nication equipment.

ccess to communities
and facitities with neces-
sary research infrastruc-
ture.

unding support

ain new knowl-
edge and skills

mproved child-
hood illness
management
in ICDDR,B

osition
ICDDR,Bas a
key player and
resource

rovide
ICDDR,B ca-
pacities to
achieve its
mission

xpanded scientific
knowledge and under-
standing

ontribute to the devel-
opment of cost-
effective and sustain-
able health interven-
tions and strategies.

mpréved family health,

reduction in childhood
mortality and morbid-
ities, especially in
socio-gconomically
disadvantaged sub-
populations.

xtensive skills and ex-
perience in child heaith
research

ccess to study popula-
ticns with high child-
nhood morbidity and
mortality levels

entre’s work in child
healih is well regarded
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.:
i!
1
f

Priority Areas

Key Research Questions *

. -
Performance Indica-
Jors

s
T ecrare dy e 30

‘. i

Resource Needs
SRR RN R -

4

‘
i
H

Benefit to~ -

T Centref mis- | ¥

waslon b,

e

" Expected Policy/

I3
Kl
"8

Programmatic Im-
—pact L.

1
Current Strengths
and Comparative
iAdvantages ‘

2.

Improving
perinatal and
neonatal
health

[Cross-cutting
with infectious
Diseases and
Vaccine Sci-
ences, and
Reproductive
Health Pro-
grammes]

What are the fevels, trends
and causes of neonatal
deaths? Can-verbal autopsy
techniques be improved?
What aetiological agents are
associated with neonatal sep-
sis?

What strategies can be used
for the management of neona-
tal sepsis?

What strategies can be used
{or routine newborn cara?

What strategies can be used
for the prevention and man-
agement of asphyxia?

Whal pregnancy and delivery
based interventions will im-
prove necnatal heaith?

ame as in previous
section and evaluated

ame as in previous sec-

tion

ame as in pre-
vious section

ame as in previous
seclion.

tf

il
ccess to study popula-
tions with high neonatal
morbidity and mortality

ievels

d

Ll
istory of success in
building partnerships
and collaborations with
institutions with com-
plementary skills and
experience

|
f
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Priority Areas

Key Research Questions

Performance indica-
tors

Resource Needs ; .

| --E!?!‘Ff.“f,tq _
*.-Centre/ mis- -
©ovdeslon o

. Expected Policy/
*"Programmatic Im-
< 4i o pact

Current Strengths
and Comparative
Advantages

i

Strengthening
and expansion
of immuniza-
tion pro-
grammes

[Cross-cutting
with Infectious
Diseases and
Vaccine Sci-
ences Pro-
gramme]

How can we strengthen
routine immunization pro-
grammaes, improve cover-
age and completion rates,
reduce vaccine wastage,
and integrate with other
health services? What al-
ternative vaccine delivery
strategies can be adopted?

What new vaccines can be
incorporated in routine
immunization programmes:
assessment of disease
burden and cost-
effectiveness evaluation?

How can we achieve dis-
gase control and reduction
targets? What operational
issues need to be invesli-
gated?

ame ag in previous
section

ame as in previous sec-
tion

ama as in pre-
vious seclion

ame as in previous
section

istory of working
closely with the gov-
ernment

trong foundation in
epidemiology. labo-
ratory procedures
and operational re-
search
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Priority Areas

Key Research Questions

Performancé Indica-
tors

-

Lot .;1 .
.Resource Needs

i Benefitto™ "

. Céntre/ mis-
2o siong,

" “Expected Policy/
i » Programmatic tm-

Lo . pact,

Current Strengths
and Comparative
"|Advantages

4.

Childhood
growth and
development

[Cross-cutting
with Nutrition
Programme]

- How can we improve car-

ing practices; and achiave
better understanding of
practices? What stralegies
can be used for improving
practices in the home and
the community

- How to incorporate nutri-

tional interventions in child
health services {develop-
ment and avaluation) and
address issues of integra-
tion?

- How to improving child-

hood development and
measurement tools? What
are the levels and determi-
nants of development and
what interventions are ef-
fective in improving the
situation?

- How to prevent and man-

age foetal growth retarda-
tion?

=« What are the levels,
determinants and con-
sequences of foetal
growth retardation?

What interventions will
be effective in reduc-
ing foetal growth retar-
dation?

How to strengthen car-
ing practices for a
arowth retarded new-
born?

ame as in previqus
section

ame as In previous sec-

ticn

ame as in pre-
vious section
resource

ame as in pravious
section

entre of excellence in
nutrition research

eveloping skills in
child development

!
ubstantial experience
in conducting com-
munity studies
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Priority Areas

Key Research Questions

Performance Indica-

tors

S

Resource Needs

Expected Policy/

| Programmatic Im-

" pact

Current Strengths
and Comparative
Advantages

5.

Strengthening
health sys-
tems for the
delivery of
child health
services

[Cross-cutting
with Health
and Family
Planning Sys-
tems Pro-
gramme]

What are ihe critical opera-
tional issues in implement-
ing child health services:
drug supply, recording and
reporling systems, referral
systems?

How can we achieve health
service improvements in
support of IMCI?

What is the impact and
cost-effectiveness of IMCI
and what implementation
issues need to he ad-
dressed?

What alternative service
delivery strategies can be
adopted?

ame as in previous

seclion

ame as in previous sec-
tion

ama as in pre-
vious section

ame as in previous
seclion

apacity for health
systems research is
strong and versatile

istory of working
closely with the gov-
ernment
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Priority Areas

Key Research Questions

-

R PR NEERIB
Performance Indica- |

- EY

tors -,

e e
FERE

S

' Resource Needs -

.

2

é .
2 Len b e et -

3t "Benefit to"™™
4y Gentre/ mis-
adinSION L

s

" Expected Policy/ -

{ :Programmatic Im-

L -,

. . zpact

-

i

Current Strengths
and Comparative
i { Advantages

6.

Understanding
and raspond-
ing to emerg-
ing childhood
health prob-
lems

What is the prevalence and
cause of childhood injuries
and haw can they be pre-
venied?

What are ihe levels, trends,
patterns and conse-
quences aof non-
communicable morbidities
in children (e.g., lead expo-
sure)? How can we prevenl
and manage them?

ame as in previaus
section

ame as in previous sec-
tion

ame as In pre-
viaus secticn

ame as in pravious

section

apacity for cross- -
disciplinary research
r
)
istory of being re-
sponsive to health
needs of the popula-
tion
|
ith declining infec-
tions, non-Infectious
morbidities are be-
coming increasingly
prominent. Centre's
credibility makes it
ideal for it to expand
into emerging prob-

lems.
(i

|

|
l
|
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Reproductive Health

Priority Areas

Key Research Questions

Performance
Indicators

Resource Needs

~ Benefitto:::
* Centrel,
_.sion

1

£

£Y I

V2
.. Current Strengths and Com-
parative Advantages

+ -

1.
Safe mother-
hood

What are the most cost-effective,
acceptable and affordable inter-
ventions to reduce maternal
mortality?

what are the strategies to train,
deploy and sustain skilled atten-
dants during delivary?

What are the ways lo measure
progress lowards improvement
of maternal health?

Presence of func-
tioning basic and
compiehensive
EQC services at
H&FWC as well as
at Upazila health
compiex

Availabitity and
acceptability of
services assessed
and documented.

Cost-effectiveness
of birthing strate-
gies assessed.

Validity of indica-
tors of progress
assessed.

Service utilization
increased.

Number of commu-
nity midwives
trained and taking
up private delivery
work in the homes

Scientists as well as
supporting staff. Gov-
emment staff for carry-
ing cut the interven-
tions. Transport,
equipment, computers
and stationery and
other supplies.

Researchers, adminis-
tralive staff, fieldwork-
ers, community mid-
wives, safe delivery
kits, training cost, sta-
tionery and other sup-
plies

Increased re-
search capacity
to deal with safa
motherhood
issues

Knowledge-base
on safe mother-
hood expanded

Increased wtilization
of services by those in
need and reduction of
matemal mortality.

Rational allocation of
resources to meet the
need

Adoption and scaling
up of strategy found
to be cost-effective

Increased utilization
of services by thase in
need and reduction of
matermnal mortality
increased access o
skilled delivery ser-
vices at home and in
health facilities

RHP has a multidisciplinary team of
researcners and has collaborative
arangements that can provide re-
guired expertise.

The existence of a well-established
heaith and demographic surveillance
syslem in Matlab, the first of its kind
in the world.

Data managemeni officers aiready
available to handie the large data
sets.

Programme has previous experience
with funetioning community mid-
wives.
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li
i

Priority Areas

Key Research Questions

Performance® -

" Indicators

L ' Réso;j'[cg Needs -

b

- Benefittad |i E
| %" ! Programmatic
2

: Centre/ mis-

3 ahy

[i o sonidas

. "Expected Policy!

£ 2 3 Impact’, *

Current Strengths and Com-
parative Advantages
iy

2.
Family plan-
ning

{Cross-cutting
with Health
and Family
Planning Sys-
tems Pro-
gramme]

- What are the most cost-

effective, acceptable and af-
fordabla interventions to fur-
ther reduce ferlility to reach
replacement levels?

- What are the strategles to

access them?

Increasing number
of vasectomies, -
increasing number
of condom users,
increased number
of patients atlend-
ing male clinics with
RH problerns

Indicators of pro-
gress available,
documented in
literature and used

Strategies for ac-
cessing interven-
tions available and
documented

. Project staff in various

scientific discipiines as

well as supporting staff.

Transport, equipment,
computers and statfon-
ery and other supplies

Establishment of
male clinics will
improve the in-
frastructure of
the Matlab sub-
centras.

There will be
increased re-
sources for deal-
ing with male
involvement
issues.

Knowtedge-base
expanded

To scale up the suc-
cessful elements in
other areas of Bang-
ladesh,

it
RHP has a multidisciplinary team of
rasearchers and has collaborative
amrangements that can provide re-
quired expertise’
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Priority Areas

Key Research Questions

Performance
Indicators

Resource Needs

Benefit to
Centref mis-
sion 7

-,

_ Expected Policy/
27 rProgrammatic
513, impact

s L
RS FYR

Current Strengths and Com-
parative Advantages

3.
Adolescent
reproductive
health

[May be
cross-cutting
with Nutrition
Programmae}

t

What factors are responsible
for health risk behaviour
among adolescents?

What are the most appropriate
health indicators to megasure
behaviourat change in unmar-
ried adolescents {long and
short term)?

Whal sarvice delivery ap-
proaches are best for improv-
ing reproductive health ser-
vices for adolescents and how
can they be improved?

Identification of risk
and protective fac-
tors to take health
risks

Identification of
appropriate repro-
ductive health indi-
cators to track be-
havioural changes
amoeng unmarried
adolescents

Appropriale service
daetivery ap-
proaches identified

Human resources hav-
ing institutional as well
as practical training in
social science and
public health research

Computer and ather

‘related office equip-

ment
Fleld workers

Transport

Increased re-
search capacity
for the Cenira to
deal with adoles-
cent reproductive
heaith and hence
creation of new
knowledge.

Centre's ongoing and
planned activities on
adolescent reproduc-
tive heaith will con-
tributa to the devel-
opment of appropnate
strategies to improve
reproductive health
status of adolescenls

Experience of ICODR,B, as one of
the feading organizaticns in conduct-
ing research in adolescent health

Existing multi-disciplinary scientists
in ICDDRB including social scien-
tists, epidemiolagists, demographer,
anthropologist, statistician elc

ICDDR,B has long experience in
conducting collaborative rasearch
with national and NGO programmes

4,

STI-RTI/ HIV-
AIDS Sexual
health

[May be
cross-cutting’
with Infec-
tious Dis-
eases and
Vaccine Sci-
ences Pro-
gramme]

What is the impact of interven-
tions on STI-RTI/ HIV- AIDS /
Sexual health in preventing
further transmission?

What are the public health
interventions to pravent HIV-
AIDS in a low prevalence
couniry like Bangladesh?

Rates of HIV infec-
tion and prevalence
of STDs among
population groups
with high risk be-
haviour

Pubtic health inter-
ventions available

Scientists
Lab staff
Field staff
Support staff

Lab equipment and
space

Increased re-
search capacily
for the centre lo
deal with STI-RTI
/ HIV-AIDS and
hence creation of
new knowledge.

The prevalence rales
will be fed back into
policy and provide
guidelines for direct-
ing resources for
prevention activitlies

Serological survetllance has been
conducted successfully for three
yaars so that the methodology is
established

The surveillance has been recag-
nised intemationally

Competen! and trained siaif are
available

Potential for expanding to other ar-
eas of research and service e.g.

establishing a VCT centre and co-
horts of specific popwlation groups
for possible vaccine development.
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5, - What are the reasons leading Reasons obtained Senior Medical Offlcer improved maternal Nutrition programme in place within
Maternal nu- to poor nutrition among women | and documented Medicat ofiicers nutrition and neonatal | ICDDRB. Collaboration of the two
trition in general and particuiarly health programmes will be advantageous.
pragnant women? Indicators of mater- | Consultant N
nal deplstion im- Supporting staff i
[May be . proved and propar- | Field workers ‘
cross-cutting | . what is the effectimpact of fion of low birth- Scianticts 1o anat
with Nutrition matemal nutrtion/nutrition weight decreased | ~%=" ists 10 analyse ;
Programme] supplementation on matarnal aia,
maorbidity, pregnancy outcome &
and birth-weight? ‘
'
:
. . . - o1
6. - What are the strategies to Reduction of abor- Project staff including Increased re- increased resource Programme is already working on
Ahbortion care reduce abortion-related mortal- | tion-related mortal- reseaschers and field search capacity allocation for abortion | ways to reduce matemnal monality in
ity and morbidity? ity (deaths) warkers. 1o deal with safe care general, |.e. increasing access to

motherhood skilled attendance at deliveries
issues 1
o)
7. - What are the magnitude, type | Reduction in inci- Project staff including Increased re-
Violence and reasons for violence dence of violence researchers on gender search capacity T
against agalnst women? against women issues.and_fietd.work- to deal with gen- :
{ v women - - ers ahle 1o collect sen- der issues !
- What are the strategies to sitive information. . }I
reduce violence against
wamen? .
| 3
1
{
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Nutrition

Priority Areas

Key Research Questions

Performance
Indicators -

" Resource
Needs'

+Expécted Policy/

¥ P'r'g"g’fairpm atic-

Current Strengths and Com-
parative Advantages

1.

Newbhorn
health and
breastfeeding

[May be
-‘cross-cutting
with Chiid
Heaith Pro-
gramme}

- What are the strategies to
reduce neonatal mortality and
to increase exclusive breast-
feeding?

- What are the barriers to ap-
propriate breastfeeding?

Reduction in neona-

tal mortality and
increased duration
of exclusive breast-
feeding

Project staff in-
cluding research-
ers in necnatology
and field workers.
Also consuliants,
camputers and
staticnery.

Increased research
capacity to deal with
child survival issues

Improved newbormn
and infant health

Programme s already working in
relatad safe motherhood projects
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g4
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T e . L

‘Expected Policy/ *

* Programmatic
impact _

Current Strefngths and Com-
parative Advantages
|

2.

Maternal Nu-
trition and
Low Birth
weight

{Cross-cutting
with Repro-
ductive
Heailth, and
Child Health
Programmes}

Can combined intervention
with food, micronutrients and
treatment of bacteral vagino-
515 reduce LBW?

Can nutrition education and
food demonstration improve
adolescent nutrition, matemal
nutrition and complementary
feeding practices?

Can simplification of thera-
peullc management of low
birth welght and necnates
improve neonatal outcome?

What are the benefits of ma-
temal dietary supplementa-
tian on immune status and
growih of infants?

Can community based nutri-
tion programme (NNP) im-
prove sustainable nutritional
status of wormen and children
population?

Improved maternal
nutrition is likely o
reduce matemal
morbidity and
mortality,

Reduce low birth
weight infants, re-
duce ngonatal and
infant mortality

Management prota-
col developed

Reduced morbidity
and mortality of LBW
and neonates

New information
generaied to provide
programme tools

NNP outcomes of
interventions on
matemal health,
birth weight, health
of adolescent girls,
food security .

Cenire has exper-
tise and credibility
to undertake re-
search in the
aforementioned
areas. Existence
of trained, quali-
fied clinical and
community/public
health nutrition-
ists, epidemiolo-
gist, nutritional
blochemists, im-
munologist and
anthropologists.

Need capacity
building, funds

Gain new knowledge,
develop expertise,
develop laboratory
capacity, equipment,
galns in image inter-
nationatly

Develop expertise,
draw interest from
natlonal and intema-
tional donors and
policy makers

Improve case man-
agement at Centre's
Hospital

Centra herpé GoB

directly, new research

gives credits and

develops expertise for

large scale nutrifion
programme

Research results from
these studies will
have immensa impact
to improve matemal
mortality and reducing
LBW., Indeed the GoB
is looking forward to
incorporate the find-
ings in its national
programme (NNP).

AsLBWisalsoa
major pubfic health
problem in the whote
of south Asia, results
of this study wili have
regional program-
matic implication.

Centre had already been conducl-
ing much research in nutrition and
produced some state-of ant re-
search in this area. The Nutrition
Programme has evolved as a
crosscutting  programme  of the
Centre, and started functioning for
last five years.

‘This Programme has members and
invalvement from all the scientific
divisions and many research studies
are being undertaken using the
muli-disciplinary approach

Variety of field sites where interven-
tions can he tested.

Collaboration with GoB, NGOs, na-
tionat and international Institutes,
interational agencies.
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Priority Areas

Key Research Questions

Parformance -
Indicators

Resource
* Needs

. oo .
Benefit to Centre/ - [

mission "

Current Strengths and Com-
parative Advantages

3.
Severe and
moderate
malnutrition

[Cross-cutting
with Child
Health, and
Health and
Family Plan-
ning Systems
Programmes]

—
- What is the efficacy of thera-

peutic intervention with antibi-
olics and micronutrients in nu-
tritional rehabilitation of se-
verely and moderately mal-
naurished children recovering
from diarrhoea?

- What is most effeclive com-
munity-based  management
strategies and impact on body
composition of the severely
and moderately matnourished
children?

- What are the pathophysiology
and determinants of malnutri-
tion and measures for pro-
grammes for preventive
strategies of moderate and
severe malnutrition?

- How can the management of
severe malnutrition in Urban
areas be strenglhened?

improved manage-
ment of severe mal-
nutrition will have
direct impact on
infant and child mor-

tality

Results available to
maodify policy at
Cenira or global
considerations

Projects are under-
taken,

Results available for
application for GoB
policy and interna-
tional use

Secial, clinical, and
biochemical meas-
ures identified

Funding mobiliza-
tion

Centre improves in
capacity building,
gains credit of new
therapeutic develop-
ment, helps fund flow
to Centre's clinical
and nutrition

Improves case man-
agement, enhances
glabal impact

Centre credited for
new strategies for
PEM Management
and prevention in
community.

Centre may get addi-
tional funding for the
project.

Improves relationship
with the GoB

Improves capacity
building,

Improves clinical and
social strategic ability

Centre has already
taken the lead to
reduce the mortality
of saverely malnour-
ished children. Fur-
ther research to im-
prove management of
severe malnutrition
and operations re-
search to incorporate
these findings in
health programme will
improve child survivat.
The findings are ex-
pected to have na-
tional and regional
palicy and program-
matic implications.

Same as previous section
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Priority Areas

Kay Research Questions

-l

Performance -

Indicators

Resource
Needs

E LR

‘|- Benefit to Centre/

mission

"‘Expected Policy!
' Programmatic
—mpact . _ .

. —

y|, Current Strengths and Com-

parative Advantages

4,
Infant and
child feeding

{Cross-cutting
with Child
Health, Re-
productive-
Health, and
Health and
Family Plan-
ning Systems
Programmes)

Can breastfeeding counseliing
by community counsellors,
and/for trained fieldworkers
and establishment of commu-

nity clinics improve infant feed-

ing praclices?

How ta develop culturally
acceplable, low cost, micronu-
trient-rich complementary
foods?

Does appropriate nutsition
education with BCC reverse
malnutrition in alt communi-
lies?

What are the key determi-
nants of child malnutrition and
effective remedial strategies
refated to complementary
feeding and beyond 2 yaars of
age?

Appropriate infant
and child feeding
practices are avail-
able

Data on child
growth, and infant
feading available.

Formula and strat-
egy available to

apply

BCC material and
techniques are gen-
erated

Results availabla for
policy and pro-
gramme for com-
plementary feeding.

Maintaining the
core and research
infrastructure will
be required ta
sustain theses
activities.

Improved knowledge
base.

Training skills in-
creased

More recognition in
nutrition fiefd attracts
more fund and col-
laboration with WHO,
UNICEF, WB etc.

Centre improves in
large scale BCC ex-
pertise, improved
capacity for giving
training Intemally and
nationally

More funds can be
altracted

Contribute in a high
priority area for GoB
and other develaping
countries

Appropriate breast-
feeding practices are
one of the key inter-
ventions for improved
child survival. Previ-
ous studies from
ICDDR,B have al-
raady shown that
trained community
counsellors can im-
prove infant feeding
practices. Further
research in this amea
will tead to program-
matic implementation
and Incorporatian in
the existing GoB
health pro-
gramme/system.

Same as in previous section
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Priority Areas

Key Research Questions

Performance
Indicators

Resource
Needs

Benefit to Céﬁ:t_ré( T

mission . v

“;Expected Policy!
17} Programmatic
Impact -~

~ Current Strengths and Com-

parative Advantages

5.
Child Devel-
opmemnt

[Cross-cutting
with Child
Health Pro-
gramme]

What is the impact of psycho-
social stimuiation and parental
counselling to malnourished
children an cognitive functions
in national programme?

Does micranuirient supple-
mentation improve cognitive
function in malnourished chil-
dren?

What is the impact of malnutri-
tion an academic and social
development?

Improved child
growth, improved
cognilive function,
school performance,
skilled human re-
source in future.
Resuits available for
evaluation

Results available to
make policias

Data available for
evaluation and con-
sideration for policy

Training and ex-
pansion of skills

Need expertisa
and training

Expand lab ca-
pacity

Gains new knowledge
and capacity building

and expertise in child

development,

New knowledge is
generated, more
credit is eamed for
child health and nutri-
fion, funds move to
Centre

Chitdhood malnutri-
tion and pooer cagni-
tive function have
been identified as an
obstacle to develop-
ment of skilled human
resource. UNICEF
and other interna-
tional agencies have
put major emphasis in
this area.

The GoB National
Nutrition Programme
(NNP} has shown
interest to incorporate
some simplified inter-
ventions to their exist-
ing programme to
improve child devel-
opment.

Same as in pravious section
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; Programmatic

naralmpact |

i
Current Strengths and Com-
parative Advantages

5.
Micronutrient
research and
Interventlon

[Cross cutting
with Infec-
tious Dis-
eases and
Vaccine Sci-
ences, Child
Health, Re-
productive
Health, and
Health and
Family Plan-
ning Systems
Programmes]

Whal is the micronutdent
status of different age groups?

Can a cost-effactive strategy
of dietary diversification be
identified and implemenied to
address micronutrient defi-
ciancies?

What are the acceplability,
safety, and effectivenass of
muttl micronutrient paediatric
supplementation?

What are the strategles for
use of different micronutrients
ta enhance health, economic
and social outcoma?

Reduction of anae-
mia, Vitamin A defi-
clency, reduction in
iodine deficiency
disorder, reduction
in infant, child mor-
bidity and mortality

Avallability of pro-
jecls and reports on
time frame, devel-
opment of policy
from research re-
sults

Research results
helps to formulate
policy

Results available for
evaluation

Good collabera-
tion with GoB
(through
BINP/NNP, Dhaka
City Carpaoration})

Labaratory capac-
ity,

Training need of
food composition
data base

Knowledge gain,

Recognilion 10 contri-
bution to policy formu-
lation

Imﬁrcwas case man-
agement in Centre's
work

Better case manage-
ment in Centre, get
mare recognition from
donaors and policy
makers

Micronutrient defi-
ciencles such as iron,
iodine, zinc and vita-
min A are widely
prevalent in Bangla-
desh as well as in
South Asia. Positive
impact of micronutr-
ent supptamentation
to infant, children and
women has already
been shown in differ-
ent studies worldwide
and aiso at ICODR, B.
Further research and
the findings from
these studies will help
GoB to improve over-
all micronutrient

| status of infant, chil-
{ dren and women and

morbidity related to
these deficiencies.

- =1 . *
Same as in previous seclion
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Priority Areas

Key Research Questions

Performance
Indicators

Resource
Needs

Benefit to Centre/

IS

3

“mission . -3

ry,

Current Strengths and Com-
parative Advantages

6.

infectious
Disease and
Nutrition in-
teraction

[Cross-cutting
with Infec-
tious Dis-
eases and
Vaccine Sci-
ences, and
Child Health
Programmes]

- Does dietary management
improve outcome of infectious
diarhoea and ARI?

- What is the effect of micronu-
trient supplementation on diar-
rhoea outcome and growth in
children?

- What is the effect of micronu-
trient supplementation on vac-
cine efficacy?

- Have HIV and other infectians
during pregnancy any effect on
birth outcoma, breast-feeding,
growth, and immunity?

Impraved manage-
ment of diarrhoea
and ARI. Improved
vaccine efficacy,
improved child sur-
vivat

Trials are in place/
resuits available

HIV subjects identi-
fied, projects in
place /resuits avail-
able

Good collabora-
tion with leading
NGOs and their
field sites

Trials and re-
sources needed

Impact of new knowl-
edge in scientific
world

Saves money for
hospital in Dhaka and
Matlab

Develop expertise
and get impacl from
consultancy

improved laboratory
capacity

New knowledge on
HIV

Human resources
developed

Research in this area
will increase our un-
derstanding of mainu-
trition and infection
interaction.

An effective strategy
ta reduce infectious
disease and its mor-
bidity by nutritional
intervention may have
positive impact on
child survival.

Same as in previaus section
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Infectious Diseases and Vaccine Sciences

E !
Expected Policy! Current Strengths and Com-

me?;a;:‘taﬂc i parative Advantages

‘Benefitto "¢

Performance ; Gentref inis- . "

Priority Areas Key Research Questions fndicators _Resource Needs '

ndicators | - e siongan 3

1

Could lead to accel-
erated introducticn of

Highiy credibla Centre with substan-
tial experience with vaccine avalua-
safe and effective tion In field settings with high inci-
vaccines to prevent dence of disease

priority diseases re- |

sulting in reduction in -

mortality. :

Will contribute to
development of
cost-effective
prevention
strategies

Need core expertise for
vaccine evaluations,
including vaccinolo-
gists/epidemiologists,
vaccinologists in train-
ing, data management
team, data entry team,
clinical research review

Conduct efficacy
studies, ethno-
graphic and eco-
nomic assessments
integral to introduc-
ing new vaccines.

1. - Can a substantial proportion
Evaluate promis of diarrhoeat disease be pre-
ing vaccine can- vented with a package (sys-
didates against le‘m} of vaccines against key
key infectious ettologies for severe diar-

rhoeal diseasa?
diseases and dis

ease syndromes | - Can a substantial proportion

[Cross-cutting

of severe respiratory infection
be prevented with a package
(system) of vaccines against

team, economist, eth-
nographer/ anthropolo-
gist, palicy specialist.

with Child Healtl
and Health and
Family Planning
Systems Pro-
grammes)

key etiologies for severe respi-.
ratory Infection? Funding for projects
- Can dengue and dengue
hemorrhagic fever be pre-
vented through immunization?

- Can new vaccines for tuber-
culosis prevent pulmonary TB
more effectively than BCG?
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Benefit to

Expected Policy/

o . Performance s N . Current Strengths and Com-
Pricrity Areas Key Research Questions Indicators Re;ource Needs Centre/ mis-. . T P{ogrammatlc parative Advantages
sion . | i .. Impact
2 - What are the incidence Completed studies Funding to cary out Will help to set Focused disease Centre's field settings and laboratory

Define disease
incidence and
burden for ma-
jor disease
syndromes and
key etiologies

[Cross-cutting
with Child
Health, and re-
productive
Health Pro-
grammes]

rates and burden of disease
{key indicators) for principal
causas of enleric diseasa
including chalera, rotavirus,
ETEC, Campyiobacter, Shig-
ella and typhaid?

- What are incidence rates
and burden of disease (key
indicators) far principal causes
of respiratory disease, includ-
ing Streptococcus preumo-
niae, Haemophilus influenzae,
respiratory syncylial virus,
influenza, and Mycoplasma
pneumoniae?

- What is the incidence of
disease for tuberculosis and
multi-drug resistant tuberculo-
sis in rural {3 years) and
urban areas?

- Whatis the incidence of
priority vector-bame diseases
including dengue (2 years),
malaria (5 years}, leishmani-
asis (5 years), filariasis (5
years), and Japanese en-
cephalitis?

- Whatis the incidence of key
sexually transmitted infec-
tions?

with data dissemi-
nated to Bangladesh
government health
authorities, NGOs
and development
agencies, as well as
globally through
publications.

projects

Improved labaratory
methodalogy for key
indicatars

More fully developed
field sites

priorities for
rasearch and
use of resources
so that they are
basad on magni-
tude of the public
health prablem.

Centre will be a
resource for
global health
organizations
who need to set
priorities and to
optimally target
resqurces.

control and preven-
tion activities of Minis-
try on diseases with
highest incidence and
mortality.

capacity and epidemiciogical skills
ideal for conducting burden of dis-
ease sludies
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Key Research Questions

<
Will contribute to | Could lead to new Disease incidence is high, making

3. Define risk
factors, clinical,
sociologic, and
other epidemi-
ological charac-
teristics of pri-
ority diseases
for use in de-
veloping cost-
effective strate-
gies for preven-
tion and control

[Cross-cutting
with Chlid
Health, and Re-
productive
Heaith Pro-
grammes]

- Define risk factors for dis-
ease and for poor outcome far
diseass for:

a) Diarthoeal diseases

b) Respiratory diseases, in-
cluding bacteriat, viral and
mycobacterial infections

c) Vector-bome diseases

d) Sexuvally-transmitted dis-
aases

a) Newty-emerging diseases,
like Nipah

Identify modifiable
risk factors for key
diseases.

Define characteris-
tics of at-risk poputa-
tion for targeted
intervention steate-
gles?

Data are used by
global, regional or
national public
health authorities in
developing or im-
plamenting preven-
fion and control
strategies

Funding to camy out
specific projects.

Training of laboratory

and epidemiclogical
personne! to accom-
plish specific tasks.

development of

algorithms for treat-

ment and prevention.

Could contribute to
prevention and con-
trol strategies.

epidemialogical and clinical studies
feasible. |

]
Clinical, epidemiological, and fabora-
tory expertise foundations are strong
resufting in optimal use of additional
training to boast capacity

Substantiat experignce in conducting
similar studies
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Priority Areas

Key Research Questions

Perfarmance
Indicators

Resource Needs

. .Centrel mis< 7
(AR i N

sion'¥3 77 [ i

Current Strengths and Com-
parative Advantages

4.

ldentify, imple-
ment and
evaluate treat-
ment and pre-
vention strate-
gies effective
for reducing
morbidity and
mortality from
infectious dis-
eases

{Cross-cutting
with Child
Health, and
Health and
Family Planning
Systems Pro-
grammes]

- Can new antimicrobial
regimens be identified which
are practical, affordable and
effective at reducing morbidity
and mortatity from Key infec-
tious diseases?

- Can we implement an effec-
tive risk factor reduction pro-
gramme through community
interventions to prevant key
infectious diseases?

- Can we improve early diag-
nosis and appropriate treat-
ment to reduce impact of prior-
ity diseases?

Effectiva strategies
identified and/or
evaluated at the
Centre are imple-
mented nationally,
regionally, or glob-
ally.

There is @ measur-
abte reduction in
morbidity and mor-
tality as a result of
this work.

Support for field sites
capable of epidemiol-
ogical and transiation
(operational) research

Will contribute 1o
development of
cost-effective
prevention
strategies

Enhance existing
approaches for reduc-
ing morbjdity and
mortality from Infec-
tious diseases and
allied conditions.

Substantial experience in conducting
operational research and following
sciance from the bench to Lhe field.
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Priority Areas -

Key Research Questions’

Performance’,
"indicators - !

PO

jRésgutce Needs -
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. "Benefit to

 Gentre/ mis:
_.sion __ .

-

" Expected Policy/ }
-%.Prégrammatic - ,
i oJmpact i

I
_ Current Strengths and Com-
r-  parative Advantages

1}

5

- Can we utilize more opti-

Thriving set of highly

Increased staffing to

Ensura optimal

More sfficient use of

Centre needs coordination of vast

C'reate oren- mally Centre-side stafi and focused activities organize and focus use of Centre -Centre resources areas of interest and expertise, es-
hance Centre- expertise 10 address Centre’s | cross-cutting workgroups. rasQurcaes. pecially as it expands its dormain and
] T
wide focus on mission?  {ongeing) through the Centre. mandate. r
h of th Measurable through L
research of the Form sclentific leams for increased number of ‘.
following prior-  { modest stralegic pfanning (i.e. | integrated projects i’
ity Infectious priority selting, key objectives, | which are coherent H
diseases: Diar- and identify donors for specific | with overall pro- o
rhoeal dis- projects) and collaborative gramme priorities. |
eases, respira- :I?Ol'k Lor each pn'orit!rln[ec- L
tory Infections, ious disease area. Teams .
very tions have already been established 1!
ctor-borne . ] ' y
di 18 for respiratary infections and 3
1seases, 15, T8. Among vector-bome i
sexually- diseases, teams have been
transmitted dis- | established afready for den- :
eases (includ- gue and leishmaniasis. ‘
ing HIV)
.
|
vk
h
.
'
1
1
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!
|
]
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Priority Areas

Key Research Questions

Performance
Indicators

Resource Needs

Benefitto . -
Centre/ mis- *.
“sion -~ "

Expected Policy/
Programmatic
.. Impact

Current Strengths and Com-
parative Advantages

6.

Enhance capac-
ity to investi-
gate outbreaks
of infectious
diseases in
Bangladesh and
the region to
use scientific
methods to de-
velop and im-
plement strate-
gies for out-
break control

How can Laboratory Sci-
ences Division confribute to
capacity to investigale and
raspond to outbreaks?

- What is needed o develop
capacity and 1o identify scien-
tists and technicians who will
be part of epidemic response
team (depending upon likely
etiology)?

- How can existing Epidemic
Control Preparedness Pro-
gramme within PHSD en-
hance capacity to address
outbreaks? |s this adequate?
Do we need lo involve olher
Divisions and Units?

- How can ISD contribute. In
particular, can Training and
Education Unit disseminale
methods for investigation and
respanse to various re-
gions/seitings?

Demand for our
services forre-
sponse to outbreaks
from GoB and from
scientists and au-
thorities (like WHO)
ouiside tha country.

Increased laboratory
and epidemiologist
staffing to provide
surge potential; Train-
ing for lab and epi staff
an outbreak investiga-
tions. Pool of emer-
gency funds which can
be appropriated during
emergency {outbreak)
situations.

Centre will func-
tion as a global
resource for
investigating new
and emerging
problems. Cen-
tre will be in a
position to rec-
ognize outhreaks
in Bangladesh
and assist au-
thorities in pre-
vention and con-
trol measures to
reduce morbidity
and mortality.

Improved percaption
of ICDDR,B by public
and Ministry and in-
temationally as a
state-of-the-art centre
which responds to
emerging problems of
lecal concern and
global impartance.

Given dense population, malnutri-
tion, close interaction of animals and
humans, wide range of diseases, the
potantial for outbreaks of new and
emerging diseases in Bangladesh is
substantial. Centre is most credible
scientifi¢ facility for invesligating
cutbreaks of new diseases.
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Health and Family Planning Systems

|

Priority Areas

Key Research Questions

Performance indicators

&

b

: Resource
Needs

B

t

X
2

v Benefitto 1
Centre/ mis- |

e sion Lt

——z:Impact

:Expected Pollcy/
Programmatic

e M wr |-

Curreﬁt Strengths and

_| Comparative Advantages

|

1.

Develop strate-
gies/ opera-
tional sub-
systems for ef-
ficient, cost-
effective and
sustainable de-
livery of an in-
tegrated pack-
age of essential
health and fam-
ily planning ser-
vices (ESP).

[Cross-cutting
with Child
Health, Repro-
ductive Health,
Infectious Dis-
eases and Vac-
cine Sciences,
and Nutrition
Programmes)

- What additional strate-
gies/modifications are
needed to further strengthen
ESP provision within the na-
tlanal programme (govem-
ment, NGO and commercial
sactor)?

What institutional/ program-
matic arrangements are
needed to incorporate the
efficacious/new interventions
on reproductive heaith, child
heatth, RTI - STD / HiV-IDS
and other communicable
diseases, mother and child
nutrition, and adolescent
healthcare in the national
programma?

What intervantions/ activities
are critical to furlher improve
quality of health and family
planning services within the
various ESP programmes
{govemment, NGO, etc)?

- How to make the service-
delivery systems maore re-
sponsive to community
needs and to better meet
client satisfaction?

- Appropriate service delivery
tiers defined; specific services
to be provided from each of
these tiers ascertained; guide-
linesfmanuals on the servite
delivery strategies/systems and
operational sub-systems such
as management information,
logistic and supplies, training,
elc. developed/ modified/Aested/
finalized and disseminated.

- Feasible strategies and re-
lated operational sub-systems

for jntegration of new interven- |

tians into the existing pro-
grammes developed/ lested/
finalized and disseminated;
quidelines/manuals/
documentation and reporis
generated and disseminaled.

- Simple and cost-effective
approaches for quality im-
provement of service(s) and
appropriate/needed job-alds/
manuals developed/ tested/
finalized and disseminated.

- Community perceptions on
satisfactions with the service
delivery strategies/systems
assessed; manuals/ guidelines
for providers to address client
satisfaction issues developed/
tested/finalized and dissemi-
nated.

s« Human re-
sources having
training in public
health, medicine,
demography, eco-
nomics and other
areas of social
sciences and bio-
medicine.

» Practical skills

in operations re-
search, heatth
systems devel-
oped and good
understanding of
the national pro-
gramme and
ongeling health
reform
programmes in
various countries,

+« Computer and
other related office
equipmen! and
accessaories.

» Govemment
and NGO pro-
gramme sites with
necessary re-
search infrastruc-
ture and surveil-
lance systems.

+ New solu-
tions, strategies
and appropriate
technologies for
sustainable,
cost-effective
and equitable
delivery of an
integrated
package of
essential health
and family
planning ser-
vices devetoped
and available
with the Centre.

s+ Cenire's
applied re-
search capacity
strengthened
further.

« Centre
would be better
positioned to
address the
practical issues
in implementing
an integrated
package of
essential health
and family
planning ser-
vices.

« Documents on
functional, cost-
effective and sus-
tainable strategles/
systems for the inta-
grated delivery of
essential health and
family planning ser-
vices made available
for the national pra-
gramme.

» Increased cov-
erage of essential
health and famity
planning services.

« Improved family
health, reduction in
fertitity and moriality
and morbidities,
espacially for
women, children and
socio-economically
disadvantaged sub-
populations.

+ Clear-cut policies
on implementation of
sustainable, cost-
effective and equita-
ble delivery of an
integrated package
of health and family
planning services
(ESP).

« Long-standing experience
of ICODR,B and the Pro-
gramme on Health and Family
Planning Systerns in conduct-
ing operations/ health systems
research of programmatic and
policy relevance.

'

« Nationat and global recog-
nitlon of ICODR,B in conduct-
ing high-quatity operations/
health systems research,

= Multi-disciplinary skills
experienced in operations
ragearch and field sites along
with monitoring/evaluation
facilities and other necessary
Infrasiructure available with the
ProgrammefiCDDR.B.

« Inresponse to the ICPD
and the ongoing health secior
reforms in various countries
across the globe, practical
issues refating to operationaii-
zation of cost-effective, sus-
tainable and equitable sirate-
gles for an integrated delivery
of a broader packaga of repro-
ductive health (including family
planning) and other essential
family heailh services have
evolved as impartant areas of
research.’
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Priority Areas

Key Research Questions

Performance Indicators

Resource
Needs

Benefit to
Centre/.imis-.
slon

Expected Policy/
Programmatic
Impact

Currant Strengths and
Comparative Advantages

2.

Undertake eco-
nomic analyses
and develop
health-financing
mechanisms
{e.q., user-fees,
insurance
schemes) for
the integrated
service delivery
programmes.

- What are the cost and effec-
tiveness implications of the
various ESP interventions
ang programmes?

- Whal health financing strate-
gies! schemes are viable to
adopt 1o imprave the finan-
cial sustainability of the ser-
vice delivery systemns, with-
out adversely affecting wtili-
zation?

Cost-effectiveness and cost
benefit ratios worked out for the
varnous intervention(s) on inte-
grated service delivery strate-
gies.

Viable healih financing schemes
and related manuals/ guidelines
developed! tested/ finalized and
disseminated.

Same as in previ-
ous section

Appropriate
strategies and
approaches for
improved finan-
cial sustainabii-
ity of the inte-
grated haalth
and family
planning service
delivery pro-
grammes de-
veloped and
available with
the Centre.

Centre's re-
search capacity
for economic
analysis of
health and fam-
ily planning
syslems
strengthened
further.

Centre would
be better posi-
tioned tp ad-
dress the prac-
tical issues of
economic
analysis and
financial sus-
tainability of the
integrated
health and fam-
ily planning
service delivery
systems.

Reports on cost,
cost-effectiveness
and other aconomic
analyses (demand-
and supply-side
factors) of the ser-
vice delivary pro-
grammes.

Appropriate ap-
proaches for cost
recovery and im-
praved financial
sustainability of the
programmes, with
“safety net” meas-
ures for the poor.

Clear-cut policies on
cast recovery and
revenue utilization.

Same as in pravious sec-
tion
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Priority Areas

Key Research Questions

Performance Indicators

+*

e

1

¢ |

.-~ Resource
-+ Needs
. A

R .

- Benefit to "}

'|: Centrel.mis: |

¥ :n;,..'s'on_

TExpectéd Policy!
» i Programmatic 1
toman impact

Curré_'r_lﬂ Strengths and
Comparative Advantages
1

1

2

Conduct equity
analyses of the
Integrated ser-
vice delivery
programmes,

[Cross-cutting
with Child
Health, Repro-
ductive Health,
Infectious Dis-
eases and Vac-
cine Sclences,
and Nutrition
Programmes]

- What are the existing types
and causes of inequities In
health service utilization and
how to measure/ monitor
those effectively?

What effective strategies
can be idantified and imple-
mented to redress inequities
in the healthcare systems?

Gender, socio-economic stalus
and other variable-specific dis-
parties assessed.

Pro-equity intervention(sy ac-
tion(s) designed! testedffinalized
and disseminated.

Same as in previ-
ous section

Appropriate
strategies and
approaches for
aquitable deliv-
ery of integrated
heatth and fam-
fly planning
services devel-
oped and avail-
able with the
Centre.

Centre's re-
search capacity
for equity
analysis of
health and fam-
ily planning
sysiems
strengthened
further.

Centre would
be better posi-
tioned to ad-
dress the prac-
tical issues of
equity (monitor-
Ing equity &f-
fects and im-
plementing pro-
equity interven-
tions) in the
delivery of inte-
grated health
and family
planning ser-
vices.

Report{s) on equity
effects of the service
delivery pro-
grammes.

Stratagies/actions for
an equitabie delivery
of health services.

il .
Same as in previous sec-

fion |
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Priority Areas

Key Research Questions

Performance Indicators

Resource
Needs

. Benefit tox

Cent"rgl ‘mis-

. -Expected Policy/
+; Programmatic

Current Strengths and
Comparative Advantages

services devel-
oped and avail-
able with the
Centre.

Centre's re-
search capacity
on improvement
of financial
sustainability of
health and fam-
ity planning
systems
through private-
public partner-
ship strength-
ened further.

Centre wauld
be better posi-
tioned to ad-
dress the prac-
tical issues of
private-public
partnership in
the integrated
delivery of
health and fam-
ity planning
services.

. sion [ # i Impact”

4. What should be the optimail Feasible strategies for private- Same as in previ- Appropriate Appropriate ap- Same as in previous sec-
Develop strate- private-public mix in the public parinership ascertained. ous sectian strategies and proalnches'for an ef-_ ticn
gies for private- provision of ESP? approaches_» for feclive pn_vate-publlc
public partner- _ ‘ . effective pri- partnership.

P intervention(s) an private-public . vate-public
s‘h!p in the de- What are the effective parinership piloted! finalized partnership in Policy guidelines for
“_Ve"y of essen- strategies for private-pubilic | and documented. the integrated private-public pan-
tial health and partnership? delivery of nership,
family planning health and fam-
services. ily planning
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i
'

|
i
3

Resource ™ §],

'I.Beﬁéfit'tb"l']

L
v

Expected Policy/ *

_ Cu{'fent Strengths and
Comparative Advantages

Priority Areas Key Research Questions Performance Indlcators’
‘ Needs Centre/ mis- 1| ¥ Programmatic
. . Cadlisieng Y. llmpact i}
5. - What evaluation methods Toolstechniques for sim- Same as in previ- Appropriate Simple and raptd Samfa'as in previous sec-
Develop simple and rapid assessment plefrapid evaluation/assessment | ous section strategies and monitoring/ evalua- tion |
and cost-effective techniques ara feasible and | developed and piloted. approachaes for tion meth- .
evaluation meth- cost-effective for periodic cost-effective ods/techniques for ] ;
ds/ techni measurement of the proc- Manuals/ guidalines to conduct . and rapid the programmes. i
ods/ techniques pss/outputioutcome indica- | programme evalua- avaluation !
for the mfegrated tors of the integrated ser- . | tion/assessment by local man- techniques far Guidelings on utiliza- if
service delivery vice delivery systems? agers/ communities developed integrated tion of the monitor- ! ;
programmes. and piloted. : health and fam- ing/ evaluation re- i |
ity planning sults for local fevel -8
- Can these tools and results Strategies/manual on use of service delivery planning and organi- N
be used effectively to en- gvaluation/ assessment results systems devel- zation of health ser- “
hance programme pef- {or tocal leve! planning and oped and avail- vicas. b
formance? monitoring of the haalth pro- able with the .
grammes by stakeholder devel- ! Cantre. i,
oped/ tested and documented. iy
Centre's re- ‘
saarch capacity Ly
{or programme I i
avaluation
strengthened : .
further. ; ;
Centre would : 1
he better posi- |
tioned to ad-
dress the prac-
tical issues of i
cast-effactive, i
reliable and L
rapid pro- N
1 gramme evalua- H
tion techniques. l
-
3
.
!
3
F :
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Priority Areas ’7Key Research Questions

Performance Indicators

Resource
Needs

Benefitto -
Centre/ mis- -

sion

- Expected Policy/

Programmatic
Impact

Current Strengths and
Comparative Advantages

6.

Identify the ad-
ditional {emerg-
ing} health and
family planning
needs of the
communities.

[Cross-cutting
Child Health,
Reproductive
Health, Infec-.
tious Diseases
and Vaccine
Sciences, and
Nutrition Pro-
grammes]

Whal are the additional
(emerging) health needs in
the communities that re-
quire 1o be incorporated/
addressed within the pro-
grammes for essential fam-
ily health services?

What are lhe effective ways
of involving the local com-
munilies in this process?

Additional (emerging/re-
emerging) health needs in the
ESP programme areas as-
sessed.

Strategies/ guidelines on in-
volvement of the stakeholders in
assessing the additional health
needs developedfiested and
documented.

Same as in previ-
ous section

Appropriate
strategies and
approaches for
identification of
additional
health needs
with the in-
valvement of
programme
managers and
local communi-
ties devaloped
and available
with the Centre.

Centre's re-
search capacity
on effective
ways to identify
the emerging
additional
health needs of
lacal communi-
ties sirength-
ened further.

Centre would
be better posi-
tioned to ad-
dress the prac-
tical issues in
identification
and implemen-
tation of new
interventions for
the additional
health needs.

Report(s} on addi-
tional (emerging}
needs of the health
and family planning
programmes.

Guidefines on pro-
grammatic and policy
actions to address
the additianal health
and family planning
needs.

Same as in pravious section
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Priority Areas

Key Research Questions

Performarice Indicators’

A
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- Resource”
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Cantre/ mis- -
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__;__S .qn' . H

s

7 Benefit to "]

~Expected Policy/ 1

=, Programmatic
+ - lmpact __-,

Ctajrrent Strengths and
Comparative Advantages

t

7.

Advocacy/TA in
the transiation
of research find-
Ings into appro-
priate pro-
grammatic and
policy changes.

{Cross-cutting
with Child
Health, Repro-
ductive Health,
Infectious Dis-
eases and Vac-
cine Sciences,
and Nutrition
Programmes]

What capacities and skills
are critical in sensitising/
Involving policy-makers
and programms managers
for speedy translation of
the successful research
findings into policy and ac-
tion?

What sort of technical as-
sistancé ensures cost-
eflactiveness and sustain-
ability of this transiation
process? .

Practical ways of involvement/
ownership of the programme
managers/ policy-makers in the
design, implementation and
dissamination of the research
findings ascertained. '

Limited and time-bound TA plan
{manual/ guidelines) developed
to facilitate the replication/
translation process and ensure
its sustainability within the gov-

emment and NGO programmes.

Same as in previ-
ous section

Appropriate
skifls and ap-

proaches for
translation of
research find-
ings into poficy
and action de-
veloped and
availabla with
the Centre.

Centra would .
be better posi-
tioned to ad-
dress the prac-
ticat issues in

» effecting pro-
grammalic and
policy changes
through its re-
search.

Adaptation/ replica-
tton of research find-
ings inta pro-
grammes and na-
tional policies.’

Same as in previous section
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Population

Priority Areas

Key Research Questions

Performance
Indicators

Resource Needs

Benefit to
-# Centre/,
» imission gz

11, .Expected Policy/

s

: | 4 Programmatic -
Wit Impactite., s

Current Strengths and Com-
’ parative Advantages

1.
Fertility declim
in Bangladesh

- Why has the fertility decline
of the 1980s stalled at above 3
children per women? What is
likely to happen in the future?
What are implications for ai-
taining reptacement fertility by
20057

- Although expressed desired
family size exceeds the level
of replacement fedility, it is
wall below current fertility? s
that inevitable, or does it re-
ftect inefficient FP use and FP
faiture?

The major outcomes
or outputs from the
research should of
course be a better
understanding of the
issues and the un-
derlying factors con-
tributing to the prob-
lem or issues being
studies. |deally this
greater understand-
ing should lead to
new or modified and
more efficient inter-
ventions, depending
an the issue.

Many of these sludies
require similar re-
sources, namely skilled
researchers with ac-
cess to the necessary
data.

Of course research
infrastructure needs to
be in place, but in an
institution which has
been doing this work
for four decades, that is
reasonably clear.

Issue of great
national impor-
tance. Findings
will receive wide-
spread aftention.

Requires the
application of
research skills,
and datasets for
analysis, not
widely available
outside ICDDR,B

Wwill highlight the
high value of
longitudinal
demographic
data which
{CDDR,B has
been collecting
for several dec-
ades.

A better undarstand-
ing of the causes of
the stalling of the
fertility decline, with
guidance as to how

this can be overcome.

Many of these current research is-
sues are based on the needs of
Bangladesh, viewed in conjunction
with the information which is cur-
rently available through the
ICDDR,B's data collection systems.
These include the various longitudi-
nal surveillance systems which gen-
erate relatively unique data of a wide
varety of health conditions and re-
lated behaviours, as well as provid-
ing settings for conducting well-
designed studies.
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Priority Areas

Key Research Questions

Performance
Indicators

4

,
Resource Needs

R —t—

" wd

" Benefit t97
Centre/ ~ - |
. »Mission -]

*Expected Policy!

¢ Prog rammatic
s MpACE

i

]
!
J

Current Str‘engths and Com-
© parative Advantages

2,
Contraceptive
use dynamics

Why does contraceplive
discontinuation continue at
such high levels?

What can be done about
impraving quality of services
to ensure more satisfactory
FP use?

What can be done to reduce
contraceplive failure?

Same as in previous
section

‘Samae as in previous

section

Findings should
lead to grealer
cost efficiency in
nationa! FP Pro-
gram.

Will highlight the
high vaiue of
tongitudinal
demographic
data which
ICDODR,B has
been collecting
for several dec-
ades,

l.ead to improved
contraceptive use
rate,

Same as in pravious section

]
2

1
L
|

3.
interrelation
between abor-
tion and con-
traceptive use

Does the pravision of high
quatity, effective contracep-
tive services reduce the de-
mand and use of abortion
sarvices?

- Why did abortion rates rise

in paralie} with rising use af
contraception? Is it that
awareness of the capacity to
control fertility produces an
initial rise in al! mechanisms
1o limit fertility, and only later
do couplas cease resorting
{o abortion as they become
more efficient in using FP?

Sama as in previous
section

Same as in previous
section

Induced abor-
tions contribute
to matemal mor-
bidity and martal-
ity, so the Issue
of whether or not
effective FP
senvices can
.reduce demand
for abortion is of
great impor-
tance, for both
health and ethi-
cal reasons.

Lead to improved

services with reduced
| reliance on abortion.

Same as in previous section
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Priority Areas

Key Research Questions

Performance .
indicators

"Resource Needs

: Benefjtto?

- :Expected Policy/
~= Programmatic
-y, . lmpact

Currant Strengths and Com-
parative Advantages

4.

Health and
Demographic
Surveillance
System

- The maintenance of the
HDSS, which forms the ba-
sis of many research stud-
ies, is a critical activity of the
Cenire.

Timely productien of
health & demo-
graphic data.
Production of HDSS
annual reports.
Provision of datasets
requested by ather
researchers.

Same as in previous
section

The HDSS pro-
vides the plat-
farm of high
quality fongitudi-
nal data essan-
tial for many of
the studies un-
dertaken by Cen-
tre resgarch
staff.

Better understanding
of longitudinal demo-
graphic, health, and
socio-econoimic proc-
a55es.

Qutcomes of other
studies based on
HDSS.

Same as in previous section

5,

Ageing and
adult health
issues

- Are chronic diseases taking

a growing praportion of the
overall burden of disease,
as a result of population
ageing or other factars, with
substantial implications for
heaith service financing?

- How much of the grawing

proportion of the population
described as ‘old age' is
simply refated to declining
numbers of births, and how
much is directly due to im-
proved survival of older
people? And, what are the
implications in relation to
changing family structures
{towards more nuclear)?

Same as in previous
section

Same as in previous
section

The Bangladesh
health system
needs to evolve
to take account
of changing pat-
temns of disease,
and previously
neglected condi-
tions which re-
strain the ad-
vancement of
health. The
current MOHFW
surveillance
systems are not
intended to pro-
vide the neces-
sary information
on morbidity and
mortality which
ICDDR,B can do.

A better understand-
ing of the true nature
and levels of adult
diseases will assist
the Govermnment in
designing future
health services, and
the associated needs
for training. equip-
ment, facilities, efc.

Same as in previous section

111




ICDDR B: CENTRE FOR HEALTH AND POPULATION RESEARCH STRATEGIC PLAN

¥
[

Priority Areas
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.

_uImpact ___2

Current Stréngths and Com-

; parative Advantages
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6.
Education and
family size

- How much is tha rapidly
increasing provision of educa-
tion for girls and young women
linked to reductions in desired
and achiaved family size?

Same as in previous
section

' Same as in previous
section

The mission is to
throw light on
major sociat
changes which
afiect population
growth and pov-
erty reduction in
Bangladesh.
Understanding
changes in fe-
male education
is part of that
process.

A belter understand-
ing of how develop-
maent interventions,
such as increasing
famate education, can
be expected o affect
{uture marriage and
childbearing pattemns.

Same as in previous section

|

5
!
i

i
l
'

3
A

7.

Poverty and
rapid popula-
tion growth

- Does limitation of family
size result in improved
economic status for indi-
vidual families, or does
this proposed develop-
ment effect only work at
tha community or na-
tional level?

Same as in previ-
ous section

Same as in previous
section

Nations can
benefit from
population poli-
cies which are
promoled to
individual fami-
lies. These fami-
lies do not al-
ways benefit
individually.
Policies need to
take this into
account.

Better understanding
of how macro lavel
changes in the na-
tional population af-
fect individual families
wha adopt new family
building strategies for
the national good.

Same as In previous section
b
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Priority Areas

Key Research Questions

Performance
Indicators

" Resource Needs

Benefjt‘.—,tcjg:
s Centrel gt
misslon=*© [

:Expected Policy/ -
EProgrammatic
% Impact, -

* Current Strengths and Com-

parative Advantages

8.
Urbanization
and rural-
urban migra-
tion

- What are lhe implications of

urbanization for family sup-
port, bath economic and in
other areas, as well as how
changing family structures,
due to declining ferility and
mortality, are playing a role
in this movement?

What strategies do rural
famities use to decide who
should migrate and when?

How do the aspirations of
young people change as a
result of various develop-
ment interventions such as
growing employment in the
textila sector for young
women, and how are mar-
riage and childbearing be-
haviours influenced by these
evolving expectations?

Same as in previous
section

Same as in pravious
section

The most impor-
tant dema-
graphic process
at present is not
overall popula-
tion growth but
rapid urbaniza-
tion. The naticn
needs to better
understand what
forces are driving
this in order to
predict future
trends, and to
plan services
and policies to
minimize the
negalive aspects
of such a proc-
ass.

Urban growth needs
to be slowed, so a
better understanding
of the push factors
driving such migration
to the cities will hope-
fully lead to pro-
grammes which en-
courage rural dwellers
to remain there.

Same as in previous section

113




ICODR.B: CENTRE FOR HEALTH AND POPULATION RESEARCH STRATEGIC PLAN

Priority Areas

Key Research Questions -

_Performance
indicators . |

ETr

. .

" Resource Needs

3

|

" "Benefit to~ 1
‘Centré/ '

i|.—missioni . J

-"Expected Policy/

Programmatic -

L4

[
H

-

Current Strengths and Com-

parative Advantages
!

0, .
Utilization of
heaith and
family plan-
ning services

- As modemization has pro-
ceeded, is there still a need
for such high density, proxi-
mate servicas, and can the
Ministry of Health reasona-
bly expect that families wilt
seek out preventive and
curative servicas wherever
angd howaver they may be
affered?

How has the provision of
preventive and curative
haalth sanvices greatly re-
duced the gender disparities
of mortality for male and fe-
mate children?

Same as in previous
section

Same as in previous
section

Bangladesh has
widely accessi-
ble health ser-
vices, but they
are nat fulty util-
ized, Inonderto
maximize the
benefits of such
services, a belter
understanding of
users motiva-
tions, needs and
experiences is
required.

Cost-effective provi-
slon of health and FP
sarvices to all who
require themis a
desirable goal of the
national health and
poputation sector
programme. THis
work should centrib-
ute to achieving
greater efficiency in
this.

L .
Same as in previous seclion
1

10.

Health equity,
poverty and
poputation

How major development
and health interventions are
differentially benefiting dif-
farent sectars of the popula-
tion?

Same as in previous
section

Same as in pravious
section .

Ovaerall im-
provements in
health can some-
times conceal
disadvantaged
groups, particu-
{arly the pooresL
This work will
extend recent
approaches to
measuring equity
to ensure poli-
cias resultin
equitable ser-
vices and health
benefits.

The HPSP is explicitly
pro-poor, but better
refinement is needed
to be certain that the
proegrammes and
interventions are ac-
tually reaching the
poor, and poorest,

Same as in previous section
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